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We've continued to follow our overall
strategy of growing in a disciplined manner
in 2024, and we’ve built a considerable
amount of momentum heading into 2025.
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear Fellow Stockholders,

| am excited to present our 2024 Annual
Report for SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.
(“SmartStop”) (NYSE:SMA), now a publicly listed
company on the New York Stock Exchange.
We've continued to follow our overall strategy
of growing in a disciplined manner in 2024, and
we’ve built considerable momentum heading into
2025. Here is what has made SmartStop special
for more than a decade: SmartStop is a high-
quality, North American self-storage company
with a diversified portfolio, a dedicated team of
professionals and a state-of-the-art technology
stack, focused on driving both performance and
growth in the coming years.

Self-Storage Operating Environment

The self-storage sector faced a challenging
environment in 2024, lacking some of the recent
demand drivers that had buoyed previous years,
such as COVID-driven work-from-home trends
or a robust housing market. While those defined
areas of demand were muted in 2024, there is
still demand for flexible storage space in the U.S.
and Canada that is convenient, well-located,
and secure.

Our diversified portfolio weathered this shifting
demand landscape, producing positive
same-store revenue growth for the full year,
outperforming the publicly traded peer average.
In addition, our portfolio maintained strong
occupancies, averaging more than 92% for the
full year. Most importantly, we finished the year
on a strong footing, progressively increasing
our same-store revenue into the fourth quarter,
putting our portfolio in a position of strength
heading into the new year and busy season.

Lastly, our Canadian portfolio continued to be a
strong performer, maintaining high occupancies
and growing revenue at a higher same-store
rate than our U.S. portfolio. This is after multiple
years of Toronto being one of our best-
performing markets.

Technology-Driven Operations Platform

We continue to invest in and refine our operations
platform, which we call dash™, which has helped
us maintain our overall performance in this new
self-storage environment. Our platform meets

the customer on their terms, whether through our
state-of-the-art smartstop.com or smartstop.ca
websites, our in-house call center, or our safe and
secure retail offices. This platform is a key reason
for our ability to drive occupancy and, as a result,
revenues, during 2024, attracting strong lead flow
and converting leads at an increasing level.

One interesting trend in the self-storage space

is the increasing utilization of technology as a
source of rental leads. In 2024, approximately

50 percent of our new customers had rented a
unit directly through our call center or website,
without ever having stepped foot on a SmartStop
property, well above the levels of contactless
rentals we saw during the peak of COVID. This is
another example of how having a fully developed
technology operating platform is not just a
positive, but a requirement, to producing strong
self-storage results.

Our platform and customer experience are fully
powered by our backend algorithms, both on the
digital marketing and pricing side of the business.
We continue making more than one million
individual pricing changes monthly, with little
human interaction. Our marketing team oversees
sophisticated keyword bidding models, focusing
on getting the best digital footprints at the lowest
cost in our local markets. All of this technological
sophistication is continually improving with an
ever-growing data warehouse, with more than
24 billion datapoints, and growing each month.
Lastly, subsequent to year-end, we were proud

to announce the launch of the SmartStop Self
Storage mobile app, which not only gives our
customers additional ways to interact with their
units in a convenient way but also provides
additional insights to our technology systems.

Expanding Our Presence in Canada

SmartStop continues to position itself as the
premier operator of self storage in the Canadian
market. While we were already the fifth-largest
self-storage operator in the country to begin
2024, we continued to expand in key markets of
Edmonton and Toronto, adding five properties
and approximately 384,000 net rentable square
feet in our portfolio. Included in that count

were three developments completed within our
SmartCentres joint venture, which continues to
help scale our platform nationwide.
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Furthermore, we continue to have some of our best
results in the entire portfolio in the Toronto market,
which has proven to outperform given its favorable
supply and demand dynamics. As of year-end,

we owned or managed 38 operating self-storage
properties in Canada, totaling approximately 3.4
million rentable square feet across three provinces. We
look forward to opening our first managed asset in
Montréal in 2025, as well as expanding our presence
in Vancouver, Edmonton, and, of course, Toronto.

External Growth

While we have remained disciplined in our
acquisition strategy over the past couple of years,
the environment for new acquisitions has become
much more constructive, beginning in the back
half of 2024. During the year, we acquired eight
high-occupancy properties totaling approximately
689,000 net rentable square feet, with more than
half of that total coming in the fourth quarter. That
acquisition activity continued in early 2025, as we
saw, and continue to see, more opportunities to
grow accretively.

In addition to growing on balance sheet, we
continued to scale the Managed REIT Platform,
primarily with activity completed subsequent to
year-end. While overall Assets Under Management
(AUM) for the Managed REIT Platform were
approximately $785 million at year-end 2024, that
number increased to nearly $900 million within

the first three months of 2025. This AUM gives
SmartStop accretive cash flows from fees, allowing
us to continue growing this highly scalable platform.

In Closing

We are grateful to all our stockholders, who have
been a part of building one of the worlds’ most
dynamic self-storage companies. Together, and with
the hard work of our approximately 590 dedicated
team members, we have constructed a high-quality
portfolio, a highly scalable self-storage platform,

a sizeable and growing presence in Canada, and

a management team that is prepared to make
SmartStop successful as a publicly traded company.

Continued successes,

—E—

H. Michael Schwartz
Founder, Chairman and CEO

~
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2024 Performance

2.4% 92.4%

Q4 2024 Same-Store Revenue Growth Same-Store Occupancy as of 12/31/24
o/ ()
1.0% BBB-
Q4 2024 Same-Store NOI Growth Investment-Grade Credit Rating From Kroll Bond

Rating Agency, Inc. (KBRA)

Our Portfolio

Owned or Managed Operating Portfolio in the U.S. and the Greater Toronto
Area (“GTA”) by NRSF®@

NL

ME NS

Gl 10.3%

on REEA 1.6%
Y 15.3% 11%
7.9% 11%
6.1% 0.7%

EE

61% | MA 0.6%
AZ  42% | Wl 06%
CO 33% DE 0.5%
WA 32% | PA  0.5%
L 28% | VA 05%
I 8% [OR 0.4%
18% | AB  0.3%

M 1.8% BC 0.2%

208" 149K" 111K 39" 875"

Operating Units in the Average 3-Mile Properties in Acres of Land
Properties in the U.S. & Canada Radius Population the GTA
U.S. & Canada

26" 16.7M” | $771IM"” | 10"

American States and NRSF in the AUM in the Development
Canadian Provinces U.S. & Canada Managed REITs Properties in Canada

1 Net operating income (NOI) is a non-GAAP measure, and a reconciliation of this measure to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure can
be found in our Form 10-K, enclosed herein, on page 56 of such Form 10-K, respectively, for fiscal year 2024.
2. Data as of 12/31/2024. Represents owned and managed, including joint-venture properties, unless otherwise stated.
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North American Markets

High-Growth

Toronto

~

whne perating Properties

@® Owned O ing P ies 23
NRSF 2,008,100
Portfolio % by NRSF 14.9%
Units 20,050
Q4 2024 Ending Occupancy 89.6%?
Q4 2024 Rent POF' $19.79

Miami/Fort Lauderdale

1
i(lﬂmh
b—«‘fﬁ- . .
5 y @ Owned Operating Properties 12
NRSF 1,221,100
Portfolio % by NRSF 9.1%
Units 10,470
Q4 2024 Ending Occupancy 92.8%
Q4 2024 Rent POF $24.90
/ lxml:asur
‘4
| Los Angeles
— Sanhélarila
@ Owned Operating Properties 12
' NRSF 882,000
Azusa
I. a La Vern POI’th“O O/O by NRSF 6.6%
os Angeles
Units 8,290
R Q4 2024 Ending Occupancy 92.5%
e ik Q4 2024 Rent POF $24.85
""ﬁna‘i.",ﬁf n
1 Includes joint-venture properties at 100%. Toronto Q4 2024 Rent POF presented in U.S. dollars, on an as-translated basis.

2. Stabilized and unstabilized properties.
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Financial Highlights

1+7.2% 91.5%"

Owned Managed Property Count Growth in 2024 Ending 2024 Total Owned Portfolio Occupancy

$20.02 10.4%

Same Store POF for 2024 2024 Same Store Operating Revenue Growth

$237.0M

| M Total Revenue $233.0M

208
mammn el Owned and Managed Property Count $212.6M

$168.8M

$124.0M

$109.5M

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

1

Includes joint-venture operating properties.
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Investment Highlights

Multi-Pronged Growth Strategy

High-Quality, Diversified Portfolio in Key Growth Markets

Differentiated Exposure to the Greater Toronto Area (GTA)

Scalable, Branded Platform Positioned to Drive Growth

Unique Managed REIT Platform Provides Additional Revenue & Acquisition Potential
Experienced Management Team and Board of Directors

Conservative and Diversified Capital Structure

SmartStop |
Self Storage |
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In 2024, we continued executing our key
growth strategy to expand across Canada,
further solidifying our presence in the GTA,
Vancouver, Edmonton, and Montréal. The
Canadian market remains an outperformer,
driven by strong population growth, lower
supply per capita compared to almost

all major U.S. cities, increasing product
utilization, and minimal institutional
competition. These large Canadian markets
are among the most attractive storage

Key Growth Markets in Canada

markets globally. In 2024, we saw another
record year of growth in Canada, expanding
our owned or managed Canadian portfolio
to 39 properties, up from 33 in 2023.

This includes continued growth through
strategic acquisitions and partnerships,
such as our development joint venture with
SmartCentres. We have a robust pipeline
of deals in place for 2025 and beyond,
positioning us for sustained success in the
Canadian market.
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Integrated Proprietary
Operations Platform

Ppc

SmartStop’s operating platform, dash™, is
characterized by specialized modules such as pricing,
digital marketing, call center, and performance
analytics. The dash platform allows these elements
to scale and work seamlessly to drive superior
performance. Our proprietary revenue management
systems adjust to different property types and
objectives to produce over one million price changes
per year. Using advanced paid search targeting
algorithms matched with comprehensive search
engine optimization, SmartStop has positioned itself
to get first access to prospective customers and keep
them engaged until rental.

We constantly collect, clean, transform, and
incorporate various data feeds into our data
warehouse. Not only does this voluminous data feed
the many automated modules of our platform, but
the data also allows our operational leaders, pricing
professionals, and marketing experts to drive decisions
in real time. Revenue managers can quickly determine
competitive positioning from the portfolio to the

product level. When needed, we can quickly proliferate
price exceptions. Marketing analysts constantly review
the efficiency of advertising dollars spent. Dollars are
rerouted as needed based on changing market
dynamics and facility need.

SmartStop provides and makes accessible a
proprietary mobile app for all existing customers.
The SmartStop mobile app encompasses the latest
in mobile technology, including biometrics and
geographically enabled security features. The app
enables users to manage their accounts, make easy
and secure payments, rent new units, and access
gates and doors with a single touch, providing a
fully integrated storage experience directly from
their smartphones.

SmartStop built the operating platform for scale and
performance. We can easily increase the number of
properties on our platform by double or more. Machine
learning and data science-driven algorithms ensure
optimal decisions are made across the portfolio.
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Environmental Initiatives

SmartStop has a history of implementing
environmentally sustainable projects across our
portfolio of 200+ stores throughout the U.S. and
Canada. These projects have included, but are not
limited to, operating out of our LEED Gold certified
corporate headquarters, implementing LED lighting
installations throughout our portfolio, adopting
xeriscape landscaping projects in water-sensitive
locations and, most notably, installing solar panels
at our corporate headquarters and many of our self-
storage facilities.

As of December 31, 2024, there are 71 SmartStop
locations with fully operational solar arrays and 15
locations in the process of adding solar, resulting in
41.4% of our total portfolio generating solar energy.
We design all solar projects to capture as close to
100% of the property’s energy needs as possible.
We estimate that when all 86 projects are active,
our solar arrays will generate enough electricity

on an annual basis to offset the equivalent of
approximately:

+ 124,293 tree seedlings planted and grown over
ten years;

« 1,753 passenger vehicles driven for one year; or

- electricity for 1,533 homes for one year.

Our solar projects have produced a significant
number of kilowatt-hours (kWh) of electricity.

Kilowatt-Hours Generated & Active Solar Projects

7,500,000
7,000,000
6,500,000
6,000,000
5,500,000
5,000,000
4,500,000
4,000,000
3,500,000
3,000,000
2,500,000
2,000,000
1,500,000

1,000,000

500,000

(o]

2020 2021
B kWh Generated

W Active Solar Projects

2022

Please refer to the chart below, Kilowatt-Hours
Generated and Active Solar Projects, which shows
the growth in electricity production as more solar
arrays have commenced operation during our Solar
Energy Initiative.

SmartStop has embraced solar technology as it
transcends mere environmental stewardship to

deliver tangible economic and operational benefits.

Foremost among its advantages is the potential
for substantial cost savings. By harnessing solar
power, SmartStop is able to reduce its dependence
on traditional energy sources, leading to lower
electricity bills. We estimate the reduction in our
property utility expenses due to solar energy
production to be roughly $1.2M annually for the 71
operational stores. In 2025, SmartStop plans to
move forward with five to seven additional solar
projects in the U.S. and Canada.
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Awards & Accolades

REGISTE REGISTER EGISTER

Newsweek The Orange County Register
Best Customer Service Award Top Work Places
2021, 2023 & 2024 2022,2023 & 2024
14 N\
T. \ ﬁ;;QRS / BRONZE
2024 STEVIE
> WINNER
B B B SOLAR ENERGY
®
Better Business Bureau Facility Owners American Business Awards
2023 & 2024 2024 2024

KBRA

Canadian Top Operators Kroll Bond Rating Agency (BBB-)
#3 in Facilities Owned 2022,2023 & 2024
2024

\
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Our Values

SmartStop® is committed to providing an exemplary experience for our customers,
stockholders and employees. From our corporate offices to our properties, we all focus
on our three corporate pillars to ensure a successful and growing business.

Lead Together

SmartStop has a fully integrated operations team of approximately 590 self-storage
professionals. We are influencers, doers and motivators. Each person brings unique
experience and talent to their position, but we realize that our true strength comes
from collaborating and supporting one another. We can achieve extraordinary results
when we work as a team and lead together.

Embrace Change

The world is constantly changing. Whether relocating for work, renovating a home,
adapting to a growing family, or decluttering and organizing daily living, life events
can be stressful, so we are committed to supporting our customers in a warm and
welcoming way. We also recognize the importance of change as an organization
expanding into new markets and embracing new technologies. Change may
sometimes be difficult, but it is a necessary part of the process for our company to
evolve and grow.

Enhance Everyone’s Journey

We are committed to enhancing the journeys of everyone we meet. We serve our
customers in the manner that best suits them, whether through our easy-to-use website,
our dedicated call center, or our highly trained staff members at our stores. We support our
employees by providing positive work environments and embracing their outside pursuits,
such as employee-driven fundraising events, competing as amateur athletes or pursuing
educational goals. We contribute to the communities where we live and work through
charitable initiatives and other projects. Finally, we care for our world by reducing our
carbon footprint through solar initiatives and other sustainability programs.

NV
SmartStop %

Self Storage REIT, Inc. WSE
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Explanatory Note

Included herein is our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December

31, 2024 (the “2024 Form 10-K”), which was filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 12, 2025. Subsequent to filing the 2024 Form 10-K, we
completed a one-for-four reverse stock split of all outstanding shares of common stock
which took place on March 20, 2025 (the “Reverse Split”). Accordingly, the information
and financial statements contained in the 2024 Form 10-K do not reflect the impact of
the Reverse Split. However, on March 21, 2025, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K,
which updated the consolidated financial statements and accompanying footnotes
that were contained in the 2024 Form 10-K to reflect the retrospective effect of the
Reverse Split. Accordingly, revisions to the consolidated financial statements contained
in the 2024 Form 10-K that were included as Exhibit 99.2 to the aforementioned Form
8-K supersede the corresponding portions of the 2024 Form 10-K. All other information
in the 2024 Form 10-K remains unchanged. Such Exhibit 99.2 to the Form 8-K does not
otherwise modify or update the disclosures in the 2024 Form 10-K in any way, nor does
it reflect any subsequent information or events, other than as discussed in the Reverse
Stock Split section of Note 1 and as required to reflect the changes described above. A
copy of this Form 8-K will be made available upon request, and may also be accessed
by the public over the internet at the SEC’s welbsite at www.sec.gov or on our website
at investors.smartstopselfstorage.com

\
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024

OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 000-55617

SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Maryland 46-1722812
(State or other jurisdiction of (IRS Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

10 Terrace Rd.
Ladera Ranch, California 92694
(Address of principal executive offices)

(877) 327-3485
(Registrant’s telephone number)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Trading Symbol(s) Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
None None None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes [0 No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes O No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the

preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
(8 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes No O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging

growth company. See definitions of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer”, “smaller reporting company”, and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act.

Large Accelerated Filer O Accelerated Filer
Non-Accelerated Filer Smaller reporting company
Emerging growth company

ooo

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over
financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.

O
If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the

correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. O

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the
registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes OO No

There is currently no established public market for the registrant’s shares of common stock.

As of March 10, 2025, there were 88,073,111 outstanding shares of Class A common stock and 8,176,601 outstanding shares of Class T common stock of the registrant.

Documents Incorporated by Reference: None
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Form 10-K of SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc., other than historical facts, may
be considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). We intend for
all such forward-looking statements to be covered by the applicable safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements
contained in Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act, as applicable. Such forward-looking
statements can generally be identified by our use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “intend,”
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “seek,” “continue,” or other similar words.

Any such forward-looking statements are based on current expectations, estimates and projections about the industry
and markets in which we operate, and beliefs of, and assumptions made by, our management and involve uncertainties that
could significantly affect our financial results. Such statements include but are not limited to: (i) statements about our plans,
strategies, initiatives, and prospects; and (ii) statements about our future results of operations, capital expenditures, and
liquidity. Such statements are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to
differ materially from those projected or anticipated, including, without limitation:

e We have paid, and may continue to pay, distributions from sources other than cash flow from operations; therefore,
we will have fewer funds available for the acquisition of properties, and our stockholders’ overall return may be
reduced.

e There is currently no public trading market for our shares and there may never be one; therefore, it will be difficult
for our stockholders to sell their shares. Our charter does not require us to pursue a liquidity transaction at any time.

e  Our share redemption program is suspended, and even if stockholders were able to have their shares redeemed, our
stockholders may not be able to recover the amount of their investment in our shares.

e We have issued Series A Convertible Preferred Stock that ranks senior to all common stock and grants the holder
superior rights compared to common stockholders, which may have the effect of diluting our stockholders’ interests
in us and discouraging a takeover or other similar transaction.

e We may only calculate the estimated value per share for our shares annually and, therefore, our stockholders may
not be able to determine the estimated net asset value of their shares on an ongoing basis.

e |If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls, we may
not be able to accurately and timely report our financial results.

e  Certain of our officers and key personnel will face competing demands relating to their time and will face conflicts
of interest related to the positions they hold with affiliated entities, which could cause our business to suffer.

e Revenue and earnings from the Managed REIT Platform are uncertain.

e Asubsidiary of ours is the sponsor of the Managed REITs and it and its affiliates sponsor Other Programs. As a
result, we could be subject to any litigation that may arise by investors in those entities or the respective operations
of those entities.

e Because we are focused on the self storage industry, our rental revenues will be significantly influenced by demand
for self storage space generally, and a decrease in such demand would likely have a greater adverse effect on our
rental revenues than if we owned a more diversified real estate portfolio.

e A high concentration of our properties in a particular geographic area magnify the effects of downturns in that
geographic area.

e Property taxes may increase, which would adversely affect our net operating income and cash available for
distributions.

e If we suffer losses that are not covered by insurance or that are in excess of insurance coverage, we could lose
invested capital and anticipated profits.

e Changes in the Canadian Dollar/USD exchange rate could have a material adverse effect on our operating results
and value of the investment of our stockholders.



e We have broad authority to incur debt, and high debt levels could hinder our ability to continue to pay distributions
at the current rate and could decrease the value of our stockholders’ investments.

e We have incurred and intend to continue to incur, mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings, which may increase
our business risks.

e If we or the other parties to our loans or secured notes payable, as applicable, breach covenants thereunder, such
loan or loans or secured notes payable could be deemed in default, which could accelerate our repayment date and
materially adversely affect the value of our stockholders’ investment in us.

e Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and adversely affect our ability to
continue to pay distributions at the current rate to our stockholders.

e Failure to continue to qualify as a REIT would adversely affect our operations and our ability to continue to pay
distributions at our current level as we will incur additional tax liabilities.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
this report is filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not intended to be a guarantee of our performance
in future periods. We cannot guarantee the accuracy of any such forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K,
and we do not intend to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events, or otherwise.

For further information regarding risks and uncertainties associated with our business, and important factors that could
cause our actual results to vary materially from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements, please refer to
the factors listed and described under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and the “Risk Factors” sections of the documents we file from time to time with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission, including, but not limited to, this report and our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, copies of which
may be obtained from our website at www.investors.smartstopselfstorage.com.



PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), is a self-managed and fully-integrated
self storage real estate investment trust (“REIT”), formed on January 8, 2013 under the Maryland General Corporation Law.
Our year-end is December 31. As used in this report, “we,” “us,” “our,” and “Company” refer to SmartStop Self Storage
REIT, Inc. and each of our subsidiaries.

Business Objectives and Strategy

We focus on the acquisition, ownership, and operation of self storage properties located primarily within the top 100
metropolitan statistical areas, or MSAs, throughout the United States and Canada. Based on the Inside Self Storage Top-
Operators List ranking for 2024, and after accounting for recent market transactions, we are the 10th largest owner and
operator of self storage properties in the United States based on rentable square footage. As of December 31, 2024, our
wholly-owned portfolio consisted of 161 operating self storage properties diversified across 19 states, the District of
Columbia, and Canada comprising approximately 110,000 units and 12.6 million net rentable square feet. Additionally, we
owned a 50% equity interest in eleven unconsolidated real estate ventures located in Canada, which consisted of ten operating
self storage properties, and one other property, which we plan to convert into a self storage property. Further, through our
Managed REIT Platform (as defined below), we served as the sponsor of Strategic Storage Trust VI, Inc., a publicly-
registered non-traded REIT ("SST VI"), and Strategic Storage Growth Trust II, Inc., a private REIT ("SSGT III" and
together with SST VI, the "Managed REITs"); additionally, we manage one other self storage property for an affiliated entity,
which pays us fees, as applicable, to manage such property. In total, as of December 31, 2024, we managed 37 operating self
storage properties.

Our primary business model is focused on owning and operating high quality self storage properties in high growth
markets in the United States and Canada. We finance our portfolio through a diverse capital strategy which includes cash
generated from operations, borrowings under our syndicated revolving line of credit, secured debt financing, equity offerings
and joint ventures. Our business model is designed to maximize cash flow available for distribution to our stockholders and
to achieve sustainable long-term growth in cash flow in order to maximize long-term stockholder value at acceptable levels
of risk. We execute our organic growth strategy by pursuing revenue-optimizing and expense-minimizing opportunities in the
operations of our existing portfolio. We execute our external growth strategy by developing, redeveloping, acquiring and
managing self storage facilities in the United States and Canada both internally and through our Managed REITs, and we
look to acquire properties that are physically stabilized, recently developed, in various stages of lease up or at certificate of
occupancy. We seek to primarily acquire undermanaged facilities that are not operated by institutional operators, where we
can implement our proprietary management and technology to maximize net operating income.

As an operating business, self storage requires a much greater focus on strategic planning and tactical operation plans.
Our in-house call center allows us to centralize our sales efforts as we capture new business over the phone, email, web-based
chat, and text mediums. As we have grown our portfolio of self storage facilities, we have been able to consolidate and
streamline a number of aspects of our operations through economies of scale. We also utilize our digital marketing breadth
and expertise which allows us to acquire customers efficiently by leveraging our portfolio size and technological proficiency.
To the extent we acquired facilities in clusters within geographic regions, we see property management efficiencies resulting
in reduction of personnel and other administrative costs.

As discussed herein, we, through our subsidiaries, currently serve as the sponsor of SST VI, SSGT Ill, and Strategic
Storage Trust X, a private REIT ("SST X"). We also served as the sponsor of Strategic Storage Growth Trust I, Inc., a
private REIT (“SSGT I1”) through June 1, 2022. Prior to June 1, 2022, SSGT Il was also included in the “Managed REITs”
for purposes of this Annual Report. We operate the properties owned by the Managed REITs, which together with one other
self storage property we manage consist of, as of December 31, 2024, 37 operating properties and approximately 29,000 units
and approximately 3.2 million rentable square feet. In addition, we have the internal capability to originate, structure and
manage additional self storage investment programs (the “Managed REIT Platform™) which would be sponsored by
SmartStop REIT Advisors, LLC (“SRA”), our indirect subsidiary. We acquired the Managed REIT Platform in 2019 from
Strategic Asset Management |, LLC (f/k/a SmartStop Asset Management, LLC), our former sponsor ("SAM"). We generate
asset management fees, property management fees, acquisition fees, and other fees and also receive substantially all of the
tenant protection program revenue earned by our Managed REITSs. For the property management and advisory services that
we provide, we are reimbursed for certain expenses that otherwise helps to offset our net operating expense burden.



Investment Objectives

We focus on investing in self storage facilities and related self storage real estate investments that are expected to
support sustainable stockholder distributions over the long term. Our primary investment objectives are to: (1) invest in real
property in a manner that allows us to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes; (2) provide regular cash
distributions to our stockholders; (3) preserve and protect our stockholders’ invested capital; (4) achieve appreciation in the
value of our properties over the long term; and (5) grow net cash flow from operations in order to provide sustainable cash
distributions to our stockholders over the long-term.

Our management team has experience acquiring self storage facilities across a broad spectrum of opportunities
including physically stabilized facilities, recently developed facilities in physical or economic lease up, facilities that have
just received a certificate of occupancy ("C/O"), facilities in need of renovation and/or re-development and ground up
development. We have adopted an investment allocation policy, pursuant to which we will have first priority for investment
opportunities, and if we decline any such opportunity, we will allocate it to another program sponsored by us after
considering various factors. In considering and evaluating potential acquisition opportunities, and to augment our seasoned
acquisition team, we employ our proprietary underwriting methodology. We believe that we maintain a competitive
advantage in acquiring facilities given the scale of our business and the experience and industry relationships of our team. We
maintain a network of self storage operators, real estate brokers and other market participants in the U.S. and Canada, which
gives us unique insight into new and highly desirable acquisition opportunities.

Liquidity Events

Subject to then-existing market conditions, and in the sole discretion of our board of directors, we intend to seek one or
more of the following liquidity events within the next few years: (1) list our shares on a national securities exchange; (2)
merge, reorganize or otherwise transfer our company or its assets to another entity with listed securities; (3) commence the
sale of all of our properties and liquidate our company; or (4) otherwise create a liquidity event for our stockholders.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, there is no requirement for us to complete one of these liquidity events and our board of
directors has the sole discretion to continue operations indefinitely if it deems such continuation to be in the best interests of
our stockholders.

Joint Ventures

We may enter into joint ventures, general partnerships, co-tenancies and other participations with real estate developers,
owners and others for the purpose of owning and leasing real properties. Among other reasons, we may want to acquire
properties through a joint venture with third parties or affiliates in order to diversify our portfolio of properties in terms of
geographic region or property type or to co-invest with one of our property management partners. Joint ventures may also
allow us to acquire an interest in a property without requiring that we fund the entire purchase price. In addition, certain
properties may be available to us only through joint ventures. For example, in connection with the Self Administration
Transaction (as defined below), we acquired a joint venture arrangement with SmartCentres Real Estate Investment Trust, an
unaffiliated third party (“SmartCentres”), pursuant to which we and SmartCentres work together to identify primarily self
storage development opportunities in certain regions in Canada. On March 17, 2021, we acquired six SmartCentres joint
venture properties in the SST 1V Merger (as defined below). On June 1, 2022, we acquired three SmartCentres joint ventures
in the SSGT Il Merger (as defined below). Additionally, on May 25, 2022, we, as 50% owner and SmartCentres as the other
50% owner of a joint venture subsidiary, purchased a single tenant industrial building located in the city of Burnaby, British
Columbia (the “Regent Property™), that we and SmartCentres plan to develop into a self storage facility in the near future. On
January 12, 2023 we as 50% owner and SmartCentres as the other 50% owner of a joint venture subsidiary, acquired a parcel
of land in Whitby, Ontario (the "Whitby Property"), that we and SmartCentres plan to develop into a self storage facility in
the near future. Generally, SmartCentres has been responsible for the development of the properties and we have been
responsible for the operation of the facilities upon completion.

On July 18, 2024, we entered into a joint venture arrangement with an unaffiliated third party to develop a self storage
property in Nantucket, Massachusetts (the "Nantucket Joint Venture™). Upon completion of development, we expect to serve
as property manager of the self storage property.

For more information, please see Note 4 — Investments in Unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.



Completed Transactions

SST IV Merger

On March 17, 2021, we closed on our merger with SST IV (the “SST IV Merger”). On such date, (the “SST IV Merger
Date”), we acquired all of the real estate owned by SST IV, consisting primarily of (i) 24 self storage facilities, and (ii) SST
1V’s 50% equity interest in six unconsolidated real estate ventures located in the Greater Toronto Area of Ontario, Canada.
As a result of the SST 1V Merger, we issued approximately 23.1 million Class A Shares to the former SST 1V stockholders.

SSGT Il Merger

On June 1, 2022, we closed on our merger with SSGT Il (the “SSGT Il Merger”). On such date, (the “SSGT Il Merger
Date”), we acquired all of the real estate owned by SSGT I, consisting primarily of (i) 10 wholly-owned self storage
facilities, and (ii) SSGT 11’s 50% equity interest in three unconsolidated real estate ventures located in the Greater Toronto
Area of Ontario, Canada. We issued approximately 11.5 million Class A Shares to the former SSGT Il stockholders in
connection with the SSGT Il Merger.

Credit Facility

On February 22, 2024, we entered into an amended and restated revolving credit facility with KeyBank (the "Credit
Facility™). The Credit Facility replaced our former credit facility entered into on March 17, 2021, and our current Credit
Facility now has a maturity date of February 22, 2027. See Note 5 — Debt of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, for more information.

2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility

On November 19, 2024, we entered into a credit agreement with KeyBank (the "2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility").
The total commitment amount as of December 31, 2024 under the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility was $175 million, and
the maturity date is November 19, 2025. See Note 5 — Debt of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, for more
information.

Equity

The Company was formed on January 8, 2013, under the Maryland General Corporation Law. We commenced our
initial public offering in January 2014, in which we offered a maximum of $1.0 billion in common shares for sale to the
public (the “Primary Offering”) and $95.0 million in common shares for sale pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan
(collectively, the “Offering”), marketed and sold primarily through retail investor channels, including the independent broker
dealer channel. At the termination of our Offering in January 2017, we had sold approximately 48 million shares of our class
A common stock ("Class A Shares"), and approximately 7 million shares of class T common stock ("Class T Shares") for
approximately $493 million and $73 million respectively.

In November 2016, we filed with the SEC a Registration Statement on Form S-3, which registered up to an additional
$100.9 million in shares under our distribution reinvestment plan. On May 14, 2024, we filed a new Registration Statement
on Form S-3 with the SEC which registered up to an additional 4,500,000 Class A Shares and 500,000 Class T Shares under
our distribution reinvestment plan (our “DRP Offering”).

As of December 31, 2024, we had sold approximately 10.6 million Class A Shares and approximately 1.4 million Class
T Shares through our distribution reinvestment plan, of which, approximately 0.5 million Class A Shares and approximately
0.1 million Class T Shares were sold under our current DRP Offering. The DRP Offering may be terminated at any time upon
10 days' prior written notice to stockholders.

On November 25, 2024, our board of directors approved the suspension of the DRP Offering, such that distributions for
the month of November 2024 were paid in cash in December 2024. On February 11, 2025, our board of directors reinstated
the DRP Offering, such that distributions for the month of January 2025 as well as any distributions declared by our board of
directors for any future months will be invested in shares of our common stock for those stockholders that previously elected
into our distribution reinvestment plan in such states where our distribution reinvestment plan is able to be offered.



On October 29, 2019, we entered into a preferred stock purchase agreement with Extra Space Storage LP, a subsidiary
of Extra Space Storage Inc. (NYSE: EXR), pursuant to which Extra Space Storage LP committed to purchase up to $200
million in shares of our newly-created Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the "Series A Convertible Preferred Stock™), in
one or more closings. The initial closing in the amount of $150 million occurred on October 29, 2019, and the second and
final closing in the amount of $50 million occurred on October 26, 2020.

Net Asset Value

On January 15, 2024, our board of directors, upon recommendation of our Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee, approved an estimated net asset value per share of our common stock of $15.25 for our Class A Shares and Class
T Shares based on the estimated value of our assets less the estimated value of our liabilities, or net asset value, divided by
the number of shares outstanding on a fully diluted basis, calculated as of September 30, 2023.

On March 12, 2025, our board of directors, upon recommendation of our nominating and corporate governance
committee, approved an estimated net asset value per share of our common stock of $14.50 for our Class A Shares and Class
T Shares based on the estimated value of our assets less the estimated value of our liabilities, or net asset value, divided by
the number of shares outstanding on a fully diluted basis, calculated as of June 30, 2024.

Industry and Competition

Self storage refers to properties that offer month-to-month storage unit rental for personal or business use. Self storage
facilities offer a cost-effective and flexible storage alternative in which customers rent fully enclosed and secure spaces.
Typical unit sizes range from 5x5 feet to 10x30 feet with facilities typically providing a variety of different sizes and
configurations. Customers typically have access to their storage units 18 hours a day, with some facilities offering 24-hour
access. Rental rates can vary and are determined by the location and size of the rental space, the level of security, and
whether the unit is climate controlled. The short-term nature of self storage leases creates the opportunity for real-time rate
increases, which has led well-positioned facilities to achieve substantial rate growth in a rising cost environment.

In addition to primary self storage operations, facilities also tend to have a number of other ancillary products that
provide incremental revenues. This includes, but is not limited to, tenant insurance, protection or insurance plans, moving and
packing supplies, locks and boxes, and other services. Sophisticated operators have the opportunity to substantially increase
profitability of under-managed facilities post acquisition.

The customer base of self storage operators includes both local residential customers, typically within a 3- to 5-mile
radius of the facility, as well as commercial users. According to the 2024 Self Storage Almanac, self storage facilities
generally have a customer mix of approximately 80% residential, 13% commercial, 4% military and 3% students.

o Residential customers generally store items ranging from furniture, household items and appliances to cars, boats
and recreational vehicles.

o Commercial customers tend to include small business owners who require easy and frequent access to their
goods, records, extra inventory or storage for seasonal goods. Commercial customers are also increasingly
utilizing self storage for their distribution logistics, as its ease of access, security, flexible lease terms, climate
control features and proximity to their distribution destinations all drive operational results.

o While military and student users are a smaller portion of the overall mix, the mix tends to vary by location of the
facility, with facilities near military bases and universities achieving higher military and student mixes,
respectively.

The self storage industry is highly fragmented, with owners and operators ranging from individual property owners to
institutional investors and large, publicly traded REITs. According to the 2024 Self Storage Almanac, there are
approximately 52,000 primary self storage facilities in the U.S. representing a total of 2.1 billion rentable square feet. The
largest 100 operators manage approximately 60% of net rentable square footage, but only 35% of all U.S.-based self storage
properties. The five publicly listed self storage companies are Public Storage, Extra Space Storage Inc., AMERCO (the
parent company of U-Haul), CubeSmart, and National Storage Affiliates Trust, which collectively operate approximately
23% of all U.S.-based self storage properties. Similar to the U.S., the self storage market in Canada exhibits highly
fragmented ownership, albeit to a much greater extent. Colliers estimates that approximately 70% of all stores in Canada are
owned by individuals with only one or two stores and the top 10 operators in Canada have roughly 20% market share. With
the majority of the existing supply operated locally by non-institutional groups in the U.S and Canada, there is a significant
market opportunity to acquire existing facilities and increase revenue and profitability through professional management,
digitalization and physical expansion projects.



Industry Segments

We operate in two reportable business segments: (i) self storage operations and (ii) our Managed REIT Platform
business. Our self storage operations consist of our wholly-owned self storage facilities, primarily consisting of month-to
month rental revenue and related ancillary revenue that these self storage facilities produce. Our Managed REIT Platform
business consists of the various management services we perform for the Managed REITS, including the services performed
related to our property management, asset management, and construction and development management contracts. The
reportable segments offer different products and services to different customers and are therefore managed separately.

Government Regulations

Our business is subject to many laws and governmental regulations. Changes in these laws and regulations, or their
interpretation by agencies and courts, occur frequently.

Accommodations for Persons with Disabilities

We are subject to various rules, regulations and standards with respect to accommodations we must make for
individuals with disabilities. For example, in the United States, under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, or ADA,
all public accommaodations and commercial facilities are required to meet certain federal requirements related to access and
use by disabled persons. We are also subject to similar requirements in Ontario, Canada, under the Accessibility for
Ontarians with Disabilities Act, or AODA. Complying with such requirements could require us to remove access barriers.
Failing to comply could result in the imposition of fines by various governmental agencies or an award of damages to private
litigants. Although we intend to acquire properties that substantially comply with these requirements, we may incur
additional costs related to compliance. In addition, a number of additional governmental laws may require us to modify any
properties we purchase, or may restrict further renovations thereof, with respect to access by disabled persons. Additional
legislation could impose financial obligations or restrictions with respect to access by disabled persons. Although we believe
that these costs will not have a material adverse effect on us, if required changes involve a greater amount of expenditures
than we currently anticipate, our ability to make distributions to our stockholders could be adversely affected.

Environmental Matters

Under various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of real
property may be held liable for the costs of removing or remediating hazardous or toxic substances. These laws often impose
clean-up responsibility and liability without regard to whether the owner or operator was responsible for, or even knew of,
the presence of the hazardous or toxic substances. The costs of investigating, removing or remediating these substances may
be substantial, and the presence of these substances may adversely affect our ability to rent units or sell the property, or to
borrow using the property as collateral, and may expose us to liability resulting from any release of or exposure to these
substances. If we arrange for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substances at another location, we may be liable
for the costs of removing or remediating these substances at the disposal or treatment facility, whether or not the facility is
owned or operated by us. We may be subject to common law claims by third parties based on damages and costs resulting
from environmental contamination emanating from a site that we own or operate. Certain environmental laws also impose
liability in connection with the handling of or exposure to ashestos containing materials, pursuant to which third parties may
seek recovery from owners or operators of real properties for personal injury associated with asbestos-containing materials
and other hazardous or toxic substances.

Other Regulations

The properties we acquire will be subject to various federal, state and local regulatory requirements, such as zoning and
state and local fire and life safety requirements. Failure to comply with these requirements could result in the imposition of
fines by governmental authorities or awards of damages to private litigants. We intend to acquire properties that are in
material compliance with all such regulatory requirements. However, we cannot make assurances that these requirements will
not be changed or that new requirements will not be imposed which would require significant unanticipated expenditures by
us and could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Employees and Human Capital

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately 560 employees, none of which were represented by a collective
bargaining agreement. We continually assess and strive to enhance employee satisfaction and engagement. We believe our
relationship with our employees is good and that we provide them with adequate flexibility to meet personal and family
needs. We also appreciate the importance of retention, growth and development of our employees and we believe we offer
competitive compensation (including salary and bonuses) and benefits packages to our employees. Further, from professional
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development opportunities to leadership training, we have development programs and on-demand opportunities to cultivate
talent throughout our organization.

We strive to foster an inclusive work environment, comprising top talent and high performing employees. We maintain
policies that strive to protect our employees from discrimination or harassment on the basis of color, race, sex, national
origin, ethnicity, religion, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identification or expression or any other status protected
by applicable law. To that end, we conduct annual training to raise awareness of (and with the goal of preventing) all forms
of harassment and discrimination.

Available Information

We make available on the “Information — SEC Filings” subpage of our website
(www.investors.smartstopselfstorage.com) free of charge our annual reports on Form 10-K, including this report, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, ownership reports on Forms 3, 4 and 5 and any amendments to those
reports as soon as practicable after we electronically file such reports with the SEC. Our electronically filed reports can also
be obtained on the SEC’s internet site at http://www.sec.gov. Further, copies of our Code of Ethics and the charters for the
Audit, Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees of our Board are also available on the
“Information — Governance” subpage of our website. No information contained on our website is intended to be included as
part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K

ITEM 1A. RISKFACTORS

Below are risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our operations that we believe are material to
stockholders. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we do not consider material based on the
information currently available to us may also harm our business. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to
stockholders are generally intended to be references to our common stockholders.

Risks Related to an Investment in SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.

We have historically incurred net losses, have an accumulated deficit, and it is possible that our operations may not
be profitable, or maintain profitability, in the future.

We recorded a net loss attributable to our common stockholders of approximately $18.4 million for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2024. We have historically incurred net losses attributable to our common stockholders and cannot guarantee
that we will not incur future operating losses. Our accumulated deficit was approximately $185.6 million as of December 31,
2024,

We have paid, and may continue to pay, distributions from sources other than cash flow from operations; therefore,
we will have fewer funds available for the acquisition of properties, and our stockholders’ overall return may be reduced.

We have paid distributions from sources other than cash flow from operations in the past and are not prohibited from
doing so again in the future. In the future we may borrow funds, issue additional securities, or sell assets in order to fund our
distributions. We are not prohibited from undertaking such activities by our charter, bylaws or investment policies, and we
may use an unlimited amount from any source to pay our distributions. If we fund distributions from financings, then such
financings will need to be repaid, and if we fund distributions from sources other than cash flow from operations, then we
will have fewer funds available for acquisition of properties or working capital, which may affect our ability to generate
future cash flows from operations and may reduce our stockholders’ overall returns. Additionally, to the extent distributions
exceed cash flow from operations, a stockholder’s basis in our stock may be reduced and, to the extent distributions exceed a
stockholder’s basis, the stockholder may recognize a capital gain.

There is currently no public trading market for our shares and there may never be one; therefore, it will be difficult
for our stockholders to sell their shares. Our charter does not require us to pursue a liquidity transaction at any time.

There is currently no public market for our shares and there may never be one. Stockholders may not sell their shares
unless the buyer meets applicable suitability and minimum purchase standards. Our charter also prohibits the ownership by
any one individual of more than 9.8% of our stock, unless waived by our board of directors, which may inhibit large investors
from desiring to purchase our stockholders’ shares. As described below, our share redemption program is suspended. If we
lift the suspension of our share redemption program, stockholders will continue to be limited in terms of the amount of shares



which may be redeemed. Therefore, it may be difficult for our stockholders to sell their shares promptly or at all. If our
stockholders are able to sell their shares, they will likely have to sell them at a substantial discount. It also is likely that the
shares would not be accepted as the primary collateral for a loan. Our shares should be considered as a long-term investment
because of the illiquid nature of the shares.

Our share redemption program is suspended, and even if stockholders were able to have their shares redeemed, our
stockholders may not be able to recover the amount of their investment in our shares.

Presently, our share redemption program is suspended.

If our share redemption program is reinstated and a common stockholder is able to have their shares redeemed, such
stockholders should be fully aware that our share redemption program contains significant restrictions and limitations.
Further, our board of directors may limit, suspend, terminate or amend any provision of the share redemption program upon
30 days’ notice. Redemptions of shares, when requested, will generally be made quarterly to the extent we have sufficient
funds available to us to fund such redemptions. During any calendar year, we will not redeem in excess of 5% of the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the prior calendar year and redemptions will be funded solely from
proceeds from our distribution reinvestment plan. We are not obligated to redeem shares under our share redemption
program. Therefore, our common stockholders should not assume that they will be able to sell any of their shares back to us
pursuant to our share redemption program at any time or at all.

The purchase price for shares we repurchase under our share redemption program is equal to the most recently
published estimated net asset value per share of the applicable share class. Accordingly, our common stockholders may
receive less by selling their shares back to us than they would receive if our investments were sold for their estimated values
and such proceeds were distributed in our liquidation.

We have issued Series A Convertible Preferred Stock that ranks senior to all common stock and grants the holder
superior rights compared to common stockholders, which may have the effect of diluting our stockholders’ interests in us
and discouraging a takeover or other similar transaction.

We have issued Series A Convertible Preferred Stock that ranks senior to all other shares of our stock, including our
common stock, and grants the holder (the “Preferred Investor”) certain rights that are superior to the rights of common
stockholders, including with respect to the payment of distributions, liquidation preference, redemption rights, and
conversion rights.

Distributions on the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are cumulative and are declared and payable quarterly in
arrears. We are obligated to pay the Preferred Investor its current distributions and any accumulated and unpaid distributions
prior to any distributions being paid to our common stockholders and, therefore, any cash available for distribution is used
first to pay distributions to the Preferred Investor. If we fail to pay distributions on the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
for four quarters (whether or not consecutive), the Preferred Investor is permitted to vote on any matter submitted to a vote of
the common stockholders of the Company, upon which the Preferred Investor and common stockholders shall vote together
as a single class. In such a case, the Preferred Investor’s vote would have a dilutive effect on the voting power of our
common stockholders.

The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference in the event of our voluntary or involuntary
liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of our affairs (a “liquidation™) which could negatively affect any payments to the
common stockholders in the event of a liquidation. Furthermore, the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is redeemable in
certain circumstances. A redemption of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, whether at our option or at the option of
the holder of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flow and
the amount available for distributions to our common stockholders.

The Preferred Investor also has, upon the occurrence of certain events, the right to convert any or all of the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock held by the Preferred Investor into shares of our common stock. The issuance of common stock
upon conversion of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock would result in dilution to our common stockholders. As of
December 31, 2024, we had $200 million of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding, which would represent
approximately 16.3% of our common stock on an as converted, fully diluted basis. See Note 6 — Preferred Equity, of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, for more information.

The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock also imposes several negative covenants on us such as not permitting us to
exceed a leverage ratio of 60% loan-to-value or prohibiting us from entering into a merger with another entity whose assets
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are not at least 80% self storage related, in each case without an affirmative vote by the Preferred Investor. Because of these

superior rights, the existence of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock could have the effect of discouraging a takeover or
other transaction in which holders of some or a majority of our outstanding common stock might receive a premium for their
shares.

We may only calculate the estimated value per share for our shares annually and, therefore, our stockholders may
not be able to determine the estimated net asset value of their shares on an ongoing basis.

On March 12, 2025, our board of directors approved an estimated value per share for our Class A shares and Class T
shares of $14.50. Our board of directors approved this estimated value per share pursuant to rules promulgated by FINRA.
When determining the estimated value per share there are currently no SEC, federal or state rules that establish requirements
specifying the methodology to employ in determining an estimated value per share; provided, however, that the
determination of the estimated value per share must be conducted by, or with the material assistance or confirmation of, a
third-party valuation expert or service and must be derived from a methodology that conforms to standard industry practice.

In determining our estimated value per share, we primarily relied upon a valuation of our portfolio of properties as of
June 30, 2024. Valuations and appraisals of our properties are estimates of fair value and may not necessarily correspond to
realizable value upon the sale of such properties; therefore our estimated net asset value per share may not reflect the amount
that would be realized upon a sale of each of our properties.

For the purposes of calculating the estimated value per share, an independent third party appraiser valued our properties
as of June 30, 2024. The valuation methodologies used to value our properties involved certain subjective judgments.
Ultimate realization of the value of an asset depends to a great extent on economic and other conditions beyond our control
and the control of our independent appraiser. Further, valuations do not necessarily represent the price at which an asset
would sell, since market prices of assets can only be determined by negotiation between a willing buyer and seller. Therefore,
the valuations of our properties and our investments in real estate related assets may not correspond to the timely realizable
value upon a sale of those assets. Because our share prices are primarily based on the estimated net asset value per share, our
stockholders may pay more than realizable value when such shares are purchased or receive less than realizable value when
such shares are sold.

We may be unable to pay or maintain cash distributions or increase distributions over time.

There are many factors that can affect the availability and timing of cash distributions to stockholders. We are required
to pay dividends with respect to our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, currently at a rate of 7.00% per annum, which is
subject to increase by 0.75% per annum on each anniversary of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock issuance, to a
maximum of 9.0% per annum until the tenth anniversary of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock issuance. Distributions
to our common stockholders will be based principally on distribution expectations of our investors and cash available from
our operations.

The amount of cash available for distribution will be affected by many factors, such as our operating expense levels, as
well as many other variables. Actual cash available for distribution may vary substantially from estimates. We cannot assure
our stockholders that we will be able to pay or maintain distributions or that distributions will increase over time, nor can we
give any assurance that rents from the properties will increase, that the securities we buy will increase in value or provide
constant or increased distributions over time, or that future acquisitions of real properties will increase our cash available for
distribution to stockholders. We also cannot assure our stockholders that our board of directors will not decide to reduce
distributions based on other external factors. Additionally, our board of directors may decide to amend our distribution policy
to provide for distributions on a quarterly basis instead of a monthly basis. Our actual results may differ significantly from
the assumptions used by our board of directors in establishing the distribution rate to stockholders. If we fail to pay
distributions on the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for four quarters (whether or not consecutive), the Preferred
Investor is permitted to vote on any matter submitted to a vote of the common stockholders of the Company, upon which the
Preferred Investor and common stockholders shall vote together as a single class. In such a case, the Preferred Investor’s vote
would have a dilutive effect on the voting power of our common stockholders.

If we lose or are unable to retain our executive officers, our business could be harmed.
Our success depends to a significant degree upon the contributions of our executive officers. While we have adopted an

Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan which is applicable to each of these officers, we do not have an
employment agreement with any of these key personnel and we cannot guarantee that all, or any particular one, will remain
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employed by us. If we lose or are unable to retain our executive officers, our operating results and our future growth could
suffer.

Our Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan and the related agreements with our executive officers may
result in significant expense for us and may deter a third party from engaging in a change of control transaction with us
that might otherwise result in a premium price to our stockholders.

We have adopted an Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan that is applicable to our executive officers and
have entered into an associated Severance Agreement with each of our executive officers. Pursuant to such documents, if the
officer’s employment is terminated other than for cause or if the officer elects to terminate his employment with us for good
reason, we will make a severance payment equal to the officer’s highest annual compensation in the prior two years plus the
officer’s average cash performance bonus earned for the prior three years, multiplied by an amount specified in the Executive
Severance and Change of Control Plan, together with continuation of medical coverage for a period of time specified in the
Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan. In addition, certain outstanding equity awards may be subject to
accelerated vesting or may remain eligible for vesting, as specified further in the Executive Severance and Change of Control
Plan. These agreements may result in a significant expense for us if an executive officer’s employment is terminated for
certain reasons, and may discourage a third party from engaging in a change of control transaction with us that might
otherwise result in a premium price for our stockholders.

Impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets resulting from the Self Administration Transaction may adversely
affect our financial condition and results of operations.

During 2020, with the emergence of the COVID-19 Pandemic and the resulting volatility and disruptions of the
economy and capital markets, and the ability of our Managed REITs to raise additional equity in light of the foregoing, we
recorded various impairments to goodwill and other intangible assets, related to our Managed REITs. Potential additional
future impairments of goodwill or other intangible assets, including trademarks and other acquired intangibles, resulting from
the Self Administration Transaction could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. We assess our
goodwill and other intangible assets and long-lived assets for impairment at least annually or upon the occurrence of a
triggering event, as required by GAAP. We are required to record an impairment charge if circumstances indicate that the
asset carrying values exceed their fair values. Our assessment of goodwill, other intangible assets, or long-lived assets could
indicate that an impairment of the carrying value of such assets may have occurred that could result in a material, non-cash
write-down of such assets, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and future earnings.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls, we may
not be able to accurately and timely report our financial results.

Effective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls are necessary for us to provide reliable
financial reports, effectively prevent fraud, and to operate successfully as a public company. If we cannot provide reliable
financial reports or prevent fraud, our reputation and operating results could be harmed. We are currently required to perform
system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting to allow management to report on
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, and, in the future, if we were to become an accelerated filer
or large accelerated filer, we may be required to have our independent registered public accounting firm attest to the same, as
required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. To date, the audit of our consolidated financial statements by our
independent registered public accounting firm has included a consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a
basis of designing their audit procedures, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion (as is required pursuant to Section
404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. If a material
weakness or significant deficiency was to be identified in our internal control over financial reporting, we may also identify
deficiencies in some of our disclosure controls and procedures that we believe require remediation. If we or our independent
registered public accounting firm discover deficiencies or weaknesses, we will make efforts to improve our internal controls
over financial reporting and disclosure controls. However, there is no assurance that we will be successful. Any failure to
maintain effective controls or timely effect any necessary improvement of our internal controls over financial reporting and
disclosure controls could harm operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Ineffective internal
control over financial reporting and disclosure controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial
information.

Our trademarks are important, and the loss of or our inability to enforce trademark and other proprietary
intellectual property rights could harm our business.
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We own trademarks and other intellectual property rights, including but not limited to the “SmartStop®” and “Strategic
Storage®” brands, which are important to our success and competitive position, and the loss of or our inability to enforce
trademark and other proprietary intellectual property rights could harm our business. We will devote substantial resources to
the establishment and protection of our trademarks and other proprietary intellectual property rights.

Our efforts to protect our intellectual property may not be adequate. Third parties may misappropriate or infringe on our
intellectual property. From time to time, we may engage in litigation to protect our intellectual property, which could result in
substantial costs as well as diversion of management attention. The occurrence of any of these risks could adversely affect
our business and results of operations.

Our bylaws designate the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland as the sole and exclusive forum for certain
types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to
obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.

Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Circuit Court for
Baltimore City, Maryland, or, if that Court does not have jurisdiction, the United States District Court for the District of
Maryland, Northern Division, shall be the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be
initiated by our stockholders with respect to our Company, our directors, our officers, or our employees. This choice of forum
provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that the stockholder believes is favorable for
disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees, which may discourage meritorious claims from being asserted
against us and our directors, officers, and employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find this provision of our bylaws
inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur
additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition, or results of operations.

We are the subject of various claims and legal proceedings and may become the subject of claims, litigation or
investigations which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

In the ordinary course of business, we are the subject of various claims and legal proceedings and may become the
subject of claims, litigation or investigations, including commercial disputes and employee claims, such as claims of age
discrimination, sexual harassment, gender discrimination, wage and hour, immigration violations or other local, state and
federal labor law violations, and from time to time may be involved in governmental or regulatory investigations or similar
matters arising out of our current or future business. While we have policies in place that are intended to prevent or address
such issues, we cannot be assured that such policies will adequately prevent or mitigate the foregoing concerns and any
associated harm. Any claims asserted against us or our management, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, could harm our
reputation or the reputation of our management and have an adverse impact on our relationship with our clients, business
partners and other third parties and could lead to additional related claims. In light of the potential cost and uncertainty
involved in litigation, we have in the past settled and may in the future settle matters even when we believe we have a
meritorious defense. Certain claims may seek injunctive relief, which could disrupt the ordinary conduct of our business and
operations or increase our cost of doing business. Our insurance or indemnities may not cover all claims that may be asserted
against us. Furthermore, there is no guarantee that we will be successful in defending ourselves in pending or future litigation
or similar matters under various laws. Any judgments or settlements in any pending litigation or future claims, litigation or
investigation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Privacy concerns could result in regulatory changes that may harm our business.

The California Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”) went into effect on January 1, 2020. The California Privacy Rights
Act (the “CPRA”), which amends the CCPA, became effective on January 1, 2023, with a lookback period starting January 1,
2022. The CPRA established the California Privacy Protection Agency (the “CPPA”) to oversee enforcement of and
compliance with the CCPA. The CCPA, as amended by the CPRA, is intended to protect consumer privacy rights, and,
among other things, provide California residents with the ability to know what information companies collect about them, to
request, in certain circumstances, the deletion of such information, and to affirmatively opt out of the sale or “sharing” of
their personal information. The CPPA is currently in the process of issuing guidance and interpreting the regulations, and as
such we cannot yet predict the full impact of the CCPA, as amended by the CPRA, or any rules or regulations promulgated
thereunder, nor can we predict the full impact of any interpretations thereof. While we have developed processes and notices
that are intended to comply in all material respects with applicable CCPA and CPRA requirements, a regulatory agency may
not agree with certain of our implementation decisions, which could subject us to litigation, regulatory actions or changes to
our business practices that could increase costs or reduce revenues. Eighteen other states have passed comprehensive privacy
laws similar to the CCPA and the CPRA, and a federal consumer privacy law has also been proposed. Similar laws may be
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implemented in other jurisdictions that we do business in and in ways that may be more restrictive than the CCPA or the
CPRA, increasing the cost of compliance, as well as the risk of nhoncompliance, on our business.

Certain of our officers and key personnel will face competing demands relating to their time and will face conflicts
of interest related to the positions they hold with affiliated entities, which could cause our business to suffer.

Certain of our officers and key personnel and their respective affiliates are officers, key personnel, advisors and
managers of the Managed REITs and other current and future real estate programs sponsored or managed by us, our officers,
our key personnel, our subsidiaries or other affiliates, including but not limited to Strategic Storage Trust X, a new private net
asset value, or NAV, REIT sponsored by a subsidiary of ours, and certain Delaware Statutory Trusts, or DSTs, sponsored by
SSGT Il (the “Other Programs™). In addition, our Chief Executive Officer remains (i) Chairman of the Board of Strategic
Student & Senior Housing Trust, Inc. and (ii) the Chief Executive Officer of our former sponsor. Because these persons have
competing demands on their time and resources, they may have conflicts of interest in allocating their time between our
business and these other activities. Should these persons not balance these competing demands on their time and resources,
our business could suffer. Furthermore, these persons owe fiduciary duties to these other entities and their owners, which
fiduciary duties may conflict with the duties that they owe to our stockholders and us. Their loyalties to these other entities
could result in actions or inactions that are detrimental to our business.

Our Chief Executive Officer has direct and indirect beneficial ownership in our Operating Partnership and shares of
our common stock, and therefore may face conflicts with regard to his fiduciary duties to us and his fiduciary duties to the
entity which holds such interests, including conditions pertaining to redemption of our common stock or the limited
partnership interests and voting matters related to such interests.

As of December 31, 2024, our Chief Executive Officer had direct and indirect beneficial ownership in units of our
Operating Partnership and shares of our common stock (including as a controlling person of SAM, our former sponsor)
representing an approximately 9.7% interest in the Operating Partnership and 0.6% of our common stock, respectively. Such
OP units may be exchanged for our common stock in the future. In addition, in certain circumstances such as a merger, sale
of all or substantially all of our assets, share exchange, conversion, dissolution or amendment to our charter, in each case
where the vote of our stockholders is required under Maryland law, the consent of our Operating Partnership will also be
required, which could result in our Chief Executive Officer being able to influence such matters submitted to a vote of our
stockholders. This may result in an outcome that may not be favorable to our stockholders. Our Chief Executive Officer may
also make decisions on behalf of SAM related to redemptions of either its OP units or its common stock which may
negatively impact our stockholders.

Revenue and earnings from the Managed REIT Platform are uncertain.

Increasing our revenue from the Managed REIT Platform is dependent in large part on the ability to raise capital in
offerings for existing or future Managed REITs or other future programs, as well as on our ability to make investments that
meet the investment criteria of existing and future entities, both of which are subject to uncertainty with respect to capital
market and real estate market conditions. This uncertainty could have an adverse impact on our earnings. Moreover, revenue
generated from asset management fees, property management fees, and other fees and distributions relating to the Managed
REITs’ and Other Programs’ offerings and the investment and management of their respective assets may be affected by
factors that include not only our ability to increase the Managed REITs’ and Other Programs’ portfolio of properties under
management, but also changes in valuation of those properties, sales of the Managed REITs’ and Other Programs’ properties
and assets and our ability to successfully operate the Managed REITs’ and Other Programs’ properties.

The Managed REITs and Other Programs may not generate sufficient revenue or may incur significant debt, which
either due to liquidity problems or restrictive covenants contained in their borrowing agreements could restrict their ability to
pay or reimburse fees and expenses owed to us when due. In addition, the revenue payable by the Managed REITs and Other
Programs is subject to certain limits set forth in their respective advisory and other agreements, which may limit the growth
of our revenue. Furthermore, our ability to earn certain subordinated distributions from the Managed REITs and Other
Programs is tied to providing liquidity and other prospective events for the respective Managed REITs and Other Programs.
Our ability to provide such liquidity events, and to do so under circumstances that will satisfy the applicable subordination
requirements, will depend on market conditions at the relevant time, which may vary considerably over a period of years. If
we are unable to satisfy such subordination requirements, certain equity interests we hold in the Managed REITs and Other
Programs may be impaired.
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Because the revenue streams from the advisory agreements with the Managed REITs are subject to limitation or
cancellation, any such termination could adversely affect our financial condition, cash flow and the amount available for
distributions to our common stockholders.

Our advisory agreements with the Managed REITSs are subject to the renewal terms thereof and each may generally be
terminated by each Managed REIT, without cause or penalty, upon 60 days’ written notice. There can be no assurance that
the advisory agreements will be renewed before they expire or that the advisory agreements will not be terminated. Any such
non-renewal or termination could adversely affect our financial condition, cash flow and the amount available for
distributions to our common stockholders.

We will face conflicts of interest relating to the purchase of properties, including conflicts with the Managed REITs
and Other Programs, and there can be no assurance that our investment allocation policy will adequately address all of
the conflicts that may arise or that it will address such conflicts in a manner that is more favorable to us than to the
Managed REITs and Other Programs.

We own the entities that serve as the sponsor and advisor to the Managed REITs, which have investment objectives
similar to ours, and we may be buying properties at the same time as one or more of the Managed REITs or Other Programs.
Accordingly, we will have conflicts of interest in allocating potential properties, acquisition expenses, management time,
services, and other functions between various existing enterprises or future enterprises with which the Managed REITs may
be or become involved. SST VI is a public non-traded Managed REIT which began operations in early 2021 that invests in
self storage properties and has assets of approximately $552 million as of September 30, 2024, and SSGT |11 is a private
Managed REIT which began operations in May 2022 that invests in self storage properties and had assets of approximately
$221 million as of September 30, 2024.

While we have adopted an acquisition allocation policy in an effort to appropriately allocate acquisitions among us, the
Managed REITs and the Other Programs, there can be no assurance that such allocation policy will adequately address all of
the conflicts that may arise or that it will address such conflicts in a manner that is more favorable to us than to the Managed
REITs or the Other Programs. In addition, conflicts of interest may exist in the valuation of our investments and regarding
decisions about the allocation of specific investment opportunities among us, the Managed REITs and the Other Programs
and the allocation of fees and costs among us, the Managed REITs and the Other Programs. To the extent we fail to
appropriately deal with any such conflicts, it could negatively impact our reputation and ability to raise additional funds or
result in potential litigation against us.

If the Managed REITs are unable to repay certain loans made to them by us or redeem certain preferred equity
investments made in them by us, our liquidity, financial condition, cash flow, and the amount available for distributions to
our common stockholders could be adversely affected.

We have provided and may continue to provide financial support to the Managed REITs in the form of outstanding
payables, loans, preferred equity investments, or other strategic investments. As of December 31, 2024, we had an aggregate
of approximately $33.0 million in outstanding loans to the Managed REITs. If the Managed REITs are unable to raise
sufficient additional capital or produce adequate funds from operations, they may not be able to repay such payables or loan
amounts. As a result, the amounts loaned or invested may remain unavailable to us longer than expected, which could have a
negative impact on our liquidity and could result in us pursuing additional capital in the form of additional debt or equity
issuances. If we are unable to acquire additional capital, our financial condition, cash flow, and the amount available for
distributions to our common stockholders could be adversely affected.

We are obligated under the Sponsor Funding Agreement to fund up to $70 million for the upfront sales load in the
SST VI public offering, which may limit our ability to make investments and/or fund distributions to our stockholders or
use such funds for other working capital purposes, and there is no guarantee that we will receive a return on this
investment.

On November 1, 2023, we (through an indirect subsidiary) entered into a Sponsor Funding Agreement with SST VI and
its operating partnership, pursuant to which we agreed to fund the payment of (i) the upfront sales commission and the
upfront dealer manager fee for the sale of shares of SST VI’s Class Y common stock (the “Class Y Shares”) sold in the SST
VI public offering and (ii) the estimated organization and offering expenses for the sale of Class Y Shares and shares of SST
VI’s Class Z common stock (the “Class Z Shares”) sold in the SST VI public offering. As of December 31, 2024, the
maximum remaining commitment of SRA pursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement was approximately $61.2 million,
assuming SST VI were to sell the maximum remaining shares available under its current offering of approximately 87.4
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million.

In consideration for providing the funding for the front-end sales load described above, SST VI’s operating partnership
will issue a number of Series C Subordinated Convertible Units of limited partnership interest in SST VI’s operating
partnership (the “Series C Units”) to our indirect subsidiary equal to the dollar amount of such funding divided by the then-
current offering price for the Class Y Shares and Class Z Shares sold in the SST VI public offering, which is currently $10.00
per share.

The Series C Units shall automatically convert into class A units on a one-to-one basis upon SST VI’s disclosure of an
estimated net asset value per share equal to at least $10.00 per share for each class of SST VI shares of common stock,
including the Class Y Shares and Class Z Shares, calculated net of the value of the Series C Units to be converted. Upon
conversion of the Series C Units to class A units, our indirect subsidiary will be entitled to distribution, liquidation, voting or
other rights to participate in SST VI’s operating partnership.

Our obligations under the sponsor funding agreement may limit our ability to make other investments and/or fund
distributions to our stockholders or use for other working capital purposes. In addition, there is no guarantee that the Series C
Units will convert into class A units or that we will receive a return on this investment.

A subsidiary of ours is the sponsor of the Managed REITs and it or its affiliates sponsor Other Programs. As a
result, we could be subject to any litigation that may arise by investors in those entities or the respective operations of
those entities.

In the course of their operations, the Managed REITs and the Other Programs may be subject to lawsuits. We may be
named in such lawsuits as the sponsor of such entities and may, in some instances, be found to be subject to liability. In such
an instance, our ability to seek reimbursement or indemnification from such programs may be limited. If we are subject to
significant legal expenses, it could have an adverse effect on our financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure

The limit on the number of shares a person may own may discourage a takeover that could otherwise result in a
premium price to our stockholders.

In order for us to qualify as a REIT, no more than 50% of our outstanding stock may be beneficially owned, directly or
indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (including certain types of entities) at any time during the last half of each taxable
year. To ensure that we do not fail to qualify as a REIT under this test, our charter restricts ownership by one person or entity
to no more than 9.8% of the value of our then-outstanding capital stock or more than 9.8% of the value or number of shares,
whichever is more restrictive, of our then outstanding common stock. This restriction may have the effect of delaying,
deferring, or preventing a change in control of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer, or
sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might provide a premium price for holders of our common stock.

Our charter permits our board of directors to issue stock with terms that may subordinate the rights of common
stockholders or discourage a third party from acquiring us in a manner that might result in a premium price to our
stockholders.

Our charter permits our board of directors to issue up to 900,000,000 shares of capital stock. In addition, our board of
directors, without any action by our stockholders, may amend our charter from time to time to increase or decrease the
aggregate number of shares or the number of shares of any class or series of stock that we have authority to issue. Our board
of directors may classify or reclassify any unissued common stock or preferred stock and establish the preferences,
conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of
redemption of any such stock. Thus, our board of directors could authorize the issuance of preferred stock with terms and
conditions that have a priority as to distributions and amounts payable upon liquidation over the rights of the holders of our
common stock, such as our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. See the risk factor captioned “We have issued Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock that ranks senior to all common stock and grants the holder superior rights compared to common
stockholders, which may have the effect of diluting our stockholders’ interests in us and discouraging a takeover or other
similar transaction.” in the section titled “Risks Related to an Investment in SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.,” above.
Preferred stock could also have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a change in control of our company, including
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an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might provide
a premium price for holders of our common stock.

Stockholders are bound by the majority vote on matters on which our stockholders are entitled to vote and, therefore,
a stockholder vote on a particular matter may be superseded by the vote of other stockholders.

Stockholders may vote on certain matters at any annual or special meeting of stockholders, including the election of
directors. However, a stockholder will be bound by the majority vote on matters requiring approval of a majority of the
stockholders even if they do not vote with the majority on any such matter.

We have opted out of provisions of the MGCL relating to deterring or defending hostile takeovers.

Under Maryland law, “business combinations” between a Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder (as
defined in the statute) or an affiliate of an interested stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on
which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These business combinations include a merger,
consolidation, share exchange, or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of
equity securities. An interested stockholder is defined as:

o any person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the voting power of the corporation’s
outstanding voting stock; or

o an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in
question, was the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 10% or more of the voting power of the then
outstanding stock of the corporation.

These prohibitions are intended to prevent a change of control by interested stockholders who do not have the support of
our board of directors. Pursuant to the statute, our board of directors has by resolution exempted business combinations
between us and any person, provided that the business combination is first approved by our board of directors.

Also, under Maryland law, control shares of a Maryland corporation acquired in a control share acquisition have no
voting rights except to the extent approved by a vote of stockholders entitled to cast two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast
on the matter. Shares owned by the acquirer, an officer of the corporation, or an employee of the corporation who is also a
director of the corporation, are excluded from the vote on whether to accord voting rights to the control shares. As permitted
by the MGCL, our bylaws contain a provision exempting from the control share acquisition statute any and all acquisitions
by any person of our stock.

Our decision to opt out of the above provisions of the MGCL removes certain protections of the MGCL that may
otherwise deter a hostile takeover or assist us in defending against a hostile takeover. There is no guarantee that the
ownership limitations in our charter would provide the same measure of protection as the above provisions of the MGCL and
prevent an undesired change of control by an interested stockholder.

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to recover claims against our officers and directors are limited, which
could reduce our stockholders’ and our recovery against them if they cause us to incur losses.

Maryland law provides that a director has no liability in that capacity if the director performs his or her duties in good
faith, in a manner the director reasonably believes to be in the corporation’s best interests, and with the care that an ordinarily
prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances. Our charter requires us to indemnify our directors
and officers and permits us to indemnify our employees and agents for actions taken by them to the maximum extent
permitted under Maryland law. Additionally, our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers for monetary
damages to the maximum extent permitted under Maryland law. As a result, we and our stockholders may have more limited
rights against our directors, officers, employees and agents than might otherwise exist under common law, which could
reduce our stockholders’ and our recovery against them. We have also entered into indemnification agreements with each of
our directors and executive officers, which obligate us to indemnify such persons in certain circumstances, including if they
are or are threatened to be made a party to, or witness in, any proceeding by reason of their status as a present or former
director or officer of us. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our directors, officers,
employees and agents in some cases which would decrease the cash otherwise available for distribution to our stockholders.
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Future offerings of debt securities, which would be senior to our common stock, or equity securities, which would
dilute our existing stockholders and may be senior to our common stock, may adversely affect our stockholders, and our
stockholders’ interests in us will be diluted as we issue additional shares.

We may in the future attempt to increase our capital resources by offering debt or equity securities, including notes and
classes of preferred or common stock. Debt securities or shares of preferred stock may generally be entitled to receive interest
payments or distributions, both current and in connection with any liquidation or sale, prior to the holders of our common
stock. We are not required to offer any such additional debt or equity securities to existing common stockholders on a
preemptive basis. Therefore, offerings of common stock or other equity securities may dilute the holdings of our existing
stockholders. Because we may generally issue any such debt or equity securities in the future without obtaining the consent
of our stockholders, you will bear the risk of such future offerings, including the dilution of your proportionate ownership.

In addition, subject to any limitations set forth under Maryland law, our board of directors may increase the number of
authorized shares of stock (currently 900,000,000 shares), increase or decrease the number of shares of any class or series of
stock designated, or reclassify any unissued shares without the necessity of obtaining stockholder approval. All such shares
may be issued in the discretion of our board of directors. Further, our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock may be converted
into our common stock under certain circumstances. In addition, we have granted, and expect to grant in the future, equity
awards to our independent directors and certain of our employees, including our executive officers, which to date consist of
restricted stock of the Company and LTIP units of our Operating Partnership, which are convertible into shares of our
common stock subject to satisfaction of certain conditions. Finally, a subsidiary of SAM owns units of limited partnership
interest in our Operating Partnership which are convertible into shares of our class A common stock under certain
circumstances.

Therefore, existing stockholders will experience dilution of their equity investment in us as we (1) sell additional shares
in the future, including those issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan, (2) sell securities that are convertible into
shares of our common stock, (3) issue shares of our common stock in a private offering of securities, (4) issue restricted
shares of our common stock or other equity-based securities to our independent directors and executive officers, (5) issue
shares of our common stock in a merger or to sellers of properties acquired by us in connection with an exchange of limited
partnership interests of our Operating Partnership, or (6) convert shares of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock into
shares of our common stock.

Because the limited partnership interests of our Operating Partnership may, in the discretion of our board of directors,
be exchanged for shares of our common stock, any merger, exchange or conversion between our Operating Partnership and
another entity ultimately could result in the issuance of a substantial number of shares of our common stock, thereby diluting
the percentage ownership interest of other stockholders. Because of these and other reasons, our stockholders may experience
substantial dilution in their percentage ownership of our shares.

Risks Related to the Self Storage Industry

Because we are focused on the self storage industry, our rental revenues will be significantly influenced by demand
for self storage space generally, and a decrease in such demand would likely have a greater adverse effect on our rental
revenues than if we owned a more diversified real estate portfolio.

Because our portfolio of properties consists primarily of self storage facilities, we are subject to risks inherent in
investments in a single industry. A decrease in the demand for self storage space would likely have a greater adverse effect
on our rental revenues than if we owned a more diversified real estate portfolio. Demand for self storage space has been and
could be adversely affected by weakness in the national, regional, and local economies and changes in supply of or demand
for similar or competing self storage facilities in an area. To the extent that any of these conditions occur, they are likely to
affect demand, and market rents, for self storage space, which could cause a decrease in our rental revenue. Any such
decrease could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We do not
expect to invest in other real estate or businesses to hedge against the risk that industry trends might decrease the profitability
of our self storage-related investments.

We face significant competition in the self storage industry, which may increase the cost of acquisitions or
developments or impede our ability to retain customers or re-let space when existing customers vacate.

We face intense competition in every market in which we purchase self storage facilities. We compete with numerous
national, regional, and local developers, owners and operators in the self storage industry, including the Managed REITs and
Other Programs, publicly traded REITs, other REITs and institutional investment funds. Moreover, development of self
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storage facilities has increased in recent years, which has intensified competition, and we expect it will continue to do so as
newly developed facilities are opened. In addition, competition for suitable investments may reduce the number of suitable
investment opportunities available to us, may increase acquisition costs, and may reduce demand for self storage units in
certain areas where our facilities are located, all of which may adversely affect our operating results. Additionally, an
economic slowdown in a particular market could have a negative effect on our self storage revenues.

If competitors build new facilities that compete with our facilities or offer space at rental rates below the rental rates we
charge our customers, we may lose potential or existing customers and we may be pressured to discount our rental rates to
retain customers. In addition, increased competition for customers may require us to make capital improvements to facilities
that we would not otherwise make. As a result, our rental income could decline, which could have a material adverse impact
on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may not be successful in identifying and consummating suitable acquisitions, or integrating and operating
acquired properties, which may adversely impact our growth and results of operations.

We expect to make future acquisitions of self storage properties. We may not be successful in identifying and
consummating suitable acquisitions that meet our criteria, which may impede our growth. We may encounter competition
when we seek to acquire properties, especially for brokered portfolios. Aggressive bidding practices by prospective acquirers
have been commonplace and this competition also may be a challenge for our acquisition strategy and potentially result in
our paying higher prices for acquisitions, including, in some instances, paying consideration for certain properties that may
be more than others are willing to pay for such properties. Should we pay higher prices for self storage properties or other
assets, our operating results may suffer. Furthermore, when we acquire self storage properties, we will be required to
integrate them into our then-existing portfolio. The acquired properties may turn out to be less compatible with our
acquisition strategy than originally anticipated, may cause disruptions in our operations, or may divert management’s
attention away from day-to-day operations, which could impair our results of operations. Our ability to acquire or integrate
properties may also be constrained by the following additional risks:

o we face competition from national (e.g., large public and private self storage companies, institutional investors
and private equity funds), regional and local owners, operators and developers of self storage properties, which
may result in higher property acquisition prices and reduced yields;

o the inability to achieve satisfactory completion of due diligence investigations and other customary closing
conditions;

o we may fail to finance an acquisition on favorable terms or at all;

o spending more than the time and amounts budgeted to make necessary improvements or renovations to acquired
properties;

o the inability to accurately estimate physical occupancy levels, rental rates, operating costs or costs of
improvements to bring an acquired property up to an acceptable level of quality to meet our expected standards;
and

o we may acquire properties subject to liabilities without any recourse, or with only limited recourse, with respect
to unknown liabilities such as liabilities for clean-up of undisclosed environmental contamination, claims by
persons dealing with the former owners of the properties and claims for indemnification by general partners,
trustees, officers and others indemnified by the former owners of the properties.

The acquisition of new properties may give rise to difficulties in predicting revenue potential.

New acquisitions could fail to perform in accordance with our expectations. If we fail to accurately estimate occupancy
levels, rental rates, operating costs, or costs of improvements to bring an acquired facility up to our standards, the
performance of the facility may be below expectations. Properties we acquire may have characteristics or deficiencies
affecting their valuation or revenue potential that we have not yet discovered. We cannot assure our stockholders that the
performance of properties we acquire will increase or be maintained under our management.

We depend on our on-site personnel to maximize customer satisfaction at each of our facilities, and any difficulties
we encounter in hiring, training, and retaining skilled field personnel may adversely affect our rental revenues.

The customer service, marketing skills, knowledge of local market demand and competitive dynamics of our facility
managers are contributing factors to our ability to maximize our rental income and to achieve the highest sustainable rent
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levels at each of our facilities. If we are unable to successfully recruit, train, and retain qualified field personnel, our rental
incomes may be adversely affected, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

Delays in development and lease-up of our properties would reduce our profitability.

We may acquire properties that require repositioning or redeveloping such properties with the goal of increasing cash
flow, value or both. Construction delays to new or existing self storage properties due to weather, unforeseen site conditions,
personnel problems, and other factors could delay our anticipated customer occupancy plan which could adversely affect our
profitability and cash flow. Furthermore, our estimate of the costs of repositioning or redeveloping an acquired property may
prove to be inaccurate, which may result in our failure to meet our profitability goals. We have encountered in the past, and
we may also encounter in the future unforeseen cost increases associated with building materials or construction services
resulting from trade tensions, disruptions, tariffs, duties or restrictions or an epidemic, pandemic or other health crisis.
Additionally, we may acquire a new property that has a relatively low physical occupancy, and the cash flow from existing
operations may be insufficient to pay the operating expenses associated with that property until the property is adequately
leased. If one or more of these properties do not perform as expected or we are unable to successfully integrate new
properties into our existing operations, our financial performance may be adversely affected.

The risks associated with storage contents may increase our operating costs or expose us to potential liability that
may not be covered by insurance, which may have adverse effects on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

The self storage facilities we own and operate are leased directly to customers who store their belongings without any
immediate inspections or oversight from us. We may unintentionally lease space to groups engaged in illegal and dangerous
activities. Damage to storage contents may occur due to, among other occurrences, the following: war, acts of terrorism,
earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, pollution, environmental matters, fires or events caused by fault of a customer, fault of a
third party, or fault of our own. Such damage may or may not be covered by insurance maintained by us, if any. We will
determine the amounts and types of insurance coverage that we will maintain, including any coverage over the contents of
any properties in which we may invest. Such determinations will be made on a case-by-case basis based on the type, value,
location, and risks associated with each investment, as well as any lender requirements, among any other factors we may
consider relevant. There is no guarantee as to the type of insurance that we will obtain for any investments that we may make
and there is no guarantee that any particular damage to storage contents would be covered by such insurance, even if
obtained. The costs associated with maintaining such insurance, as well as any liability imposed upon us due to damage to
storage contents, may have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Additionally, although we require our customers to sign an agreement stating that they will not store flammable,
hazardous, illegal, or dangerous contents in the self storage units, we cannot ensure that our customers will abide by such
agreement or otherwise comply with applicable laws, including environmental, health and safety laws. The storage of such
materials or violation of applicable laws might cause destruction to a facility or impose liability on us for the costs of removal
or remediation if these various contents or substances are released on, from or in a facility, which may have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our operating results may be affected by regulatory changes that have an adverse impact on our specific facilities,
including our ability to obtain required permits and approvals, which may adversely affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Certain regulatory changes may have a direct impact on our self storage facilities, including but not limited to, land use,
zoning, and permitting requirements by governmental authorities at the local level, which can restrict the availability of land
for development, and special zoning codes which omit certain uses of property from a zoning category. These special uses
(i.e., hospitals, schools, and self storage facilities) are allowed in that particular zoning classification only by obtaining a
special use permit and the permission of local zoning authority. If we are delayed in obtaining or unable to obtain a special
use permit where one is required, new developments or expansion of existing developments could be delayed or reduced.
Additionally, certain municipalities require holders of a special use permit to have higher levels of liability coverage than is
normally required. The acquisition of, or the inability to obtain, a special use permit and the possibility of higher levels of
insurance coverage associated therewith may have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

In certain cases, we protect our customers’ goods pursuant to our tenant protection program or other arrangements
that may, in some cases, be subject to governmental regulation, which may adversely affect our results.
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In certain cases, we provide a tenant protection program to customers at our properties, and in certain other cases, we
protect our customers goods through other arrangements. We earn fees in connection with these arrangements. These
arrangements, including the payments associated with these arrangements, may be subject to state-specific or provincial-
specific governmental regulation. Such regulatory authorities generally have broad discretion to promulgate, interpret and
implement regulations, to adopt new or additional licensing requirements, to grant, renew and revoke licenses and approvals,
and to evaluate compliance with regulations through periodic examinations, audits, investigations and inquiries. In addition,
there has been and may continue to be regulatory or private action in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Although the
marketing of, and management procedures associated with, these arrangements were designed to navigate the regulatory
environment in which we operate, as a result of regulatory or private action in any jurisdiction in which we operate, we may
be temporarily or permanently suspended from generating revenue with respect to these arrangements, or otherwise fined or
penalized or suffer an adverse judgment, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

A failure in, or breach of, our operational or security systems or infrastructure, or those of our third party vendors
and other service providers or other third parties, including as a result of cyber attacks, could disrupt our businesses,
result in the disclosure or misuse of confidential or proprietary information, damage our reputation, increase our costs,
and cause losses.

We rely heavily on communications and information systems to conduct our business. Information security risks for our
business have generally increased in recent years in part because of the proliferation of new technologies, such as generative
artificial intelligence; the use of the Internet and telecommunications technologies to process, transmit and store electronic
information, including the management and support of a variety of business processes, including financial transactions and
records, personally identifiable information, and tenant and lease data; and the increased sophistication and activities of
organized crime, hackers, and terrorists, activists, and other external parties. As customer, public, and regulatory expectations
regarding operational and information security have increased, our operating systems and infrastructure must continue to be
safeguarded and monitored for potential failures, disruptions, and breakdowns. Our business, financial, accounting, and data
processing systems, or other operating systems and facilities, may stop operating properly or become disabled or damaged as
a result of a number of factors, including events that are wholly or partially beyond our control. For example, there could be
electrical or telecommunication outages; natural disasters such as earthquakes, tornadoes, and hurricanes; disease pandemics;
events arising from local or larger scale political or social matters, including terrorist acts; and as described below, cyber
attacks.

Our business relies on its digital technologies, computer and email systems, software and networks to conduct its
operations. Although we have information security procedures and controls in place, our technologies, systems and networks
and, because the nature of our business involves the receipt and retention of personal information about our customers, our
customers’ personal accounts may become the target of cyber attacks or information security breaches that could result in the
unauthorized release, gathering, monitoring, misuse, loss, or destruction of our or our customers’ or other third parties’
confidential information. Third parties with whom we do business or who facilitate our business activities, including
intermediaries or vendors that provide service or security solutions for our operations, and other third parties, could also be
sources of operational and information security risk to us, including from breakdowns or failures of their own systems or
capacity constraints. In addition, hardware, software or applications we develop or procure from third parties may contain
defects in design or manufacture or other problems that could unexpectedly compromise information security.

While we have disaster recovery and other policies and procedures designed to prevent or limit the effect of the failure,
interruption or security breach of our information systems, there can be no assurance that any such failures, interruptions or
security breaches will not occur or, if they do occur, that they will be adequately addressed. Further, new technologies such
as artificial intelligence may be more capable at evading any safeguard measures that we have adopted. Our risk and
exposure to these matters remain heightened because of the evolving nature of these threats. As a result, cyber security and
the continued development and enhancement of our controls, processes, and practices designed to protect our systems,
computers, software, data, and networks from attack, damage or unauthorized access remain a focus for us. As threats
continue to evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective
measures or to investigate and remediate information security vulnerabilities. Disruptions or failures in the physical
infrastructure or operating systems that support our businesses and customers, or cyber attacks or security breaches of the
networks, systems or devices that our customers use to access our products and services, could result in customer attrition,
regulatory fines, penalties or intervention, reputation damage, reimbursement or other compensation costs, and/or additional
compliance costs, any of which could have a material effect on our business, financial condition, or results from operations.
Furthermore, if such attacks are not detected immediately, their effect could be compounded.
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Our use of or failure to adopt advancements in information technology may hinder or prevent us from achieving
strategic objectives or otherwise harm our business.

Our use of or inability to adopt and deliver new technological capabilities and enhancements in line with strategic
objectives, including artificial intelligence and machine learning, may put us at a competitive disadvantage; cause us to miss
opportunities to innovate, achieve efficiencies, or improve the customer experience; or adversely impact our business,
reputation, results of operations, and financial condition. Legislative activity in the privacy area may also result in new laws
that are applicable to us and that may hinder our business, including by restricting our use of customer data or otherwise
regulating the use of algorithms and automated processing in ways that could lead to significant increases in the cost of
compliance or could materially affect our business, reputation, results of operations, or financial results. In addition, the use
of emerging technologies, including artificial intelligence, entails risks including risks relating to the possibility of
intellectual property infringement or misappropriation; data privacy; new or enhanced governmental or regulatory scrutiny,
requirements, litigation, or other liability; ethical concerns; negative consumer perceptions as to automation and artificial
intelligence; or other complications or liabilities that could adversely affect our business, reputation, results of operations, or
financial results.

We may be unable to promptly re-let units within our facilities at satisfactory rental rates.

Generally, our unit leases are on a month-to-month basis. Delays in re-letting units as vacancies arise would reduce our
revenues and could adversely affect our operating performance. In addition, lower-than-expected rental rates and higher
rental concessions upon re-letting could adversely affect our rental revenues and impede our growth.

We face risks related to an epidemic, pandemic or other health crisis, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and prospects.

We face risks related to an epidemic, pandemic or other health crisis, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and prospects. Our rental revenue and operating results depend
significantly on the demand for self storage space. If such an event causes weakness in national, regional and local economies
that negatively impact the demand for self storage space and/or increase bad debts, our business, financial condition,
liquidity, results of operations and prospects could be adversely impacted. Additionally, we typically conduct aspects of our
leasing activity at our facilities, as well as the offering of various ancillary products, including moving and packing supplies,
such as locks and boxes, and other services, such as protection plans, tenant insurance or similar programs. Further, if such an
event results in reductions in the ability and willingness of customers to visit our facilities, we could experience reduced
rental revenue and ancillary operating revenue produced by our facilities. Concerns and changes in behavior as a result of
such an event could also impact the availability of site-level personnel, which could adversely affect our ability to adequately
manage our facilities. The ultimate extent of the impact of such an event on our business, financial condition, liquidity,
results of operations and prospects will be driven primarily by the duration, spread, and severity of the event itself, as well as
the duration of indirect economic impacts and potential longer term changes in consumer behavior, all of which are uncertain
and difficult to predict. As a result, we are unable to estimate the effect of these factors on our business, financial condition,
liquidity, results of operations and prospects at this time.

Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

A high concentration of our properties in a particular geographic area would magnify the effects of downturns in
that geographic area.

In the event that we have a concentration of properties in any particular geographic area, any adverse situation that
disproportionately affects that geographic area would have a magnified adverse effect on our portfolio. For 2024,
approximately 22%, 20%, and 10% of our rental income was concentrated in Florida, California, and the Greater Toronto
Area of Canada, respectively.

We may obtain only limited warranties when we purchase a property.

The seller of a property will often sell such property in its “as is” condition on a “where is” basis and “with all faults,”
without any warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular use or purpose. In addition, purchase agreements may
contain only limited warranties, representations, and indemnifications that will only survive for a limited period after the
closing. Also, many sellers of real estate are single purpose entities without significant other assets. The purchase of
properties with limited warranties or from undercapitalized sellers increases the risk that we may lose some or all of our
invested capital in the property as well as rental income from that property.
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We may acquire or finance properties with yield maintenance or defeasance provisions, which may restrict our
operational and financial flexibility.

Yield maintenance or defeasance provisions are provisions that generally require the payment of a premium in
connection with the prepayment of a loan balance. Such provisions are typically provided for by the terms of the agreement
underlying a loan. Yield maintenance or defeasance provisions could materially restrict us from selling or otherwise
disposing of or refinancing properties. These provisions would affect our ability to turn our investments into cash and thus
affect cash available for distribution to our stockholders. Yield maintenance or defeasance provisions may increase the costs
of reducing the outstanding indebtedness with respect to any properties or refinancing such indebtedness.

Yield maintenance or defeasance provisions could impair our ability to take actions that would otherwise be in our
stockholders’ best interests and, therefore, may have an adverse impact on the value of the shares, relative to the value that
would result if such provisions did not exist. In particular, yield maintenance or defeasance provisions could preclude us from
participating in major transactions that could result in a disposition of our assets or a change in control, even though that
disposition or change in control might be in our stockholders’ best interests.

Rising expenses could reduce cash available for future acquisitions.

Any properties that we buy in the future will be subject to operating risks common to real estate in general, any or all of
which may negatively affect us. If any property is not fully occupied or if rents are being paid in an amount that is
insufficient to cover operating expenses, we could be required to expend funds for that property’s operating expenses. Our
properties will be subject to increases in tax rates, utility costs, operating expenses, insurance costs, repairs and maintenance
and administrative expenses.

If we are unable to offset such cost increases through rent increases, we could be required to fund those increases in
operating costs which could adversely affect funds available for future acquisitions or cash available for distribution.

Our real estate assets may decline in value and be subject to significant impairment losses, which may reduce our net
income.

We evaluate our real property assets for impairment based on events and changes in circumstances that may impact the
carrying amounts of such assets. When indicators of potential impairment are present, we will assess the recoverability of the
particular asset by determining whether the carrying value of the asset will be recovered, through an evaluation of the
undiscounted future operating cash flows expected from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. This evaluation is
based on a number of estimates and assumptions. These key assumptions are subjective in nature and may differ materially
from actual results. Based on this evaluation, if the expected undiscounted future cash flows do not exceed the carrying value,
we will adjust the value of the real property asset and recognize an impairment loss. Additionally, changes in our disposition
strategy or changes in the marketplace may alter the holding period of an asset or asset group, which may result in an
impairment loss, and such loss may be material to our financial condition or operating performance.

The fair value of real estate assets is subjective and is determined through the use of comparable sales information and
other market data if available. These subjective assessments have a direct effect on our net income because recording an
impairment loss results in an immediate negative adjustment to net income, which may be material.

Adverse economic conditions will negatively affect our returns and profitability.

The following market and economic challenges may adversely affect our operating results:

o changes in national, regional, and local economic climates or demographics;

o poor economic times resulting in customer defaults under leases or bankruptcy;

o competition from other available properties and the attractiveness of our properties to our customers;
o re-leasing may require reduced rental rates under the new leases;

o increased competition for real estate assets targeted by our investment strategy;

o increased costs to repair, renovate, and re-lease our storage units;
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o increased insurance premiums may reduce funds available for distribution;
o increased inflation above our ability to pass along comparable rent increases to our customers; and

o changes in interest rates and the availability of financing, which may render the sale or refinance of a property or
loan difficult or unattractive.

We are susceptible to the effects of adverse macro-economic events that can result in higher unemployment, shrinking
demand for products, large-scale business failures, and tight credit markets, such as inflation, rising interest rates, or labor
shortages. Because our portfolio of facilities consists of self storage facilities, we are subject to risks inherent in investments
in a single industry, and our results of operations are sensitive to changes in overall economic conditions that impact
consumer spending, including discretionary spending, as well as to increased bad debts. A continuation of, or slow recovery
from, ongoing adverse economic conditions affecting disposable consumer income, such as employment levels, business
conditions, interest rates, tax rates, and fuel and energy costs, could reduce consumer spending or cause consumers to shift
their spending to other products and services. A general reduction in the level of discretionary spending or shifts in consumer
discretionary spending could adversely affect our growth and profitability.

If market conditions worsen, the value of the properties we acquire may decline. Further, the results of operations for a
property in any one period may not be indicative of results in future periods, and the long-term performance of such property
generally may not be comparable to, and cash flows may not be as predictable as, other properties owned by third parties in
the same or similar industry.

Our inability to sell a property when we desire to do so could adversely impact our business and financial condition,
and our inability to sell our properties at a price equal to, or greater than, the price for which we purchased such
properties may lead to a decrease in the value of our assets.

The real estate market is affected by many factors, such as general economic conditions, availability of financing,
interest rates and other factors, including supply and demand, that are beyond our control. Our self storage facilities,
including related tangible and intangible assets, represent the majority of our total consolidated assets and they may not be
readily convertible to cash. As a result, our ability to sell one or more of our self storage facilities in response to changes in
economic, industry, or other conditions, may be limited. We cannot predict whether we will be able to sell any property for
the price or on the terms set by us, or whether any price or other terms offered by a prospective purchaser would be
acceptable to us. We cannot predict the length of time needed to find a willing purchaser and to close the sale of a property.
Real estate generally cannot be sold quickly. Also, the tax laws applicable to REITs require that we hold our facilities for
investment, rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which may cause us to forego or defer sales of facilities
that otherwise would be in our best interest. Therefore, we may not be able to dispose of facilities promptly, or on favorable
terms, in response to economic or other market conditions, and this may adversely impact our business and financial
condition.

In addition, we may be required to expend funds to correct defects or to make improvements before a property can be
sold. We cannot assure our stockholders that we will have funds available to correct such defects or to make such
improvements.

In acquiring a property, we may agree to restrictions that prohibit the sale of that property for a period of time or impose
other restrictions, such as a limitation on the amount of debt that can be placed or repaid on that property. These provisions
would also restrict our ability to sell a property. Additionally, we may acquire our properties at a time when capitalization
rates are at historically low levels and purchase prices are high. Therefore, the value of our properties may not increase over
time, which may restrict our ability to sell our properties, or in the event we are able to sell such property, may lead to a sale
price less than the price that we paid to purchase the properties.

If we suffer losses that are not covered by insurance or that are in excess of insurance coverage, we could lose
invested capital and anticipated profits.

Material losses may occur in excess of insurance proceeds with respect to any property, as insurance may not be
sufficient to fund the losses. However, there are types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, such as losses due to wars,
acts of terrorism, earthquakes, floods, fires, hurricanes, pollution or environmental matters, which are either uninsurable or
not economically insurable, or may be insured subject to limitations such as large deductibles or co-payments. These
insurance risks could sharply increase the premiums we pay for coverage against property and casualty claims. Additionally,
mortgage lenders in some cases require that commercial property owners purchase specific coverage against terrorism as a
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condition for providing mortgage loans. It is uncertain whether such insurance policies will be available, or available at
reasonable cost, which could inhibit our ability to finance or refinance our potential properties. In these instances, we may be
required to provide other financial support, either through financial assurances or self-insurance, to cover potential losses. We
cannot assure our stockholders that we will have adequate coverage for such losses. If such an event damaged or destroyed
one or more of our properties, we could lose both our invested capital and anticipated profits from such property.

Our joint venture investments could be adversely affected by our lack of sole decision-making authority.

We hold interests in certain properties through joint ventures. Some of these arrangements could be adversely affected
by our lack of sole decision-making authority, our reliance on co-venturers financial conditions, and disputes between us and
our co-venturers. We expect to continue our joint venture strategy by entering into more joint ventures for the purposes of
developing new properties and acquiring properties with existing facilities. In such event, we would not be in a position to
exercise sole decision-making authority regarding the property, partnership, joint venture, or other entity. In addition,
investments in partnerships, joint ventures or other entities may, under certain circumstances, involve risks not present were a
third party not involved, including the possibility that partners or co-venturers might become bankrupt or fail to fund their
share of required capital contributions. Partners or co-venturers may have economic or other business interests or goals which
are inconsistent with our business interests or goals, and may be in a position to take actions contrary to our policies or
objectives. Such investments may also have the potential risk of impasses on decisions, such as a sale, because neither we nor
the partner or co-venturer would have full control over the partnership or joint venture. Disputes between us and partners or
co-venturers may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses and prevent our officers and/or directors
from focusing their time and efforts on our business. Consequently, actions by or disputes with partners or co-venturers might
result in subjecting properties owned by the partnership or joint venture to additional risk. In addition, we may in certain
circumstances be liable for the actions of our third-party partners or co-venturers, which could harm our financial condition.

We disclose funds from operations and funds from operations, as adjusted, each a non-GAAP financial measure, in
communications with investors, including documents filed with the SEC. However, funds from operations and funds from
operations, as adjusted, are not equivalent to our net income or loss or cash flow from operations as determined under
GAAP, and stockholders should consider GAAP measures to be more relevant to our operating performance.

We use, and we disclose to investors, funds from operations (“FFO”) and FFO, as adjusted, which are non-GAAP
financial measures. FFO and FFO, as adjusted, are not equivalent to our net income or loss or cash flow from operations as
determined in accordance with GAAP, and investors should consider GAAP measures to be more relevant in evaluating our
operating performance and ability to pay distributions. FFO and FFO, as adjusted, differ from GAAP net income because
FFO and FFO, as adjusted, exclude gains or losses from sales of property and asset impairment write downs, plus
depreciation and amortization, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. Adjustments for
unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures are calculated to reflect FFO on the same basis. In determining FFO, as
adjusted, we make further adjustments to FFO to exclude effects of non-real estate related asset impairments and intangible
amortization, acquisition related costs, other write-offs incurred in connection with acquisitions, contingent earnout expenses,
accretion of fair value of debt adjustments, amortization of debt issuance costs, gains or losses from extinguishment of debt,
adjustments of deferred tax assets and liabilities, realized and unrealized gains/losses on foreign exchange transactions,
gains/losses on foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives not designated for hedge accounting, and other select non-
recurring income or expense items which we believe are not indicative of our overall long-term operating performance. FFO,
as adjusted, also reflects adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and jointly owned investments.

Because of these differences, FFO and FFO, as adjusted, may not be accurate indicators of our operating performance,
especially during periods in which we are acquiring properties. In addition, FFO and FFO, as adjusted, are not indicative of
cash flow available to fund cash needs and investors should not consider FFO and FFO, as adjusted, as alternatives to cash
flows from operations or an indication of our liquidity or of funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to
pay distributions to our stockholders.

Neither the SEC nor any other regulatory body has passed judgment on the acceptability of the adjustments that we use
to calculate FFO and FFO, as adjusted. Also, because not all companies calculate FFO and FFO, as adjusted, the same way,
comparisons with other companies may not be meaningful.

Costs of complying with governmental laws and regulations, including those relating to environmental matters, may
adversely affect our income and the cash available for distribution.

All real property, including our self storage properties, and the operations conducted on real property are subject to
federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and human health and safety. These laws
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and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation and removal of underground and above-
ground storage tanks, the generation, use, storage, treatment, transportation, release, and disposal of solid and hazardous
materials and wastes, and the remediation of contamination. Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several
liability on customers, owners, or operators for the costs to investigate or remediate contaminated properties, regardless of
fault or whether the acts causing the contamination were legal at the time. This liability could be substantial. In addition, the
presence of hazardous substances (including asbestos or asbestos-containing materials and mold), or the failure to properly
remediate these substances, may expose us to legal actions, and may adversely affect our ability to sell or rent a property, or
to pledge such property as collateral for future borrowings.

Some of these laws and regulations have been amended so as to require compliance with new or more stringent
standards as of future dates. Compliance with new or more stringent laws or regulations or stricter interpretation of existing
laws may require us to incur material expenditures. Future laws, ordinances or regulations may impose material
environmental liability. Additionally, our customers’ activities, the existing condition of land when we buy it, operations in
the vicinity of our properties, such as the presence of underground storage tanks, or activities of unrelated third parties may
affect our properties. In addition, there are various local, state, and federal fire, health, life-safety, and similar regulations
with which we may be required to comply, and that may subject us to liability in the form of fines or damages for
noncompliance. Any material expenditures, fines, or damages we must pay will reduce our ability to continue to pay
distributions at the current rate to our stockholders and may reduce the value of our stockholders’ investments.

We cannot assure our stockholders that the independent third party environmental assessments we obtain prior to
acquiring any properties we purchase will reveal all environmental liabilities, or that a prior owner, occupant, or neighbor of
a property did not create a material environmental condition not known to us. We also cannot assure that the current
environmental condition of our properties will not be affected by neighbors and occupants, by the condition of nearby
properties, or by other unrelated third parties. We cannot predict what other environmental legislation or regulations will be
enacted in the future, how existing or future laws or regulations will be administered or interpreted, or what environmental
conditions may be found to exist in the future. Finally, we cannot assure our stockholders that our business, assets, results of
operations, liquidity, or financial condition will not be adversely affected by these laws, which may adversely affect cash
available for distribution, and the amount of distributions to our stockholders.

Climate change may adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Climate change creates physical and financial risks. Physical risks from climate change include an increase in sea levels
and changes in weather conditions, such as an increase in storm intensity and severity of weather (e.g., floods, tornadoes or
hurricanes) and extreme temperatures. The occurrence of sea level rise or one or more natural disasters, such as floods,
tornadoes, hurricanes, tropical storms, wildfires, and earthquakes (whether or not caused by climate change), could cause
considerable damage to our properties, disrupt our operations and negatively affect our financial performance. To the extent
any of these events results in significant damage to or closure of one or more of our properties, our operations and financial
performance could be adversely affected through an inability to lease or re-lease the property. In addition, these events could
result in significant expenses to restore or remediate a property, increases in fuel or other energy costs or a fuel shortage, and
increases in the costs of (or making unavailable) insurance on favorable terms if they result in significant loss of property or
other insurable damage. In addition, transition risks associated with new or more stringent laws or regulations or stricter
interpretations of existing laws or regulations may require material expenditures by us. For example, various federal, state,
and regional laws and regulations have been implemented or are under consideration to mitigate the effects of climate change
caused by greenhouse gas emissions. Among other things, “green” building codes may seek to reduce emissions through the
imposition of standards for design, construction materials, water and energy usage and efficiency, and waste management.
Such codes could require us to make improvements to our properties, increase the costs of maintaining or improving our
properties or developing new properties, or increase taxes and fees assessed on us or our properties.

Costs of complying with governmental laws and regulations, including those relating to regulations accommodating
disabilities, may affect cash available for distribution.

We are subject to various rules, regulations and standards with respect to accommodations we must make for
individuals with disabilities. For example, in the United States, under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, or ADA,
all public accommaodations and commercial facilities are required to meet certain federal requirements related to access and
use by disabled persons. We are also subject to similar requirements in Ontario, Canada, under the Accessibility for
Ontarians with Disabilities Act, or AODA. Under these regulations, places of public accommodation, which include our self
storage facilities, are required to comply with certain requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. These
requirements could require removal of access barriers and could result in the imposition of injunctive relief, monetary
penalties, or, in some cases, an award of damages. We will attempt to acquire properties that comply with such regulations or
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place the burden on the seller or other third party to ensure compliance with such regulations. However, we cannot assure our
stockholders that we will be able to acquire properties or allocate responsibilities in this manner. If we cannot, our funds used
for such compliance may affect cash available for distribution and the amount of distributions to our stockholders.

Property taxes and insurance premiums may increase, which would adversely affect our net operating income and
cash available for distributions.

Each of the properties we acquire will be subject to real property taxes and insurance premiums, including property
insurance, liability insurance, and, in some cases, earthquake insurance. Some local real property tax assessors may seek to
reassess some of our properties as a result of our acquisition of the property. From time to time, our property taxes may
increase as property values or assessment rates change or for other reasons deemed relevant by the assessors. In addition,
state or local governments may increase tax rates or assessment levels. Further, insurance premiums have recently increased
and may continue to increase due to various factors, including inflation and natural disasters. Increases in real property taxes
and insurance premiums will adversely affect our net operating income and cash available for distributions.

For example, a current California law commonly referred to as Proposition 13 generally limits annual real estate tax
increases on California properties to 2% of assessed value. Accordingly, the assessed value and resulting property tax we pay
is less than it would be if the properties were assessed at current values. If Proposition 13 is repealed or amended in a way
that reduces its beneficial impact, our property tax expense could increase substantially for our properties located in
California, adversely affecting our net operating income and cash available for distributions.

Investments in properties or other real estate investments outside the United States subject us to foreign currency
risks, which may adversely affect distributions and our REIT status.

Revenues generated from any properties or other real estate investments we acquire or ventures we enter into relating to
transactions involving assets located in markets outside the United States likely will be denominated in the local currency.
Therefore, any investments we make outside the United States may subject us to foreign currency risk due to potential
fluctuations in exchange rates between foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar. As a result, changes in exchange rates of any
such foreign currency to U.S. dollars may affect our revenues, operating margins, and distributions and may also affect the
book value of our assets and the amount of stockholders’ equity.

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates used to value a REIT’s foreign assets may be considered changes in the
value of the REIT’s assets. These changes may adversely affect our ability to qualify as a REIT. Further, bank accounts in
foreign currency which are not considered cash or cash equivalents may adversely affect our ability to qualify as a REIT.

Changes in the Canadian Dollar/USD exchange rate could have a material adverse effect on our operating results
and value of the investment of our stockholders.

We have purchased and may continue to purchase properties in Canada. In addition, our Managed REITs own
properties in Canada where we, through our subsidiaries, serve as the property manager. As a result, our financial results may
be adversely affected by fluctuations in the Canadian Dollar/USD exchange rate. We cannot predict with any certainty
changes in foreign currency exchange rates or our ability to mitigate these risks. Several factors may affect the Canadian
Dollar/USD exchange rate, including:

o sovereign debt levels and trade deficits;

o domestic and foreign inflation rates and interest rates and investors’ expectations concerning those rates;
o other currency exchange rates;

o changing supply and demand for a particular currency;

o monetary policies of governments;

o changes in balances of payments and trade;

o trade restrictions;

o direct sovereign intervention, such as currency devaluations and revaluations;

o investment and trading activities of mutual funds, hedge funds, and currency funds; and

o other global or regional political, economic, or financial events and situations.
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These events and actions are unpredictable. In addition, the Canadian Dollar may not maintain its long term value in
terms of purchasing power in the future. The resulting volatility in the Canadian Dollar/USD exchange rate could materially
and adversely affect our performance.

We are subject to additional risks due to the location of any of the properties that we either own or operate in
Canada.

In addition to currency exchange rates, the value of any properties we purchase in Canada may be affected by factors
peculiar to the laws and business practices of Canada. Canadian laws and business practices may expose us to risks that are
different from and in addition to those commonly found in the United States. Ownership and operation of foreign assets pose
several risks, including, but not limited to the following:

o the burden of complying with both Canadian and United States’ laws;

o changing governmental rules and policies, including changes in land use and zoning laws, more
stringent environmental laws or changes in such laws;

° existing or new Canadian laws relating to the foreign ownership of real property or loans and laws
restricting the ability of Canadian persons or companies to remove profits earned from activities within the
country to the person’s or company’s country of origin;

o the potential for expropriation;

o possible currency transfer restrictions;

o imposition of adverse or confiscatory taxes;

o changes in real estate and other tax rates or laws and changes in other operating expenses in
Canada;

° possible challenges to the anticipated tax treatment of our revenue and our properties;

o adverse market conditions caused by terrorism, civil unrest and changes in national or local
governmental or economic conditions;

o the potential difficulty of enforcing obligations in other countries;

° negative impacts on our property operations or development of properties in Canada and the

increase of cost resulting from new, expanded or retaliatory tariffs, sanctions, quotas, trade barriers, or changes in
trade relations between the United States and Canada.

o changes in the availability, cost, and terms of loan funds resulting from varying Canadian
economic policies; and

o our limited experience and expertise in foreign countries relative to our experience and expertise
in the United States.

Risks Associated with Debt Financing

We have broad authority to incur debt, and high debt levels could hinder our ability to continue to pay distributions
at the current rate and could decrease the value of our stockholders’ investments.

Our board may approve unlimited levels of debt. High debt levels would cause us to incur higher interest charges,
would result in higher debt service payments, and could be accompanied by restrictive covenants. These factors could limit
the amount of cash we have available to distribute and could result in a decline in the value of our stockholders’ investments.

We have incurred and intend to continue to incur, mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings, which may increase
our business risks.

We have placed, and intend to continue to place, permanent financing on our properties and we may obtain additional
credit facilities or other similar financing arrangements in order to acquire additional properties. In particular, as of December
31, 2024, we had a credit facility with KeyBank, National Association of up to $650 million, of which approximately $615
million was outstanding as of December 31, 2024. We may increase the amount available under the credit facility by an
additional $850 million, for a total potential maximum aggregate amount of $1.5 billion, subject to certain conditions. We are
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also party to a Note Purchase Agreement, whereby we issued to the purchasers an aggregate of $150 million of 4.53% Senior
Notes due April 19, 2032. The notes carried a fixed interest rate of 4.53%, which increased to 5.28% as a result of certain
leverage thresholds. The notes will continue to accrue interest at a rate of 5.28% until certain leverage thresholds are met for
two consecutive fiscal quarters, at which point, the rate will revert to 4.53% and remain at that interest rate through

maturity. The credit facility and the notes are subject to a series of financial and other covenants. See Note 5 — Debt, for
additional information. We may also incur mortgage debt and pledge all or some of our real properties as security for that
debt to obtain funds to acquire real properties. If we default on our secured indebtedness, the lender may foreclose and we
could lose our entire investment in the properties securing such loan, which could adversely affect distributions to our
stockholders. To the extent lenders require us to cross-collateralize our properties, or our loan agreements contain cross-
default provisions, a default under a single loan agreement could subject multiple properties to foreclosure.

In addition, we may borrow if we need funds to pay a desired distribution rate to our stockholders. We may also borrow
if we deem it necessary or advisable to assure that we maintain our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. If
there is a shortfall between the cash flow from our properties and the cash flow needed to service mortgage debt, then the
amount available for distribution to our stockholders may be reduced.

If we or the other parties to our loans or secured notes payable, as applicable, breach covenants thereunder, such
loan or loans or secured notes payable could be deemed in default, which could accelerate our repayment date and
materially adversely affect the value of our stockholders’ investment in us.

Certain of our loans are secured by first mortgages on some of our properties, and other loans and our secured notes
payable are secured by pledges of equity interests in the entities that own certain of our properties. Such loans and our
secured notes payable also impose a number of financial or other covenant requirements on us. If we, or the other parties to
these loans or notes, should breach certain of those financial or other covenant requirements, or otherwise default on such
loans or notes, then the respective lenders or noteholders, as the case may be, could accelerate our repayment dates. If we do
not have sufficient cash to repay the applicable loan or note at that time, such lenders or noteholder could foreclose on the
property securing the applicable loan or note or take control of the pledged collateral, as the case may be. Such foreclosure
could result in a material loss for us and would adversely affect the value of our stockholders’ investment in us. In addition,
certain of our loans are cross-collateralized and cross-defaulted with each other such that a default under one loan would
cause a default under the other loans. Furthermore, we may be forced to repay or defease a loan in order to maintain
compliance with certain loan covenants, which may not be in our long-term best interest.

Our obligation to make balloon payments could increase the risk of default.

Our debt may have balloon payments of up to 100% of the principal amount of such loans due on the respective
maturity dates. Thus, such debt will have a substantial payment due at the scheduled maturity date, unless previously prepaid
or refinanced. Loans with a substantial remaining principal balance on their stated maturity involve greater degrees of risk of
non-payment at stated maturity than fully amortizing loans. As a result, our ability to repay such loans on their respective
maturity dates will largely depend upon our ability either to prepay such loans, refinance such loans or to sell, to the extent
permitted, all or a portion of the properties encumbered by such loans, if any. Our ability to accomplish any of these goals
will be affected by a number of factors at the time of attempted prepayment, refinancing, or sale, including, but not limited
to: (i) the availability of, and competition for, credit for commercial real estate; (ii) prevailing interest rates; (iii) the net
operating income generated by our properties; (iv) the fair market value of our properties; (v) our equity in our properties;
(vi) our financial condition; (vii) the operating history and occupancy level of our properties; (viii) the tax laws; and (ix) the
prevailing general and regional economic conditions.

Lenders have required and will likely continue to require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our
operations, which could limit our ability to continue to pay distributions to our stockholders.

When providing financing, lenders often impose restrictions on us that affect our distribution and operating policies and
our ability to incur additional debt. Loan documents we enter into may contain covenants that limit our ability to further
mortgage the property or discontinue insurance coverage. We are also required to obtain the affirmative vote of the holders of
a majority of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock before entering into certain transactions. These or other limitations
may adversely affect our flexibility and limit our ability to continue to pay distributions at the current rate to our
stockholders. If the limits set forth in these covenants prevent us from satisfying our distribution requirements, we could fail
to qualify for federal income tax purposes as a REIT. If the limits set forth in these covenants do not jeopardize our
qualification for taxation as a REIT, but prevent us from distributing 100% of our REIT taxable income, we will be subject to
U.S. federal income tax, and potentially a nondeductible excise tax, on the retained amounts.
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Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and adversely affect our ability to
continue to pay distributions at the current rate to our stockholders.

We currently have outstanding debt payments which are indexed to variable interest rates. We may also incur additional
debt or issue preferred equity in the future which rely on variable interest rates. Increases in these variable rates have
occurred and may continue in the future which increases our interest costs and preferred equity distribution payments, which
would likely reduce our cash flows and potentially negatively impact our ability to continue to pay distributions at the current
rate to our stockholders. In addition, if we need to make payments on instruments which contain variable interest during
periods of rising interest rates, we could be required to liquidate one or more of our investments in properties at times that
may not permit realization of the maximum return on such investments.

Disruptions in the credit markets could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial
condition, and ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Domestic and international financial markets have experienced significant disruptions in the past which were brought
about in large part by failures in the U.S. banking system. These disruptions severely impacted the availability of credit and
contributed to rising costs associated with obtaining credit. Future credit market disruptions may have similar effects or
otherwise make obtaining additional and replacement external sources of liquidity more difficult and more costly, if available
at all. If debt financing is not available on terms and conditions we find acceptable, we may not be able to obtain financing
for investments. If these disruptions in the credit markets resurface, our ability to borrow monies to finance the purchase of,
or other activities related to, real estate assets will be negatively impacted. If we are unable to borrow monies on terms and
conditions that we find acceptable, we may be forced to use a greater proportion of our Offering proceeds to finance our
acquisitions, reduce the number of properties we can purchase, and/or dispose of some of our assets. These disruptions could
also adversely affect the return on the properties we do purchase. In addition, if we pay fees to lock in a favorable interest
rate, falling interest rates or other factors could require us to forfeit these fees. All of these events would have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, and ability to pay distributions.

Federal Income Tax Risks

Failure to continue to qualify as a REIT would adversely affect our operations and our ability to continue to pay
distributions at our current level as we will incur additional tax liabilities.

We elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable year ended
December 31, 2014. We believe that our organization and method of operation has enabled and will continue to enable us to
meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Qualification as a REIT
involves highly technical and complex Code provisions for which there are only limited judicial and administrative
interpretations. Our qualification as a REIT will depend upon our ability to meet, through investments, actual operating
results, distributions and satisfaction of specific stockholder rules, the various tests imposed by the Code.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT for any taxable year, we will be subject to federal income tax on our taxable income at
the regular corporate rate, which would reduce our net earnings available for investment or distribution to stockholders. If our
REIT status is terminated for any reason, we would generally be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable
years following the year of such termination. In addition, we would no longer be required to make distributions to
stockholders, and distributions we do make would no longer qualify for the dividends paid deduction. In addition, if we fail
to qualify as a REIT, we may be required to repurchase the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. If this occurs, we may be
required to borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable tax and redeem holders of the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock.

In the event that any REIT we have acquired in a nontaxable merger transaction, including SST IV or SSGT I, is found
to have failed to qualify as a REIT for any period prior to our acquisition, we may be liable for certain entity level taxes of
such acquired REIT for such tax periods as a result of such acquisition, that could substantially reduce our cash available for
distribution, including cash available to pay dividends to our stockholders, because the acquired REIT would be subject to
U.S. federal corporate income tax on its net income for the years it did not qualify for taxation as a REIT (and, for such years,
would not be allowed a deduction for dividends paid to stockholders in computing its taxable income).

In addition, if any such acquired REIT, including SST IV or SSGT I, failed to qualify as a REIT for any taxable period
prior to our acquisition, in the event of a taxable disposition of an asset formerly held by such acquired REIT during a period
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of up to five years following our acquisition, we would be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax with respect to any
built-in gain inherent in such asset as of the closing of our acquisition.

Qualification as a REIT is subject to the satisfaction of tax requirements and various factual matters and circumstances
that are not entirely within our control. New legislation, regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions could
change the tax laws with respect to qualification as a REIT or the federal income tax consequences of being a REIT. Our
failure to continue to qualify as a REIT would adversely affect the return of our stockholders’ investment.

To qualify as a REIT, and to avoid the payment of U.S. federal income and excise taxes and maintain our REIT
status, we may be forced to borrow funds, use proceeds from the issuance of securities, or sell assets to pay distributions,
which may result in our distributing amounts that may otherwise be used for our operations.

To obtain the favorable tax treatment accorded to REITs, we normally will be required each year to distribute to our
stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and by
excluding net capital gains. We will be subject to federal income tax on our undistributed REIT taxable income and net
capital gain and subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which dividends we pay with respect to any
calendar year are less than the sum of (1) 85% of our ordinary income, (2) 95% of our capital gain net income, and (3) 100%
of our undistributed income from prior years. These requirements could cause us to distribute amounts that otherwise would
be spent on the acquisition, maintenance or development of properties and it is possible that we might be required to borrow
funds, use proceeds from the issuance of securities or sell assets in order to distribute enough of our taxable income to
maintain our REIT status and to avoid the payment of federal income and excise taxes. We may be required to make
distributions to stockholders at times it would be more advantageous to reinvest cash in our business or when we do not have
cash readily available for distribution, and we may be forced to liquidate assets on terms and at times unfavorable to us.
These methods of obtaining funding could affect future distributions by increasing operating costs and decreasing available
cash.

Our stockholders may have tax liability on distributions they elect to reinvest in our common stock.

If our stockholders participate in our distribution reinvestment plan ("DRP"), if available, our stockholders will be
deemed to have received, and for income tax purposes will be taxed on, the amount reinvested in common stock to the extent
the amount reinvested was not a tax-free return of capital. As a result, unless our stockholders are tax-exempt entities, our
stockholders may have to use funds from other sources to pay their tax liability on the value of the common stock received.

If any of our partnerships fails to maintain its status as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, its income
would be subject to taxation and our REIT status may be terminated.

We intend to maintain the status of our partnerships, including our Operating Partnership, as partnerships for federal
income tax purposes. However, if the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) were to successfully challenge the status of any of our
partnerships as a partnership, it would be taxable as a corporation. Such an event would reduce the amount of distributions
that such partnership could make to us. This would substantially reduce our cash available to pay distributions and the return
on our stockholders’ investments. In addition, if any of the entities through which any of our partnerships owns its properties,
in whole or in part, loses its characterization as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, it generally would be subject to
taxation as a corporation, thereby reducing distributions to such partnership. Such a recharacterization of any of our
partnerships or an underlying property owner could also cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT, which would substantially
reduce our cash available to pay distributions and the return on our stockholders’ investments.

In certain circumstances, we may be subject to federal and state income taxes as a REIT, which would reduce our
cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

Even if we qualify and maintain our status as a REIT, we may be subject to federal income taxes or state taxes. For
example, net income from a “prohibited transaction” will be subject to a 100% tax. We may not be able to make sufficient
distributions to avoid excise taxes applicable to REITs. We may also decide to retain income we earn from the sale or other
disposition of our property and pay income tax directly on such income. In that event, our stockholders would be treated as if
they earned that income and paid the tax on it directly. However, stockholders that are tax-exempt, such as charities or
qualified pension plans, would have no benefit from their deemed payment of such tax liability. We may also be subject to
state and local taxes on our income or property, either directly, at the level of our Operating Partnership, or at the level of any
other companies through which we indirectly own our assets. Any federal or state taxes we pay will reduce our cash available
for distribution to our stockholders.
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We may be required to pay some taxes due to actions of our taxable REIT subsidiaries, which would reduce our cash
available for distribution to our stockholders.

Any net taxable income earned by our taxable REIT subsidiaries, or TRSs, will be subject to federal and possibly state
corporate income tax. We have elected to treat SmartStop TRS, Inc. as a TRS, and we may elect to treat other subsidiaries as
TRSs in the future. In this regard, several provisions of the laws applicable to REITs and their subsidiaries ensure that a TRS
will be subject to an appropriate level of federal income taxation. For example, the REIT has to pay a 100% penalty tax on
some payments that it receives or on some deductions taken by a TRS if the economic arrangements between the REIT, the
REIT’s customers, and the TRS are not comparable to similar arrangements between unrelated parties. Finally, some state
and local jurisdictions may tax some of our income even though as a REIT we are not subject to federal income tax on that
income, because not all states and localities follow the federal income tax treatment of REITS. To the extent that we and our
affiliates are required to pay federal, state, and local taxes, we will have less cash available for distributions to our
stockholders.

Distributions to tax-exempt investors may be classified as unrelated business taxable income.

Neither ordinary nor capital gain distributions with respect to our common stock, nor gain from the sale of common
stock, should generally constitute unrelated business taxable income, or UBTI, to a tax-exempt investor. However, there are
certain exceptions to this rule. In particular:

o part of the income and gain recognized by certain qualified employee pension trusts with respect
to our common stock may be treated as UBTI if shares of our common stock are predominately held by qualified
employee pension trusts, and we are required to rely on a special look-through rule for purposes of meeting one
of the REIT share ownership tests, and we are not operated in a manner to avoid treatment of such income or
gain as UBTI;

° part of the income and gain recognized by a tax-exempt investor with respect to our common stock
would constitute UBTI if the investor incurs debt in order to acquire the common stock; and

° part or all of the income or gain recognized with respect to our common stock by social clubs,
voluntary employee benefit associations and supplemental unemployment benefit trusts which are exempt from
federal income taxation under Sections 501(c)(7), (9), or (17) of the Code may be treated as UBT].

Complying with the REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities.

To qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things,
the sources of our income, the nature and diversification of our assets, the amounts we distribute to our stockholders and the
ownership of shares of our stock. We may be required to make distributions to stockholders at disadvantageous times or
when we do not have funds readily available for distribution, or we may be required to liquidate otherwise attractive
investments in order to comply with the REIT tests. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to
operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits.

To maintain our REIT qualification, we may be forced to borrow funds during unfavorable market conditions.

In order to maintain our REIT qualification and avoid the payment of income and excise taxes, we may need to borrow
funds to meet the REIT distribution requirements even if the then prevailing market conditions are not favorable for these
borrowings. These borrowing needs could result from, among other things, timing differences between the actual receipt of
cash and inclusion of income for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or the effect of non-deductible capital expenditures, the
creation of reserves or required debt or amortization payments. These sources, however, may not be available on favorable
terms or at all. Our access to third-party sources of capital depends on a number of factors, including the market’s perception
of our growth potential, current debt levels, and our current and potential future earnings. We cannot assure you that we will
have access to such capital on favorable terms at the desired times, or at all, which may cause us to curtail investment
activities and/or to dispose of assets at inopportune times, and could adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows, and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends.
Individuals with incomes below certain thresholds are subject to taxation at a 15% qualified dividend rate for federal

income tax purposes. For those with income above such thresholds, the qualified dividend rate is 20%. These tax rates are
generally not applicable to dividends paid by a REIT, unless such dividends represent earnings on which the REIT itself has
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been taxed. As a result, dividends (other than capital gain dividends) we pay to individual investors generally will be subject
to the tax rates that are otherwise applicable to ordinary income for federal income tax purposes, subject to a deduction for
REIT dividends of up to 20%. This disparity in tax treatment may make an investment in our shares comparatively less
attractive to individual investors than an investment in the shares of non-REIT corporations, and could have an adverse effect
on the value of our common stock.

Foreign purchasers of our common stock may be subject to FIRPTA tax upon the sale of their shares.

A foreign person disposing of a U.S. real property interest, including shares of a U.S. corporation whose assets consist
principally of U.S. real property interests, is generally subject to a tax, known as FIRPTA tax, on the gain recognized on the
disposition. Such FIRPTA tax does not apply, however, to the disposition of stock in a REIT if the REIT is “domestically
controlled.” A REIT is “domestically controlled” if less than 50% of the REIT’s stock, by value, has been owned directly or
indirectly by persons who are not qualifying U.S. persons during a continuous five-year period ending on the date of
disposition or, if shorter, during the entire period of the REIT’s existence.

We believe, but cannot guarantee, that we will be a “domestically controlled” REIT. If we were to fail to so qualify,
gain realized by foreign investors on a sale of our shares would be subject to FIRPTA tax, unless our shares were traded on
an established securities market and the foreign investor did not at any time during a specified testing period directly or
indirectly own more than 10% of the value of our outstanding common stock.

Legislative or other actions affecting REITs materially and adversely affect our stockholders and us.

The rules dealing with federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative
process and by the IRS and the U.S. Department of the Treasury. Changes to the tax laws, with or without retroactive
application, could materially and adversely affect our stockholders and us. We cannot predict how changes in the tax laws
might affect our investors or us. New legislation, Treasury Regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions
could significantly and negatively affect our ability to qualify as a REIT or the federal income tax consequences of such
qualification, or the federal income tax consequences of an investment in us. Also, the law relating to the tax treatment of
other entities, or an investment in other entities, could change, making an investment in other entities more attractive relative
to an investment in a REIT.

ERISA Risks

If our assets are deemed to be plan assets, we may be exposed to liabilities under Title I of Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, or ERISA, and the Code.

In some circumstances where an ERISA plan holds an interest in an entity, the assets of the entity are deemed to be
ERISA plan assets unless an exception applies. This is known as the “look-through rule.” Under those circumstances, the
obligations and other responsibilities of plan sponsors, plan fiduciaries and plan administrators, and of parties in interest and
disqualified persons, under Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, may be applicable, and there may be liability under
these and other provisions of ERISA and the Code. We believe that we will meet the “publicly-offered securities” exception
and the “operating company” exception under the plan asset regulations. We note, however, that because certain limitations
are imposed upon the transferability of shares of our common stock so that we may qualify as a REIT, and perhaps for other
reasons, it is possible that these exceptions may not apply. If that is the case, and if we are exposed to liability under ERISA
or the Code, our performance and results of operations could be adversely affected.

There are special considerations that apply to qualified pension or profit-sharing trusts or IRAs investing in our
shares which could cause an investment in our company to be a prohibited transaction and could result in additional tax
consequences.

If our stockholders are investing the assets of a qualified pension, profit-sharing, 401(k), Keogh, or other qualified
retirement plan or the assets of an IRA in our common stock, they should satisfy themselves that, among other things:

° their investment is consistent with their fiduciary obligations under ERISA and the Code;

o their investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing their plan
or IRA, including their plan’s investment policy;

o their investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of ERISA;

o their investment will not impair the liquidity of the plan or IRA;

32



° their investment will not produce UBT] for the plan or IRA;

o they will be able to value the assets of the plan annually in accordance with ERISA requirements;
and

o their investment will not constitute a prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or
Section 4975 of the Code.

Persons investing the assets of employee benefit plans, IRAs, and other tax-favored benefit accounts should consider
ERISA and related risks of investing in the shares.

ERISA and Code Section 4975 prohibit certain transactions that involve (1) certain pension, profit-sharing, employee
benefit, or retirement plans or individual retirement accounts and Keogh plans, and (2) any person who is a “party-in-
interest” or “disqualified person” with respect to such a plan. Consequently, the fiduciary of a plan contemplating an
investment in the shares should consider whether we, any other person associated with the issuance of the shares, or any of
their affiliates is or might become a “party-in-interest” or “disqualified person” with respect to the plan and, if so, whether an
exemption from such prohibited transaction rules is applicable. In addition, the Department of Labor (“DOL”) plan asset
regulations provide that, subject to certain exceptions, the assets of an entity in which a plan holds an equity interest may be
treated as assets of an investing plan, in which event the underlying assets of such entity (and transactions involving such
assets) would be subject to the prohibited transaction provisions. We intend to take such steps as may be necessary to qualify
us for one or more of the exemptions available, and thereby prevent our assets as being treated as assets of any investing plan.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

We take a comprehensive approach to cybersecurity and prioritize the security and integrity of our data, including those
of our customers and other stakeholders, as a top priority. Our board of directors (in particular our audit committee) and our
management are actively involved in the oversight of our risk management program, of which cybersecurity represents an
important component. As described in more detail below, we have established policies, standards, processes and practices for
assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats. We have devoted significant resources to
implement and maintain security measures to meet regulatory requirements and stakeholder expectations, and we intend to
continue to make appropriate investments to maintain the security and integrity of our data. There can be no guarantee that our
established policies, standards, processes and practices will be properly followed in every instance or that they will be effective
at mitigating all cybersecurity threats. Although our risk factors include further detail about the material cybersecurity risks we
face, we believe that risks from cybersecurity threats, have not materially affected our business to date. We can provide no
assurance that there will not be incidents in the future or that they will not materially affect us, including our business, results
of operations, or financial condition.

Our policies, standards, processes and practices for assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity
threats are integrated into our overall risk management process and are based on frameworks established by the National
Institute of Standards and Technology (“NIST”), the International Organization for Standardization and other applicable
industry standards and best practices. Our cybersecurity program in particular focuses on the following key areas:collaboration,
risk assessment, technical safeguards, incident response and recovery planning, third-party risk management, education and
awareness, and governance.

Collaboration

Our cybersecurity risks are identified and addressed through a comprehensive, cross-functional approach. Key security,
risk, and compliance stakeholders meet regularly to develop strategies for preserving the confidentiality, integrity and
availability of Company and customer information, identifying, preventing and mitigating cybersecurity threats. We maintain
controls and procedures that are designed to ensure prompt escalation of certain cybersecurity incidents so that decisions
regarding public disclosure and reporting of such incidents can be made by management and our board of directors in a timely
manner.

Risk Assessment

At least annually, we conduct a cybersecurity risk assessment that takes into account information from internal
stakeholders, known security vulnerabilities, and other external sources (e.g., reported security incidents that have impacted
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other companies, industry trends, and evaluations by third parties and consultants). The results of the assessment are used to
drive alignment on, and prioritization of, initiatives to enhance our security controls, and make recommendations to improve
processes. Our board of directors and members of management, as appropriate, are presented with any updates we make due
to our risk assessment.

Technical Safeguards

We regularly assess and deploy technical safeguards designed to protect our information systems from cybersecurity
threats. Such safeguards are regularly evaluated and improved based on vulnerability assessments, cybersecurity threat
intelligence and other developing cybersecurity practices.

Incident Response and Recovery Planning

We have established comprehensive incident response and recovery plans and continue to evaluate the effectiveness of
those plans. Our incident response and recovery plans address and guide our response to a cybersecurity incident.

Third-Party Risk Management

We have implemented processes designed to identify and mitigate cybersecurity threats associated with our use of third-
party service providers. Such providers are subject to security risk assessments at the time of onboarding, contract renewal, and
upon detection of an increase in risk profile. We use a variety of inputs in our risk assessments, including information supplied
by providers and third parties. In addition, we require our providers to meet appropriate security requirements, controls and
responsibilities and investigate security incidents that have impacted our third-party providers, as appropriate.

Education and Awareness

We regularly remind employees of the importance of handling and protecting customer and employee data, including
through annual certifications of our policies as well as periodic security training to enhance employee awareness of how to
detect and respond to cybersecurity threats.

Governance

Our board of directors delegated to our audit committee oversight of cybersecurity and other information technology
(“IT”) risks. Our audit committee receives quarterly reports from management on our cybersecurity risks. In addition,
management updates the audit committee as necessary regarding any significant cybersecurity incidents.

Our IT team, led by our Chief Information Officer, is responsible for assessing and managing our significant risks from
cybersecurity threats and has primary responsibility for our risk management process and overall cybersecurity risk
management program. This team includes in-house personnel devoted to these efforts, as well as a third-party IT firm, and they
collectively have extensive knowledge of the technologies and applications we have adopted to address our cybersecurity risk.

In addition, our Chief Information Officer supports our company by staying informed about and monitoring efforts to
prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate cybersecurity risks and incidents through various means, which may include: briefings
from internal security personnel; threat intelligence and other information obtained from governmental, public or private
sources; and alerts and reports produced by security tools deployed in the IT environment.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2024, we owned 161 operating self storage facilities located in 19 states (Alabama, Arizona,
California, Colorado, Florida, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, New Jersey, Nevada, North Carolina,
Ohio, South Carolina, Texas, Virginia, Washington and Wisconsin), the District of Columbia, and Canada, comprising
approximately 110,000 units and approximately 12.6 million rentable square feet.

See Note 5 — Debt, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this report for more information
about our indebtedness secured by our properties.
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As of December 31, 2024, our wholly-owned operating self storage portfolio was comprised as follows:

% of Total Physical Rental

No. of Sq. Ft. Rentable Occupancy Income
State Properties Units® (net)® Sq. Ft. %) %
Alabama 1 1,090 163,300 1.3% 90.3% 0.7%
Avrizona 4 3,130 329,100 2.6% 93.3% 2.5%
California 32 21,955 2,313,400 18.4% 91.9% 20.3%
Colorado 10 5,870 683,600 5.4% 87.9% 4.1%
Florida 27 20,920 2,462,700 19.6% 92.8% 22.1%
Ilinois 6 3,785 432,450 3.4% 92.0% 3.0%
Indiana 2 1,030 112,700 0.9% 93.3% 0.6%
Massachusetts 2 1,045 111,800 0.9% 90.7% 1.8%
Maryland 2 1,610 169,500 1.4% 92.9% 1.4%
Michigan 4 2,220 266,100 2.1% 93.5% 1.8%
New Jersey 2 2,350 205,100 1.6% 78.6% 1.7%
Nevada 9 7,160 865,000 6.9% 92.1% 6.6%
North Carolina 18 8,800 1,144,000 9.1% 93.8% 7.9%
Ohio 5 2,540 288,900 2.4% 87.9% 1.6%
South Carolina 4 2,890 355,800 2.9% 89.1% 1.8%
Texas 12 6,960 919,300 7.3% 94.1% 6.9%
Virginia 1 830 71,100 0.6% 91.2% 0.9%
Washington 5 3,430 390,550 3.1% 92.8% 3.4%
Wisconsin 1 780 83,400 0.7% 87.7% 0.5%
District of Columbia 1 830 72,000 0.6% 89.2% 0.1%
Ontario, Canada 13 10,610 1,110,700 8.8% 91.6% 10.3%
Total ® 161 109,835 12,550,500 100% 91.8% 100%
@ Includes all rentable units, consisting of storage units and parking (approximately 3,400 units).
@ Includes all rentable square feet, consisting of storage units and parking (approximately 1,017,000 square feet).

@)  Represents the occupied square feet of all facilities we owned in a state or province divided by total rentable square feet
of all the facilities we owned in such state or area as of December 31, 2024.

@ Represents rental income (excludes administrative fees, late fees, and other ancillary income) for all facilities we
owned in a state or province divided by our total rental income for the month ended December 31, 2024.

®  In September 2024, Hurricane Helene caused severe flooding at one of our wholly-owned properties in Asheville,
North Carolina. As a result, this property was not operational as of December 31, 2024, but we expect to rebuild a self
storage facility in its place. There is no assurance as to when this property will be rebuilt or the performance of this
property upon completion or stabilization. The table above does not include the property statistics for this property.
Please see Note 3 — Real Estate of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional detail.

Additionally, we own our office located at 10 Terrace Rd, Ladera Ranch, California (the “Ladera Office™) which
houses our corporate headquarters.

On May 25, 2022, we, as 50% owner and SmartCentres as the other 50% owner of a joint venture subsidiary,
purchased a single tenant industrial building located in the city of Burnaby, British Columbia (the “Regent Property”), that
we and SmartCentres plan to develop into a self storage facility in the near future.

On January 12, 2023, we as 50% owner and SmartCentres as the other 50% owner of a joint venture subsidiary,
purchased a parcel of land in Whitby, Ontario, (the “Whitby Property™), that we and SmartCentres developed into a self
storage facility that became operational in January 2024.

These joint venture agreements are with a subsidiary of SmartCentres, an unaffiliated third party, to acquire, develop,
and operate self storage facilities.

On July 18, 2024, we entered into a joint venture arrangement with an unaffiliated third party to develop a self storage
property in Nantucket, Massachusetts (the "Nantucket Joint Venture™). Upon completion of development, we expect to serve
as property manager of the self storage property. As of December 31, 2024, the carrying value of this investment was
approximately $6.0 million. Such amount represents an approximately 38% ownership in the property.
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We account for these investments using the equity method of accounting and they are stated at cost and adjusted for our
share of net earnings or losses and reduced by distributions and increased for contributions. Equity in earnings (loss) will
generally be recognized based on our ownership interest in the earnings (loss) of each of the unconsolidated investments.

The following table summarizes our 50% ownership interests in unconsolidated real estate ventures in Canada (the
“Canadian JV Properties™) (in thousands):

Carrying Value Carrying Value

Date Real Estate Venture of Investment as of of Investment as of

Canadian JV Property Became Operational December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Dupont W®) October 2019 $ 3,358 $ 3,975
East York @®) June 2020 4,945 5,663
Brampton Q6 November 2020 1,533 1,975
Vaughan @®) January 2021 2,019 2,297
Oshawa (2(©) August 2021 938 1,275
Scarborough ) November 2021 1,969 2,343
Aurora W®) December 2022 1,935 2,481
Kingspoint A March 2023 3,299 3,947
Whitby @) January 2024 7,661 7,076
Markham @) May 2024 2,470 2,064
Regent @ Under Development 2,655 2,736
$ 32,782 $ 35,832

@ These joint venture properties were acquired through the SSGT Il Merger, which closed on June 1, 2022.
@  These joint venture properties were acquired through the SST IV Merger, which closed on March 17, 2021.

@) This property was leased as a single tenant industrial lease through October 2024. The joint venture plans to
develop this property into a self storage facility in the future.

@ This property was acquired on January 12, 2023 in connection with a purchase agreement assumed in the SSGT
Il Merger.

®  As of December 31, 2024, these properties were encumbered by first mortgages pursuant to the RBC JV Term
Loan Il (defined below).

®  As of December 31, 2024, these properties were encumbered by first mortgages pursuant to the RBC JV Term
Loan (defined below).

() This property is encumbered by a first mortgage pursuant to the SmartCentres Financings (defined below).

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

(@) From time to time, we are party to legal, regulatory and other proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our
business. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, management accrues an estimated liability when
those matters present loss contingencies that are both probable and reasonably estimable. In such cases, there
may be an exposure to loss in excess of any amounts accrued. We are not aware of any such proceedings of
which the outcome is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial
condition.

(b)  None.

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

As of March 10, 2025, we had approximately 88.1 million Class A Shares outstanding and approximately 8.2 million
Class T Shares outstanding, held by a total of approximately 19,000 stockholders of record.

There is no established trading market for our common stock. Therefore, there is a risk that a stockholder may not be
able to sell our stock at a time or price acceptable to the stockholder, or at all. Our Offering terminated on January 9, 2017.
Pursuant to the terms of our charter, certain restrictions are imposed on the ownership and transfer of shares. On November
25, 2024, our board of directors approved the full suspension of our distribution reinvestment plan and share redemption
program. See Note 12 — Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in
this report for additional information.

On February 11, 2025, our board of directors reinstated the DRP Offering, such that distributions for the month of
January 2025 as well as any distributions declared by our board of directors for any future months will be invested in shares
of our common stock for those stockholders that previously elected into our distribution reinvestment plan in such states
where our distribution reinvestment plan is able to be offered.

Unless and until our shares are listed for trading on a national securities exchange, it is not expected that a public
market for our shares will develop. To assist fiduciaries of plans subject to the annual reporting requirements of ERISA and
account trustees or custodians to prepare reports relating to an investment in our shares, we intend to provide reports of our
quarterly and annual determinations of the current value of our net assets per outstanding share to those fiduciaries (including
account trustees and custodians) who identify themselves to us and request the reports.

Determination of Estimated Per Share Net Asset Value

On March 12, 2025, the board of directors (the “Board”), at the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee of the Board (the “Committee”), unanimously approved and established an estimated net asset value
per share (“Estimated Per Share NAV”). The Estimated Per Share NAV is based on the estimated value of our assets less the
estimated value of our liabilities, divided by the number of shares outstanding on a fully diluted basis, calculated as of June
30, 2024 (the “Valuation Date”). We provided this Estimated Per Share NAV to assist broker-dealers in connection with their
obligations under Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) Rule 2231, with respect to customer account
statements. This valuation was performed in accordance with the provisions of the Institute for Portfolio Alternatives Practice
Guideline 2013-01, Valuations of Publicly Registered Non-Listed REITSs, issued in April 2013 (the “IPA Valuation
Guidelines™).

The Committee, which is composed solely of independent directors, was responsible for the oversight of the valuation
process, including the review and approval of the valuation process and methodology used to determine the Estimated Per
Share NAV, the consistency of the valuation and appraisal methodologies with real estate industry standards and practices,
and the reasonableness of the assumptions used in the valuations and appraisals.

The Estimated Per Share NAV was determined after consultation with our management and Robert A. Stanger & Co,
Inc. (“Stanger”), an independent third-party valuation firm. The engagement of Stanger was approved by the Committee.
Stanger prepared an appraisal report (the “Stanger Appraisal Report”) summarizing key information and assumptions and
providing an appraised value range on 157 wholly-owned properties and 10 properties held in unconsolidated joint ventures
in our portfolio as of June 30, 2024 (collectively, the “Stanger Appraised Properties”). Stanger also prepared a net asset value
report (the “Stanger NAV Report”) which estimates the net asset value range per share of each of our class A common stock
and class T common stock as of June 30, 2024. The Stanger NAV Report relied upon: (i) the Stanger Appraisal Report for the
Stanger Appraised Properties; (ii) Stanger’s estimated value range of our advisory, asset management and property
management businesses and certain joint ventures (the “Managed REIT Platform™); (iii) Stanger’s estimated fair market value
of our secured mortgage debt and other debt outstanding; (iv) Stanger’s estimated value range of our unconsolidated joint
ventures (the “Unconsolidated Joint Ventures™); and (v) our estimate of the value of our cash, other assets, and liabilities, to
calculate an estimated net asset value range per share of our common stock. The process for estimating the value of our assets
and liabilities was performed in accordance with the provisions of the IPA Valuation Guidelines.
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After considering all information provided, including the Committee’s receipt and review of the Stanger Appraisal
Report and the Stanger NAV Report (the “Reports”), and based on the Committee’s extensive knowledge of our assets and
liabilities, the Committee concluded that the range in estimated value per share of $13.43 to $15.67, with a mid-point
estimated value per share of $14.50, as indicated in the Stanger NAV Report was reasonable and recommended to the Board
that it adopt $14.50 as the Estimated Per Share NAV for our Class A shares and Class T shares.

The table below sets forth the calculation of our Estimated Per Share NAV as of June 30, 2024 and our previous
estimated value per share as of September 30, 2023 (amounts in thousands, except share and per share data).

June 30, September 30,
Assets 2024 2023
Real Estate Properties $ 2,683,909 $ 2,726,669
Additional assets
Cash 34,677 34,239
Restricted Cash 7,368 9,573
Investments in Unconsolidated JV's 93,313 77,773
Other assets 50,918 53,381
Management Company 146,190 146,800
Total Assets $ 3,016,375 $ 3,048,435
Liabilities
Debt $ 1,110,041 $ 1,059,001
Mark-to-market on mortgage debt (29,536) (38,510)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 39,196 40,711
Due to affiliates 69 84
Distributions payable 8,736 8,928
Total Liabilities $ 1,128,506 $ 1,070,214
Net Asset Value 1,887,869 1,978,221

Preferred Equity @

1,887,869 1,978,221

Net Asset Value to Common $ $

Net Asset Value for Class A shares $ 1,770,029 $ 1,854,366
Number of Class A shares outstanding®® 122,036,466 121,589,335
Estimated value per Class A share $ 1450 $ 15.25
Net Asset Value for Class T shares $ 117,840 $ 123,854
Number of Class T shares outstanding 8,124,618 8,121,031
Estimated value per Class T share $ 1450 $ 15.25

The outstanding shares of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Convertible Preferred Stock™)
are convertible into shares of our class A common stock on or after the second anniversary of the effective date
(October 29, 2021) of that certain preferred stock purchase agreement by and between us and Extra Space Storage
LP (the “Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement”). Upon a liquidation, the holder of the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock would receive the greater of the Liquidation Amount (as defined in the Preferred Stock Purchase
Agreement) or the amount that would have been payable upon conversion of the Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock into shares of our class A common stock. For purposes of this analysis, Stanger assumed the conversion of
the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock into shares of our class A common stock based on the conversion price,
as described in the Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, of $10.66.

Includes outstanding units in SmartStop OP, L.P., our operating partnership (the “Operating Partnership”) (“OP
Units™) and unvested restricted stock and unvested OP Units issued to our directors and management.

Methodology and Key Assumptions

In determining the Estimated Per Share NAV, the Board considered the recommendation of the Committee, the Reports

provided by Stanger and information provided by us. Our goal in calculating the Estimated Per Share NAV is to arrive at a
value that is reasonable and supportable using what the Committee and the Board each deems to be appropriate valuation
methodologies and assumptions.
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FINRA'’s current rules provide no guidance on the methodology an issuer must use to determine its Estimated Per
Share NAV. As with any valuation methodology, the methodologies used are based upon a number of estimates and
assumptions that may not be accurate or complete. Different parties with different assumptions and estimates could derive a
different Estimated Per Share NAV, and these differences could be significant. The Estimated Per Share NAV is not audited
and does not represent the fair value of our assets less its liabilities according to U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”), nor does it represent a liquidation value of our assets and liabilities or the amount our shares of
common stock would trade at on a national securities exchange. The estimated asset values may not, however, represent
current market value or book value. The estimated value range of the Stanger Appraised Properties does not necessarily
represent the value the Company would receive or accept if the assets were marketed for sale. The Estimated Per Share NAV
does not reflect a real estate portfolio premium or discount compared to the sum of the individual property values. The
Estimated Per Share NAV also does not take into account estimated disposition costs and fees for real estate properties that
are not held for sale.

Independent Valuation Firm

Stanger was selected by the Committee to appraise and provide a value on the 167 Stanger Appraised Properties.
Stanger is engaged in the business of appraising commercial real estate properties and is not affiliated with the Company. The
compensation the Company paid to Stanger related to the valuation is based on the scope of work and not on the appraised
values of our real estate properties. The appraisals were performed in accordance with the Code of Ethics and the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, or USPAP, the real estate appraisal industry standards created by The Appraisal
Foundation. The Stanger Appraisal Report was reviewed, approved, and signed by an individual with the professional
designation of MAI licensed in the state where each real property is located. The use of the reports is subject to the
requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its duly authorized representatives. In preparing its Reports,
Stanger did not, and was not requested to, solicit third-party indications of interest for our common stock in connection with
possible purchases thereof or the acquisition of all or any part of the Company.

Stanger collected reasonably available material information that it deemed relevant in appraising our real estate
properties. Stanger relied in part on property-level information provided by us, including: (i) historical and projected
operating revenues and expenses; (ii) unit mixes; (iii) rent rolls; and (iv) information regarding recent or planned capital
expenditures.

In conducting its investigation and analyses, Stanger took into account customary and accepted financial and
commercial procedures and considerations as it deemed relevant. Although Stanger reviewed information supplied or
otherwise made available by us for reasonableness, Stanger assumed and relied upon the accuracy and completeness of all
such information and of all information supplied or otherwise made available to Stanger by any other party and did not
independently verify such information. Stanger has assumed that any operating or financial forecasts and other information
and data provided to or otherwise reviewed by or discussed with Stanger were reasonably prepared in good faith on bases
reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of our management and/or the Board. Stanger relied on us to
advise it promptly if any information previously provided became inaccurate or was required to be updated during the period
of their review.

In performing its analyses, Stanger made numerous other assumptions as of various points in time with respect to
industry performance, general business, economic, and regulatory conditions, and other matters, many of which are beyond
its control and our control. Stanger also made assumptions with respect to certain factual matters. For example, unless
specifically informed to the contrary, Stanger assumed that we have clear and marketable title to each real estate property
appraised, that no title defects exist, that any improvements were made in accordance with law, that no hazardous materials
are present or were present previously, that no significant deed restrictions exist, and that no changes to zoning ordinances or
regulations governing use, density, or shape are pending or being considered. Furthermore, Stanger’s analyses, opinions, and
conclusions were necessarily based upon market, economic, financial, and other circumstances and conditions existing as of
or prior to the date of the Stanger Appraisal Report, and any material change in such circumstances and conditions may affect
Stanger’s analyses and conclusions. The Stanger Appraisal Report contains other assumptions, qualifications, and limitations
that qualify the analyses, opinions, and conclusions set forth therein. Furthermore, the prices at which our real estate
properties may actually be sold could differ from Stanger’s analyses.

Stanger is actively engaged in the business of appraising commercial real estate properties similar to those owned by
the Company in connection with public securities offerings, private placements, business combinations, and similar
transactions. The Company does not believe that there are any material conflicts of interest between Stanger, on the one hand,
and the Company, and their affiliates, on the other hand. We engaged Stanger, with approval from the Committee, to deliver
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its Reports to assist in the net asset value calculation and Stanger received compensation for those efforts. In addition, we
have agreed to indemnify Stanger against certain liabilities arising out of this engagement. A special committee of the Board
previously engaged Stanger to serve as a financial advisor in connection with our acquisition of Strategic Storage Growth
Trust, Inc., Strategic Storage Trust IV, Inc., Strategic Storage Growth Trust 11, Inc. and the Managed REIT Platform acquired
from Strategic Asset Management I, LLC (f/k/a SmartStop Asset Management, LLC) (“SAM”) and Stanger provided fairness
opinions in connection with certain of those transactions, for which Stanger was paid usual and customary fees. In addition,
Stanger was previously engaged by the Committee and performed a net asset value calculation for us for the periods ended
September 30, 2023, September 30, 2022, June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2019. In 2021, Stanger was also engaged to
provide other financial advisory services to us. Finally, Stanger served as a financial advisor in the negotiation and closing of
the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock by Extra Space Storage LP, a subsidiary of Extra Space Storage Inc. Stanger may
from time to time in the future perform other services for us or the managed REITS, so long as such other services do not
adversely affect the independence of Stanger as certified in the applicable Stanger Appraisal Report.

Although Stanger considered any comments received from us relating to their Reports, the final appraised value ranges
of our real estate properties were determined by Stanger for the Stanger Appraised Properties. The Reports are addressed
solely to the Committee to assist it in calculating and recommending to the Board an Estimated Per Share NAV of our
common stock. The Reports are not addressed to the public, may not be relied upon by any other person to establish an
Estimated Per Share NAV of our common stock, and do not constitute a recommendation to any person to purchase or sell
any shares of our common stock.

The foregoing is a summary of the standard assumptions, qualifications, and limitations that generally apply to the
Reports. The Reports, including the analysis, opinions, and conclusions set forth in such reports, are qualified by the
assumptions, qualifications, and limitations set forth in the respective reports.

Real Estate Valuation

As described above, the Company engaged Stanger to provide an appraisal containing a range of market value of the
Stanger Appraised Properties consisting of 157 wholly-owned properties and 10 properties held in unconsolidated joint
ventures in our portfolio as of June 30, 2024. In preparing the Stanger Appraisal Report, Stanger, among other things:

o performed a site visit of the Stanger Appraised Properties in the context of this assignment or prior assignments;

o interviewed our officers to obtain information relating to the physical condition of each Stanger Appraised
Property, including known environmental conditions, status of ongoing or planned property additions and
reconfigurations, and other factors for such properties;

o reviewed historical operating statements, asking rental rates by unit type, achieved rental rates, market rental rates,
occupancy for the subject properties and competing properties, current tax information and a review of tax
comparable properties, where appropriate, and capitalization rates for self storage properties observed in the
marketplace based on investor surveys and general discussions in the market, and extracted from recent sales of
self storage properties in each property’s region.

Stanger employed the income approach to estimate the value range of the Stanger Appraised Properties (other than the
office condominium located in Ladera Ranch, CA), which involves an economic analysis of the property based on its
potential to provide future net annual income. A direct capitalization analysis was used to determine the value range of the
portfolio by valuing each Stanger Appraised Property in the portfolio. The direct capitalization analysis was based upon the
stabilized net operating income of each property capitalized at an appropriate capitalization rate for each property based upon
property characteristics and competitive position and market conditions at the date of the appraisal. Stanger deducted
estimated lease up costs for properties that were not considered stabilized and adjusted the value conclusion of properties that
suffered from deferred maintenance. Stanger employed the sales comparison approach to value the office condominium
located in Ladera Ranch, CA, which utilizes indices of value derived from actual or proposed sales of comparable properties
to estimate the value of the subject property.

Stanger prepared the Stanger Appraisal Report, which summarizes key inputs and assumptions, providing a value for
each of the Stanger Appraised Properties it appraised using financial information provided by the Company. From such
review, Stanger selected the appropriate direct capitalization rate in its direct capitalization analysis.

The total aggregate purchase price of the wholly-owned appraised properties in the Stanger Appraisal Report was

approximately $1.9 billion. In addition, through the Valuation Date, the Company had invested approximately $97 million in
capital improvements on these real estate assets since inception. As of the Valuation Date, the total value range of the wholly-
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owned appraised properties was approximately $2.6 billion to $2.8 billion. The mid-point appraised value of approximately
$2.7 billion represents an approximately 32.3% increase in the total value of the real estate assets over the aggregate purchase
price and aggregate improvements. The following summarizes the key assumptions that were used in the direct capitalization
models to arrive at the mid-point appraised value of the Stanger Appraised Properties:

Weighted
Assumption Range Average
Direct Capitalization rate 4.50% to 6.00% 5.08%

While we believe that Stanger’s assumptions and inputs are reasonable, a change in these assumptions and inputs
would significantly impact the calculation of the appraised value of the Stanger Appraised Properties and thus, the Estimated
Per Share NAV. The table below illustrates the impact on the Estimated Per Share NAV if the direct capitalization rates were
adjusted by 25 basis points or 5%, assuming the mid-point value conclusion for each Stanger Appraised Property is based on
the method being sensitized and all other factors remain unchanged:

Estimated Per Share NAV due to:
Increase 25 Basis Decrease 25 Basis
Points Points Increase 5.0% Decrease 5.0%

Direct Capitalization Rate $ 1343 $ 15.67 $ 13.47 $ 15.64

Debt

Values for our secured mortgage debt and other Company debt outstanding (the “Outstanding Debt”) were estimated
by Stanger using a discounted cash flow analysis, which used inputs based on the remaining loan terms and estimated current
market interest rates for debt with similar characteristics, including remaining loan term, loan-to-value ratios, debt-service-
coverage ratios, customary affirmative and negative covenants, prepayment terms, and collateral attributes. The current
market interest rate was generally determined based on market rates for available comparable debt. The estimated current
market interest rates ranged from 5.80% to 7.55% for the Outstanding Debt.

As of June 30, 2024, Stanger’s estimated fair value of our consolidated Outstanding Debt was approximately $1.08
billion. The weighted-average discount rate applied to the future estimated debt payments of the Outstanding Debt was
approximately 6.88%.

While we believe that Stanger’s assumptions and inputs are reasonable, a change in these assumptions and inputs
would significantly impact the calculation of the estimated value of the Outstanding Debt and thus, the Estimated Per Share
NAV. The table below illustrates the impact on the Estimated Per Share NAV if the market interest rate of the Outstanding
Debt were adjusted by 25 basis points or 5%, and assuming all other factors remain unchanged:

Estimated Per Share NAV due to:
Decrease 25 Basis Points Increase 25 Basis Points Decrease 5.0% Increase 5.0%

$ 14.43 $ 1457 $ 14.41 $ 14.60

Cash, Other Assets, Other Liabilities and Preferred Equity

The fair value of our cash, other assets, other liabilities and investments in and advances to our Managed REITs were
estimated by us to approximate carrying value as of the Valuation Date. In estimating the fair value of the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, Stanger considered the conversion feature of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, as
described above, and determined that as of the Valuation Date it would have been dilutive since the conversion value of
$10.66 per share is at a lower value than the Estimated Per Share NAV determined by the Board as of the Valuation Date.
Therefore, Stanger assumed the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock was converted into common shares and was included in
the fully diluted share count as of the Valuation Date. The carrying value of a majority of our other assets and liabilities are
considered to equal their fair value due to their short maturities or liquid nature. Certain balances, such as intangible assets
and liabilities and deferred financing costs, have been eliminated for the purpose of the valuation due to the fact that the value
of those balances were already considered in the valuation of the respective investments.
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Managed REIT Platform Value

To derive the estimated value range of the Managed REIT Platform, Stanger estimated the market value associated
with our asset management and property management contracts (the “Management Contracts”) with us, Strategic Storage
Growth Trust I, Inc. (“SSGT I11”") and Strategic Storage Trust VI, Inc. (“SST VI”) using a comparable transactions analysis.
Stanger considered the projected fee income from the Management Contracts and the associated reasonable expenses to
support such activities to derive an EBITDA projection for the 12-month period (the “Projected EBITDA”) following the
Valuation Date. Stanger then applied a range of EBITDA multiples to the Projected EBITDA to derive an estimated value
range associated with the Management Contracts.

To derive the estimated value range of the Managed REIT Platform, Stanger also estimated the market value associated
with the agreements between us, SSGT Il and SST VI related to the tenant insurance, tenant protection plans or similar
programs (“Tenant Protection Programs™) using a direct capitalization approach. Stanger considered the projected Tenant
Protection Program income and related reasonable expenses to derive an EBITDA projection for the 12-month period (the
“Projected TP EBITDA”) following the Valuation Date. Stanger then applied a range of capitalization rates to the Projected
TP EBITDA to derive an estimated value range associated with the Tenant Protection Programs.

Unconsolidated Joint Ventures Value

We hold interests in unconsolidated entities in joint ventures with SmartCentres Real Estate Investment Trust, which
own self storage properties or properties in various stages of planning and development into self storage properties located in
Canada. Stanger estimated the fair market value range of the Unconsolidated Joint Ventures by: (i) utilizing the value range
of the properties owned by the Unconsolidated Joint Ventures based upon the Stanger Appraisal Report; (ii) adding the other
tangible assets held by the Unconsolidated Joint Ventures; (iii) deducting the other tangible liabilities held by the
Unconsolidated Joint Ventures; and (iv) taking the resulting equity from the Unconsolidated Joint VVentures and processing
such equity through the Unconsolidated Joint Venture agreement as it pertains to capital distribution allocations, to determine
the amount of equity attributable to the Company.

Different parties using different assumptions and estimates could derive a different Estimated Per Share NAV, and
these differences could be significant. The value of the Company's shares will fluctuate over time in response to
developments related to individual assets in our portfolio and the management of those assets and in response to the real
estate and finance markets.

The Board’s Determination of the Estimated Per Share NAV

Based upon a review of the Reports provided by Stanger, upon the recommendation of the Committee, the Board
declared the Estimated Per Share NAV for each of the class A common stock and class T common stock to be $14.50.

Limitations of Estimated Per Share NAV

The various factors considered by the Board in determining the Estimated Per Share NAV were based on a number of
assumptions and estimates that may not be accurate or complete. As disclosed above, we are providing the Estimated Per
Share NAV to assist broker-dealers that participate, or participated, in our public offering in meeting their customer account
statement reporting obligations. As with any valuation methodology, the methodologies used are based upon a number of
estimates and assumptions that may not be accurate or complete. Different parties with different assumptions and estimates
could derive a different Estimated Per Share NAV. The Estimated Per Share NAV is not audited and does not represent the
fair value of our assets or liabilities according to GAAP.

Accordingly, with respect to the Estimated Per Share NAV, the Company can give no assurance that:

o a stockholder would be able to resell his or her Class A shares of common stock or Class T shares of common
stock at the Estimated Per Share NAV;

o a stockholder would ultimately realize distributions per share equal to the Estimated Per Share NAV upon
liquidation of our assets and settlement of its liabilities or a sale of the Company;

° our shares of class A common stock and class T common stock would trade at the Estimated Per Share NAV on a
national securities exchange;

o a different independent third-party appraiser or other third-party valuation firm would agree with the Estimated
Per Share NAV; or
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o the Estimated Per Share NAV, or the methodology used to estimate the Estimated Per Share NAV, will be found
by any regulatory authority to comply with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA), the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or other regulatory requirements.

Similarly, the amount a stockholder may receive upon repurchase of their shares, if they participate in our share
redemption program and such redemption program is available, may be greater than or less than the amount a stockholder
paid for the shares, regardless of any increase in the underlying value of any assets owned by the Company.

The Estimated Per Share NAV is based on the estimated value of our assets less the estimated value of our liabilities
divided by the number of shares outstanding on an adjusted fully diluted basis, calculated as of June 30, 2024. The Estimated
Per Share NAV was based upon 130,161,084 shares of common equity or equivalent interests outstanding as of June 30,
2024, which was composed of (i) 88,696,458 Class A shares of our common stock, plus (ii) 8,124,618 outstanding Class T
shares of our common stock, plus (iii) 18,761,726 shares related to the assumed conversion of the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock into common shares, plus (iv) 14,578,282 OP Units, of which 1,332,923 are unvested OP Units issued to our
directors and executive management. Such OP Units are, or will be upon vesting (as applicable), exchangeable on a one-for-
one basis into Class A shares of Company’s common stock.

Further, the value of our shares will fluctuate over time as a result of, among other things, developments related to
individual assets and responses to the real estate and capital markets. The Estimated Per Share NAV does not reflect a real
estate portfolio premium or discount versus the sum of the individual property values. The Estimated Per Share NAV also
does not take into account estimated disposition costs and fees for real estate properties that are not held for sale or other
windup costs. We currently anticipate publishing a new estimated share value on an annual basis.
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Distributions

We elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code
beginning with the taxable year ended December 31, 2014. By qualifying as a REIT, we generally will not be subject to U.S.
federal income tax on taxable income that we distribute to our stockholders. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable
year, we will then be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on our taxable income at regular corporate rates and will not be
permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes for four years following the year during
which qualification is lost unless the IRS grants us relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could materially
adversely affect our net income and net cash available for distribution to stockholders. However, we believe that we are
organized and operate in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a REIT and intend to operate in the foreseeable future in
such a manner that we will remain qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

For income tax purposes, distributions to common stockholders are characterized as ordinary dividends, capital gain
dividends, or as nontaxable distributions. To the extent that we make a distribution in excess of our current or accumulated
earnings and profits, the distribution will be a non-taxable return of capital, reducing the tax basis in each U.S. stockholder’s
shares, and the amount of each distribution in excess of a U.S. stockholder’s tax basis in its shares will be taxable as gain
realized from the sale of its shares.

For 2022, we paid a total of approximately $74.4 million in distributions, which consisted of approximately $54.6
million to our common stockholders, approximately $7.3 million to our OP Unit holders, and approximately $12.5 million to
our preferred stockholder. Approximately $28.0 million of the 2022 total distributions, composed of approximately 51.3% of
our common stockholder distributions and none of our preferred stockholder distributions, constituted a non-taxable return of
capital.

For 2023, we paid a total of approximately $79.0 million in distributions, which consisted of approximately $58.2
million to our common stockholders, approximately $8.3 million to our OP Unit holders, and approximately $12.5 million to
our preferred stockholder. Approximately $41.2 million of the 2023 total distributions, composed of approximately 70.9% of
our common stockholder distributions and none of our preferred stockholder distributions, constituted a non-taxable return of
capital.

For 2024, we paid a total of approximately $79.6 million in distributions, which consisted of approximately $58.0
million to our common stockholders, approximately $8.6 million to our OP Unit holders, and approximately $12.5 million to
our preferred stockholder. Approximately $54.4 million of the 2024 total distributions, composed of approximately 93.6% of
our common stockholder distributions and none of our preferred stockholder distributions, constituted a non-taxable return of
capital.

The following table shows the distributions we have paid in cash and through our distribution reinvestment plan for the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 (amounts in thousands, except per share data):

Distributions

OP Unit Preferred Common Declared per

Quarter Holders® Stockholder® Stockholders® Common Share

1st Quarter 2023 $ 2,006 $ 3151 $ 14,685 $ 0.15
2nd Quarter 2023 $ 2,138 3 3,082 $ 14,746 $ 0.15
3rd Quarter 2023  $ 2,107 $ 3,116 $ 14,340 $ 0.15
4th Quarter 2023  $ 2022 $ 3,151 $ 14,464 $ 0.15
1st Quarter 2024 $ 2,304 3 3,151 $ 14501 $ 0.15
2nd Quarter 2024 $ 2,107 $ 3,108 $ 14,609 $ 0.15
3rd Quarter 2024 $ 2,110 $ 3,108 $ 14,553 $ 0.15
4th Quarter 2024 $ 2,085 3 3142 $ 14,381 $ 0.15

@ Declared distributions are paid monthly in arrears.
@ Declared distributions are paid quarterly in arrears. See Note 6 — Preferred Equity, of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements contained in this report, for additional information.

The payment of distributions from sources other than cash flows from operations may reduce the amount of proceeds
available for investment and operations or cause us to incur additional interest expense as a result of borrowed funds.

Over the long-term, we expect that a greater percentage of our distributions will be paid from cash flows from
operations. However, our operating performance cannot be accurately predicted and may deteriorate in the future due to
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numerous factors, including our ability to invest capital at favorable yields, the financial performance of our investments in
the current real estate and financial environment and the types and mix of investments in our portfolio. As a result, future
distributions declared and paid may exceed cash flow from operations.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

We did not have any recent sales of unregistered securities during the period covered by this Annual Report that were
not disclosed in a quarterly report on Form 10-Q or current report on Form 8-K.

Share Redemption Program

Our share redemption program enables our stockholders to have their shares redeemed by us, subject to the significant
conditions and limitations described in our publicly filed documents. As of December 31, 2024, approximately $62.0 million
of common stock was available for redemption. During the three months ended December 31, 2024, we redeemed shares as
follows:

Total Number of Maximum Number
Shares Redeemed as of Shares (or Units)
Part of Publicly That May Yet to be
Total Number of Average Price Announced Plans or Purchased Under the
For the Month Ended Shares Redeemed Paid per Share Programs Plans or Programs
October 31, 2024 826,738  $ 15.25 826,738 2,621,037 @
November 30, 2024 — — — 2,621,037 @
December 31, 2024 — — — 2,621,037 @

@ Adescription of the maximum number of shares that may be purchased under our SRP is included in Note 12 —
Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this report.

Our share redemption program is presently suspended. See Note 12 — Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this report for additional information.

The performance graph below is a comparison of the cumulative total return of our shares of class A common stock,
the Standard and Poor’s 500 Index (“S&P 5007), the FTSE NAREIT All Equity REITs Index and the Russell 2000 Index
(“Russell 2000), assuming a starting investment of $100 on December 31, 2019 and reinvestment of distributions. The value
of an investment in SmartStop reflects the customer account statement value in effect and does not factor in deductions for
upfront fees and expenses paid at the time of investment. We currently have class A and class T common stock outstanding,
with varying performance results between each class due to differences in class-specific fees and expenses. Class A is
pictured in the graph below. There can be no assurance that the performance of our Class A shares will continue in line with
the same or similar trends depicted in the performance graph.
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial data contained
within this Form 10-K, and our accompanying consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto. See also “Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” preceding Part I.

Overview

We are a self-managed and fully-integrated self storage real estate investment trust (“REIT”). Our year end is December
31. As used in this report, “we,” “us,” “our,” and “Company” refer to SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc. and each of our
subsidiaries.

We focus on the acquisition, ownership, and operation of self storage properties located primarily within the top 100
metropolitan statistical areas, or MSAs, throughout the United States and Canada. Based on the Inside Self Storage Top-
Operators List ranking for 2024, and after accounting for recent market transactions, we are the 10th largest owner and
operator of self storage properties in the United States based on rentable square footage. As of December 31, 2024, our
wholly-owned portfolio consisted of 161 operating self storage properties diversified across 19 states, the District of
Columbia, and Canada comprising approximately 110,000 units and 12.6 million net rentable square feet. Additionally, we
owned a 50% equity interest in eleven unconsolidated real estate ventures located in Canada, which consisted of ten operating
self storage properties, and one other property, which we plan to convert into a self storage property. Further, through our
Managed REIT Platform (as defined below), we served as the sponsor of Strategic Storage Trust VI, Inc., a publicly-
registered non-traded REIT ("SST VI"), and Strategic Storage Growth Trust 11, Inc., a private REIT ("SSGT III" and
together with SST VI, the "Managed REITs"); additionally, we manage one other self storage property for an affiliated entity,
which pays us fees, as applicable, to manage such property. In total, as of December 31, 2024, we managed 37 operating self
storage properties.

Our primary business model is focused on owning and operating high quality self storage properties in high growth
markets in the United States and Canada. We finance our portfolio through a diverse capital strategy which includes cash
generated from operations, borrowings under our syndicated revolving line of credit, secured debt financing, equity offerings
and joint ventures. Our business model is designed to maximize cash flow available for distribution to our stockholders and
to achieve sustainable long-term growth in cash flow in order to maximize long-term stockholder value at acceptable levels
of risk. We execute our organic growth strategy by pursuing revenue-optimizing and expense-minimizing opportunities in the
operations of our existing portfolio. We execute our external growth strategy by developing, redeveloping, acquiring and
managing self storage facilities in the United States and Canada both internally and through our Managed REITs, and we
look to acquire properties that are physically stabilized, recently developed, in various stages of lease up or at certificate of
occupancy. We seek to acquire undermanaged facilities that are not operated by institutional operators, where we can
implement our proprietary management and technology to maximize net operating income.

As an operating business, self storage requires a much greater focus on strategic planning and tactical operation plans.
Our in-house call center allows us to centralize our sales efforts as we capture new business over the phone, email, web-based
chat, and text mediums. As we have grown our portfolio of self storage facilities, we have been able to consolidate and
streamline a number of aspects of our operations through economies of scale. We also utilize our digital marketing breadth
and expertise which allows us to acquire customers efficiently by leveraging our portfolio size and technological proficiency.
To the extent we acquired facilities in clusters within geographic regions, we see property management efficiencies resulting
in reduction of personnel and other administrative costs.

As discussed herein, we, through our subsidiaries, currently serve as the sponsor of SST VI, SSGT Ill, and Strategic
Storage Trust X, a private REIT ("SST X"). We also served as the sponsor of Strategic Storage Growth Trust I, Inc., a
private REIT (“SSGT II”") through June 1, 2022. Prior to June 1, 2022, SSGT Il was also included in the “Managed REITs”
for purposes of this Annual Report. We operate the properties owned by the Managed REITs, which together with one other
self storage property we manage consist of, as of December 31, 2024, 37 operating properties and approximately 29,000 units
and approximately 3.2 million rentable square feet. In addition, we have the internal capability to originate, structure and
manage additional self storage investment programs (the “Managed REIT Platform™) which would be sponsored by
SmartStop REIT Advisors, LLC (“SRA”), our indirect subsidiary. We acquired the Managed REIT Platform in 2019 from
Strategic Asset Management I, LLC (f/k/a SmartStop Asset Management, LLC), our former sponsor ("SAM"). We generate
asset management fees, property management fees, acquisition fees, and other fees and also receive substantially all of the
tenant protection program revenue earned by our Managed REITS. For the property management and advisory services that
we provide, we are reimbursed for certain expenses that otherwise helps to offset our net operating expense burden.

48



Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have established accounting policies which conform to generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).
Preparing financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to use judgment in the application of
accounting policies, including making estimates and assumptions. Following is a discussion of the estimates and assumptions
used in setting accounting policies that we consider critical in the presentation of our consolidated financial statements. Many
estimates and assumptions involved in the application of GAAP may have a material impact on our financial condition or
operating performance, or on the comparability of such information to amounts reported for other periods, because of the
subjectivity and judgment required to account for highly uncertain items or the susceptibility of such items to change. These
estimates and assumptions affect our reported amounts of assets and liabilities, our disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and our reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period covered
by this report. If management’s judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions had
been different, it is possible that different accounting policies would have been applied or different amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses would have been recorded, thus resulting in a materially different presentation of the
financial statements or materially different amounts being reported in the financial statements. Additionally, other companies
may use different estimates and assumptions that may impact the comparability of our financial condition and results of
operations to those companies.

We believe that our critical accounting policies include the following: real estate acquisition valuation; the evaluation
of whether any of our long-lived assets have been impaired; the valuation of goodwill and related impairment considerations,
the valuation of our trademarks and related impairment considerations, the determination of the useful lives of our long-lived
assets; and the evaluation of the consolidation of our interests in joint ventures. The following discussion of these policies
supplements, but does not supplant the description of our significant accounting policies, as contained in Note 2 — Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this report, and is
intended to present our analysis of the uncertainties involved in arriving upon and applying each policy.

Real Estate Acquisition Valuation

We account for asset acquisitions in accordance with GAAP which requires that we allocate the purchase price of a
property to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their relative fair values. This
guidance requires us to make significant estimates and assumptions, including fair value estimates, which requires the use of
significant unobservable inputs as of the acquisition date.

The value of the tangible assets, consisting of land and buildings is determined as if vacant. Because we believe that
substantially all of the leases in place at properties we will acquire will be at market rates, as the majority of the leases are
month-to-month contracts, we do not expect to allocate any portion of the purchase prices to above or below market leases.
We also consider whether in-place, market leases represent an intangible asset. Acquisitions of portfolios of facilities are
allocated to the individual facilities based upon an income approach or a cash flow analysis using appropriate risk adjusted
capitalization rates which take into account the relative size, age, and location of the individual facility along with current and
projected occupancy and rental rate levels or appraised values, if available.

Our allocations of purchase prices are based on certain significant estimates and assumptions, variations in such
estimates and assumptions could result in a materially different presentation of the consolidated financial statements or
materially different amounts being reported in the consolidated financial statements.

Real Property Assets Valuation

We evaluate our real property assets for impairment based on events and changes in circumstances that may arise in the
future and that may impact the carrying amounts of such assets. When indicators of potential impairment are present, we will
assess the recoverability of the particular asset by determining whether the carrying value of the asset will be recovered,
through an evaluation of the undiscounted future operating cash flows expected from the use of the asset and its eventual
disposition. This evaluation is based on a number of estimates and assumptions, such as, but not limited to, comparative
sales, estimated cash flow, and other similar valuation techniques. Based on this evaluation, if the expected undiscounted
future cash flows do not exceed the carrying value, we will adjust the value of the real property asset and recognize an
impairment loss. Our evaluation of the impairment of real property assets could result in a materially different presentation of
the financial statements or materially different amounts being reported in the financial statements, as the amount of
impairment loss, if any, recognized may vary based on the estimates and assumptions we use.
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Intangible Assets Valuation

In connection with the acquisition of the self storage advisory, asset management and property management businesses
and certain joint venture interests of Strategic Asset Management I, LLC (f/k/a SmartStop Asset Management, LLC), our
former sponsor (“SAM”), along with certain other assets of SAM (collectively, the “Self Administration Transaction™), we
allocated a portion of the consideration to the contracts that we acquired related to the Managed REITs and the customer
relationships related to our tenant insurance, tenant protection plans or similar programs (the “Tenant Protection Programs™).
For these intangibles, we are amortizing such amounts on a straight-line basis over the estimated benefit period of the
contracts and customer relationships. We evaluate these intangible assets for impairment when an event occurs or
circumstances change that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. In such an event, an impairment charge is
recognized and the intangible asset is marked down to its fair value.

Goodwill Valuation

Goodwill is recorded as the difference, if any, between the aggregate consideration paid for an acquisition and the fair
value of the net tangible assets and other intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is allocated to various reporting units, as
applicable, and is not amortized. We perform an annual qualitative impairment assessment as of December 31 for goodwill;
between annual tests we evaluate the recoverability of goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of goodwill may not be fully recoverable. If circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be fully
recoverable, we perform a quantitative impairment test of goodwill to compare the fair value of each reporting unit to its
respective carrying amount. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge will be
recognized. No impairment charges to goodwill were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 or 2022.

Trademarks Valuation

Trademarks are based on the value of our brands. Trademarks are valued using the relief from royalty method, which
presumes that without ownership of such trademarks, we would have to make a stream of payments to a brand or franchise
owner in return for the right to use their name. By virtue of this asset, we avoid any such payments and record the related
intangible value of our ownership of the brand name.

We qualitatively evaluate whether any triggering events or changes in circumstances have occurred subsequent to our
annual impairment test that would indicate an impairment condition may exist. If any change in circumstance or triggering
event occurs, and results in a significant impact to our revenue and profitability projections, or any significant assumption in
our valuation methods is adversely impacted, the impact could result in a material impairment charge in the future.

Estimated Useful Lives of Real Property Assets

We assess the useful lives of the assets underlying our properties based upon a subjective determination of the period
of future benefit for each asset. We record depreciation expense with respect to these assets based upon the estimated useful
lives we determine. Our determinations of the useful lives of the assets could result in a materially different presentation of
the consolidated financial statements or materially different amounts being reported in the financial statements, as such
determinations, and the corresponding amount of depreciation expense, may vary dramatically based on the estimates and
assumptions we use.

Consolidation Considerations

Current accounting guidance provides a framework for identifying a variable interest entity (*VIE”) and determining
when a company should include the assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests, and results of activities of a VIE in its
consolidated financial statements. In general, a VIE is an entity or other legal structure used to conduct activities or hold
assets that either (1) has an insufficient amount of equity to carry out its principal activities without additional subordinated
financial support, (2) has a group of equity owners that are unable to make significant decisions about its activities, or (3) has
a group of equity owners that do not have the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive returns generated by its
operations. Generally, a VIE should be consolidated if a party with an ownership, contractual, or other financial interest in the
VIE (a variable interest holder) has the power to direct the VIE’s most significant activities and the obligation to absorb
losses or right to receive benefits of the VIE that could be significant to the VIE. A variable interest holder that consolidates
the VIE is called the primary beneficiary. Upon consolidation, the primary beneficiary generally must initially record all of
the VIE’s assets, liabilities, and noncontrolling interest at fair value and subsequently account for the VIE as if it were
consolidated based on majority voting interest.

We evaluate the consolidation of our investments in VIE's in accordance with relevant accounting guidance. This
evaluation requires us to determine whether we have a controlling interest in a VIE through a means other than voting rights,
and, if so, such VIE may be required to be consolidated in our financial statements. Our evaluation of our VIE's under such
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accounting guidance could result in a materially different presentation of the financial statements or materially different
amounts being reported in the financial statements, as the VIE's included in our consolidated financial statements may vary
based on the estimates and assumptions we use.

REIT Qualification

We made an election under Section 856(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code) to be taxed as a REIT
under the Code, commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2014. By qualifying as a REIT for federal income
tax purposes, we generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on income that we distribute to our stockholders. If
we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income at
regular corporate rates and will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax purposes for four
years following the year in which our qualification is denied. Such an event could materially and adversely affect our net
income and could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations. However, we believe
that we are organized and operate in a manner that will enable us to continue to qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal
income tax purposes, and we intend to continue to operate as to remain qualified as a REIT for federal income tax purposes.

Industry Outlook, Market and Economic Conditions

Our rental revenue and operating results depend significantly on the demand for self storage space. Demand for self
storage tends to be needs-based, with numerous factors that lead customers to renting and maintaining storage units. These
demand drivers function in a multitude of economic environments, both cyclically and counter-cyclically.

More recently, the broader economy has been experiencing elevated levels of inflation, higher interest rates (including
higher mortgage rates), tightening monetary and fiscal policies and a slowdown in home sales and population mobility. These
dynamics, paired with difficult comparables from 2022, resulted in a reduction in pricing power for self storage operators,
leading to a deceleration in revenue growth in 2023 and once again in 2024. As of December 31, 2024, the U.S. listed self
storage REITs averaged ending same-store occupancy of approximately 89.5%. Without a near term change in monetary
policy and subsequent reduction in mortgage rates, we expect self storage demand to remain reduced relative to more recent
COVID-19 era demand and more comparable to historical averages. Additionally, the broader interest rate and inflationary
environment has moderated since the beginning of 2024. These factors could lead to increasing levels of population mobility,
specifically amongst single family home buyers and sellers, which could increase demand for self storage. Based on these
dynamics, we believe that disciplined self storage operators will generate revenue growth in the near term and will continue
to drive revenue through various economic cycles.

From a supply perspective, the top 50 MSA’s in the United States saw a historically elevated amount of new self
storage supply come online from 2018 to 2023, both on an absolute and relative basis. This new supply outpaced population
growth in the same markets by nearly five times during that period. We believe the broader shift of people working from
home related to the COVID-19 pandemic, elevated migration patterns and strength in the housing market helped drive
revenue growth in self storage demand and absorb this supply. These demand drivers produced a 36-month period in which
self storage industry fundamentals were very strong relative to historical operating levels, including all-time high occupancy
and revenue growth. However, as COVID-related demand waned in 2023, many of the tenants that rented due to the
COVID-19 pandemic vacated. We expect the new supply delivered in the recent past to continue to be absorbed and we
expect only moderate growth in new supply through 2026.

We believe that overhead costs and maintenance capital expenditures are considerably lower in the self storage
industry as compared to other real estate sectors, and as a result of strong operating leverage, self storage companies are able
to achieve comparatively higher operating and cash flow margins. Although property taxes were moderated through
assessment challenges over the past two years, we expect elevated property tax increases in our sector in the coming years.
Other property operating expenses have experienced elevated pressures as well in the past few years, namely property
insurance and payroll, primarily due to inflation and natural disasters. As a result, we have experienced a year-over-year
decrease in gross margins for the year ended December 31, 2024. We expect same-store expense growth resulting from
increases in employee costs, property insurance and property taxes in 2025, to be partially offset by operating efficiencies
gained from leveraging our technology and solar initiatives.

Beginning in 2022, the Federal Reserve began increasing its targeted range for the federal funds rate, leading to
increased interest rates. This approach to monetary policy was mirrored by other central banks across the world, to similar
effect. We currently have fixed or capped interest rates of varying durations for the majority of our loans, either directly or
indirectly through our use of interest rate hedges. The rise in overall interest rates has caused an increase in our variable rate
borrowing costs and our overall cost of capital, resulting in an increase in net interest expense. Capitalization rates on
acquisitions did not increase at the same magnitude as interest rates increased in 2022 and 2023, which limited our ability
make accretive acquisitions of self storage properties. However, with anticipation of the Federal Reserve lowering its target
range for the federal funds rate, interest rates across the curve began to decrease in the first half of 2024. From September
2024 through the end of the year, the Federal Reserve has lowered its targeted range for the federal funds rate by a
cumulative 100 basis points, spread across three cuts.
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Recent Hurricane Activity

Hurricane Helene caused record flooding in late September 2024 in Asheville, North Carolina. Before, during and after
the storm, we prioritized the safety and security of our employees, customers and properties. For all 14 of our wholly-owned
properties in the Asheville area, except for one, the impact was generally limited to wind, wind-blown debris and downed
trees and branches, with minimal damage sustained. These properties were temporarily closed, but resumed operations
shortly after the storm.

We sustained significant damage at one of our properties which was severely flooded. As a result of the flooding and
related damage, we recorded a net casualty loss related to the flooded property of approximately $4.6 million during the year
ended December 31, 2024, to write-off the carrying value. We expect to rebuild and therefore we believe it is probable that
we will receive insurance proceeds to offset the casualty loss and we recorded a receivable related to our pending insurance
claim amounts as of December 31, 2024. There is no assurance as to when this property will be rebuilt or the performance of
this property upon completion or stabilization. The casualty loss was completely offset in our consolidated statements of
operations by such expected recovery. Any amount of insurance recovery related to the property damage in excess of the
casualty loss incurred is considered a gain contingency, and would be recognized upon final settlement of the claims.
Additionally, we accrued $0.5 million related to other losses, which was included in Property operating expenses in our
consolidated statements of operations.

After Hurricane Helene passed, we worked quickly to re-open our properties, except the flooded Asheville property, to
normal operating conditions, with our efforts focused on debris cleanup and removal and other more minor repairs.

In October 2024, Hurricane Milton also made landfall in Florida and the majority of our Florida properties were
temporarily closed but resumed operations shortly after the storm. Damages were generally minor and limited to wind,
downed fences, wind-blown debris and downed trees and branches.

Results of Operations
Overview

We derive revenues principally from: (i) rents received from our self storage tenant leases; (ii) fees generated from our
Managed REITs; (iii) our Tenant Protection Programs; and (iv) sales of packing and storage-related supplies at our storage
facilities. Therefore, our operating results depend significantly on our ability to retain our existing tenants and lease our
available self storage units to new tenants, while maintaining and, where possible, increasing the prices for our self storage
units.

Competition in the market areas in which we operate is significant and affects the occupancy levels, rental rates, rental
revenues and operating expenses of our facilities. Development of any new self storage facilities would intensify competition
of self storage operators in markets in which we operate.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we wholly-owned 161 and 154 operating self storage facilities, respectively. Our
operating results for the year ended December 31, 2024 included full year period results for 153 operating self storage
facilities. During the year ended December 31, 2024, our operating results included partial period results for nine self storage
facilities, eight of which were acquired during the year ended December 31, 2024, and one of which became non-operational
prior to year end, as it sustained damage in September 2024 caused by Hurricane Helene. Please see Note 3 — Real Estate of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional detail. Our operating results for the year ended December
31, 2023 included full year period results for 153 operating self storage facilities and partial period results for one operating
self storage facility acquired during the year ended December 31, 2023. Operating results in future periods will depend on
the results of operations of these properties and of the real estate properties that we acquire in the future.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
Total Self Storage Revenues

Total self storage related revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $219.0
million and $215.3 million, respectively. The increase in total self storage revenues of approximately $3.7 million, or 2% was
primarily attributable to an increase in non same-store revenues of approximately $2.3 million, largely as a result of eight
property acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2024.

We expect self storage revenues to fluctuate in future periods primarily based on the performance of our same-store
pool, which will be influenced by the overall economic environment and increases in self storage supply, amongst other
things. Additionally, we expect to see increases in self storage revenues from our recent and any future acquisitions.
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Managed REIT Platform Revenues

Managed REIT Platform revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was approximately $11.4 million
and $11.9 million, respectively. The decrease in Managed REIT Platform revenues of approximately $0.5 million is primarily
attributable to decreased acquisition fees as compared to the prior year. We earned approximately $1.9 million in acquisition
fees from SST VI in June of 2023 as a result of a large multi-property portfolio acquisition by SST VI. Managed REIT
Platform revenues were also reduced as compared to the prior year to a lesser extent by the effect of an additional
approximately $0.8 million of sponsor funding reductions recorded to revenue in the current year. Such decreases in
Managed REIT Platform revenues were partially offset by increased Tenant Protection Program fees, property management
and asset management fees as a result of increased assets under management.

We expect Managed REIT Platform Revenue to fluctuate commensurate with our Managed REITS' increase in
operations and assets under management, offset by additional reductions recorded to such revenue in connection with the
Sponsor Funding Agreement as SST VI continues to sell shares in its public offering and such reductions increase
commensurately.

Reimbursable Costs from Managed REITs

Reimbursable costs from Managed REITSs for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $6.6
million and $5.8 million, respectively. Such revenues consist of costs incurred by us as we provide property management and
advisory services to the Managed REITs, which are reimbursed by the Managed REITSs, pursuant to our related contracts with
the Managed REITs. The increase in reimbursable costs from Managed REITs was primarily related to the growth in the
Managed REITs assets under management. We expect reimbursable costs from Managed REITs to increase in future periods
as a result of additional acquisitions by our Managed REITs. We further expect reimbursable costs from Managed REITSs to
generally fluctuate commensurate with our Managed REITS' increase in operations as we receive reimbursement for
providing such services.

Property Operating Expenses

Property operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $70.7 million (or
32% of self storage revenue) and $65.4 million (or 30% of self storage revenue), respectively. Property operating expenses
include the costs to operate our facilities including compensation related expenses, utilities, insurance, real estate taxes, and
property related marketing. The increase in property operating expenses of approximately $5.3 million was attributable to
increased property operating expenses of approximately $1.5 million related to our non same-store properties, and the
balance related to increased insurance costs, property taxes, payroll costs, repairs and maintenance expenses, and advertising
expenses on our same-store properties. We expect property operating expenses to fluctuate commensurate with inflationary
pressures and any future acquisitions.

Managed REIT Platform Expenses

Managed REIT Platform expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $4.0 million
and $3.4 million, respectively. Such expenses primarily consisted of expenses related to non-reimbursable costs associated
with the operation of the Managed REIT Platform, some of which were incurred directly and indirectly through the
Administrative Services Agreement (as discussed in Note 10 — Related Party Transactions, of the notes to consolidated
financial statements contained in this report). The increase in Managed REIT Platform Expenses is primarily related to
growth in the Managed REITs' assets under management. We expect Managed REIT Platform expenses to fluctuate in future
periods commensurate with our level of activity related to the Managed REITSs.

Reimbursable Costs from Managed REITs

Reimbursable costs from Managed REITs for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $6.6
million and $5.8 million, respectively. Such expenses consist of costs incurred by us as we provide property management and
advisory services to the Managed REITs, which are reimbursed by the Managed REITSs, pursuant to our related contracts with
the Managed REITs. The increase in reimbursable costs from Managed REITs is primarily related to the growth in the
Managed REITs' assets under management. We expect reimbursable costs from the Managed REITs to fluctuate
commensurate with our Managed REITS' increase in operations as we receive reimbursement for providing such services.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $29.9
million and $27.5 million, respectively. Such expenses consist primarily of compensation related costs, marketing related
costs, legal expenses, accounting expenses, transfer agent fees, directors and officers’ insurance expense and board of
directors related costs. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we recorded expenses of approximately $0.3
million and $0.8 million, respectively, related to our filing of an amendment to our registration statement on Form S-11 and
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related costs in pursuit of a potential offering of our common stock. The remaining increase in general and administrative
expenses was primarily attributable to increased compensation related costs and legal expenses incurred during the year
ended December 31, 2024. We expect general and administrative expenses to decrease as a percentage of total revenues over
time.

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses

Depreciation and amortization expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $56.1
million and $60.2 million, respectively. Depreciation expense consists primarily of depreciation on the buildings and site
improvements at our properties. Amortization expense consists of the amortization of our in place lease intangible assets
resulting from our self storage acquisitions and to a lesser extent, amortization of certain intangible assets acquired in the Self
Administration Transaction. The decrease in depreciation and amortization expense is primarily attributable to the intangible
amortization expense related to our in place lease intangible assets recorded in connection with the SSGT Il Merger which
became fully amortized in November 2023.

Acquisition Expenses

Acquisition expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were approximately $0.4 million and $0.2
million, respectively. These acquisition expenses were incurred prior to acquisitions becoming probable in accordance with
our capitalization policy. The increase in acquisition expenses of approximately $0.2 million is related to increased
acquisition activity.

Equity in earnings (losses) from investments in JV Properties

Losses from our equity method investments in the JV Properties for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were
approximately $1.4 million and $1.6 million, respectively. Losses from our equity method investments in the JV Properties
consists of our allocation of earnings and losses from our unconsolidated joint ventures. The decrease in losses from our
equity method investments in JV Properties is due to improved operational results at the JV properties, as compared to the
prior year.

Equity in earnings (losses) from investments in Managed REITs

Losses from our equity method investments in the Managed REITs for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
were approximately $1.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively. Losses from our equity method investments in Managed
REITs consists primarily of our allocation of earnings and losses from our investments in SST VI and SSGT IlI.

Other, Net

Other, net for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was approximately $1.3 million and $0.2 million of
expense, respectively. Other, net consists primarily of certain state tax expenses, foreign currency fluctuations, changes in
value related to our foreign currency and interest rate hedges not designated for hedge accounting, and other miscellaneous
items. The unfavorable variance of approximately $1.1 million is primarily due to unfavorable fair value adjustments
associated with our SOFR interest rate hedges not designated for hedge accounting during the year ended December 31,
2024, offset by a gain on foreign currency hedges net of foreign currency fluctuations.

Interest Income

Interest income for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was approximately $3.2 million and $3.4 million,
respectively. Interest income includes interest income on loans to the Managed REITS, accretion of financing fee revenues
associated with such loans, and interest earned on cash held at financial institutions. We expect interest income from the
Managed REITs to fluctuate commensurate with their borrowings, as well as changes to benchmark interest rates on such
borrowings.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was approximately $72.3 million and $61.8 million,
respectively. Interest expense includes interest expense on our debt, accretion of fair market value adjustments of our debt,
amortization of debt issuance costs, and the impact of our interest rate derivatives designated for hedge accounting. The
increase of approximately $10.5 million as compared to the same period in the prior year is primarily attributable to increased
borrowings, increases to our net effective interest rates on our variable rate debt, as well as increased amortization of debt
issuance costs of approximately $1.4 million primarily due to increased debt issuance costs associated with the Credit
Facility. The increase in net effective interest rates as compared to the same period in the prior year is primarily attributable
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to two previously beneficial interest rate hedges which capped SOFR at 1.75% and 2.0% for $125 million of our debt, each,
which expired on June 30, 2023 and June 28, 2024, respectively. We expect interest expense to fluctuate in future periods
commensurate with our future debt levels and fluctuations in net effective interest rates.

Loss on Debt Extinguishment

Loss on debt extinguishment for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was approximately $0.5 million, and
none, respectively. Loss on debt extinguishment for the year ended December 31, 2024 was related to certain unamortized
debt issuance costs associated with our Former Credit Facility which were expensed in connection with the execution of the
new Credit Facility. Please see Note 5 — Debt, of the notes to consolidated financial statements contained in this report for
additional information.

Income Tax (Expense) Benefit

Income tax for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was approximately $1.5 million of expense, and $2.6
million of benefit, respectively. Income tax consists primarily of state, federal, and Canadian income tax. For the year ended
December 31, 2023, we recorded an income tax benefit due to the release of valuation allowances on certain deferred tax
assets related to our non-capital losses at some of our Canadian properties, resulting in a net income tax benefit for such
period. We expect our income tax expense to increase in future periods primarily related to our operations in Canada.

Same-Store Facility Results — Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

The following table sets forth operating data for our same-store facilities (stabilized and comparable properties that have
been included in the consolidated results of operations since January 1, 2023, excluding five other properties) for the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. We consider the following data to be meaningful as this allows for the comparison of
results without the effects of acquisitions, dispositions, development activity, properties impacted by casualty events or lease
up properties (in thousands unless otherwise noted).

Same-Store Facilities Non Same-Store Facilities Total
% % %

2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change
Revenue ® $ 202,523 $ 201,728 04% $ 8,156 $ 5,809 N/M $ 210679 $ 207,537 1.5%
Property
operating
expenses @ $ 65,301 62,115 51% $ 4,399 2,899 N/M 69,700 65,014 7.2%
Net
operating
income $ 137,222 % 139,613 1.7% $ 3,757 % 2,910 N/M $ 140979 $ 142,523 -1.1%
Number of
facilities 148 148 14 6 162 154
Rentable
square
feet © 11,429,100 11,404,485 1,187,800 486,700 12,616,900 11,891,185
Average
physical
occupancy
@ 92.2% 92.9% -0.7% 82.9% N/M N/M 91.8% 92.1% -0.3%
Annualized
rent per
occupied
square foot
® $ 2002 $ 19.83 1.0% $ 16.32 N/M N/M $ 1985 $ 19.77 0.4%

N/M Not meaningful

@ Revenue includes rental income, certain ancillary revenue, administrative and late fees, and excludes Tenant Protection
Program revenue.

@ Property operating expenses excludes Tenant Protection Program related expense. Please see the reconciliation of net
operating income to net income (loss) below for the full detail of adjustments to reconcile net operating income to net
income (loss).
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Of the total rentable square feet, parking represented approximately 1,017,000 square feet as of December 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively. On a same-store basis, for the same periods, parking represented approximately 954,000 square
feet. Amount not in thousands.

Determined by dividing the sum of the month-end occupied square feet for the applicable group of facilities for each
applicable period by the sum of their month-end rentable square feet for the period. Properties are included in the
respective calculations in their first full month of operations, as appropriate. In the event a property is disposed of, or
becomes completely inoperable during the period, such property is excluded from the respective calculation in the first
full month of non-operation.

Determined by dividing the aggregate realized rental income for each applicable period by the aggregate of the month-
end occupied square feet for the period. Properties are included in the respective calculations in their first full month of
operations, as appropriate. In the event a property is disposed of, or becomes completely inoperable during the period,
such property is excluded from the respective calculation in the first full month of non-operation. We have excluded
the realized rental revenue and occupied square feet related to parking herein for the purpose of calculating annualized
rent per occupied square foot. Amount not in thousands.

Our same-store revenue increased by approximately $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to

the year ended December 31, 2023 due to higher annualized rent per occupied square foot, partially offset by the impact of
decreased occupancy. The increase in property operating expenses is primarily attributable to increased property insurance
costs, property taxes, payroll costs, repairs and maintenance expenses, and advertising expenses.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net income (loss) as presented on our consolidated statements of

operations to net operating income, as stated above, for the periods indicated (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Net income $ (5,887) $ 11,647
Adjusted to exclude:
Tenant Protection Program revenue @ (8,296) (7,784)
Tenant Protection Program related expense 983 348
Managed REIT Platform revenue (11,383) (11,906)
Managed REIT Platform expenses 3,982 3,365
General and administrative 29,948 27,452
Depreciation 55,175 53,636
Intangible amortization expense 935 6,594
Acquisition expenses 413 193
(Earnings) losses from our equity method
investments in JV Properties 1,380 1,625
(Earnings) losses from our equity method
investments in Managed REITs 1,414 1,273
Other, net 1,282 231
Interest income (3,247) (3,360)
Interest expense 72,325 61,805
Loss on debt extinguishment 471 —
Income tax expense (benefit) 1,484 (2,596)
Total net operating income $ 140,979 $ 142,523

@ Approximately $7.8 million and $7.4 million of Tenant Protection Program revenue was earned at same store
facilities during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, with the remaining approximately $0.5
million and $0.3 million earned at non same-store facilities during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

56



Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The results of operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022 were
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 which was filed with the SEC on March
18, 2024.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Funds from Operations

Funds from operations (“FFQO”) is a non-GAAP financial metric promulgated by the National Association of Real
Estate Investment Trusts (NAREIT), that we believe is an appropriate supplemental measure to reflect our operating
performance.

We define FFO, consistent with the standards established by the White Paper on FFO approved by the board of
governors of NAREIT, or the White Paper. The White Paper defines FFO as net income (loss) computed in accordance with
GAAP, excluding gains or losses from sales of property and real estate related asset impairment write downs, plus
depreciation and amortization, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. Additionally, gains
and losses from change in control are excluded from the determination of FFO. Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships
and joint ventures are calculated to reflect FFO on the same basis. Our FFO calculation complies with NAREIT’s policy
described above.

FFO, as Adjusted

We use FFO, as adjusted, as an additional non-GAAP financial measure to evaluate our operating performance. FFO,
as adjusted, provides investors with supplemental performance information that is consistent with the performance models
and analysis used by management. In addition, FFO, as adjusted, is a measure used among our peer group, which includes
publicly traded REITs. Further, we believe FFO, as adjusted, is useful in comparing the sustainability of our operating
performance with the sustainability of the operating performance of other real estate companies.

In determining FFO, as adjusted, we make further adjustments to the NAREIT computation of FFO to exclude the
effects of non-real estate related asset impairments and intangible amortization, acquisition related costs, other write-offs
incurred in connection with acquisitions, contingent earnout expenses, accretion of fair value of debt adjustments,
amortization of debt issuance costs, gains or losses from extinguishment of debt, adjustments of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, realized and unrealized gains/losses on foreign exchange transactions, gains/losses on foreign exchange and
interest rate derivatives not designated for hedge accounting, and other select non-recurring income or expense items which
we believe are not indicative of our overall long-term operating performance. We exclude these items from GAAP net
income (loss) to arrive at FFO, as adjusted, as they are not the primary drivers in our decision-making process and excluding
these items provides investors a view of our continuing operating portfolio performance over time, which in any respective
period may experience fluctuations in such acquisition, merger or other similar activities that are not of a long-term operating
performance nature. FFO, as adjusted, also reflects adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and jointly owned
investments. We use FFO, as adjusted, as one measure of our operating performance when we formulate corporate goals and
evaluate the effectiveness of our strategies.

Presentation of FFO and FFO, as adjusted, is intended to provide useful information to investors as they compare the
operating performance of different REITs. However, not all REITs calculate FFO and FFO, as adjusted, the same way, so
comparisons with other REITs may not be meaningful. Furthermore, FFO and FFO, as adjusted, are not necessarily
indicative of cash flow available to fund cash needs and should not be considered as an alternative to net income (loss) as an
indication of our performance, as an alternative to cash flows from operations, as an indication of our liquidity or indicative
of funds available to fund our cash needs including our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. FFO and FFO, as
adjusted, should be reviewed in conjunction with other measurements as an indication of our performance.

The following is a reconciliation of net income (loss) (attributable to common stockholders), which is the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measure, to FFO and FFO, as adjusted (attributable to common stockholders), and FFO and
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FFO, as adjusted (attributable to common stockholders and OP unit holders) for each of the periods presented below (in
thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Net income (loss) (attributable to
common stockholders) $ (18,379) $ (2,746) $ 6,322
Add:
Depreciation of real estate 53,975 52,620 48,400
Amortization of real estate related intangible assets 715 6,302 14,628
Depreciation and amortization of real estate and
intangible assets from unconsolidated entities 2,615 2,375 1,535
Deduct:
Gain on equity interests upon acquisition @ — — (16,101)
Adjustment for noncontrolling interests(® (6,892) (7,165) (5,279)
FFO (attributable to common stockholders) 32,034 51,386 49,505
Other Adjustments:
Intangible amortization expense - contracts ) 220 292 573
Acquisition expenses® 413 193 888
Acquisition expenses and foreign currency
(gains) losses, net from unconsolidated entities 222 69 149
Casualty loss due to hurricane® 500 — 661
Contingent earnout adjustment(®) — — 1,514
Write-off of equity interest and preexisting
relationships upon acquisition of control — — 2,050
Accretion of fair market value of secured debt 120 13 (36)
Net loss on extinguishment of debt(" 471 — 2,393
Foreign currency and interest rate derivative
(gains) losses, net® 577 (178) 75
Offering related expenses® 330 792 1,803
Adjustment of deferred tax assets and liabilities®) 845 (3,301) (1,073)
Sponsor funding reduction 19 844 34 —
Amortization of debt issuance costs® 4,115 2,728 2,594
Adjustment for noncontrolling interests
in our Operating Partnership (1,042) (73) (1,306)
FFO, as adjusted (attributable to common stockholders) () $ 39,649 $ 51,955 $ 59,790
FFO (attributable to common stockholders) $ 32,034 $ 51,386 $ 49,505
Net income (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling
interests in our Operating Partnership (773) 1,314 2,536
Adjustment for noncontrolling interests
in our Operating Partnership® 6,892 7,165 5,279
FFO (attributable to common stockholders and
OP unit holders) 3$ 38,153 $ 59,865 $ 57,320
FFO, as adjusted (attributable to common stockholders) $ 39,649 $ 51,955 $ 59,790
Net income (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling
interests in our Operating Partnership (773) 1,314 2,536
Adjustment for noncontrolling interests in
our Operating Partnership® 7,934 7,238 6,585
FFO, as adjusted (attributable to common
stockholders and OP unit holders) ) $ 46,810 $ 60,507 $ 68,911

This gain relates to the mark up in fair value of our preexisting equity interests in SSGT Il as a result of our acquisition
of control in the SSGT Il Merger.

This represents the portion of the above stated adjustments in the calculations of FFO and FFO, as adjusted, that are
attributable to our noncontrolling interests in our Operating Partnership.
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@ These items represent the amortization, accretion, or adjustment of intangible assets, debt issuance costs, or deferred
tax assets and liabilities.

@ This represents acquisition expenses associated with investments in real estate that were incurred prior to the
acquisitions becoming probable and therefore were not capitalized in accordance with our capitalization policy.

®  Such casualty losses relate to Hurricane lan, which occurred in September 2022, and Hurricane Helene, which occurred
in September 2024.

®  The contingent earnout adjustment represents the adjustment to the fair value during the period of the Class A-2 Units
issued in connection with the Self Administration Transaction.

(M The net loss associated with the extinguishment of debt includes prepayment penalties, defeasance costs, the write-off
of unamortized deferred financing fees, and other fees incurred.

®  This represents the mark-to-market adjustment for our derivative instruments not designated for hedge accounting and
the ineffective portion of the change in fair value of derivatives recognized in earnings, as well as changes in foreign
currency related to our foreign equity investments not classified as long term.

) Such costs relate to our filing of a registration statement on Form S-11 and our pursuit of a potential offering of our
common stock. As this item is non-recurring and not a primary driver in our decision-making process, FFO is adjusted
for its effect to arrive at FFO, as adjusted, as a means of determining a comparable sustainable operating performance
metric.

19 Ppursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement, SmartStop funds certain costs of SST VI's share sales, and in return
receives Series C Units in Strategic Storage Operating Partnership VI, L.P. The excess of the funding over the value of
the Series C Units received is accounted for as a reduction of Managed REIT Platform revenues from SST VI over the
remaining estimated term of the management contracts with SST VI. See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies to the Consolidated Financial Statements. FFO is adjusted for its effect to arrive at FFO, as adjusted, as a
means of determining a comparable sustainable operating performance metric.

1 Qur calculation of FFO, as adjusted was modified beginning in the period ended March 31, 2024, to add back the
amortization of debt issuance costs. Accordingly, the prior periods have been presented here based on the current
calculation, which differs from what was previously reported for such periods. This modification was made to reflect
what management believes is a more appropriate calculation in light of recently completed debt refinancings as a
means of determining a comparable sustainable operating performance metric.

FFO, as adjusted declined compared to the same period in the prior year primarily as a result of increased interest
expense and to a lesser extent increased general and administrative expenses.

Cash Flows

A comparison of cash flows for operating, investing and financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023 Change
Net cash flow provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 64,027 $ 73,191 $ (9,164)
Investing activities $ (180,938) $ 262 $ (181,200)
Financing activities $ 94816 $ (66,099) $ 160,915

Cash flows provided by operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were approximately
$64.0 million and $73.2 million, respectively, a decrease of approximately $9.2 million. The decrease in cash provided by our
operating activities is primarily the result of a decrease of approximately $11.3 million in net income when excluding the
impact of non-cash items, largely due to increased interest expense in the current year, net of favorable changes in working
capital of approximately $2.2 million.

Cash flows used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 were approximately $180.9 million,

whereas cash flows provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 were approximately $0.3 million,
an increase in the use of cash of approximately $181.2 million. The increase in the use of cash for investing activities
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primarily relates to an increase of approximately $130.7 million of real estate acquisitions, and a net increase in net cash used
to provide funding to the Managed REITs of approximately $47.5 million.

Cash flows provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 were approximately $94.8 million,
whereas cash flows used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 were approximately $66.1 million, a
change of approximately $160.9 million. The change in financing activities is primarily attributable to the increase in cash
inflows from net debt borrowings, net of paydowns of approximately $172.9 million, slightly offset by a net increase in cash
used to satisfy redemption requests of approximately $14.9 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Short-Term Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our liquidity needs consist primarily of our property operating expenses, general and administrative expenses,
Managed REIT Platform expenses, debt service payments, capital expenditures, property acquisitions, property developments
and improvements, investments in our Managed REITS, required payments pursuant to our Sponsor Funding Agreement, and
distributions to our Series A Convertible Preferred stockholder, limited partners in our Operating Partnership, and our
stockholders, as necessary to maintain our REIT qualification. We generally expect that we will meet our short-term liquidity
requirements from the combination of existing cash balances and net cash provided from property operations and the
Managed REIT Platform and further supported by our Credit Facility. Alternatively, we may issue additional secured or
unsecured financing from banks or other lenders, or we may enter into various other forms of financing.

In April 2022, we received our initial investment grade credit rating of BBB- from Kroll Bond Rating Agency, Inc
("Kroll™). In accordance with the Note Purchase Agreement, we intend to maintain a credit rating on an annual basis. This
rating was reaffirmed by Kroll in April 2024. Subsequent to December 31, 2024, Kroll placed the Company on a 90-day
rating watch downgrade.

Our Credit Facility contains a borrowing base requirement, which is impacted by treasury yields. Increases to treasury
yields have negatively impacted our borrowing base calculation and limited our ability to borrow pursuant to the Credit
Facility. Volatility in the debt and equity markets and continued and/or further impact of rising treasury yields, interest rates,
inflation and other economic events will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain. Such events may have a
further impact on our current liquidity in the short-term. If such events were to occur in the short-term, we would expect to
take certain steps, including but not limited to refinancing certain of our current loans, and adding additional properties onto
our Credit Facility, each of which we expect would increase our borrowing availability. Given the recent impact of rising
treasury rates and the commensurate related reduction in the borrowing capacity on our Credit Facility, we defeased our
KeyBank Florida CMBS Loan in February of 2025, and added the previously encumbered properties to our Credit Facility to
assist in mitigating the negative impact of rising treasury rates on our borrowing capacity. We have additional loans that
could also be refinanced or defeased to add additional capacity to our Credit Facility in the near future, should we need to
further strengthen our borrowing capacity.

Moreover, continued uncertainty or deterioration in the debt and equity markets, or continued increases in treasury
yields and interest rates, over an extended period of time, could also potentially impact our liquidity over the long-term. If
such events were to occur in the long-term, we would expect to take other additional steps, including but not limited to other
sources of capital such as proceeds from secured or unsecured financings from banks or other lenders, issuance of equity
instruments, and additional public or private offerings. The information in this section should be read in conjunction with
Note 5 — Debt, and Note 12 — Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
contained within this report.

Distribution Policy and Distributions
Preferred Stock Dividends

The shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock rank senior to all other shares of our capital stock, including our
common stock, with respect to rights to receive dividends and to participate in distributions or payments upon any voluntary
or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company. Dividends payable on each share of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock accrue daily but are payable quarterly in arrears. Since the initial closing, such dividends accrued
at a rate equal to 6.25% per annum until October 29, 2024, and accrued at a rate of 7.0% per annum thereafter. The Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock was not redeemed on or prior to the fifth anniversary date of the Initial Closing (October 29,
2024). As such, the dividend rate will continue to increase at an additional 0.75% per annum each year thereafter to a
maximum of 9.0% per annum until the tenth anniversary of the Initial Closing, at which time the dividend rate shall increase
0.75% per annum each year thereafter until the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is either converted or repurchased in
full.
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Common Stock Distributions

On January 31, 2025, our board of directors declared a distribution rate for the month of February 2025 of
approximately $0.0460 per share on the outstanding shares of common stock payable to Class A and Class T stockholders of
record of such shares as shown on our books at the close of business on February 28, 2025. Such distributions payable to
each stockholder of record will be paid the following month.

On February 26, 2025, our board of directors declared a distribution rate for the month of March 2025 of
approximately $0.0510 per share on the outstanding shares of common stock payable to Class A and Class T stockholders of
record of such shares as shown on our books at the close of business on March 31, 2025. Such distributions payable to each
stockholder of record will be paid the following month.

Background and History of Common Stock Distributions

Since substantially all of our operations are performed indirectly through our Operating Partnership, our ability to pay
distributions depends in large part on our Operating Partnership’s ability to pay distributions to its partners, including to us.
In the event we do not have enough cash from operations to fund cash distributions, we may borrow, issue additional
securities or sell assets in order to fund the distributions. The terms of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock place certain
restrictions on our ability to pay distributions to our common stockholders. In general, we are prohibited from paying
distributions to our common stockholders other than regular cash dividends on a basis consistent with past practice and
dividends payable in shares of common stock in connection with an initial listing of such shares. Accordingly, we are
presently only permitted to pay cash distributions, which may be reinvested in stock pursuant to our DRP, unless otherwise
approved by the holder of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. Absent the foregoing restrictions, our charter allows our
board of directors to authorize payments to stockholders in cash or other assets of the Company or in stock, including in stock
of one class payable to holders of stock of another class.

We may not be able to pay distributions from our cash flows from operations, in which case distributions may be paid
in part from debt or other financing sources.

Distributions are paid to our common stockholders based on the record date selected by our board of directors. Such
distributions are based on monthly declaration. We expect to continue to regularly pay distributions unless our results of
operations, our general financial condition, general economic conditions, or other factors inhibit us from doing so.
Distributions are authorized at the discretion of our board of directors, which are directed, in substantial part, by its obligation
to cause us to comply with the REIT requirements of the Code. Absent the restrictions noted above, our board of directors
may increase, decrease or eliminate the distribution rate that is being paid on our common stock at any time. Distributions are
made on all classes of our common stock at the same time. The funds that are available for distribution may be affected by a
number of factors, including the following:

° our operating and interest expenses;

° our ability to keep our properties occupied,;

o our ability to maintain or increase rental rates;

° increases to our property operating expenses;

° construction defects or capital improvements;

° capital expenditures and reserves for such expenditures;
o the issuance of additional shares;

° financings and refinancings; and

° dividends with respect to the outstanding shares of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.
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The following shows our distributions paid and the sources of such distributions for the respective periods presented (in
thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Distributions paid in cash — common
stockholders $ 37,377 $ 40,598
Distributions paid in cash —
noncontrolling interests 9,072 8,861
Distributions paid in cash — preferred
stockholders 12,509 12,500
Distributions reinvested 20,667 17,636
Total distributions $ 79,625 $ 79,595
Source of distributions
Cash flows provided by operations $ 64,027 80.4% $ 73,191 92.0%
Offering proceeds from distribution
reinvestment plan 15,598 19.6% 6,404 8.0%
Total sources $ 79,625 100% $ 79,595 100%

From our inception through December 31, 2024, we paid cumulative distributions of approximately $479.8 million, of
which approximately $376.7 million were paid to common stockholders, as compared to cumulative FFO (attributable to
common stockholders) of approximately $151.9 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we paid distributions of approximately $79.6 million, of which approximately
$58.0 million was paid to common stockholders, as compared to FFO (attributable to common stockholders) of
approximately $32.0 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we paid distributions of approximately $79.6 million, of which approximately
$58.2 million was paid to common stockholders, as compared to FFO (attributable to common stockholders) of
approximately $51.4 million.

The payment of distributions from sources other than FFO may reduce the amount of proceeds available for investment
and operations or cause us to incur additional interest expense as a result of borrowed funds.

We must distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our taxable income each year in order to meet the requirements
for being treated as a REIT under the Code. Our directors may authorize distributions in excess of this percentage as they
deem appropriate. Because we may receive income from interest or rents at various times during our fiscal year, distributions
may not reflect our income earned in that particular distribution period, but may be made in anticipation of cash flow that we
expect to receive during a later period and may be made in advance of actual receipt of funds in an attempt to make
distributions relatively uniform. To allow for such differences in timing between the receipt of income and the payment of
expenses, and the effect of required debt payments, among other things, we could be required to borrow funds from third
parties on a short-term basis, issue new securities, or sell assets to meet the distribution requirements that are necessary to
achieve the tax benefits associated with qualifying as a REIT. We are not prohibited from undertaking such activities by our
charter, bylaws or investment policies, and we may use an unlimited amount from any source to pay our distributions. These
methods of obtaining funding could affect future distributions by increasing operating costs and decreasing available cash,
which could reduce the value of our stockholders’ investment in our shares. In addition, such distributions may constitute a
return of investors’ capital.

We may not be able to pay distributions from our cash flows from operations, in which case distributions may be paid
in part from available funds or from debt financing and pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan. The payment of
distributions from sources other than cash flows from operations may reduce the amount of proceeds available for investment
and operations or cause us to incur additional interest expense as a result of borrowed funds.
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Over the long-term, we expect that a greater percentage of our distributions will be paid from cash flows from
operations. However, our operating performance cannot be accurately predicted and may deteriorate in the future due to
numerous factors, including our ability to raise and invest capital at favorable yields, the financial performance of our
investments in the current real estate and financial environment and the types and mix of investments in our portfolio. As a
result, future distributions declared and paid may exceed cash flow from operations.

Indebtedness

As of December 31, 2024, our net debt was approximately $1,317 million, which included approximately $556 million
in fixed rate debt, and $766 million in variable rate debt, less approximately $3.4 million in net debt issuance costs and
approximately $1.6 million in net debt discount. See Note 5 — Debt of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
more information about our indebtedness.

Additionally, we are party to a $70 million CAD term loan (the “RBC JV Term Loan”) with Royal Bank of Canada
(“RBC”) pursuant to which five of our joint venture subsidiaries that each own 50% of a Joint VVenture property serve as
borrowers (the “RBC Borrowers”). We are also party to a $46.0 million CAD term loan (the “RBC JV Term Loan I1”) with
RBC pursuant to which three of our joint venture subsidiaries that each own 50% of a Canadian JV Property serve as
borrowers (the “RBC Borrowers I1"”). We and SmartCentres each serve as a full recourse guarantor with respect to 50% of the
secured obligations under the RBC JV Term Loan and RBC JV Term Loan II.

We are also party to a master mortgage commitment agreement (the "SmartCentres Financing™) with SmartCentres
Storage Finance LP (the "SmartCentres Lender"). The SmartCentres Lender is an affiliate of SmartCentres Real Estate
Investment Trust, an unaffiliated third party ("SmartCentres"), that owns the other 50% of our unconsolidated real estate joint
ventures located in the Greater Toronto Area of Canada. The proceeds of the SmartCentres Financing have been and will be
used to finance the development and construction of the SmartCentres joint venture properties. We serve as a full recourse
guarantor with respect to 50% of the SmartCentres Financings.

As of December 31, 2024, approximately $70.0 million CAD or approximately $48.7 million in USD, was outstanding
on the RBC JV Term Loan, approximately $46.0 million CAD or approximately $32.0 million in USD, was outstanding on
the RBC JV Term Loan Il, and approximately $18.7 million CAD or approximately $13.0 million in USD was outstanding
on the SmartCentres Financing. See Note 4 — Investments in Unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures, of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this report for additional information.

Long-Term Liquidity and Capital Resources

On a long-term basis, our principal demands for funds will be for our property operating expenses, general and
administrative expenses, Managed REIT Platform expenses, debt service payments, capital expenditures, property
acquisitions, investments in our Managed REITs, required payments pursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement, and
distributions to our Series A Convertible Preferred stockholder, limited partners in our Operating Partnership, and our
stockholders, as necessary to maintain our REIT qualification.

Long-term potential future sources of capital include proceeds from secured or unsecured financings from banks or
other lenders, issuance of equity instruments, undistributed funds from operations, and additional public or private offerings.
To the extent we are not able to secure requisite financing in the form of a credit facility or other debt, we will be dependent
upon proceeds from the issuance of equity securities and cash flows from operating activities in order to meet our long-term
liquidity requirements and to fund our distributions.

Our material cash requirements from contractual and other obligations primarily relate to our debt obligations. The
expected timing of those outstanding principal payments are shown in the table below. The information in this section should
be read in conjunction with Note 5 — Debt, and Note 12 — Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements contained within this report.
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The following table presents the future principal payments required on outstanding debt as of December 31, 2024 (in
thousands):

2025 $ 104,084
2026 94,189
2027 755,845
2028 73,756
2029 104,000
2030 and thereafter 190,500
Total payments $ 1,322,374

As of December 31, 2024, pursuant to various contractual relationships, we are required to make other non-cancellable
payments in the amounts of approximately $13.1 million, $4.2 million, and $3.9 million during the years ended December 31,
2025, 2026, and 2027, respectively.

Through December 31, 2024, we have incurred approximately $9.3 million in connection with the Sponsor Funding
Agreement, representing approximately 1.0 million Series C Units issued by the SST VI operating partnership. During the
year ended December 31, 2024 we incurred approximately $2.4 million, of which approximately $0.2 million was accrued as
a payable pursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement.

As of December 31, 2024, the maximum remaining commitment of SRA pursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement
was approximately $61.2 million, assuming SST VI were to sell the maximum remaining shares available under its current
offering of approximately 87.4 million.

See Note 10 — Related Party Transactions of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information
about our obligations under these agreements.

For cash requirements related to potential acquisitions currently under contract, please see Note 3 — Real Estate
Facilities and Note 4 — Investments in Unconsolidated Real Estate VVentures of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Subsequent Events
Please see Note 14 — Subsequent Events, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this report.

Seasonality

We believe that we will experience minor seasonal fluctuations in the occupancy levels of our facilities, which we
believe will be slightly higher over the summer months due to increased moving activity.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk includes risks that arise from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices,
equity prices and other market changes that affect market sensitive instruments. In pursuing our business plan, we expect that
the primary market risk to which we will be exposed is interest rate risk and to a lesser extent, foreign currency risk. We may
be exposed to the effects of interest rate changes primarily as a result of borrowings used to maintain liquidity and fund
acquisition, expansion, and financing of our real estate investment portfolio and operations. Our interest rate risk
management objectives will be to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower overall
borrowing costs. To achieve our objectives, we may borrow at fixed rates or variable rates. We may also enter into derivative
financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and caps in order to mitigate our interest rate risk on a related financial
instrument. We may also enter into derivative financial instruments such as foreign currency forward derivatives in order to
mitigate foreign currency risks. We will not enter into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes.
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As of December 31, 2024, our net debt was approximately $1,317 million, which included approximately $556 million
in fixed rate debt, and $766 million in variable rate debt, less approximately $3.4 million in net debt issuance costs and
approximately $1.6 million in net debt discount.

As of December 31, 2023, our net debt was approximately $1,087 million, which included approximately $523 million
in fixed rate debt, and $569 million in variable rate debt, less approximately $0.1 million in debt discount, and approximately
$4.3 million in net debt issuance costs. Our debt instruments were entered into for other than trading purposes.

Changes in interest rates have different impacts on the fixed and variable debt. A change in interest rates on fixed rate
debt impacts its fair value but has no impact on interest incurred or cash flows. A change in interest rates on variable debt
could impact the interest incurred and cash flows and its fair value. If the underlying rate of the related index on our variable
rate debt were to increase by 100 basis points, the increase in interest, net of our interest rate derivatives, would decrease
future earnings and cash flows by approximately $5.1 million annually.

Interest rate risk amounts were determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates on our financial
instruments. These analyses do not consider the effect of any change in overall economic activity that could occur. Further, in
the event of a change of that magnitude, we may take actions to further mitigate our exposure to the change. However, due to
the uncertainty of the specific actions that would be taken and their possible effects, these analyses assume no changes in our
financial structure.

The following table summarizes annual debt maturities and average interest rates on our outstanding debt as of
December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter Total

Fixed

rate

debt W@ $ 2979 $ 93205 $ 91,479 $ 73,756  $ 104,000 $ 190,500 $ 555,919
Average

interest

rate®@) 4.95% 5.03% 5.20% 5.22% 4.92% 5.26%

Variable

rate

debt W@ $ 101,105 $ 984 $ 664,366 $ — 3 — % — 3 766,455
Average

interest

rate@ 6.50% 6.39% 6.38% N/A N/A N/A

@ The interest rates for fixed rate debt was calculated based upon the contractual rate and the interest rates on variable
rate debt was calculated based on the rate in effect on December 31, 2024, excluding the impact of interest rate
derivatives. Debt denominated in a foreign currency has been converted based on the rate in effect as of December 31,
2024,

@ Subsequent to December 31, 2024, on February 4, 2025 we completed a series of transactions and borrowed
approximately $51.0 million on our variable rate Credit Facility, which matures in 2027 in order to defease a fixed rate
loan which would otherwise have matured in 2027, with a balance of approximately $49.9 million as of December 31,
2024,

Currently, our only foreign exchange rate risk comes from our Canadian properties and the Canadian Dollar (“CAD”).
Our existing foreign currency hedges serve to mitigate some of our foreign currency exposure of our net CAD denominated
investments; however, we generate all of our revenues and expend essentially all of our operating expenses and third party
CAD-denominated debt service costs related to our Canadian Properties in CAD. As a result of fluctuations in currency
exchange, our cash flows and results of operations could be affected.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements and supplementary data filed as part of this report are set forth below beginning on page F-1
of this report.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based
upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report to ensure that information required to be disclosed
in the reports we file and submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported as and when
required. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file and submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for us. Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, evaluated, as of December 31, 2024, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
using the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024.

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended
December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION

For the year ended December 31, 2024, there was no information required to be disclosed in a report on Form 8-K
which was not disclosed in a report on Form 8-K.

Insider Trading Arrangements

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the
Exchange Act) adopted, terminated, or modified any contract, instruction or written plan for the purchase or sale of our
securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) or any non-Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement (as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K).

ITEMO9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not Applicable.
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PART I11
(dollar amounts in this Part I11 are not in thousands unless otherwise stated)
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors
General

We operate under the direction of our board of directors. Our board of directors is responsible for the management and
control of our affairs. Our board of directors consists of H. Michael Schwartz, our Founder, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of our board of directors, and four independent directors, Harold “Skip” Perry (our lead independent director),
Timothy S. Morris, David J. Mueller and Paula Mathews, each of whom has been nominated by our board of directors for re-
election to serve until our 2026 annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her successor is elected and qualifies. For
more detailed information on our directors, see the section titled “Executive Officers and Directors” below. Our board of
directors has formed the following three committees: the Audit Committee, the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee, and the Compensation Committee.

Leadership Structure

We do not currently have a policy to separate the roles of CEO and Chairman of the Board, or Chairman. Rather, our
board of directors makes this determination based on relevant facts and circumstances in order to establish a structure that
meets our needs at the given time, including, but not limited to, our current size, the size of our board of directors, the
participation of our independent directors in the oversight of our operations and strategy, and our position and direction.
However, our board of directors established the position of lead independent director to provide for an independent
leadership role on the board of directors when the roles of CEO and Chairman are combined. Our lead independent director is
Harold "Skip" Perry, who was appointed as such in April 2022. The role of the lead independent director includes, among
other things:

(i) presiding over executive sessions of the independent directors;

(ii) calling meetings of the independent directors as appropriate and setting the agenda;
(i) acting as liaison between the independent directors and the Chairman and CEO;
(iv) leading the evaluation of our Chairman and CEO; and

(v) responding to and communicating with stockholders on inquiries when appropriate, following consultation with the
Chairman and CEO.

Risk Management Role

As part of its oversight role, our board of directors actively supervises the members of our management that are directly
responsible for our day-to-day risk management. The board’s risk management role has no impact on its leadership structure.
The Audit Committee of our board of directors, which consists of our three independent directors, annually reviews with
management our policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management. Further, our board of directors delegated to
the Audit Committee oversight of cybersecurity and other information technology risks. The Audit Committee receives
quarterly reports from management on our cybersecurity risks. In addition, management updates the Audit Committee as
necessary regarding any significant cybersecurity incidents.

Code of Ethics

Our board of directors adopted an amended Code of Ethics and Business Conduct on September 16, 2019 (the “Code of
Ethics™), which contains general guidelines applicable to our executive officers, including our principal executive officer,
principal financial officer and principal accounting officer, our directors and our employees. We adopted our Code of Ethics
with the purpose of promoting the following: (1) honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or
apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships; (2) full, fair, accurate, timely and
understandable disclosure in reports and documents that we file with or submit to the SEC and in other public
communications made by us; (3) compliance with applicable laws and governmental rules and regulations; (4) the prompt
internal reporting of violations of the Code of Ethics to our Code of Ethics Compliance Officer; and (5) accountability for
adherence to the Code of Ethics. A copy of the Code of Ethics is available on our website www.smartstopselfstorage.com
under About Us—Investor Relations—Governance. We do not have a hedging policy for our officers, employees and
directors at this time.
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Insider Trading Policy

We have adopted an insider trading policy governing the purchase, sale, and/or other dispositions of our securities by
our directors, officers, employees, agents, and representatives that we believe is reasonably designed to promote compliance
with insider trading laws, rules and regulations. A copy of our insider trading policy is filed as Exhibit 19 to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K

Audit Committee

Our board of directors adopted an amended charter for the Audit Committee on June 25, 2024 (the “Audit Committee
Charter”). A copy of the Audit Committee’s charter is available on our website www.smartstopselfstorage.com under About
Us—Investor Relations—Governance. The Audit Committee assists our board of directors by: (1) selecting an independent
registered public accounting firm to audit our annual financial statements; (2) reviewing with the independent registered
public accounting firm the plans and results of the audit engagement; (3) approving the audit and non-audit services provided
by the independent registered public accounting firm; (4) reviewing the independence of the independent registered public
accounting firm; and (5) considering the range of audit and non-audit fees and reviewing the adequacy of our internal
accounting controls. The Audit Committee fulfills these responsibilities primarily by carrying out the activities enumerated in
the Audit Committee Charter and in accordance with current laws, rules and regulations.

The members of the Audit Committee are our three independent directors, Messrs. Mueller, Morris and Perry, with
Mr. Mueller currently serving as Chairman of the Audit Committee. Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Mueller
satisfies the requirements for an “Audit Committee financial expert” and has designated Mr. Mueller as the audit committee
financial expert in accordance with applicable SEC rules.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
General

Our board of directors adopted an amended charter for the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee on
June 26, 2020 (the “Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter”). A copy of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee Charter is available on our website www.smartstopselfstorage.com under About Us—Investor
Relations—Governance. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s primary focus is to assist our board of
directors in fulfilling its responsibilities with respect to director nominations, corporate governance, board of directors and
committee evaluations and conflict resolutions. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee assists our board of
directors in this regard by: (1) identifying individuals qualified to serve on our board of directors, consistent with criteria
approved by our board of directors, and recommending that our board of directors select a slate of director nominees for
election by our stockholders at the annual meeting of our stockholders; (2) developing and implementing the process
necessary to identify prospective members of our board of directors; (3) determining the advisability of retaining any search
firm or consultant to assist in the identification and evaluation of candidates for membership on our board of directors;
(4) overseeing an annual evaluation of our board of directors, each of the committees of our board of directors and
management; (5) developing and recommending to our board of directors a set of corporate governance principles and
policies; (6) periodically reviewing our corporate governance principles and policies and suggesting improvements thereto to
our board of directors; and (7) reviewing and approving all transactions between us and any other party that may give rise to
a conflict of interest in accordance with Maryland law, except where our charter or Maryland law would require the approval
of the board of directors. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee fulfills these responsibilities primarily by
carrying out the activities enumerated in the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter and in accordance
with current laws, rules, and regulations.

The members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are our three independent directors, Messrs.
Perry, Mueller and Morris, with Mr. Perry serving as Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

Corporate Governance

Pursuant to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter, the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee developed and recommended a set of formal, written guidelines for corporate governance, which were previously
adopted by our full board of directors and amended on June 26, 2020.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee also, from time to time, reviews the governance structures and

procedures of the Company and suggests improvements thereto to our full board of directors. Such improvements, if adopted
by the full board of directors, will be incorporated into the written guidelines.
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Periodic Evaluations

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee conducts an annual evaluation of its own performance and
oversees the annual evaluations of our directors, each of the other committees of our board of directors, and management.

Conflicts of Interest

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers and acts upon any conflicts of interest-related matter
to the extent permitted by Maryland law. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will evaluate such
transactions based upon standards set forth in our Code of Ethics, as well as applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Compensation Committee

Our board of directors adopted an amended charter for the Compensation Committee on June 26, 2020 (the
“Compensation Committee Charter”). A copy of the Compensation Committee Charter is available on our website
www.smartstopselfstorage.com under About Us—Investor Relations— Governance. The Compensation Committee’s
primary focus is to assist our board of directors in fulfilling its responsibilities with respect to officer and director
compensation. The Compensation Committee assists our board of directors in this regard when necessary by: (1) reviewing
and approving our corporate goals with respect to compensation of officers and directors; (2) recommending to our board of
directors compensation for all non-employee directors, including board of directors and committee retainers, meeting fees
and equity-based compensation; (3) administering and granting equity- based compensation to our employees; and (4) setting
the terms and conditions of such equity-based compensation in accordance with our 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
“Equity Incentive Plan”). The Compensation Committee fulfills these responsibilities in accordance with current laws, rules
and regulations.

The members of our Compensation Committee are Messrs. Morris, Mueller, and Perry, with Mr. Morris serving as
Chairman of the Compensation Committee.

Executive Officers and Directors

Included below is certain information regarding our current executive officers and directors. All of our directors,
including our four independent directors, have been nominated for re-election at the 2025 annual meeting of stockholders. All
of our executive officers serve at the pleasure of our board of directors.

Name Age Position(s)

H. Michael Schwartz 58  Chairman of the Board of Directors
and Chief Executive Officer

Wayne Johnson 67  President and Chief Investment Officer

Joe Robinson 51  Chief Operations Officer

James R. Barry 36  Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Michael O. Terjung 48  Chief Accounting Officer

Nicholas M. Look 42 General Counsel and Secretary

Paula Mathews 73 Independent Director

Timothy S. Morris 64  Independent Director

David J. Mueller 72 Independent Director

Harold “Skip” Perry 78  Independent Director

H. Michael Schwartz. Mr. Schwartz is the Chairman of our board of directors and our Chief Executive Officer.
Mr. Schwartz has been an officer and director since our initial formation in January 2013; he served as our Chief Executive
Officer from January 2013 to June 2019, our Executive Chairman from June 2019 to April 2021, and again as our Chief
Executive Officer starting in April 2021. Mr. Schwartz is also the Chief Executive Officer of Strategic Asset Management I,
LLC (f/k/a SmartStop Asset Management, LLC), our former sponsor (“SAM?), our former sponsor. He also serves as Chief
Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the board of directors of each of the following self storage REITs sponsored by
our subsidiary: Strategic Storage Growth Trust Il1, Inc., or SSGT Ill, and Strategic Storage Trust VI, Inc., or SST VI. He also
serves as the Chief Executive Officer and President of the sponsor, advisor and property manager entities for SSGT 111 and
SST VI. In addition, Mr. Schwartz serves as Chairman of the Board of Strategic Student & Senior Housing Trust, Inc., or
SSSHT, a public non-traded student and senior housing REIT sponsored by SAM. Previously, Mr. Schwartz served as Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the board of directors of each of Strategic Storage Growth Trust, Inc., or SSGT, and
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Strategic Storage Trust 1V, Inc., or SST 1V, each a public non-traded self storage REIT, as well as Chief Executive Officer,
President, and Chairman of the board of directors of Strategic Storage Growth Trust Il, Inc., or SSGT I, a private REIT. We
acquired each of SSGT, SST IV, and SSGT Il by way of a merger into subsidiaries of ours on January 24, 2019, March 17,
2021, and June 1, 2022, respectively. Mr. Schwartz also served as Chief Executive Officer, President, and Chairman of the
board of directors of SmartStop Self Storage, Inc., or SST I, from August 2007 until the merger of SST | with Extra Space
Storage, Inc., or Extra Space, on October 1, 2015. Since February 2008, Mr. Schwartz has also served as Chief Executive
Officer and President of Strategic Storage Holdings, LLC, or SSH, the sponsor of SST I. Prior to this time, Mr. Schwartz held
various roles in the real estate and financial services industry, which includes more than 30 years of real estate, securities and
corporate financial management experience. Mr. Schwartz holds a B.S. in Business Administration with an emphasis in
Finance from the University of Southern California.

We believe Mr. Schwartz’s active participation in the management of our operations and his experience in the self
storage industry supports his appointment to our Board.

Wayne Johnson. Mr. Johnson is our President and Chief Investment Officer. He has served as one of our executive
officers since our initial formation in January 2013. Since June 2015, he has served as our Chief Investment Officer, and
since June 2019 he has also served as our President. In addition, Mr. Johnson serves as the Chief Investment Officer of SSGT
I11 and SST VI, as well as President and Chief Investment Officer of the sponsor, advisor and property management entities
for SSGT Il and SST VI. Mr. Johnson also served in various roles at SSGT, SST 1V, and SSGT I, including most recently
as Chief Investment Officer until their respective mergers with us on January 24, 2019, March 17, 2021, and June 1, 2022,
respectively. Mr. Johnson served as Senior Vice President—Acquisitions for SST | from August 2007 until January 2015
when he was elected Chief Investment Officer until the merger of SST | with Extra Space on October 1, 2015. Mr. Johnson’s
prior experience involved all aspects of commercial development and leasing, including office, office warehouse, retail and
self storage facilities. Mr. Johnson served on the board and is the past President of the Texas Self Storage Association
(TSSA), which is the trade organization for self storage developers, owners, and management groups. Mr. Johnson entered
the commercial real estate business in 1979 after graduating from Southern Methodist University with a B.B.A. in Finance
and Real Estate.

Joe Robinson. Mr. Robinson is our Chief Operations Officer, a position he has held since October 2019. Mr. Robinson
also serves as Chief Operations Officer of the sponsor, advisors and property managers of our sponsored real estate programs.
Prior to joining SmartStop, Mr. Robinson served as Chief Marketing Officer and Executive Vice President of Simply Self
Storage Management LLC from April 2016 until September 2019. At Simply, Mr. Robinson led various functions including
all marketing, pricing, information technology, and training. From 2010 to 2016, Mr. Robinson served in several pricing and
marketing capacities at Extra Space. Most recently, he was Vice President, Marketing where he led revenue management,
data analytics, and the call center. Prior to that, Mr. Robinson served as Director of Revenue Management, where he led the
development of multiple industry first centralized pricing models for self storage. Mr. Robinson is a respected authority on
Revenue Management in the self storage industry. He has delivered multiple speaking engagements on pricing and has had
multiple articles distributed in several industry trade publications. Mr. Robinson holds a B.S. in Computer Science with a
Business Minor from Brigham Young University, and a Masters of Business Administration from Rice University.

James R. Barry. Mr. Barry is our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, positions he has held since June 2019.
Mr. Barry also serves as Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the sponsor, advisors and property managers of our
sponsored real estate programs. Mr. Barry served as our Senior Vice President — Finance from August 2018 to June 2019.
Prior to being our Senior Vice President — Finance, Mr. Barry served in various positions for SAM, including Senior Vice
President — Finance from August 2018 to July 2019 and Director of Finance from October 2015 to August 2018. Mr. Barry
was also a director on the board of directors of Strategic Storage Growth Trust I1, Inc. from March 2021 until its merger with
a subsidiary ours in June 2022. From 2012 to 2015, Mr. Barry held the title of Financial Analyst at SmartStop Self Storage
Inc., and was highly involved in the negotiations, calculations, and communications for the merger with Extra Space on
October 1, 2015. From 2009 to 2012, Mr. Barry served as a Corporate Accountant and Senior Financial Analyst at Thompson
National Properties, LLC, a sponsor of commercial real estate offerings. From 2007 to 2009, Mr. Barry worked in various
accounting functions at Grubb & Ellis Co. Mr. Barry holds a B.S. in Business Administration with an emphasis in Finance
from California State University, Fullerton, and a Masters of Business Administration with an emphasis in Finance from
Chapman University, where he graduated with honors.

Michael O. Terjung. Mr. Terjung is our Chief Accounting Officer, a position he has held since June 2019.

Mr. Terjung also serves as Chief Accounting Officer of the sponsor, advisors and property managers of our sponsored real
estate programs. From January 2017 until December 2019, Mr. Terjung served as the Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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for SSSHT. Mr. Terjung was also the Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of SSGT until that company merged with and
into a wholly-owned subsidiary of SST 1l in January 2019. Mr. Terjung was Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of SSGT
11 from July 2018 until June 2019. Mr. Terjung also served as the Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of SAM from
January 2017 until April 2022. Previously, from October 2015 to January 2017, Mr. Terjung served as a Controller for SAM.
He also served as the Controller of SST | from September 2014 until its merger with Extra Space on October 1, 2015 and
served as a Controller of SSH assigned to SST | from September 2009 to September 2014. From July 2004 to September
2009, Mr. Terjung held various positions with NYSE listed Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc., including Corporate Controller
responsible for financial reporting and corporate accounting. Mr. Terjung gained public accounting and auditing experience
while employed with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and Arthur Andersen LLP from September 2000 to July 2004, where he
worked on the audits of a variety of both public and private entities, registration statements and public offerings. Mr. Terjung
is a Certified Public Accountant, licensed in California, and graduated cum laude with a B.S.B.A. degree from California
State University, Fullerton.

Nicholas M. Look. Mr. Look is our General Counsel and Secretary, positions he has held since June 2019. Mr. Look
also serves as General Counsel and Secretary of the sponsor, advisors and property managers of our sponsored real estate
programs. He also serves as the Secretary of each of SSGT |1l and SST VI since their formation. Mr. Look also served as the
Secretary of SST IV and SSGT I, positions he held until their respective mergers with us in March 2021 and June 2022,
respectively. Mr. Look was previously Senior Corporate Counsel of SAM, a position he held from June 2017 until June 2019.
From September 2017 to June 2019, Mr. Look served as Assistant Secretary of SSSHT. Prior to that, Mr. Look worked with
the law firms of K&L Gates LLP, from April 2014 to June 2017, and Latham & Watkins LLP, from October 2010 to April
2014, where he served as corporate counsel to a variety of public and private companies, and where his practice focused on
securities matters, capital markets transactions, mergers and acquisitions and general corporate governance and compliance.
Mr. Look holds a B.S. in Computer Science from the University of California, Irvine and a J.D. from the Pepperdine
University School of Law. He is a member of the State Bar of California.

Paula Mathews. Ms. Mathews is one of our independent directors and has been a member of our board of directors
since January 2016. Previously, Ms. Mathews served as our Secretary and an Executive Vice President from our formation
until June 2018. She previously served as an Executive Vice President of SSSHT until April 2020 and as Secretary of SSSHT
until June 2018. In addition, she served as an Executive Vice President and Secretary of SSGT and SST IV until June 2018.
Ms. Mathews was an Executive Vice President of SAM from January 2013 through April 2020. Ms. Mathews served as an
Executive Vice President and Assistant Secretary for SST 1, positions she held from August 2007 and June 2011,
respectively, until the merger of SST | with Extra Space on October 1, 2015. Ms. Mathews has also served as Executive Vice
President for SSH from February 2008 through April 2020. Ms. Mathews was a private consultant from 2003 to 2005
providing due diligence services on the acquisition and disposition of assets for real estate firms. Prior to that, Ms. Mathews
held senior level executive positions with several pension investment advisors, including the following: a real estate company
specializing in 1031 transactions from 2002 to 2003 where she was the Director of Operations; KBS Realty Advisors from
1995 to 2001 where she was responsible for the management of $600 million in “value added” commercial assets in seven
states; TCW Realty Advisors (now CBRE Investors) from 1985 to 1992 as a Senior Vice President where her focus was retail
assets within closed end equity funds; and PMRealty Advisors from 1983 to 1985 in a portfolio management role. She began
her real estate career in 1977 with The Irvine Company, the largest land holder in Orange County, California, where she held
several positions within the Commercial/Industrial Division structuring industrial build-to-suits, ground leases and land sales
and where she had her first exposure to self storage. Ms. Mathews holds a B.S. degree from the University of North Carolina,
Chapel Hill.

We believe Ms. Mathews's extensive real estate management experience, and particularly self storage experience,
across multiple organizations, including our Company and SAM, supports her appointment to our Board.

Timothy S. Morris. Mr. Morris is one of our independent directors and is a member and Chairman of the
Compensation Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.
Mr. Morris previously served as an independent director of SmartStop Self Storage, Inc. from February 2008 until the merger
of SmartStop Self Storage, Inc. with Extra Space on October 1, 2015. Mr. Morris has more than 35 years of financial and
management experience with several international organizations. In 2008, Mr. Morris founded AMDG Worldwide Ltd., a
consultancy business to support the philanthropic sector. Through this entity, Mr. Morris continues to serve an eclectic range
of philanthropic clients. From March 2019 until July 2021, Mr. Morris served as the finance director of the English-Speaking
Union, a global charity which helps underprivileged children with speaking and listening skills. From 2014 to 2017,

Mr. Morris assumed a position as finance director of Tomorrow’s Company, a London-based global think tank focusing on
business leadership. From June 2007 to April 2008, Mr. Morris was the Chief Financial Officer for Geneva Global, Inc., a
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philanthropic advisor and broker which invests funds into developing countries. Prior to joining Geneva Global, Inc., from
2002 to 2007, Mr. Morris was the director of corporate services for Care International UK Ltd. From 2000 to 2002,

Mr. Morris was the Controller for Royal Society Mencap, a learning disability charity. From 1996 to 1999, Mr. Morris was
the head of global management reporting for Adidas Group AG in Germany and was later the International Controller for
Taylor Made Golf Company, Inc., in Carlshad, California, a subsidiary of Adidas Group AG. Prior to 1996, Mr. Morris held
various management and senior finance roles within organizations such as the International Leisure Group, Halliburton/KBR
and the Bank for International Settlements in Basel, Switzerland. Mr. Morris has his Bachelor of Science in Economics from
Bristol University in the United Kingdom, his MBA from the Cranfield School of Management in the United Kingdom, and
he is a Chartered Management Accountant (CIMA, CGMA).

We believe Mr. Morris’s extensive financial and management experience across multiple organizations over more than
35 years supports his appointment to our Board.

David J. Mueller. Mr. Mueller is one of our independent directors and is a member and Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.
Mr. Mueller has more than 35 years of financial management experience with several firms in the financial services industry.
In June 2009, Mr. Mueller founded his own CPA firm, specializing in consulting, audit, and tax services for small businesses
and non-profits, where he continues to serve as Managing Partner. From June 2001 to May 2009, he worked for Manulife
Financial Corporation, serving in several capacities including Controller of Annuities and Chief Financial Officer of
Distribution for Manulife Wood Logan, where he was heavily involved in the company’s due diligence and subsequent
integration with John Hancock Financial Services. Prior to his time with Manulife Financial Corporation, Mr. Mueller served
as Chief Financial Officer of Allmerica Financial Services, the insurance and investment arm of Allmerica Financial
Corporation. He began his career in the Boston office of Coopers and Lybrand, specializing in financial services, real estate,
and non-profits. Mr. Mueller is a CPA and graduated from the University of Wisconsin-Green Bay with a degree in Finance.

We believe Mr. Mueller’s more than 35 years of financial management experience supports his appointment to our
Board.

Harold “Skip” Perry. Mr. Perry is one of our independent directors and, since April 2022, he has served as our lead
independent director. Mr. Perry is a member and Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee. Mr. Perry previously served as one of our independent
directors from October 2013 until June 2014 and served as an independent director of SmartStop Self Storage, Inc. from
February 2008 until the merger of SmartStop Self Storage, Inc. with Extra Space on October 1, 2015. Mr. Perry has over 50
years of financial accounting, management and consulting experience for domestic and international organizations in the real
estate industry. He is currently the Executive Managing Director of Real Globe Advisors, LLC, a commercial real estate
advisory firm which he founded. Mr. Perry also held the same position with Real Globe Advisors, LLC from July 2007 to
June 2009. From June 2009 to March 2011, he was the Managing Director of Alvarez & Marsal Real Estate Advisory
Services. From 1995 to June 2007, Mr. Perry was a national partner in Ernst & Young LLP’s Transactional Real Estate
Advisory Services Group and held a number of leadership positions within Ernst & Young. While at Ernst & Young, he
handled complex acquisition and disposition due diligence matters for private equity funds and corporate clients, complex
real estate portfolio optimization studies, and monetization strategies within the capital markets arena, including valuation of
self storage facilities. Prior to 1995, Mr. Perry headed the Real Estate Consulting Practice of the Chicago office of Kenneth
Leventhal & Co. Prior to his time with Kenneth Leventhal & Co., Mr. Perry was a senior principal with Pannell Kerr
Forester, a national accounting and consulting firm specializing in the hospitality industry. He is a CPA and holds an MAI
designation with the Appraisal Institute and a CRE designation with the Counselors of Real Estate. He graduated with a
Bachelor of Arts in Russian and Economics from the University of Illinois, and has a Masters of Business Administration
with a concentration in finance from Loyola University in Illinois.

We believe Mr. Perry’s more than 50 years of financial accounting, management and consulting experience in the real
estate industry supports his appointment to our Board.
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ITEM11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

For the year ended December 31, 2024, decisions regarding director compensation were made by our Compensation
Committee.

No member of the Compensation Committee served as an officer or employee of us or any of our affiliates during
2024, and none had any relationship requiring disclosure by us under Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act.
None of our executive officers has served on the board of directors or compensation committee of any other entity that has or
has had one or more executive officers who served as a member of our board of directors or our Compensation Committee
during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis describes our compensation program as it relates to our named executive
officers (“NEOs”). Our NEOs for 2024 and their titles were:

NAME TITLE
H. Michael Schwartz Chief Executive Officer

James R. Barry Chief Financial Officer

Joe Robinson Chief Operations Officer

Wayne Johnson President and Chief Investment Officer
Michael O. Terjung Chief Accounting Officer

Philosophy and Objectives of Our Executive Compensation Program

The philosophy underlying our executive compensation program is to provide an attractive, flexible and market-based
total compensation program tied to performance and aligned with the interests of our stockholders. Our objective is to recruit
and retain the caliber of executive officers and other key employees necessary to deliver sustained high performance for our
stockholders. Our compensation system has been designed to accomplish the following:

e Retain and hire top-caliber executives: Executives will have market competitive compensation that will allow
us to both hire and retain high-caliber individuals.

e Reward growth and profitability: Executives will be rewarded for achieving both short- and long-term results,
particularly focused on sustained growth and profitability that culminates in longer-term value creation for our
stockholders.

e Align compensation with stockholder interests: Fostering an ownership mentality, a meaningful portion of the
interests of our executives will be linked with those of our stockholders through the risks and rewards of
ownership of our stock.

The following is an overview of the highlights of our compensation structure, and the fundamental compensation
policies and practices we do and do not use.
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WHAT WE DO

Pay for Performance. We provide alignment between pay and performance by linking a meaningful portion of
total compensation to the achievement of multiple operational and strategic goals through our short-term
incentive program, as well as relative performance against our direct self storage peers through our long-term
incentive program.

Balanced Compensation. We balance overall compensation by linking portions of pay to both annual
performance goals as well as multi- year performance goals.

Forward-Looking Long-Term Incentive Compensation Structure. We have implemented a long-term
incentive compensation structure that includes forward-looking performance over a multi-year performance
period.

Executive Severance Policy. In light of market best practices, we adopted an Executive Severance and Change
of Control Plan (as opposed to employment agreements) covering our executives which is overseen by our
Compensation Committee.

Independent Compensation Consultant. Our Compensation Committee retained Ferguson Partners Consulting
(“FPC”), a nationally recognized compensation consulting firm, to review and provide recommendations
regarding our executive compensation program.

Compensation Risk Assessments. With the assistance of FPC, we conduct annual compensation risk
assessments to ensure our compensation program does not encourage excessively risky behaviors.

WHAT WE DON’T DO

No Guaranteed Annual Salary Increases. We do not guarantee annual salary increases (salary increases are
made only in the discretion of the Compensation Committee).

No Minimum Bonuses or Uncapped Bonus Payouts. We do not pay guaranteed minimum bonuses, nor do we
have uncapped bonus payouts.

No Excessive Perquisites. We provide limited perquisites to our NEOs that we believe are reasonable and
consistent with the philosophy and objectives of our executive compensation program.

No Guaranteed Employment. We do not guarantee terms of employment or base salaries for our NEOs.

Compensation Methodology and Process

Independent Review and Approval of Executive Compensation

Our Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives related to

compensation for our NEOs. The Compensation Committee does not delegate any substantive responsibility related to the
compensation of our NEOs and exercises its independent judgment when approving executive compensation. No member of
the Compensation Committee is a former or current officer of us or any of our subsidiaries, and all members are independent
under current NYSE listing standards.

Our Compensation Committee annually reviews compensation to ensure its alignment with our business strategy,

performance, and the interests of our employees and stockholders. In addition, the Compensation Committee reviews market
practices for all elements of executive compensation and approves necessary adjustments to remain competitive.

Our Compensation Committee takes into account the aggregate amount and mix of all components of compensation

when considering compensation decisions affecting the CEO and the other NEOs. The Compensation Committee considers
whether any components of executive compensation might lead to excessive risk taking by management and whether features
of the executive compensation program appropriately mitigate risks.
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The Role of the Compensation Committee’s Consultant

Our Compensation Committee has sole authority under its committee charter to retain advisors and consultants as it
deems appropriate. The Compensation Committee has retained FPC, which specializes in the REIT industry, as its
compensation consultant.

FPC attends meetings of the Compensation Committee, reviews compensation data with the committee, and
participates in general discussions regarding executive compensation issues. Management works with FPC, at the
Compensation Committee’s direction, to develop materials and analysis essential to the committee’s compensation
evaluations and determination. FPC regularly participates in executive sessions with the Compensation Committee (without
any of our personnel or executives present) to discuss compensation matters.

Role of the Chief Executive Officer

Each year our Chief Executive Officer meets with the Compensation Committee to discuss specific recommendations
regarding the base salary, short-term incentive compensation and long-term incentive compensation of each of our NEOs
(other than the Chief Executive Officer) and provides further insight into and details of each executive officer’s performance.
The other NEOs are not present during these discussions. The Compensation Committee believes it is valuable to consider
the recommendations of the Chief Executive Officer with respect to these matters because, given his knowledge of our
operations and the day-to-day responsibilities of such NEOs, he is in a unique position to provide the Compensation
Committee with added perspective into the most appropriate measures and goals in light of our business at a given point in
time. However, the Compensation Committee has the discretion to accept, reject, or modify these recommendations and
makes all final determinations on issues within the scope of its authority, including with respect to executive officer
compensation. The Chief Executive Officer does not provide his recommendations to the Compensation Committee
regarding his own compensation.

Use of Peer Group

To ensure that our executive compensation programs are reasonable and competitive in the marketplace, we compare
our compensation programs to the compensation programs of two distinct sets of peers. We examine pay practices across a
peer set of public REITSs that are (i) similarly sized to us and operate across a range of property types (Size-Based Peer
Group) as well as (ii) a smaller peer set of direct competitors focused in the self storage industry of which there are only four
(Direct Competitor Peer Group).

PEER GROUP DESCRIPTION PURPOSE

Size-Based Peer Group Represents public real estate To periodically reference and

(13 companies) investment trusts of similar size in compare our overall compensation
terms of total capitalization that also practices and amounts against a
have active operations. broader mix of companies to ensure

that our compensation practices are
reasonable in light of the size of the
organization.
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PEER GROUP DESCRIPTION PURPOSE

Direct Competitor Peer Group Represents public real estate To understand how each NEQO’s total
(4 companies) investment trusts within the self compensation compares with the total
storage sector with operations that compensation for reasonably similar

most nearly approximate our business. positions at our most direct
competitors in the self storage
industry and to assess and calculate
performance for certain relative
metrics.

The Size-Based Peer Group currently consists of the following companies (sorted by capitalization):

2024 Total

Peer* Ticker Capitalization ($M)
National Storage Affiliates Trust NSA $ 9,621
Essential Properties Realty Trust, Inc. EPRT $ 8,010
Independence Realty Trust, Inc. IRT $ 7,034
American Healthcare REIT, Inc. AHR $ 6,445
Acadia Realty Trust AKR $ 4,989
Brandywine Realty Trust BDN $ 3,202
InvenTrust Properties Corp. IvT $ 3,077
Easterly Government Properties, Inc. Corp. DEA $ 2,889
Armada Hoffler Properties, Inc. AHH $ 2,637
UMH Properties, Inc. UMH $ 2,487
LTC Properties, Inc. LTC $ 2,349
Centerspace CSR $ 2,143
Sila Realty Trust, Inc. SILA $ 1,903
SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc. n/a n/a

Source: S&P Global. Data are as of December 31, 2024.
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The Direct Competitor Peer Group currently consists of the following companies (sorted by capitalization):

2024 Total
Peer Ticker Capitalization ($M)
Public Storage PSA $ 66,478
Extra Space Storage Inc. EXR $ 46,371
CubeSmart CUBE $ 12,944
National Storage Affiliates Trust NSA $ 9,621
SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc. n/a n/a

*Note that Life Storage, Inc. was part of the competitor-based peer group that was used for setting compensation in
2024; however, Life Storage was acquired and we have not included them in the table above.

Our Compensation Committee evaluates the median levels of the size-based peer group for compensation as an initial
point of reference for setting pay and thereafter considers various qualitative factors for each NEO, such as years of
experience, tenure, and historical performance, in arriving at a competitive pay package. The Direct Competitor Peer Group,
given the disparity in Total Capitalization, is limited in its applicability for benchmark pay comparisons; however, the Direct
Competitor Peer Group is used to measure relative performance within our long-term incentive program, as our business is
most correlated with other self storage companies. Actual compensation paid may fluctuate above or below the median of the
peer group based on our performance and the achievement of the goals established by the Compensation Committee for the
NEO. The Compensation Committee reviews the peer group annually and make changes as warranted and deemed
appropriate by the Compensation Committee.

Alignment of Pay

Our executive compensation program provides significant alignment between pay and performance by linking a
meaningful portion of total target compensation to the achievement of financial, operational and strategic goals through our
short-term incentive program, as well as rigorous relative portfolio goals through our long-term incentive program.
Approximately 88% of the total target compensation delivered to our CEO and 62% delivered to our other NEOs is at risk.
The following charts present the allocation of 2024 total target compensation among different components for our Chief
Executive Officer and the weighted average of each component for our other NEOs as a group.

CEO Total Target Compensation Other NEOs Total Target Compensation
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Overview of Compensation

On June 28, 2019, we acquired the self storage advisory, asset management, property management and certain joint

venture interests of Strategic Asset Management I, LLC (f/k/a SmartStop Asset Management, LLC) (“SAM”), which
included the self storage management team and self storage employees (the “Self Administration Transaction”). During the
first full fiscal year following the Self Administration Transaction, we formally adopted our executive compensation program
for our executive officers, which was later immaterially revised in connection with fiscal years 2021 through 2024 (the
“Executive Compensation Program”). The following table summarizes the specific elements in our Executive Compensation
Program, along with the primary objectives of each element. A more detailed discussion of these elements follows this table.

(0]
@

Compensation

objectives
Short-Term
I i h S :
;::gn::f £ * 2024 objective performance metrics were same-store NOI growth™”, FFO, as
TOEr.
adjusted (per share)?!, and General and Administrative Expenses”’
« Includes 30-40% (varies by executive officer) of subjectively evaluated strategic
goals and individual performance
Variable * Compensation committee believes a substantial portion of each executive officer’s
Time-Based  compensation should be in the form of long-term equity incentives
Compensation :
Restricted Stock
or LTIP Units  * Designed to encourage management to create stockholder value over the long
Long-Term (67%) term; value of equity awards directly tied to changes in value of our common stock
- over time
Incentive - : :
Program * 2024 awards were 67% time-based restricted stock or LTIP Units and 33%

Element Form Description
* Designed to compensate executive officers for services rendered on a day-to-day
basis

* Provides guaranteed cash compensation to secure services of our executive talent
Fixed Base Salary Cash
« Established based on scope of responsibilities, experience, performance,
contributions, and internal pay equity considerations

» Compensation committee reviews annually

* Designed to encourage outstanding individual and company

performance —motivates executive officers to achieve short-term company and
individual goals by rewarding performance measured against key annual strategic

Perf-Based  performance-based restricted stock or LTIP Units
Restricted Stock
or LTIP Units  * Performance-based awards are evaluated over a three-year period based on
(33%) relative three-year average same-store revenue growth vs. a defined peer group of
self storage REITs

NOI is defined as rental and related revenues, less property level operating expenses.

Funds from operations, or FFO, is widely used as a key measure of financial performance by REITs. The National
Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or Nareit, defines FFO as net income (loss) computed in accordance with
GAAP, excluding gains or losses from sales of property and real estate related asset impairment write-downs, plus
depreciation and amortization, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. Adjustments
for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures are calculated to reflect FFO on the same basis. In determining FFO,
as adjusted, we make further adjustments to the Nareit computation of FFO to exclude the effects of non-real estate
related intangible amortization, acquisition related costs, other write-offs incurred in connection with acquisitions,
accretion of fair value of debt adjustments, amortization of debt issuance costs, gains or losses from extinguishment of
debt, adjustments of deferred tax assets and liabilities, realized and unrealized gains/losses on foreign exchange
transactions, gains/losses on foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives not designated for hedge accounting, and
other select non-recurring income or expense items which we believe are not indicative of our overall long-term
operating performance. For a reconciliation of FFO and FFO, as adjusted, to net loss, see “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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® General and Administrative Expenses (“G&A Expense”) primarily include all expenses not directly related to our
properties, including compensation related costs, legal expenses, transfer agent fees, directors and officers insurance
expense and board of directors related costs.

Base Salary

Base salary is a portion of the overall compensation package and determined by considering the relative importance of
the position, the competitive marketplace and the individual’s performance and contributions based on responsibilities, skills
and experience. Base salaries are reviewed annually in light of market practices and changes in responsibilities. Base salaries
were established for our executives at the time of the Self Administration Transaction in June 2019 and were maintained in
2020. Base salaries for 2022, 2023 and 2024 were updated based on the results of a peer analysis and the approval of the
Compensation Committee, which were further updated subsequent to fiscal year end by the Compensation Committee. This
Compensation Discussion and Analysis section focuses on the compensation in place during fiscal year 2024.

2022 BASE 2023 BASE 2024 BASE

SALARY SALARY SALARY
NEO TITLE [©) ©) ©)

H. Michael Schwartz Chief Executive Officer 625,000 625,000 625,000
James R. Barry Chief Financial Officer 300,000 350,000 350,000
Joe Robinson Chief Operations Officer 375,000 375,000 375,000
Wayne Johnson President and Chief Investment Officer 290,000 315,000 340,000
Michael O. Terjung Chief Accounting Officer 275,000 290,000 305,000

Annual Cash Incentive Awards

The goal of our variable cash incentive program (the “Short-Term Incentive Program”) is to motivate executive officers
to achieve strong performance across various financial, operating and strategic goals with the ultimate objective of
contributing to longer-term stockholder value based on our annual performance. The Short-Term Incentive Program includes
an objective portion that comprises the majority of the overall program and is based on three performance-based metrics with
pre-defined hurdles. For purposes of the 2024 Short-Term Incentive Program, same-store NOI, a measure of Funds From
Operations as adjusted, per share, and G&A Expense were included as quantitative metrics.

While it is important for the majority of the NEO’s annual cash compensation to be determined objectively, we also
believe that it is important to have a degree of flexibility and assess performance against goals that may not be precise or
quantifiable in nature. Therefore, a relatively smaller portion of the Short-Term Incentive Program is subjectively assessed
based on various strategic and individual goals. We provide a range of performance outcomes across each metric. In fiscal
year 2024, the performance-based metrics had the potential to be paid at 50%, 100% and 150% of target for the threshold,
target and maximum criteria for each metric, which was the same as fiscal years 2023 and 2022. For strategic and individual
goals, the threshold, target, and maximum levels were set at 75%, 100%, and 125% of target, respectively, for each of fiscal
years 2024, 2023 and 2022. To the extent that the level of actual achievement for strategic and individual goals as well as
performance goals falls between the established Threshold, Target and Maximum levels, calculation of the amount of the
award is interpolated on a straight-line basis.

2024 2024
Short-Term Incentive Program Short-Term Incentive Program
CEO and Executive Chairman Other NEO:z

Subjective
Criteria
40%

Subjective
Criteria
30%
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The actual bonuses awarded reflect the following components for the CEO and other NEOs:

METRICS & WEIGHTINGS

SAME-
STORE FFO, AS STRATEGIC/
NOI ADJUSTED G&A INDIVIDUAL

NAME GROWTH PER SHARE EXPENSE GOALS
H. Michael Schwartz 30% 30% 10% 30%
James R. Barry 25% 25% 10% 40%
Joe Robinson 30% 20% 10% 40%
Wayne Johnson 25% 25% 10% 40%
Michael O. Terjung 25% 25% 10% 40%

Based on the weightings of each criteria, and each NEQO’s respective allocations, the threshold, target, and maximum
potential bonuses for 2024 were as follows:

THRESHOLD TARGET MAXIMUM
NAME ©) ©) ©)
H. Michael Schwartz 388,125 675,000 961,875
James R. Barry 126,000 210,000 294,000
Joe Robinson 120,000 200,000 280,000
Wayne Johnson 120,000 200,000 280,000
Michael O. Terjung 90,000 150,000 210,000

Financial Goals

As shown and noted above, the financial goals component of the 2024 Short-Term Incentive Program included three
categories of performance goals. The financial goals established for 2024, the Compensation Committee’s rationale for
establishing them, and the performance level approved for each goal are described below:

Financial Goals Threshold Target Maximum Actual
Same-Store NOI Growth (1.2) % 1.0% 3.2% Q.7 %
FFO, as adjusted (per share) $ 041 $ 047 $ 053 $ 0.42
G&A Expense (millions) $ 326 $ 311 $ 295 §$ 29.4 O

(@ Such amount reflects G&A Expense for the year ended December 31, 2024, adjusted for certain non-recurring
items. In determining the final results, the Compensation Committee adjusted for certain offering-related costs
deemed as one-time, non-comparable results.

Same-store NOI growth on an absolute basis was set at:

Threshold (1.2)%
Target 1.0%
Maximum 3.2%
Actual (1.7%

Rationale: The Compensation Committee considers same-store NOI to be an important driver of real estate property values
and stockholder value. It also is a metric typically evaluated by investors and analysts and is used by many of our peers to
evaluate operating performance. This goal was established by our Board at the beginning of 2024 based on our budget for
2024, and in the context of the self storage industry entering that year and was discussed with management at such time.
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FFO, as adjusted (per share) was set at:

Threshold $ 0.41
Target $ 0.47
Maximum $ 0.53
Actual 3 0.42

Rationale: The Compensation Committee considers FFO, as adjusted, to be an important indicator of our overall financial
performance. FFO, as adjusted, is a metric typically evaluated by investors and analysts and is used by many of our peers to
evaluate performance. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-
GAAP Financial Measures” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024. This goal was
established by our Board at the beginning of 2024 based on our budget for 2024, and in the context of the self storage
industry entering that year and was discussed with management at such time.

G&A Expense (in millions) was set at:

Threshold $ 32.6
Target $ 31.1
Maximum $ 29.5
Actual $ 29.4

Rationale: The Compensation Committee considers General and Administrative Expenses, or G&A Expense, to be an
important indicator of our overall financial performance. G&A Expense measures management’s ability to manage our
business in a cost-efficient manner, with cost-efficiency being correlated with increased stockholder value. G&A Expense is
a metric typically evaluated by investors and analysts and is used by many of our peers to evaluate performance. This goal
was established by our Board at the beginning of 2024 based on our budget for 2024, and was discussed with management at
such time.

Strategic Goals

Strategic goals are collective operational goals which were recommended by the Chief Executive Officer for approval
by the Compensation Committee and the full board of directors. These goals are developed in connection with the annual
strategic planning process and represent key plans and initiatives that the Chief Executive Officer believes will drive short-
term performance while adding long-term value. The goals and achievement levels are qualitative by nature and are
subjectively evaluated by the Compensation Committee at the end of the performance period.

For 2024, the strategic goals for the Company were to maintain internal growth through institutional management of
the portfolio, execute on strategic transactions, implement technology across the storage platform, continued expansion in the
Canadian market, and Managed REIT growth.

Individual Goals

The Chief Executive Officer recommended individual goals for 2024, which were then submitted for approval by the
Compensation Committee and the full board of directors. Individual goals for the NEOs were set at the beginning of 2024
and included the following:

e H. Michael Schwartz: Explore and evaluate liquidity strategies for stockholders; oversee development and
implementation of technology across the Company; Canadian platform expansion; executive team
development; and Managed REIT Platform equity raise and asset growth.

e James R. Barry, Joe Robinson, Wayne Johnson and Michael O. Terjung: Execute on the Company’s business
plan; maintain operational performance across the portfolio; individual team development and succession
planning; oversee implementation of technology; and facilitate external growth strategies of the Company.
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The following table sets forth the Target annual bonus levels established in March 2024, along with the final
determination for fiscal year 2024 actual bonus payments.

ACTUAL
TARGET CASH % OF

NAME [©) BONUS ($)® TARGET
H. Michael Schwartz 675,000 479,318 71%
James R. Barry 210,000 168,893 80%
Joe Robinson 200,000 154,680 771%
Wayne Johnson 200,000 160,850 80%
Michael O. Terjung 150,000 120,638 80%
o In addition to the cash bonuses earned in connection with the Short-Term Incentive Program, each executive was

awarded a non-plan discretionary bonus by the Compensation Committee in recognition of their significant contributions to
certain strategic projects undertaken by the Company in 2024, including but not limited to a pursuit of a public listing, and
such amounts were excluded from the table above. These non-plan discretionary bonuses were awarded as follows: (1)
$191,000 for H. Michael Schwartz, (2) $40,000 for each of James R. Barry, Joe Robinson and Wayne Johnson, and (3)
$32,000 for Michael O. Terjung. With the discretionary bonus amounts included, the overall total cash bonus paid did not
exceed the overall Target annual bonus.

Long-Term Stock Based Compensation

We adopted our long-term incentive program (the “Long-Term Incentive Program”) with the goal of both retaining and
motivating our executive officers over a longer-term period. We provide equity incentive awards in order to foster ownership
and alignment with stockholders, which is intended to motivate our executive officers to enhance the long-term value of the
Company. At the election of each individual executive, such equity awards may come in the form of either long-term
incentive plan units (“LTIP Units”) of SmartStop OP, L.P., our operating partnership (our “Operating Partnership”) or
restricted stock awards consisting of shares of our common stock (“RSAs”). Although the Compensation Committee does not
target a specific mix of equity versus cash compensation when setting awards each year, it does strive to deliver a relatively
large portion of the executive officer’s overall compensation in the form of equity. We do not schedule equity award grants in
anticipation of the release of material nonpublic information, nor do we time the release of material nonpublic information
based on equity grant dates.

Key highlights of the Long-Term Incentive Program are as follows:
e Forward-looking program containing a multi-year performance period and to be awarded on a rolling basis.

e Awards are determined based upon a fixed dollar amount that is then converted to equity based upon a fair
value determination of such equity.

e Introduces a performance-based element with an award that ranges from 0% to a maximum of 200% of target,
with such percentage being determined based upon our relative same-store revenue growth versus our direct
self storage competitors over a three-year period.

e Includes a time-based component, otherwise known as service-vested and subject to continued employment
with the Company, which vests pro-rata over four years.

e For fiscal year 2022 and prior years, awards under the Long-Term Incentive Program were granted with 75% of
such award being time-based and 25% being performance-based. Subsequent to fiscal year end 2022, our
Compensation Committee approved changes to the Long-Term Incentive Program such that awards were
granted with two-thirds of such award being time-based and one-third being performance-based.
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LONG-TERM INCENTIVE
COMPENSATION

Performance-Based Restricted Stock or
Time-Based Restricted Stock or LTIP Units
LTIP Units [3-yoar performance period)
Vest pro-rata over four years Relative 3-yoar Average Same-Store
Revenus Growth vs. Peer Group
Year 1 | Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year §

Performance-Based Equity Awards
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The approved grant levels for the NEOs for the 2024-2026 performance period are as follows:
2024-2026 PERFORMANCE-BASED AWARDS (33%)

TOTAL
TIME- LTIP
BASED AWARD
AWARDS 4th Place 3rd Place 1t Place AT

(67%) Last Place (Threshold) (Target) (Maximum) TARGET
NAME $) (%) (%) $) (%) $)
H. Michael Schwartz 2,546,000 — 627,000 1,254,000 2,508,000 3,800,000
James R. Barry 294,800 — 72,600 145,200 290,400 440,000
Joe Robinson 284,750 — 70,125 140,250 280,500 425,000
Wayne Johnson 234,500 — 57,750 115,500 231,000 350,000
Michael O. Terjung 144,050 — 35,475 70,950 141,900 215,000

These approved grant levels were kept the same for fiscal year 2024. NEOs can elect to receive their Long-Term
Incentive Program awards as shares of restricted stock or LTIP Units. During 2024, all NEOs elected to receive all of their
awards in LTIP Units.

Performance Portion of Our 2024-2026 Long-Term Incentive Awards

The metric approved for the 2024-2026 performance period was a relative 3-year average same-store revenue growth
when ranked against a peer group, as follows:

100% 200%
0% 50% PAYOUT  150% PAYOUT
METRIC PAYOUT PAYOUT (TARGET) PAYOUT (MAXIMUM)
Relative 3-Year Average Same-Store Revenue Growth
vs. Peer Group Last Place 4wPlace 3<Place  2wPlace 1sPlace

In order to be counted in the ranking calculation above, a company must be publicly traded for the entire performance
period. In the event that one or more of the peer group companies ceases to exist as a separate company or fails to report
same store revenues during the performance period, our Compensation Committee may adjust the ranking tiers and/or
measure the average annual same store revenue growth for such companies for a period shorter than the performance period
in its sole discretion. The peers by which we are to be compared against for the 2024-2026 period are: Public Storage; Extra
Space Storage Inc.; CubeSmart; and National Storage Affiliates Trust.

Other Elements of Compensation

Our Compensation Committee does not view benefits and perquisites for the NEOs as a key component of our
executive compensation program. Accordingly, we do not provide any significant perquisites to our NEOs. We provide the
following benefits to all employees: medical, dental, vision and disability insurance, employer contributions toward medical
insurance premiums, 401(k) employer match and group life insurance premiums. The NEOs participate in benefit plans on
similar terms as our other participating employees, although we pay a larger percentage of NEOs” medical insurance
premiums. However, the total value of these benefit plan premiums remains a small percentage of each NEO’s total
compensation package. Under our tax-qualified 401(k) plan, we make a matching contribution on behalf of each participant
equal to 100% match on the first 4% of compensation contributed to the plan by the participant up to the federally mandated
maximum. The NEOs may participate in the plan on substantially the same terms as our other participating employees. We
do not maintain any defined benefit or supplemental retirement plans.

Our Compensation Committee periodically reviews the levels of perquisites and other personal benefits provided to the
NEOs and may revise, amend or add to the benefits and perquisites made available to the NEOs in the future if it deems
advisable.

Severance Benefits

In order to achieve our compensation objective of attracting, retaining and motivating qualified executives, we believe
that we need to provide the NEOs with severance protection. Furthermore, we seek to utilize best practices in developing
appropriate protection. As such, in connection with the Self Administration Transaction in June 2019, we adopted an
Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan (the “Severance Plan”), rather than using individual employment
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agreements. Pursuant to the plan, each NEO is entitled to certain severance benefits based on the nature of their termination.
See “—Executive Compensation—Severance Plan and Potential Payments Upon Termination or a Change of Control” below
for complete details of severance benefits payable to the NEOs upon termination or change of control.

Evaluation of the Risk in Compensation Program

Our Compensation Committee oversees the design of our executive compensation program to ensure that the program
does not incentivize our NEOs, either individually or as a group, to make excessively risky business decisions that could
maximize short-term results at the expense of long-term value. The Compensation Committee assesses our executive and
other compensation and benefits programs to determine if the programs’ provisions and operations promote or create material
risks. The Compensation Committee, in consultation with its independent compensation consultant, has established a number
of protective features including but not limited to: (1) we do not have uncapped bonus potential, (2) we use multiple metrics
in evaluating performance, (3) performance includes both absolute and relative performance, (4) the Compensation
Committee retains flexibility and subjectivity in evaluating performance, (5) a meaningful portion of compensation is
delivered in equity that vests over time, and (6) the performance portion of our Long-Term Incentive Program is measured on
a multi-year basis.

Based on the foregoing, we do not believe that our compensation policies and practices create risks that are reasonably
likely to have a material adverse effect on us.

Tax Limits on Executive Compensation

In general, Section 162(m) of the Code places a limit on the amount of compensation that may be deducted annually by
a publicly traded entity with respect to certain of its executive officers. The IRS has previously issued private letter rulings
holding that Section 162(m) does not apply to compensation paid to employees of a REIT’s operating partnership. We have
therefore determined that compensation paid to our executive officers by our Operating Partnership or a subsidiary of our
Operating Partnership for services to it should not be subject to the deduction limit. Since we operate as a REIT under the
Code and are generally not subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income to the extent that we annually distribute
all of our taxable income to stockholders and maintain our qualification as a REIT, if compensation were required to (but did
not) qualify for deduction under Section 162(m), the payment of compensation that fails to satisfy the requirements of
Section 162(m) would not have a material adverse consequence to us, provided we continue to distribute 100% of our taxable
income without taking into account the disallowed deduction. However, if we make compensation payments subject to
Section 162(m) limitations on deductibility, we may be required to make additional distributions to stockholders to comply
with its REIT annual distribution requirement and eliminate our U.S. federal income tax liability. As a consequence of
additional taxable income, a larger portion of stockholder distributions that would otherwise have been treated as return of
capital may be subject to U.S. federal income tax as dividend income. Any such compensation allocated to our taxable REIT
subsidiaries, whose income is subject to U.S. federal income tax, would result in an increase in income taxes due to the
inability to deduct such compensation.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the foregoing “Compensation Discussion and Analysis”
with management and, based on such review and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the board of
directors that the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” set forth above be included in this Form 10-K.

Timothy S. Morris (Chairman)
David J. Mueller
Harold “Skip” Perry

The preceding Compensation Committee Report to stockholders is not ““soliciting material” and is not deemed “filed”” with
the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation
language in any such filing.
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Executive Compensation

The following tables and narrative summarize the compensation for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and
2024 paid to or earned by our named executive officers.

Summary Compensation Table

Non-Equity
Discretionary Incentive Plan Equity All Other
Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus® Compensation ~ Awards®  Compensation® Total
H. Michael Schwartz, 2024 $ 625,000 $ 191,000 $ 479,318 $ 3,800,000 $ 14,597 $5,109,915
Chief Executive Officer 2023 $ 625,000 $ — $ 303,750 $ 3,800,000 $ 13,997 $4,742,747
2022 $ 625,000 $ — $ 961,875 $ 1,900,000 $ 12,997 $ 3,499,872
James R. Barry, 2024 $ 350,000 $ 40,000 $ 168,893 $ 440,000 $ 28,944 $1,027,837
Chief Financial Officer 2023 $ 350,000 $ — $ 115500 $ 440,000 $ 26,010 $ 931,510
2022 $ 300,000 $ — $ 210,000 $ 200,000 $ 32,317 $ 742317
Joe Robinson, 2024 $ 375,000 $ 40,000 $ 154,680 $ 425000 $ 35,323 $1,030,003
Chief Operations Officer 2023 $ 375,000 $ — $ 110,000 $ 425,000 $ 31,482 $ 941,482
2022 $ 375,000 $ — $ 245000 $ 200,000 $ 42,426 $ 862,426
Wayne Johnson, 2024 $ 340,000 $ 40,000 $ 160,850 $ 350,000 $ 30,861 $ 921,711
President and Chief
Investment Officer 2023 $ 315,000 $ — $ 104,500 $ 310,000 $ 27919 $ 757,419
2022 $ 290,000 $ — $ 210,000 $ 275,000 $ 34,021 $ 809,021
Michael Terjung 2024 $ 305,000 $ 32,000 $ 120,638 $ 215,000 $ 35294 $ 707,932
Chief Accounting Officer 2023 $ 290,000 $ — 3 87,750 $ 200,000 $ 31,417 $ 609,167
2022 $ 275,000 $ — $ 161,000 $ 175,000 $ 42,385 $ 653,385

@ Amounts shown in the “Discretionary Bonus” column for 2024 reflect special non-plan discretionary bonuses that were
awarded by the Compensation Committee to our NEOs in recognition of their significant contributions to certain
strategic projects undertaken by the Company in 2024. These special non-plan discretionary bonuses are separate from
our annual bonuses, which are payable pursuant to our incentive plan and are included in the “Non-Equity Incentive
Plan Compensation” column above.

@ Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of each LTIP Unit computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.
The grant date fair values of performance-based awards included in this table were calculated based on the outcome of
performance measured at target levels since that was the probable outcome at the time of grant. Assuming achievement
of the maximum performance level, the grant date fair value for awards granted in 2024 would have been $5,054,024,
$585,204, $565,262, $465,500, and $285,973 for Messrs. Schwartz, Barry, Robinson, Johnson, and Terjung,
respectively. For purposes of this table, the market value per restricted share and LTIP Unit was assumed to be $15.25
(the estimated net asset value per share of our class A common stock and class T common stock calculated as of
September 30, 2023).

® The table below sets forth the components of the “All Other Compensation” column for 2024:

Incremental Cost Life/AD&D/

of Medical 401(K) Short Term Disability

Insurance Company Insurance
Name Premiums Match Premiums Total
H. Michael Schwartz $ — $ 13,800 $ 797 % 14,597
James R. Barry 3 14347 $ 13,800 $ 797 $ 28,944
Joe Robinson $ 20,697 $ 13,800 $ 826 $ 35,323
Wayne Johnson $ 14355 $ 13,800 $ 2,706 $ 30,861
Michael Terjung $ 20,697 $ 13,800 $ 797 % 35,294
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table sets forth information with respect to plan-based awards granted to the NEOs in 2024.

Estimated future payouts under non-
equity incentive plan awards®

Estimated future payouts under
equity incentive plan awards®

All Other
Share
Awards:
Number Grant
Grant Threshold Target Maximum  Threshold Target Maximum  of Shares/ Date Fair

Name Date $) $) [©)] #) #) #) Units® Value®
H. Michael Schwartz
Annual Cash Incentive Bonus $388,125 $675,000 $961,875
Time-Based Equity 3/7/2024 187,897 $2,546,000
Performance-Based Equity 3/7/2024 46,274 92,547 185,094 $1,254,000
James R. Barry
Annual Cash Incentive Bonus $126,000 $210,000 $294,000
Time-Based Equity 3/7/2024 21,757 $ 294,800
Performance-Based Equity 3/7/2024 5,358 10,716 21,432 $ 145,200
Joe Robinson
Annual Cash Incentive Bonus $120,000 $200,000 $280,000
Time-Based Equity 3/7/2024 21,015 $ 284,750
Performance-Based Equity 3/7/2024 5176 10,351 20,702 $ 140,250
Wayne Johnson
Annual Cash Incentive Bonus $120,000 $200,000 $280,000
Time-Based Equity 3/7/2024 17,307 $ 234,500
Performance-Based Equity 3/7/2024 4,262 8,524 17,048 $ 115,500
Michael Terjung
Annual Cash Incentive Bonus $ 90,000 $150,000 $210,000
Time-Based Equity 3/7/12024 10,631 $ 144,050
Performance-Based Equity 3/7/2024 2,619 5,237 10,474 $ 70,950

® Represents annual incentive awards at the threshold, target and maximum amounts. See the “Non-Equity Incentive
Plan Compensation” column of the Summary Compensation Table above for additional discussion regarding bonuses
based on 2024 performance.
@ Represents performance-based awards, consisting of either shares of restricted stock or LTIP Units, awarded in 2024 to
our NEOs. Indicated threshold, target and maximum amounts correspond to the number of restricted shares or LTIP
Units, as applicable, that would be earned in the event that specified threshold, target and maximum performance
levels, respectively, were achieved. In the event that our performance does not meet the threshold requirements for a
performance measure, no payment will be made on the quantitative portion of the award based on that performance
measure. Performance-based awards vest following the conclusion of a three-year performance period, based on our
performance ranked amongst a peer group of companies, conducted using a performance measure of average annual
same-store revenue growth, analyzed over the performance period.
® Represents time-based awards, consisting of LTIP Units, awarded in 2024 to our NEOs. Time-based awards vest
ratably over four years with the first tranche vesting on December 31st of the year of grant, subject to the recipient’s
continued employment or service through the applicable vesting date.
@ Calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The grant date fair values of performance-based awards were

calculated based on the probable outcome of performance measured at target levels at the time of the grant.

Narrative Explanation of Certain Aspects of Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards

Table

Our executive compensation program consists of the following elements: (1) base salaries, (2) a Short-Term Incentive
Program, pursuant to which executive officers are entitled to a performance-based cash bonus, and (3) a Long-Term Incentive
Program, pursuant to which executive officers are entitled to equity awards, which will be both time-based and performance-

based.

Amounts shown in the “Stock Awards” column of the Summary Compensation Table and awards disclosed in the
Grants of Plan-Based Awards table may consist of RSAs or LTIP Units, depending on the executive’s election.
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Recipients of time-based RSAs granted in or subsequent to 2020 are entitled to distributions paid on the underlying
shares of restricted stock effective as of the effective date of the award. Recipients of performance-based RSAs will accrue
distributions during the performance period, and such distributions will only be payable on the date that any such shares of
restricted stock vest, based upon the performance level attained.

Recipients of time-based LTIP Units are entitled to distributions and allocations of profits and losses effective as of the
effective date of the award. Recipients of performance-based LTIP Units will be entitled to receive distributions and
allocations of profits and losses with respect to the performance-based LTIP Units as of the effective date of January 1 of the
year of grant, in an amount equal to 10% of the distributions and allocations available on the maximum amount of LTIP
Units that may be issued under an award, until the Distribution Participation Date (as defined in the operating partnership
agreement). The remaining 90% of distributions will accrue and will be payable on the Distribution Participation Date based
upon the performance level attained and number of performance-based LTIP Units that vest. Following the Distribution
Participation Date, recipients will be entitled to receive the full amount of distributions and allocations of profits and losses
with respect to the vested performance-based LTIP Units. LTIP Units are designed to qualify as “profits interests” in our
operating partnership for federal income tax purposes, and as a result, initially they will not be treated as economically
equivalent in value to a common unit, and the issuance of LTIP Units will not be a taxable event to our operating partnership
or the recipient. If and when certain events occur pursuant to applicable tax regulations and in accordance with the operating
partnership agreement, LTIP Units may become equivalent to common units of our operating partnership on a one-for-
one basis.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding RSAs and LTIP Units held by each of our NEOs as
of December 31, 2024. The applicable vesting provisions are described in the footnote following the table. For a description
of the acceleration of vesting provisions applicable to the RSAs and LTIP Units held by our NEOs, please see the subsection
titled “Severance Plan and Potential Payments Upon Termination or a Change of Control” below.

Stock Awards
Market or
Payout
Number of Value of
Number of Unearned Unearned
Shares or Market Value Shares, Units Shares,
Units of of Shares or or Other Units or Other
Stock that Units of Stock Rights that Rights that
Grant Have Not that Have Not Have Not Have
Name Date Vested Vested® Vested Not Vested®
H. Michael Schwartz 2/2/2022 27,030 @ $ 391,929 36,039 © 3 522,572
212412023 95,715 @ $ 1,387,860 94,286 ©® $ 1,367,147
3/7/2024 140,923 @ $ 2,043,380 92,547 O $ 1,341,932
James R. Barry 2/2/2022 2,845 O $ 41,256 3,794 4 § 55,008
2/24/2023 11,083 @ $ 160,704 10,918 ® $ 158,304
3/7/2024 16,318 ® $ 236,607 10,716 O $ 155,382
Joe Robinson 2/2/2022 2,845 O ¢ 41,256 3,794 ® $ 55,008
2/24/2023 10,705 @ $ 155,223 10,546 ® §$ 152,910
3/7/2024 15,761 ® ¢$ 228,538 10,351 O § 150,090
Wayne Johnson 2/2/2022 3912 W $ 56,727 5216 ® $ 75,635
2/24/2023 7,809 @ $ 113,223 7692 © $ 111,534
3/7/2024 12,980 ® $ 188,214 8,524 ) $ 123,598
Michael Terjung 2122022 2490 O ¢ 36,099 3,319 © 3 48,132
2/24/2023 5038 @ $ 73,051 4,963 © 3 71,956
3/7/2024 7973 ® $ 115,612 5237 O $ 75,937
® Represents LTIP Units which vest ratably over a period of four years, with the first vesting occurring on December 31,
2022.
@ Represents LTIP Units which vest ratably over a period of four years, with the first vesting occurring on December 31,
2023.
® Represents LTIP Units which vest ratably over a period of four years, with the first vesting occurring on December 31,
2024.
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@ There was no public market for our shares as of December 31, 2024. Amount is calculated as the net asset value of a
share of our common stock, calculated as of June 30, 2024, multiplied by the number of shares of stock or LTIP Units,
as applicable.

©® Represents unearned performance-based LTIP Units as of December 31, 2024, based on actual performance as of
December 31, 2024, i.e., target. Awards shown will vest no later than March 31, 2025.

® Represents unearned performance-based LTIP Units as of December 31, 2024, based on expected estimated current
performance as of December 31, 2023, i.e., target. Awards shown will vest no later than March 31, 2026.

™ Represents unearned performance-based LTIP Units as of December 31, 2024, based on expected estimated current
performance as of December 31, 2023, i.e., target. Awards shown will vest no later than March 31, 2027.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table summarizes vesting of stock applicable to our NEOs during the year ended December 31, 2024
(none of the NEOs held any options during 2024):

Stock Based Awards
Number of Shares or LTIP Value Realized on
Name Units Acquired on Vesting Vesting®
H. Michael Schwartz 258,622 $ 3,824,613
James R. Barry 24915 $ 367,311
Joe Robinson 25,279 $ 373,003
Wayne Johnson 30,624 $ 454,134
Michael Terjung 18,755 $ 277,996

@ Amount is calculated based on the net asset value of a share of our common stock as of the vesting date multiplied by
the number of shares of stock/LTIP Units that vested.

Severance Plan and Potential Payments Upon Termination or a Change of Control

On June 28, 2019, the Compensation Committee adopted and approved our Executive Severance and Change of Control
Plan and designated certain of our executives, including our NEQs, as participants (each, a “Participant” and together, the
“Participants”) in our Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan. Assuming a termination of employment occurred on
December 31, 2024 and a price per share of our common stock on the date of termination of $14.50 (the estimated net asset
value per share of our class A common stock as of the end of the last completed fiscal year, calculated as of June 30, 2024),
the amount of compensation that would have been payable to each NEO in each situation is listed in the table below. The
amounts shown in the table below are for illustrative purposes only. Actual amounts that would be paid on any termination of
employment can only be determined at the time of any actual separation from us.
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Estimated Potential Payments Upon Termination

Healthcare Equity Awards
Severance Continuation Subject to Other Excise Tax

Name and Termination Scenario Payment® Coverage® Vesting® Compensation®  Gross Up® Total®
H. Michael Schwartz

« Without Cause or for Good Reason $2,735,000 $ — $3,760,400 ® $ 72,115 $ — $ 6,567,515

 Change of control $4,102,500 $ — $5816584 ® $ 72,115  $3,760,462 $13,751,661

e Death or disability™ $ 675,000 $ — $5,816,584 $ 272,115 @ $ — $ 6,763,699

» Cause or Resignation $ — 3 — $ — $ 72,115 $ — $ 72,115
James Barry

» Without Cause or for Good Reason $ 525,167 $ 27,829 $ 425248 © $ 37,793 % — $ 1,016,037

» Change of control $1,050,333 $ 55659 $ 663,338 ©® $ 37,793 $ 714,226 $ 2,521,349

* Death or disability™ $ 210,000 $ — $ 663338 $ 37,793 $ — $ 911131

« Cause or Resignation $ — 3 — $ — $ 37,793 $ — $ 37,793
Joe Robinson

 Without Cause or for Good Reason $ 571,667 $ 39,531 $ 414,220 ® $ 38,492 $ — $ 1,063,910

 Change of control $1,143333 $ 79,062 $ 644,189 ©® $§ 38,492 $ — $ 1,905,076

» Death or disability™ $ 200,000 $ — $ 644,189 $ 38,492 $ — $ 882,681

» Cause or Resignation $ — $ — $ — $ 38492 $ — $ 38492
Wayne Johnson

« Without Cause or for Good Reason $ 765,250 $ 41,756 $ 379,768 © $ 39,231 $ — $ 1,226,005

« Change of control $1,020,333 $ 55674 $ 561,855 ©® $ 39,231 $ — $ 1,677,093

» Death or disability® $ 200,000 $ — $ 561,855 $ 39,231 $ — $ 801,086

« Cause or Resignation $ — — $ — % 39231 3 — $ 39231
Michael Terjung

« Without Cause or for Good Reason $ 664,375 $ 59,296 $ 240554 ® $ 35192 % — $ 999,417

« Change of control $ 885833 $ 79,062 $ 354,155 ©® § 35192 $ —  $ 1,354,242

e Death or disability™ $ 150,000 $ — $ 354,155 $ 35,192 $ — $ 539,347

« Cause or Resignation $ — 3 — 3 — $ 35192 $ — $ 35192

@ The Severance Payment will be due in the event that the NEO’s employment is terminated (i) by the NEO for Good

@

®

O]

®)

Reason or (ii) by us or any of our subsidiaries without Cause. The Severance Payment is based upon a multiple of the
sum of such NEQ’s (i) highest annual salary within the prior two years and (ii) the average annual cash performance
bonus earned for the prior three years. The multiple is equal to 2.0x for the Chief Executive Officer, 1.5x for the Chief
Investment Officer and Chief Accounting Officer and 1.0x for all other executive officers. Such Severance Payments
are paid in equal installments over an annual period equal to the multiple (i.e., 2 years, 1.5 years, 1 year). If a NEO is
terminated without Cause or resigns for Good Reason and this occurs during the 12-month period following a Change
of Control, then the multiple increases to 3.0x for the Chief Executive Officer and 2.0x for all other executive officers,
and such Severance Payment is paid in a lump sum.

Represents the cost of medical insurance coverage for each NEO at the same annual level as in effect immediately
preceding December 31, 2024 for a period of time equal to the applicable multiple set forth in footnote 1, above. Such
amounts are paid in equal installments over an annual period equal to the respective severance multiple (i.e., two years,
1.5 years, one year). A lesser amount may be due if the NEO becomes eligible to receive healthcare coverage from a
subsequent employer.

For purposes of this table, the market value per restricted share and LTIP Unit is assumed to be $14.50 (the estimated
net asset value per share of our class A common stock, calculated as of June 30, 2024. Such amounts include accrued
and unpaid distributions due upon vesting. For performance-based awards such amounts were determined assuming
targeted (100%) performance was achieved for the 2024, 2023 and 2022 grants.

Consists of accrued and unused paid time off, pursuant to the definition of “Accrued Obligations” contained in our
Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan.

With respect to the treatment of equity awards upon termination not involving a Change of Control: (i) any unvested
time-based equity awards that would have otherwise vested over the 12-month period following the date of termination
will immediately vest; and (ii) any unvested performance-based equity awards that remain outstanding on the date of
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termination shall remain outstanding and eligible to be earned following the completion of the performance period
based on achievement of performance goals, vesting pro rata if such award becomes earned based on days employed
during the performance period. For such performance -based awards, the table above assumes that performance-based
awards for 2024, 2023 and 2022, performance goals were achieved at target.

With respect to the treatment of equity awards in the case of termination following a Change of Control: (i) all
unvested time-based equity awards vest and become exercisable immediately prior to the Change of Control; and

(ii) any performance-based awards that were assumed in connection with the Change of Control and remain unvested
on a termination date that occurs within 12 months following the Change of Control shall (2) to the extent only subject
to time-based vesting as of the termination date, immediately vest on the termination date, or (b) to the extent subject to
performance-based vesting as of the termination date, remain outstanding and eligible to be earned following
completion of the performance period based on achievement of performance goals, and to the extent earned (if at all)
shall vest on a pro rata basis based on days employed during the performance period through the termination date. The
table above assumes that performance-based awards for 2024, 2023 and 2022, performance goals were achieved at
target.

In the event of a termination due to death or disability, such NEO is entitled to: (i) a pro rata portion of his annual cash
performance bonus, as determined by the Compensation Committee based on actual performance for the performance
period and number of days employed during such period, (ii) the immediate vesting of all unvested time-based equity
awards, and (iii) any unvested performance awards that remain outstanding on the date of termination shall remain
outstanding and eligible to be earned following the completion of the performance period based on achievement of
performance goals, vesting pro rata if such award becomes earned based on days employed during the performance
period. The amounts herein make the following assumptions: (i) the performance components of the cash bonuses were
achieved at target for 2024, and (ii) the performance goals for the performance-based equity awards for 2024, 2023 and
2022 were achieved at target.

Includes $200,000 in proceeds from a life insurance policy purchased by us, which benefits are payable to

Mr. Schwartz’s beneficiary upon his death.

Under Sections 280G and 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, a 20% excise tax is imposed upon
certain individuals who receive payments in connection with a “change in control” if the payments received by them
equal or exceed an amount generally approximating 3x their average annual compensation. The excise tax may be
imposed on all such payments generally exceeding 1x an individual’s average annual compensation. The Executive
Severance and Change of Control Plan provides that for certain “change in control” events, the participant will be
entitled to an associated tax “gross-up” payment to cover the cost of this excise tax and related income taxes. Upon the
listing of our shares on a nationally recognized stock exchange, the participants will no longer be entitled to an
associated tax “gross-up” payment. However, the information in this table is presented as of the last business day of our
last completed fiscal year, and a listing event had not yet occurred at that time. Accordingly, the table above assumes
that such a “change in control” event occurred and the participants were entitled to the associated tax “gross-up”
payment.

A NEO will not be entitled to receive any of these payments or benefits, other than the Accrued Obligations, unless the
NEO has entered into a general release in favor of us and our affiliates, and the NEO will be entitled to receive such
payments or benefits only so long as such NEO has not materially breached any of the provisions of the general release
or the non-competition, non-solicitation, non-disclosure, non-disparagement and other similar restrictive covenants set
forth in the NEO’s letter agreement entered into pursuant to the Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan,
which contains various obligations by the NEO to us such as (a) a confidentiality covenant that extends indefinitely,
(b) a non-compete provision while the executive is employed by us, (c) certain employee, investor and customer non-
solicitation covenants that extend during the executive’s employment and for a period of time after separation (18
months for CEQ, or President, 12 months for Chief Investment Officer or Chief Accounting Officer, or 9 months for all
other NEOs), and (d) a non-disparagement provision.

The terms “Cause,” “Good Reason,” and “Change of Control” have the following definitions as set forth in our

Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan:

. “Cause” is generally defined to mean: (i) willful fraud or material dishonesty in the performance of the
executive’s duties; (ii) deliberate or intentional failure by the executive to substantially perform his duties
(other than due to incapacity) after a written notice is delivered describing such failures; (iii) willful
misconduct by the executive that is materially detrimental to our or our affiliates’ reputation, goodwill or
business operations; (iv) willful disclosure of our confidential information or trade secrets; (v) a breach of
any restrictive covenants contained within the Participant’s letter agreement entered into pursuant to our
Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan, which contains various obligations by the executive to
us such as (a) a confidentiality covenant that extends indefinitely, (b) a non-compete provision while the
executive is employed by us, (c) certain employee, investor and customer non-solicitation covenants that
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extend during the executives employment and for a period of time after separation (18 months for CEO or
President, 12 months for Chief Investment Officer or Chief Accounting Officer, or nine months for all
other NEOs), and (d) a non-disparagement provision; or (vi) the conviction of, or a plea of no contest to a
charge of, a felony or crime of moral turpitude.

. “Good Reason” is generally defined to mean, without the Participant’s consent: (i) a material diminution
of base salary, target bonus, target annual equity compensation opportunity, or other annual incentive
opportunity; (ii) a material reduction in authority, title, duties or responsibilities; (iii) relocation of
principal place of employment greater than thirty (30) miles; or (iv) failure of any successor to us
following a Change of Control to assume our Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan and its
obligations.

. “Change of Control” is generally defined to mean: (i) any person acquiring our securities representing at
least 50% of the voting power; (ii) certain mergers (unless our stockholders continue to own at least 50%
of the combined voting power of the resulting entity at the time of the merger); (iii) a change in the
majority of our Board during any 12-month period that is not approved by a majority of directors; (iv) a
sale of all or substantially all of our assets; or (v) adoption of a plan of liquidation.

Our Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan provides the following payments upon the occurrence of a
Change of Control:

. All unvested time-based equity awards vest and become exercisable immediately prior to the Change of
Control; and

. All unvested performance-based equity awards that are not continued or assumed by the successor entity
in connection with the Change of Control vest and become exercisable immediately prior to the Change
of Control based on actual achievement of the applicable performance goals through the date of the
Change of Control, as determined in the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee.

Time-Based Performance-
Equity Based
Name Awards Equity Awards Dividends Total
H. Michael Schwartz $ 3,823,169 $ 1,881,314 $ 112,101 $ 5,816,584
James Barry $ 438,567 $ 212,337 % 12434 % 663,338
Wayne Johnson $ 358,163 $ 191,191 $ 12501 $ 561,855
Joe Robinson $ 425,016 $ 206,977 $ 12,196 $ 644,189
Michael Terjung $ 224,762 $ 121,415 $ 7978 $ 354,155

The above table assumes a change of control as of December 31, 2024 and a price per share of our common stock of
$14.50, the estimated net asset value per share of our class A common stock, calculated as of June 30, 2024. This table
also assumes that (i) no performance-based awards were continued or assumed by the successor entity in connection
with the Change of Control, and (ii) all applicable performance goals were achieved at target. Included in the table
above are the accrued distributions due based on the assumed achievement of the performance-based equity awards, as
applicable.

CEO Pay Ratio
Pursuant to SEC rules, we are disclosing the ratio of the annual total compensation of our Chief Executive Officer,

which as of December 31, 2024 was H. Michael Schwartz, to the annual total compensation of our median employee.

To identify our median employee, we examined annual total compensation consisting of all cash compensation,
including bonuses for all of our employees for 2024 that were still employed as of December 31, 2024. We did not make any
assumptions, adjustments (including cost of living adjustments), or estimates with respect to such total compensation, and we
did not annualize the compensation for any full-time employees who were not employed by us for all of 2024.

The 2024 annual total compensation for our median employee as determined based on SEC rules was approximately
$38,471. The 2024 annual total compensation for our Chief Executive Officer as determined based on SEC rules was
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$5,109,915. Based on this information, the ratio of our Chief Executive Officer’s annual total compensation to our median
employee’s annual total compensation for fiscal year 2024 is 133 to 1.

Director Compensation for the Year Ended December 31, 2024
Summary

The following table provides a summary of the compensation earned by or paid to our directors for the year ended
December 31, 2024:

Change in
Pension
Fees Value and
Earned or Non-Equity Nonqualified
Paid Stock Option Incentive Plan Deferred All Other
Name in Cash Awards®  Awards Compensation Compensation Compensation® Total
H. Michael Schwartz $ — 3 —$ — 3 — 3 — $ 245 $ 245
Paula M. Mathews $ 64,000 ® $ 80,000 $ — $ — 3 — 3 393 $144,393
Timothy S. Morris $ 96,500 @ $ 80,000 $ — $ — $ — $ 941 $177,441
David J. Mueller $ 99,000 ® $ 80,000 $ — $ — $ — $ 393 $179,393
Harold “Skip” Perry $106,500 @ $ 80,000 $ — $ — 3 — $ 245 $186,745

® This column represents the full grant date fair value in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.

@ Represents payment of life insurance premiums covering each of the members of our Board for the benefit of such
director’s beneficiaries.

® Amount includes total fees earned or paid during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Terms of Director Compensation

Each of our non-employee directors receive compensation for their service in the form of both cash and equity, as
described below. Membership on our committees is comprised solely of independent directors.

Role Amount

Director Cash Retainer $ 62,500
Lead Independent Director (supplemental) $ 10,000
Audit Committee Chair (supplemental) $ 20,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Chair (supplemental) $ 15,000
Compensation Committee Chair (supplemental) $ 15,000
Audit Committee Non-Chair (supplemental) $ 10,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Non-Chair (supplemental) $ 7,500
Compensation Committee Non-Chair (supplemental) $ 7,500
Potential Additional Per Meeting Fees* $ 1,500

* In the event that the board of directors or any committee thereof meets more than 10 times per year, a per meeting fee of
$1,500 will be paid for each meeting thereafter.

Upon re-election for membership on our board of directors, our non-employee directors receive an annual equity award
with a market value of $80,000, which vests one year from the date of the director’s re-election.

2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards to Independent Directors

In March 2022, following the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, our board of directors approved the
Equity Incentive Plan, which was approved by our stockholders at our 2022 annual meeting of stockholders. The Equity
Incentive Plan became effective when it was approved by our stockholders, and it replaced our prior incentive plan, known as
the Employee and Director Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Prior Plan™). From and after the effective date of the Equity
Incentive Plan, no further awards have been or will be made under the Prior Plan.

The purpose of the Equity Incentive Plan is to encourage and enable our and our subsidiaries’ eligible employees,
directors, consultants, and other key persons, upon whose judgment, initiative, and efforts we largely depend for the
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successful conduct of our business, to acquire a proprietary interest in us. Pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plan, we may issue
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock unit awards, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards,
unrestricted stock awards, dividend equivalent rights, LTIP Units, other equity-based awards, and cash-based awards.

The total number of shares of our class A common stock and our class T common stock, in the aggregate, authorized
and reserved for issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan is equal to 10,000,000 shares. As of December 31, 2024, there
were approximately 8,769,928 shares available for issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan. The term of the Equity Incentive
Plan is 10 years. In the event of a consolidation or merger in which we are not the surviving corporation, or a sale of all or
substantially all of our assets, in which outstanding shares of our stock are exchanged for securities, cash, or other property of
an unrelated corporation or business entity, or in the event of our liquidation, the board of directors of any corporation
assuming our obligations, may, in its discretion, take any one or more of the following actions as to outstanding awards under
the Equity Incentive Plan: (i) provide that the awards may be assumed or substituted or (ii) upon written notice to
participants, provide that all awards will terminate upon consummation of such a transaction. In the event that awards are not
assumed or substituted, except as otherwise provided by the Compensation Committee in the award agreement or other
agreement between the holder of an award and us, upon the effective time of such transaction, all awards will become vested
and exercisable and vested awards, other than stock options, shall be fully settled in cash or in kind at such appropriate
consideration as determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion after taking into account the consideration
payable per share pursuant to such transaction, or the “merger price,” and all stock options shall be fully settled in cash or in
kind in an amount equal to the difference between the merger price and the exercise price of the options; provided that each
participant may be permitted to exercise all outstanding options within a specified period determined by the Compensation
Committee prior to such.

In the event the board of directors or the Compensation Committee determines that any distribution, recapitalization,
stock split, reorganization, merger, liquidation, dissolution or sale, transfer, exchange or other disposition of all or
substantially all of our assets, or other similar corporate transaction or event, affects our stock such that an adjustment is
appropriate in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available
under the Equity Incentive Plan or with respect to an award, then our board of directors or Compensation Committee shall, in
such manner as it may deem equitable, adjust the number and kind of shares or the exercise price with respect to any award.

As of December 31, 2024, (i) Mr. Mueller has received a total of 46,444 shares of restricted stock or LTIP units, of
which 40,539 shares or LTIP units have vested, and (ii) Mr. Morris has received a total of 44,074 shares of restricted stock of
which 38,463 shares have vested, and (iii) Mr. Perry has received a total of 44,789 shares of restricted stock of which 38,884
shares have vested and (iv) Ms. Mathews has received a total of 35,444 shares of restricted stock or LTIP units, of which
29,539 shares or LTIP units have vested.

Director Life Insurance Policies

We purchased life insurance policies covering each of the members of our board of directors for the benefit of such
director’s beneficiaries. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we paid total premiums of $2,217 on such life insurance
policies. Of this amount, $245 was attributed to the policy covering H. Michael Schwartz, $393 was attributed to the policy
covering Paula M. Mathews, $941 was attributed to the policy covering Timothy S. Morris, $393 was attributed to the policy
covering David J. Mueller, and $245 was attributed to the policy covering Harold “Skip” Perry.

ITEM12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Beneficial Ownership of the Company’s Stock

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2024, the amount of our common stock beneficially owned by:
(1) each of our directors and executive officers; (2) our directors and executive officers as a group; and (3) any person who is
known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of any class of our common stock. There were a total of
approximately 96.0 million shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024.
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Common Stock

Common Issuable Upon
Stock Conversion or
Beneficially Exchange of Percent of

Name and Address® of Beneficial Owner® Owned Other Securities Total Ownership®
Directors and Executive Officers
H. Michael Schwartz, Chairman of the Board of
Directors and

Chief Executive Officer 600,484 @ 10,621,397 © 11,221,881 10.5%
Wayne Johnson, President and Chief Investment
Officer 23,452 586,915 610,367 *
Joe Robinson, Chief Operations Officer 9,322 56,313 65,635 *
James Barry, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer 11,103 177,236 188,339 *
Michael O. Terjung, Chief Accounting Officer 8,570 172,843 181,413 *
Nicholas M. Look, General Counsel and Secretary 4,285 81,914 86,199 *
Paula Mathews, Independent Director 28,706 120,448 149,154 *
David J. Mueller, Independent Director 28,763 11,776 40,539 *
Timothy S. Morris, Independent Director 44,072 — 44,072 *
Harold “Skip” Perry, Independent Director 38,384 6,016 44,400 *
All directors and executive officers as a group 797,141 11,834,858 12,631,999 11.7%
5% or Greater Stockholders
Extra Space Storage LP 18,761,726 — ® 18,761,726 16.3%

*

@

@

®

)

O]

(©)

Represents less than 1%.

The address of each director and executive officer is 10 Terrace Road, Ladera Ranch, California 92694. The address of
Extra Space Storage LP is 2795 East Cottonwood Parkway, Suite 300, Salt Lake City, Utah 84121.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules and generally includes voting or investment power
with respect to securities and shares issuable pursuant to options, warrants and similar rights held by the respective
person or group that may be exercised within 60 days following December 31, 2024. Except as otherwise indicated by
footnote, and subject to community property laws where applicable, the persons named in the table above have sole
voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by them.

For each person included in the table, percent of ownership is calculated by dividing the number of shares of our
common stock beneficially owned by that person by the sum of (a) the number of shares of our common stock
outstanding as of December 31, 2024 plus (b) the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by such
person that are attributable to OP Units that can be exchanged, restricted stock or LTIP Units that will vest, or Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock that can convert, within 60 days following December 31, 2024. OP Units may be
redeemed for cash, or at the Company’s option, an equal number of shares of common stock, subject to certain
restrictions. Once vested, LTIP Units are exchangeable into OP Units.

Includes 483,224 Class A shares owned by SmartStop OP Holdings, LLC, which is indirectly owned and controlled by
Mr. Schwartz. This also includes 117,260 shares of class A common Stock held by a family trust, as to which

Mr. Schwartz has shared voting and dispositive power.

Includes 9,976,882 Operating Partnership units owned by SmartStop OP Holdings, LLC, and 73 units owned by SS
Toronto REIT Advisors, Inc., which are indirectly owned and controlled by Mr. Schwartz. This also includes 644,326
Operating Partnership units held by a family trust, as to which Mr. Schwartz has shared voting and dispositive power.
This information is based solely on Extra Space Storage LP’s ownership of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.
The holders of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock have the right to convert any or all of the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock into shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2024, we had $200 million of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding which are convertible using a conversion price of $10.66; such conversion
price may be adjusted in connection with stock splits, stock dividends and other similar transactions.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides details of our 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "Plan") as of December 31, 2024,

under which we are able to issue various forms of equity based compensation.
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Number of Weighted Number of

Securities to Average Securities
be Issued Upon Exercise Remaining
Exercise of Price of for Future
Outstanding Outstanding Issuance
Options, Options, Under Equity
Warrants Warrants Compensation
Plan Category and Rights and Rights Plans®
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by
Security Holders — — 8,769,928

Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by
Security Holders — — —
Total — — 8,769,928

@ The total number of shares of stock reserved for issuance under the Plan is 10,000,000 shares in the aggregate, less
amounts already issued under the plan.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Related Transactions

Certain of our executive officers and one of our directors hold ownership interests in and/or are officers of SAM, our
former dealer manager, or other affiliated entities. Accordingly, any agreements or transactions we have entered into with
such entities may present a conflict of interest. For example, in the past, we have been a party to and are currently a party to
agreements giving rise to material transactions between us and our affiliates, including our dealer manager agreement with
our former dealer manager, our Transfer Agent Agreement (as defined below), and an Administrative Services Agreement (as
defined below). Our independent directors reviewed and approved the material transactions between us and our affiliates
arising out of these agreements. Set forth below is a description of the relevant transactions with our affiliates.

Terminated Agreement with Former Transfer Agent

SAM is the manager and sole member of Strategic Transfer Agent Services, LLC, our former transfer agent. Pursuant
to a Transfer Agent Agreement with our former transfer agent, our former transfer agent provided transfer agent and registrar
services to us. These services were substantially similar to what a third-party transfer agent would provide in the ordinary
course of performing its functions as a transfer agent, including, but not limited to: providing customer service to our
stockholders, processing the distributions and any servicing fees with respect to our shares, and issuing regular reports to our
stockholders. On April 29, 2024, we transitioned to a new unaffiliated third-party transfer agent, SS&C GIDS, Inc. In
connection with such transfer, we simultaneously terminated the transfer agent agreement our former transfer agent. In lieu of
a termination fee and in recognition of the additional cost and expenses incurred by our former transfer agent in connection
with the transition, we paid our former transfer agent a transition fee of $150,000 in May 2024.

Administrative Services Agreement

On June 28, 2019, we, along with our Operating Partnership and certain other subsidiaries of ours (collectively, the
“Company Parties”), entered into an Administrative Services Agreement with SAM (the “Administrative Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company Parties will be reimbursed for providing certain operational and administrative
services to SAM which may include, without limitation, accounting and financial support, IT support, HR support, advisory
services and operations support, and administrative support as set forth in the Administrative Services Agreement and SAM
will be reimbursed for providing certain operational and administrative services to the Company Parties which may include,
without limitation, due diligence support, marketing, fulfillment and offering support, events support, insurance support, and
administrative and facilities support. SAM will receive a monthly administrative service fee for providing its services and the
Company Parties will receive monthly reimbursement based on the amount of services provided under the Administrative
Services Agreement. SAM also paid the Company Parties an allocation of rent and overhead for the portion of the Ladera
Office that it occupied during 2022. Such agreement had an initial term of three years, with automatic one-year renewals, and
is subject to certain adjustments as defined in the agreement.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we incurred fees and reimbursements payable to SAM under the

Administrative Services Agreement of approximately $0.8 million. We also recorded reimbursements from SAM of
approximately $0.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 related to services provided to SAM. As of
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December 31, 2024, a receivable of approximately $12,000 was due from SAM related to the Administrative Services
Agreement.

Registration Rights Agreement

On June 28, 2019, in connection with the Self Administration Transaction, we and our Operating Partnership entered
into a registration rights agreement with SmartStop OP Holdings, LLC and certain other parties (collectively, the “Holders™).
Pursuant to the registration rights agreement, the Holders have the right to request that we register for resale under the
Securities Act shares of our common stock issued or issuable to such Holder. We are required to use commercially
reasonable efforts to file a registration statement on Form S-3 within 30 days of such request and within 60 days of such
request in the case of a registration statement on Form S-11 or such other appropriate form. Upon any such filing, we will
seek to cause such registration statement to become effective as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. The registration
rights agreement also grants the Holders certain “piggyback” registration rights.

Property Management Agreement

We serve as the property manager for a self storage property in which SAM holds a minority interest. For the year
ended December 31, 2024, we earned approximately $143,000 in property management fees for providing such management
services.

Sponsor Funding Agreement

On November 1, 2023, SmartStop REIT Advisors, LLC, our indirect subsidiary that serves as the sponsor for our
Managed REIT Platform (“SRA”), entered into a sponsor funding agreement with Strategic Storage Trust VI, Inc. (“SST
VI”) and Strategic Storage Operating Partnership VI, L.P. (“SST VI OP”), in connection with certain changes to the public
offering of SST VI.

Pursuant to the sponsor funding agreement, SRA, as sponsor of the SST VI offering, has agreed to fund the payment of
(i) the upfront 3% sales commission for the sale of shares of SST VI’s Class Y common stock sold in the SST VI offering,
(ii) the upfront 3% dealer manager fee for the Class Y Shares sold in the SST VI offering, and (iii) the estimated 1%
organization and offering expenses for the sale of Class Y Shares and shares of SST VI’s Class Z common stock sold in the
SST VI offering. SRA also agreed to reimburse SST VI in cash to cover the dilution from certain one-time stock dividends
which will be issued by SST VI to existing stockholders in connection with the sponsor funding changes to the SST VI
offering, which reimbursement is estimated to be approximately six million dollars.

In consideration for SRA providing the funding for the front-end sales load and the cash to cover the dilution from the
stock dividends described above, SST VI OP will issue a number of Series C Subordinated Convertible Units of limited
partnership interest in SST VI OP (the “Series C Units”) to SRA equal to the dollar amount of such funding divided by the
then-current offering price for the Class Y Shares and Class Z Shares sold in the SST VI offering, which will initially be
$9.30 per share. Pursuant to the sponsor funding agreement, SRA will reimburse SST VI monthly for the applicable front-end
sales load it has agreed to fund, and SST VI OP will issue the Series C Units on a monthly basis upon such reimbursement.
The sponsor funding agreement will terminate immediately upon the date that SST VI ceases to offer the Class Y Shares and
Class Z Shares in the SST VI offering.

On November 1, 2023, SRA entered into Amendment No. 3 to the Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership
Agreement of SST VI OP with SST VI and SST VI OP containing, among other things, the terms of the Series C Units. The
Series C Units shall initially have no distribution, voting, or other rights to participate in SST VI OP unless and until such
Series C Units are converted into Class A Units of SST VI OP. The Series C Units shall automatically convert into Class A
Units on a one-to-one basis upon SST VI’s disclosure of an estimated net asset value per share equal to at least $10.00 per
share for each class of SST VI shares of common stock, including the Class Y Shares and Class Z Shares, calculated net of
the value of the Series C Units to be converted.

Through December 31, 2024, we have incurred approximately $9.3 million in connection with the Sponsor Funding
Agreement, representing approximately 1.0 million Series C Units issued by the SST VI operating partnership. During the
year ended December 31, 2024 we incurred approximately $2.4 million, of which approximately $0.2 million was accrued as
a payable pursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement.
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As of December 31, 2024, the maximum remaining commitment of SRA pursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement
was approximately $61.2 million, assuming SST VI were to sell the maximum remaining shares available under its current
offering of approximately 87.4 million.

Fees Paid to our Affiliates

Pursuant to the terms of the agreements described above, the following table summarizes certain related party costs
incurred and paid by us for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and any related amounts payable as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 (amounts in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Year Ended December 31, 2024
Incurred Paid Payable Incurred Paid Payable
Expensed
Transfer Agent fees $ 1,479  $ 1,473 3% 7% % 661 $ 715 % 21
Other
Other — — 341 — — 341
Total $ 1479 $ 1473 3 416 $ 661 $ 715  $ 362

Director Independence

While our shares are not listed for trading on any national securities exchange, as required by our charter, a majority of
the members of our board of directors and each committee of our board of directors are “independent” as determined by our
board of directors by applying the definition of “independent” adopted by the NYSE and applicable rules and regulations of
the SEC. Our board of directors has determined that Messrs. Morris, Mueller, and Perry and Ms. Mathews each meet the
relevant definition of “independent.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Relationship with Principal Auditor
Overview

On the recommendation of the Audit Committee, our board of directors has appointed BDO as our independent
registered public accounting firm (“independent auditor”), for the year ending December 31, 2025. Although stockholder
ratification of the appointment of our independent auditor is not required by our bylaws or otherwise, we are submitting the
selection of BDO to our stockholders for ratification as a matter of good corporate governance practice. Even if the selection
is ratified, the Audit Committee reserves the right to select a new independent auditor at any time in the future in its
discretion if it deems such decision to be in the best interests of the Company. Any such decision would be disclosed to our
stockholders in accordance with applicable securities laws. If our stockholders do not ratify the Audit Committee’s selection,
the Audit Committee will take that fact into consideration, together with such other factors it deems relevant, in determining
its next selection of our independent registered public accounting firm.

Representatives of BDO are expected to be present via webcast at the annual meeting and will have an opportunity to
make a statement if they desire. The representatives will also be available to respond to appropriate questions from our
stockholders.

Pre-Approval Policies

The Audit Committee Charter requires that the Audit Committee pre-approve all auditing services performed for the
Company by our independent auditor, as well as all permitted non-audit services (including the fees and terms thereof) in
order to ensure that the provision of such services does not impair the auditor’s independence. In determining whether or not
to pre-approve services, the Audit Committee considers whether the service is permissible under applicable SEC rules. The
Audit Committee may, in its discretion, delegate one or more of its members the authority to pre-approve any services to be
performed by our independent auditor, provided such pre-approval is presented to the full Audit Committee at its next
scheduled meeting.

All services rendered by BDO for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were pre-approved in accordance with
the policies set forth above.
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Fees to Principal Auditor

The Audit Committee reviewed the audit and non-audit services performed by BDO, as well as the fees charged by
BDO for such services. The aggregate fees for professional accounting services provided by BDO, including the audit of our
annual financial statements, for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are set forth in the table below.

BDO USA, P.C. for the Year BDO USA, P.C. for the Year

Ended Ended
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
Audit Fees $ 832,334 $ 522,800
Audit-Related Fees — —
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees — —
Total $ 832,334 $ 522,800

For purposes of the preceding table, the professional fees are classified as follows:

e Audit Fees — These are fees for professional services performed for the audit of our annual financial statements
and the required review of our quarterly financial statements and other procedures performed by the
independent auditors to be able to form an opinion on our financial statements. These fees also cover services
that are normally provided by independent auditors in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or
engagements, and services that generally only an independent auditor reasonably can provide, such as services
associated with filing registration statements, periodic reports and other filings with the SEC.

e Audit-Related Fees — These are fees for assurance and related services that traditionally are performed by an
independent auditor, such as due diligence related to acquisitions and dispositions, audits related to
acquisitions, attestation services that are not required by statute or regulation, internal control reviews, and
consultation concerning financial accounting and reporting standards.

e Tax Fees — These are fees for all professional services performed by professional staff in our independent
auditor’s tax division, except those services related to the audit of our financial statements. These include fees
for tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice, including federal, state and local issues. Such services may
also include assistance with tax audits and appeals before the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and similar state
and local agencies, as well as federal, state and local tax issues related to due diligence.

e All Other Fees — These are fees for other permissible work performed that do not meet one of the above-
described categories.
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PART IV

ITEM15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(@) List of Documents Filed.
1. The list of the financial statements contained herein is set forth on page F-1 hereof.

2. Schedule Il - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation is set forth beginning on page S-1 hereof. All
other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not
required under the related instructions or are not applicable and therefore have been omitted.

3. The Exhibits filed in response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed on the Exhibit Index below.
(b) See (a) 3 above.
(c) See (a) 2 above.

ITEM16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
None.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.
Ladera Ranch, California

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc. (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), equity and
temporary equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes
and financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered
with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal
control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on
a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or
complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing separate
opinions on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Real Estate Purchase Price Allocation

As described in Note 3 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the Company completed the acquisition of eight
self-storage properties for $187.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company allocates the purchase price
of an asset acquisition to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their relative fair
values as of the acquisition date. The fair value of these assets and liabilities were determined as of the acquisition dates using
multiple valuation techniques.

We identified the estimation of the fair values of the land and buildings used in the real estate purchase price allocations as a
critical audit matter because of the level of judgment required to estimate the fair values of the acquired land and buildings.
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Auditing the fair value measurements involved especially subjective auditor judgments due to the nature and extent of audit
effort required, including the use of personnel with specialized knowledge and skills.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

o Utilizing personnel with specialized knowledge and skills in valuation to compare independent market data to
management’s selected comparable sales.

o Utilizing personnel with specialized knowledge and skills in valuation to assess the fair value of acquired
buildings by performing an independent cost approach and comparing the independently computed cost to build
with management’s fair value determination.

/s/ BDO USA, P.C.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.

Costa Mesa, California

March 12, 2025
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SMARTSTOP SELF STORAGE REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,

2024 2023
ASSETS
Real estate facilities:
Land $ 480,539 430,869
Buildings 1,516,095 1,401,981
Site improvements 94,562 91,896
2,091,196 1,924,746
Accumulated depreciation (305,132) (255,844)
1,786,064 1,668,902
Construction in process 9,503 5,977
Real estate facilities, net 1,795,567 1,674,879
Cash and cash equivalents 23,112 45,079
Restricted cash 6,189 8,348
Investments in unconsolidated real estate ventures (Note 4) 38,797 35,832
Investments in and advances to Managed REITs 57,722 34,391
Deferred tax assets 4,310 4,450
Other assets, net 33,538 21,701
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 6,766 1,170
Trademarks, net of accumulated amortization 15,700 15,771
Goodwill 53,643 53,643
Debt issuance costs, net of accumulated amortization 6,723 377
Total assets $ 2,042,067 1,895,641
LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY, AND EQUITY
Debt, net $ 1,317,435 1,087,401
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 38,113 28,978
Due to affiliates 362 416
Distributions payable 9,257 9,156
Deferred tax liabilities 5,954 6,194
Total liabilities 1,371,121 1,132,145
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Redeemable common stock 62,042 71,277
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized:
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000 shares
authorized; 200,000 and 200,000 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, with aggregate
liquidation preferences of $203,400 and $203,151 at
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively 196,356 196,356
Equity:
SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.:
Class A common stock, $0.001 par value; 350,000,000 shares
authorized; 87,883,268 and 88,761,135 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively 89 89
Class T common stock, $0.001 par value; 350,000,000 shares
authorized; 8,153,863 and 8,113,827 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively 8 8
Additional paid-in capital 895,118 894,857
Distributions (382,160) (324,191)
Accumulated deficit (185,649) (167,270)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (1,708) 847
Total SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc. equity 325,698 404,340
Noncontrolling interests in our Operating Partnership 86,470 91,488
Other noncontrolling interests 380 85
Total noncontrolling interests 86,850 91,523
Total equity 412,548 495,863
Total liabilities, temporary equity and equity $ 2,042,067 1,895,641

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SMARTSTOP SELF STORAGE REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Revenues:
Self storage rental revenue $ 209,579 $ 206,494 $ 191,750
Ancillary operating revenue 9,397 8,827 8,446
Managed REIT Platform revenues 11,383 11,906 7,819
Reimbursable costs from Managed REITs 6,647 5,765 4,628
Total revenues 237,006 232,992 212,643
Operating expenses:
Property operating expenses 70,684 65,363 58,437
Managed REIT Platform expenses 3,982 3,365 2,485
Reimbursable costs from Managed REITs 6,647 5,764 4,628
General and administrative 29,948 27,452 28,254
Depreciation 55,175 53,636 49,418
Intangible amortization expense 935 6,594 15,201
Acquisition expenses 413 193 888
Contingent earnout adjustment — — 1,514
Write-off of equity interest and preexisting
relationships upon acquisition of control — — 2,050
Total operating expenses 167,784 162,367 162,875
Gain on equity interests upon acquisition — — 16,101
Income from operations 69,222 70,625 65,869
Other income (expense):
Equity in earnings (losses) from
investments in JV Properties (1,380) (1,625) (760)
Equity in earnings (losses) from
investments in Managed REITs (1,414) (1,273) (930)
Other, net (1,282) (231) (998)
Interest income 3,247 3,360 1,838
Interest expense (72,325) (61,805) (41,512)
Loss on debt extinguishment (471) — (2,393)
Income tax (expense) benefit (1,484) 2,596 555
Net income (loss) (5,887) 11,647 21,669
Net (income) loss attributable to
noncontrolling interests 266 (1,893) (2,847)
Less: Distributions to preferred stockholders (12,758) (12,500) (12,500)
Net income (loss) attributable to SmartStop Self
Storage REIT, Inc. common stockholders $ (18,379) $ (2,746) $ 6,322
Net income (loss) per Class A & Class T share — basic $ 0.20) $ (0.03) $ 0.07
Net income (loss) per Class A & Class T share — diluted $ (0.20) $ (0.03) $ 0.07
Weighted average Class A shares outstanding — basic 88,427,383 88,706,340 83,857,222
Weighted average Class A shares outstanding — diluted 88,427,383 88,706,340 83,974,488
Weighted average Class T shares outstanding — basic 8,130,270 8,101,599 8,081,950
Weighted average Class T shares outstanding — diluted 8,130,270 8,101,599 8,081,950

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



SMARTSTOP SELF STORAGE REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Amounts in thousands)

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Net income (loss) $ (5,887) $ 11,647 $ 21,669
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustment (3,915) 1,481 (3,832)
Foreign currency hedge contract gains (losses) 3,617 (1,066) 3,355
Interest rate swap and cap contract gains (losses) (2,606) (3,594) 4,907
Other comprehensive income (loss) (2,904) (3,179) 4,430
Comprehensive income (loss) (8,791) 8,468 26,099

Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to

noncontrolling interests:
Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to

noncontrolling interests 615 (1,522) (3,342)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to

SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.

stockholders $ (8,176) $ 6,946 $ 22,757

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SMARTSTOP SELF STORAGE REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Change in deferred tax assets and liabilities

Accretion of fair market value adjustment of secured debt
Amortization of debt issuance costs

Equity based compensation expense

Non-cash adjustment from equity method investments in JV Properties
Non-cash adjustment from equity method investments in Managed REITs

Accretion of financing fee revenues

Contingent earnout adjustment

Unrealized foreign currency and derivative (gains) losses
Loss on debt extinguishment

Issuance of noncontrolling interest in SST VI Advisor
Non-cash adjustments for sponsor funding reduction
Gain on equity interests upon acquisition

Write-off of equity interest and preexisting relationships upon acquisition of control —

Increase (decrease) in cash from changes in assets and liabilities:
Other assets, net
Managed REITSs receivables
Due to affiliates
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Payment for SOFR interest rate caps
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of real estate
Additions to real estate and construction in process
Insurance proceeds on insured property damage
Deposits on acquisition of real estate
Settlement of foreign currency hedges designated for hedge accounting
Capital distributions from Managed REITs
Investments in unconsolidated JV Properties
Capital distributions from unconsolidated JV Properties
SSGT IlI Bridge Loan funding
SSGT 111 Bridge Loan repayment
SSGT I1l Promissory Note funding
SSGT 111 Mezzanine Loan funding
SSGT Il Mezzanine Loan repayment
SST VI Note funding
SST VI Mezzanine Loan funding
SST VI Mezzanine Loan repayment
SST VI preferred equity investment
SST VI preferred equity investment redemption
Purchase of SST VI Subordinated Class C Units
Purchase of other assets
SSGT Il Merger, net of cash acquired
Investments in Managed REITS
Net proceeds from the sale of real estate
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Gross proceeds from issuance of non-credit facility debt
Repayment of non-credit facility debt
Scheduled principal payments on non-credit facility debt
Proceeds from issuance of credit facility debt
Repayment of credit facility debt
Debt issuance costs
Debt defeasance costs
Offering costs
Redemption of common stock
Restricted stock withholding for payroll taxes
Gross proceeds from issuance of equity in other non controlling interests
Distributions paid to preferred stockholders
Distributions paid to common stockholders
Distributions paid to noncontrolling interests in our OP
Distributions paid to other noncontrolling interests
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Impact of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and restricted cash
Change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash beginning of year
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash end of year

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2024 2023 2022
$ (5,887) $ 11,647  $ 21,669
56,110 60,230 64,619
845 (3,301) (1,073)
120 13 (36)
4,115 2,728 2,594
5,258 5,258 3,968
1,380 1,625 760
1,414 1,694 930
(181) (664) (681)
— — 1,514
2,092 (1,035) 8,497
471 — 2,393
330 — —
844 34 —
— — (16,101)
— 2,050
(639) 958 (780)
(10,049) (2,751) 365
(54) 6 (18)
7,858 (3,251) 3,293
— — (6,054)
64,027 73,191 87,909
(146,360) (15,617) (72,513)
(11,464) (10,466) (10,415)
500 1,726 —
(3,822) (753) (1,384)
1,939 2,851 —
616 597 —
(8,890) (9,517) (4,823)
1,816 1,321 —
(20,000) — —
17,023 — —
(7,000) — —
— (16,000) (59,500)
4,000 29,500 42,000
(8,000) (15,000) —
— (15,000) (28,200)
— 50,000 —
— (15,000) —
— 15,000 —
(1,217) (3,197) =
(79) (183) —
— = (65,541)
— — (5,003)
— — 228
(180,938) 262 (205,151)
175,440 80,149 150,000
(20,000) (12,017) (86,237)
(3,524) (2,639) (2,513)
669,950 135,000 318,000
(623,808) (184,512) (183,000)
(10,076) (871) (2,082)
— — (2,544)
(144) (11) (601)
(33,845) (18,992) (1,763)
(219) (247) —
— — 1
(12,509) (12,500) (12,500)
(37,377) (40,598) (49,392)
(8,606) (8,273) (7,033)
(466) (588) (269)
94,816 (66,099) 120,067
(2,031) 35 (1,473)
(24,126) 7,389 1,352
53,427 46,038 44,686
$ 29301 $ 53427 $ 46,038
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SMARTSTOP SELF STORAGE REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in thousands)

Supplemental disclosures and non-cash transactions:

Cash paid for interest, net of capitalized interest

Cash paid for income taxes

Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities:

Issuance of shares pursuant to distribution reinvestment plan

Distributions payable

Real estate and construction in process included in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities

Acquisition of real estate with 2027 Ladera Ranch Loan

Deposit applied to the purchase of real estate

Redemption of common stock included in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities

Earnest deposits on acquisitions assigned to the Managed REITSs,
amounts reclassified to Managed REIT's receivables

Intangible assets applied to the purchase of real estate

Conversion of A-2 Units into A-1 Units

Issuance of common stock and OP Units in connection with the mergers

@ B B @ B

© +# B

© B B P

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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17,636
9,156
433

400
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SMARTSTOP SELF STORAGE REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

Note 1. Organization

SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), is a self-managed and fully-integrated
self storage real estate investment trust (“REIT”), formed on January 8, 2013 under the Maryland General Corporation Law.
Our year-end is December 31. As used in this report, “we,” “us,” “our,” and “Company” refer to SmartStop Self Storage
REIT, Inc. and each of our subsidiaries.

We acquire and own self storage facilities; we also operate self storage facilities owned by us as well as those owned
by the entities sponsored by us. As of December 31, 2024, we wholly-owned 161 self storage facilities located in 19 states
(Alabama, Arizona, California, Colorado, Florida, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, New Jersey,
Nevada, North Carolina, Ohio, South Carolina, Texas, Virginia, Washington, and Wisconsin), the District of Columbia, and
Canada.

As discussed herein, we, through our subsidiaries, currently serve as the sponsor of Strategic Storage Trust VI, Inc., a
publicly-registered non-traded REIT (“SST VI”), and Strategic Storage Growth Trust 11, Inc., a private REIT (“SSGT I1I”
and together with SST VI, the “Managed REITs” or, the "Managed REIT Platform"). We also served as the sponsor of
Strategic Storage Growth Trust I, Inc., a private REIT (“SSGT 11”) through June 1, 2022, the date on which we closed on the
merger with SSGT I (the “SSGT Il Merger™), as defined in Note 3 — Real Estate Facilities. Prior to June 1, 2022, SSGT II
was also included in the “Managed REITs.”

We operate the properties owned by the Managed REITs, which together with one other self storage property we
manage, as of December 31, 2024, represented 37 operating properties and approximately 29,000 units and 3.2 million
rentable square feet. Through our Managed REIT Platform, we originate, structure, and manage additional self storage
investment products.

SmartStop OP, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”) owns, directly or indirectly through one or more subsidiaries, all of
the self storage properties that we own. As of December 31, 2024, we owned approximately 88% of the common units of
limited partnership interests of our Operating Partnership. The remaining approximately 12% of the common units are owned
by current and former employees, members of our executive management team, board members, or indirectly by Strategic
Asset Management I, LLC (f/k/a SmartStop Asset Management, LLC), our former sponsor (“SAM?”), its affiliates, and
affiliates of Select Capital Corporation, the former dealer manager of our offering (the “Former Dealer Manager”). As the
sole general partner of our Operating Partnership, we have the exclusive power to manage and conduct the business of our
Operating Partnership.

We commenced our initial public offering in January 2014, in which we offered a maximum of $1.0 billion in common
shares for sale to the public (the “Primary Offering”) and $95.0 million in common shares for sale pursuant to our
distribution reinvestment plan (collectively, the “Offering”). At the termination of our Offering in January 2017, we had sold
approximately 48 million of our class A common stock (“Class A Shares™), and approximately 7 million shares of class T
common stock ("Class T Shares") for approximately $493 million and $73 million respectively.

In November 2016, we filed with the SEC a Registration Statement on Form S-3, which registered up to an additional
$100.9 million in shares under our distribution reinvestment plan. On May 14, 2024, we filed a new Registration Statement
on Form S-3 with the SEC which registered up to an additional 4,500,000 Class A Shares and 500,000 Class T Shares under
our distribution reinvestment plan (our "DRP Offering").

As of December 31, 2024, we had sold approximately 10.6 million Class A Shares and approximately 1.4 million Class
T Shares through our distribution reinvestment plan, of which, approximately 0.5 million Class A Shares and approximately
0.1 million Class T Shares were sold under our current DRP Offering. The DRP Offering may be terminated at any time upon
10 days’ prior written notice to stockholders.

On January 15, 2024, our board of directors, upon recommendation of our Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee, approved an estimated net asset value per share of our common stock of $15.25 for our Class A Shares and Class
T Shares based on the estimated value of our assets less the estimated value of our liabilities, or net asset value, divided by
the number of shares outstanding on a fully diluted basis, calculated as of September 30, 2023.
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SMARTSTOP SELF STORAGE REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

On March 12, 2025, our board of directors, (the "Board"), upon recommendation of our Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee, approved an Estimated Per Share Net Asset Value ("NAV") of our common stock of $14.50 for our
Class A Shares and Class T Shares based on the estimated value of our assets less the estimated value of our liabilities, or net
asset value, divided by the number of shares outstanding on a fully diluted basis, calculated as of June 30, 2024.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) as contained within the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) and the rules and regulations of the SEC.

Unaudited Information

The square footage, unit count, and occupancy percentage data and related disclosures included in these notes to the
consolidated financial statements are unaudited.

Principles of Consolidation

Our financial statements, and the financial statements of our Operating Partnership, including its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, are consolidated in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The portion of these entities not
wholly-owned by us is presented as noncontrolling interests. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Consolidation Considerations

Current accounting guidance provides a framework for identifying a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and determining
when a company should include the assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests, and results of activities of a VIE in its
consolidated financial statements. In general, a VIE is an entity or other legal structure used to conduct activities or hold
assets that either (1) has an insufficient amount of equity to carry out its principal activities without additional subordinated
financial support, (2) has a group of equity owners that are unable to make significant decisions about its activities, or (3) has
a group of equity owners that do not have the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive returns generated by its
operations. Generally, a VIE should be consolidated if a party with an ownership, contractual, or other financial interest in the
VIE (a variable interest holder) has the power to direct the VIE’s most significant activities and the obligation to absorb
losses or right to receive benefits of the VIE that could be significant to the VIE. A variable interest holder that consolidates
the VIE is called the primary beneficiary. Upon consolidation, the primary beneficiary generally must initially record all of
the VIE’s assets, liabilities, and noncontrolling interest at fair value and subsequently account for the VIE as if it were
consolidated based on majority voting interest.

Our Operating Partnership is deemed to be a VIE and is consolidated by us as we are currently the primary beneficiary.
Our sole significant asset is our investment in our Operating Partnership; as a result, substantially all of our assets and
liabilities represent those assets and liabilities of our Operating Partnership and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Pacific Oak Holding Group, LLC, the parent company of Pacific Oak Capital Markets, LLC, the dealer manager for the
public offering of SST VI, is a 17.5% non-voting member of Strategic Storage Advisor VI, LLC, our advisor to SST VI (the
"SST VI Advisor"). We are the primary beneficiary of SST VI Advisor, and its operations therefore are consolidated by us.

As of December 31, 2024, we were not a party to any other material contracts or interests that would be deemed
variable interests in VIEs other than our joint ventures with SmartCentres, our Nantucket Joint Venture (as defined below),
and our equity investments in the Managed REIT's, which are all accounted for under the equity method of accounting (see
Note 4 — Investments in Unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures and Note 10 — Related Party Transactions for additional
information). Our joint venture programs through which we offer our tenant insurance, tenant protection plans or similar
programs (the "Tenant Protection Programs™) with SST VI, SSGT |11, and SSGT Il (through June 1, 2022) are consolidated.
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SMARTSTOP SELF STORAGE REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

Equity Investments

Under the equity method, our investments are stated at cost and adjusted for our share of net earnings or losses and
reduced by distributions and impairments, as applicable. Equity in earnings will generally be recognized based on our
ownership interest in the earnings of each of the unconsolidated investments and recorded within our consolidated statements
of operations.

Investments in and Advances to Managed REITs

As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, we owned equity and debt investments in the Managed REITs; such amounts are
included in Investments in and advances to Managed REITs within our consolidated balance sheets. We account for the
equity investments using the equity method of accounting as we have the ability to exercise significant influence, but not
control, over the Managed REITs’ operating and financial policies through our advisory and property management
agreements with the respective Managed REITSs.

We record the interest and related financing fees on our debt investments on the accrual basis and such income was
previously included in Other, net, within our consolidated statements of operations. Such income has been reclassified to
Interest income within the consolidated statements of operations included herein. While we do make loans periodically, we
do not consider that to be part of our primary operating activity, and therefore do not report income from loans as operating
income.

See Note 10 — Related Party Transactions for additional information.
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Entities

We account for the noncontrolling interests in our Operating Partnership and the noncontrolling interests in SST VI
Advisor and our Tenant Protection Programs joint ventures with SST VI, SSGT Ill, and SSGT Il (prior to the SSGT I
Merger on June 1, 2022) in accordance with the related accounting guidance.

Due to our control through our general partnership interest in our Operating Partnership and the limited rights of the
limited partners, our Operating Partnership, including its wholly-owned subsidiaries, are consolidated with the Company and
the limited partner interests are reflected as noncontrolling interests in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. We
also consolidate our interests in the SSGT Il and SST VI Tenant Protection Programs and present the minority interests as
noncontrolling interests in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The noncontrolling interests shall be attributed
their share of income and losses, even if that attribution results in a deficit noncontrolling interests balance.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
The current economic environment has increased the degree of uncertainty inherent in these estimates and assumptions.
Management will adjust such estimates when facts and circumstances dictate. Actual results could materially differ from
those estimates. The most significant estimates made include that of real estate acquisition valuation and the allocation of
property purchase price to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at relative fair value, the evaluation
of potential impairment of indefinite and long-lived assets and goodwill, and the estimated useful lives of real estate assets
and intangibles.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with a maturity of three
months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.

We may maintain cash and cash equivalents in financial institutions in excess of insured limits. In an effort to mitigate
this risk, we only invest in or through major financial institutions.
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SMARTSTOP SELF STORAGE REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists primarily of impound reserve accounts for property taxes, insurance and capital improvements
in connection with the requirements of certain of our loan agreements.

Real Estate Purchase Price Allocation and Treatment of Acquisition Costs

We account for asset acquisitions in accordance with GAAP which requires that we allocate the purchase price of a
property to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their relative fair values as of the
date of acquisition. This guidance requires us to make significant estimates and assumptions, including fair value estimates,
which requires the use of significant unobservable inputs as of the acquisition date. We engage independent third-party
valuation specialists to assist in the determination of significant estimates and market-based assumptions used in the
valuation models.

The value of the tangible assets, consisting of land and buildings, is determined as if vacant. Substantially all of the
leases in place at acquired properties are at market rates, as the majority of the leases are month-to-month contracts. We also
consider whether in-place, market leases represent an intangible asset. We recorded approximately $6.5 million, none, and
$10.5 million in intangible assets to recognize the value of in-place leases related to our acquisitions during the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. We do not expect, nor to date have we recorded, intangible assets for the
value of customer relationships because we expect we will not have concentrations of significant customers and the average
customer turnover will be fairly frequent.

Allocation of purchase price to acquisitions of portfolios of facilities are allocated to the individual facilities based
upon an income approach or a cash flow analysis using appropriate risk adjusted capitalization rates which take into account
the relative size, age, and location of the individual facility along with current and projected occupancy and rental rate levels
or appraised values, if available.

Acquisitions that do not meet the definition of a business, as defined under current GAAP, are accounted for as asset
acquisitions. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, our property acquisitions, including the SSGT 11
Merger, did not meet the definition of a business. To date, our acquisitions have generally not met the definition of a business
because substantially all of the fair value was concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets
(i.e. land, buildings, and related intangible assets) and because the acquisitions did not include a substantive process in the
form of an acquired workforce or an acquired contract that cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort or delay. As a
result, once an acquisition is deemed probable, acquisition related transaction costs are capitalized rather than expensed.

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 we expensed approximately $0.4 million, $0.2 million,
and $0.9 million, respectively, of acquisition-related transaction costs that did not meet our capitalization policy during the
respective periods.

Evaluation of Possible Impairment of Real Property Assets

Management monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of our real
property assets may not be recoverable. When indicators of potential impairment are present that indicate that the carrying
amounts of the assets may not be recoverable, we will assess the recoverability of the assets by determining whether the
carrying value of the real property assets will be recovered through the undiscounted future operating cash flows expected
from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. In the event that such expected undiscounted future cash flows do not
exceed the carrying value, we will adjust the value of the real property assets to the fair value and recognize an impairment
loss. For the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022, no real property asset impairment losses were recognized. For the
year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded a casualty loss in connection with damage to one of our wholly-owned
properties caused by Hurricane Helene. Please see Note 3 — Real Estate for additional detail.

Casualty Insurance Recoveries

In the event of a wind storm, flood, fire or other such event causing property damage, we estimate the carrying value of
the damaged property and record a corresponding casualty loss. If we determine that an insurance recovery is probable, we
record such estimated recovery as a receivable up to the amount of the casualty loss. Any amount of insurance recovery for
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such loss in excess of the amount of the casualty loss recorded is considered a gain contingency and is recognized when the
claim is fully settled.

Goodwill Valuation

We initially recorded goodwill as a result of the Self Administration Transaction (as defined in Note 10 — Related Party
Transactions), which occurred in 2019. Goodwill is recorded as the difference, if any, between the aggregate consideration
paid for an acquisition and the fair value of the net tangible assets and other intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is allocated
to various reporting units, as applicable, and is not amortized. We perform an annual qualitative impairment assessment as of
December 31 for goodwill; between annual tests we evaluate the recoverability of goodwill whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of goodwill may not be fully recoverable. If circumstances indicate the
carrying amount may not be fully recoverable, we perform a quantitative analysis to compare the fair value of each reporting
unit to its respective carrying amount. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge will be
recognized.

Trademarks

In connection with the Self Administration Transaction, we recorded the fair value associated with the two primary
trademarks acquired therein.

Trademarks are based on the value of our brands. Trademarks are valued using the relief from royalty method, which
presumes that without ownership of such trademarks, we would have to make a stream of payments to a brand or franchise
owner in return for the right to use their name. By virtue of this asset, we avoid any such payments and record the related
intangible fair value of our ownership of the brand name.

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, $15.7 million was recorded related to the SmartStop® Self Storage
trademark, which is an indefinite lived trademark. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the “Strategic Storage®”
trademark, a definite lived trademark, had been fully amortized. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, none and approximately
$71,000, respectively, was recorded to the “Strategic Storage®” trademark.

We qualitatively evaluate whether any triggering events or changes in circumstances have occurred in addition to our
annual impairment test that would indicate an impairment condition may exist. If any change in circumstance or triggering
event occurs, and results in a significant impact to our revenue and profitability projections, or any significant assumption in
our valuation methods is adversely impacted, the impact could result in a material impairment charge in the future.

Revenue Recognition
Self Storage Operations

Management believes that all of our leases are operating leases. Rental income is recognized in accordance with the
terms of the leases, which generally are month-to-month. Revenues from any long-term operating leases are recognized on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The excess of rents received over amounts contractually due pursuant to the
underlying leases is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets, and contractually
due but unpaid rent is included in other assets.

In accordance with ASC 842, we review the collectability of lease payments on an ongoing basis. We consider
collectability indicators when analyzing accounts receivable and historical bad debt levels, including current economic
trends, all of which assist in evaluating the probability of outstanding and future rental income collections.

Additionally, we earn ancillary revenue from fees we receive related to providing tenant insurance or tenant protection
plans to customers at our properties through our Tenant Protection Programs, and to a lesser extent, through the sale of
various moving and packing supplies such as locks and boxes. We recognize such revenue in the Ancillary operating
revenue line within our consolidated statements of operations as the services are performed and as the goods or services are
delivered.
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Managed REIT Platform

We earn property management and asset management revenue, pursuant to the respective property management and
advisory agreement contracts, in connection with providing services to the Managed REITs. We have determined under ASC
606 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“*ASC 606”), that the performance obligation for the property management
services and asset management services are satisfied as the services are rendered. While we are compensated for our services
on a monthly basis, these services represent a series of distinct daily services in accordance with ASC 606. Such revenue is
recorded in the Managed REIT Platform revenue line within our consolidated statements of operations.

The Managed REITs’ advisory agreements also provide for reimbursement to us of our direct and indirect costs of
providing administrative and management services to the Managed REITs. These reimbursements include costs incurred in
relation to organization and offering services provided to the Managed REITs and the reimbursement of salaries, bonuses,
and other expenses related to benefits paid to our employees while performing services for the Managed REITs. The
Managed REITs’ property management agreements also provide reimbursement to us for the property manager’s costs of
managing the properties. Reimbursable costs include wages and salaries and other expenses that arise in operating, managing
and maintaining the Managed REITs’ properties.

Under ASC 606, direct reimbursement of such costs does not represent a separate performance obligation from our
obligation to perform property management and asset management services. The reimbursement income is considered
variable consideration, and is recognized as the costs are incurred, subject to limitations on the Managed REIT Platform’s
ability to incur offering costs or limitations imposed by the advisory agreements. We have elected to separately record such
revenue in the Reimbursable costs from Managed REITs line within our consolidated statements of operations.

Additionally, we earn revenue in connection with our Tenant Protection Programs joint ventures with our Managed
REITs. We also earn development and construction management revenue from services we provide in connection with the
project design, coordination and oversight of development and certain capital improvement projects undertaken by the
Managed REITs. We recognize such revenue in the Managed REIT Platform revenue line within our consolidated statements
of operations as the services are performed or delivered. See Note 10 — Related Party Transactions, for additional information
regarding revenue generated from our Managed REIT Platform.

Sponsor Funding Agreement

On November 1, 2023, SmartStop REIT Advisors, LLC, a subsidiary of our Operating Partnership entered into a
sponsor funding agreement (the "Sponsor Funding Agreement"), with SST VI and Strategic Storage Operating Partnership
VI, L.P. ("SST VI OP") in connection with certain changes to the public offering of SST VI (see Note 10 — Related Party
Transactions for additional information).

Pursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement, SmartStop, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, is required to fund the
payment of the front-end sales load for the sale of SST VI’s Class Y and Class Z shares sold in its offering. In exchange,
SmartStop receives a number of Series C Convertible Subordinated Units (“Series C Units”) in SST VI OP calculated as the
dollar amount of such funding divided by the then-current offering price, which was $9.30 through August 6, 2024 for such
Class Y and Z shares. The Series C Units shall automatically convert into Class A units of SST VI OP on a one-to-one basis
upon SST VI’s disclosure of an estimated net asset value per share equal to at least $10.00 per share for each Class of SST VI
shares of common stock, including the Class Y shares and Class Z shares, calculated net of the Series C Units to be
converted. On August 7, 2024, SST VI declared an estimated net asset value per share of $10.00. Since the Series C Units
that could be converted would result in the net asset value falling below $10.00 per share, none of the Series C Units we own
were converted into Class A units of SST VI OP, and our future purchases will be determined based on the current estimated
net asset value at such time. Subsequent to SST VI declaring an estimated net asset value of $10.00 per share, the number of
Series C Units SmartStop receives in exchange for funding the front-end sales load of the sale of SST VI's Class Y and Class
Z shares is calculated as the dollar amount of such sponsor funding divided by the current offering price of $10.00 per share
for such Class Y and Z shares.
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In accordance with ASC 606, the amount by which our funding exceeds the fair value of the Series C Units received is
accounted for as a payment to a customer and is therefore recorded as a reduction to the transaction price for the services we
provide to such customer. Each payment is initially included in the Other assets line-item in our consolidated balance sheet
and subsequently recorded as a reduction of Managed REIT Platform revenues ratably over the remaining estimated life of
our management contracts with SST VI. Below is a summary of the portion of sponsorship funding payments which exceeds
the fair value of the Series C Units received, and is recorded pursuant to ASC 606 as described above (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ —
Amounts incurred 3,627
Recorded sponsor funding reduction (34)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 3 3,493
Amounts incurred 1,210
Recorded sponsor funding reduction (844)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 3,859

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Tenant accounts receivable is reported net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. Management records this general
allowance estimate based upon a review of the current status of accounts receivable. It is reasonably possible that
management’s estimate of the allowance will change in the future. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, approximately $0.8
million and $0.9 million, respectively, were recorded to allowance for doubtful accounts, and are included within other assets
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed in the period in which the cost is incurred and are included in property operating
expenses and general and administrative lines within our consolidated statements of operations, depending on the nature of
the expense. We incurred advertising costs of approximately $2.3 million, $2.2 million, and $1.3 million, million for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively, within general and administrative. We incurred advertising
costs of approximately $5.2 million, $4.8 million, and $4.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022,
respectively, within property operating expenses.

Real Estate Facilities

We capitalize costs incurred to develop, construct, renovate and improve properties, including interest and property
taxes incurred during the construction period. The construction period begins when expenditures for the real estate assets
have been made and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use are in progress. The construction
period ends when the asset is substantially complete and ready for its intended use.

Depreciation of Real Property Assets

Our management is required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of our depreciable assets. We
consider the period of future benefit of the asset to determine the appropriate useful lives.

F-18



SMARTSTOP SELF STORAGE REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

Depreciation of our real property assets is charged to expense on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
as follows:

Standard
Depreciable
Description Life
Land Not Depreciated
Buildings 30-40 years
Site Improvements 7-10 years

Depreciation of Personal Property Assets

Personal property assets consist primarily of furniture, fixtures and equipment and are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives, generally ranging from 3 to 5 years, and are included in other assets on our consolidated
balance sheets.

Intangible Assets

We have allocated a portion of our real estate purchase price to in-place lease intangibles, which amortize on a straight-
line basis over the estimated future benefit period. Additionally, we have other contract related intangible assets. As of
December 31, 2024, the gross amount of such intangible assets was approximately $86.4 million, and accumulated
amortization was approximately $79.6 million. As of December 31, 2023, the gross amounts of such intangible assets was
approximately $80.7 million and accumulated amortization was approximately $79.5 million. See Note 10 — Related Party
Transactions for additional information.

The total estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years ending December 31, 2025,
2026, 2027, 2028, and thereafter is approximately $4.3 million, $1.7 million, $0.1 million, $0.1 million, and $0.6 million
thereafter, respectively. The weighted-average amortization period on our remaining intangible assets with a net book value
of approximately $6.8 million was approximately 2.4 years as of December 31, 2024.

We evaluate whether any triggering events or changes in circumstances have occurred subsequent to our annual
impairment test that would indicate an impairment condition may exist. If any change in circumstance or triggering event
occurs, and results in a significant impact to our revenue and profitability projections, or any significant assumption in our
valuations methods is adversely impacted, the impact could result in an impairment charge in the future.

Debt Issuance Costs

The net carrying value of costs incurred in connection with obtaining non revolving debt are presented on the balance
sheet as a deduction from debt; amounts incurred related to obtaining revolving debt are included in the debt issuance costs
line on our consolidated balance sheet. See Note 5 — Debt for additional information. Debt issuance costs are amortized using
the effective interest method.

As of December 31, 2024, the gross amount of debt issuance costs related to our revolving credit facility totaled
approximately $9.4 million and accumulated amortization of debt issuance costs related to our revolving credit facility
totaled approximately $2.6 million. As of December 31, 2023, the gross amount of debt issuance costs related to our
revolving credit facility totaled approximately $4.5 million, and accumulated amortization of debt issuance costs related to
our revolving credit facility totaled approximately $4.1 million.

As of December 31, 2024, the gross amount allocated to debt issuance costs related to non-revolving debt totaled
approximately $6.4 million and accumulated amortization of debt issuance costs related to non-revolving debt totaled
approximately $3.0 million. As of December 31, 2023, the gross amount allocated to debt issuance costs related to non-
revolving debt totaled approximately $7.7 million and accumulated amortization of debt issuance costs related to non-
revolving debt totaled approximately $3.4 million.
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Foreign Currency Translation

For non-U.S. functional currency operations, assets and liabilities are translated to U.S. dollars at current exchange
rates as of the reporting date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average rates for the period. All adjustments related
to amounts classified as long term net investments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a
separate component of equity. Transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the related
operation are recorded at rates of exchange in effect at the date of the transaction. Changes in investments not classified as
long term are recorded in other income (expense) and represented a loss of approximately $3.4 million and a gain of
approximately $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Redeemable Common Stock

We adopted a share redemption program (“SRP”) that enables stockholders to sell their shares to us in limited
circumstances.

We have evaluated the terms of our SRP, and we classify amounts that are redeemable under the SRP as redeemable
common stock in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The maximum amount of redeemable shares under our SRP
is limited to the net proceeds from the distribution reinvestment plan. However, accounting guidance states that determinable
amounts that can become redeemable should be presented as redeemable when such amount is known. Therefore, the net
proceeds from the distribution reinvestment plan are considered to be temporary equity and are presented as redeemable
common stock in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In addition, current accounting guidance requires, among other things, that financial instruments that represent a
mandatory obligation of us to repurchase shares be classified as liabilities and reported at settlement value. When we
determine we have a mandatory obligation to repurchase shares under the SRP, we reclassify such obligations from
temporary equity to a liability based upon their respective settlement values.

See Note 12 — Commitments and Contingencies for additional information on our SRP.

Accounting for Equity Awards

We issue equity based awards in two forms: (1) restricted stock awards consisting of shares of our common stock and
(2) long-term incentive plan units of our Operating Partnership (“LTIP Units”), both of which may be issued subject to either
time based vesting criteria or performance based vesting criteria restrictions. For time based awards granted which contain a
graded vesting schedule, compensation cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
period as if the award was, in substance, a single award. For performance based awards, compensation cost is recognized
over the requisite service period if and when we determine the performance condition is probable of being achieved. We
record the cost of such equity based awards based on the grant date fair value, and have elected to record forfeitures as they
occur.

Employee Benefit Plan

The Company maintains its own retirement savings plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code under
which eligible employees can contribute up to 100% of their annual salary, subject to a statutory prescribed annual limit. For
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company made matching contributions to such plan of approximately $0.5
million and $0.5 million, respectively, based on a company match of 100% on the first 4% of an employee’s compensation.

Fair Value Measurements

Under GAAP, we are required to measure certain financial instruments at fair value on a recurring basis. In addition,
we are required to measure other financial instruments and balances at fair value on a non-recurring basis. Fair value is
defined by the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures as the exchange price that would be received
for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. It also establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value into three levels. The following summarizes the
three levels of inputs and hierarchy of fair value we use when measuring fair value:

° Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have
the ability to access;
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° Level 2 inputs may include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, as well as interest
rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities that are typically based on an entity’s own
assumptions as there is little, if any, related market activity.

In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair
value hierarchy, the fair value measurement will fall within the lowest level that is significant to the fair value measurement
in its entirety.

The accounting guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures provides a framework for measuring fair value
and establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use
of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. In determining fair value, we will utilize valuation techniques that
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible as well as consider
counterparty credit risk in our assessment of fair value. Considerable judgment will be necessary to interpret Level 2 and 3
inputs in determining fair value of our financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Accordingly, there can be no
assurance that the fair values we will present will be indicative of amounts that may ultimately be realized upon sale or other
disposition of these assets.

Financial and non-financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis in our consolidated
financial statements consist of real estate and related liabilities assumed related to our acquisitions along with the assets and
liabilities described in Note 3 — Real Estate Facilities. The fair values of these assets and liabilities were determined as of the
acquisition dates using widely accepted valuation techniques, including (i) discounted cash flow analysis, which considers,
among other things, leasing assumptions, growth rates, discount rates and terminal capitalization rates, (ii) income
capitalization approach, which considers prevailing market capitalization rates, and (iii) market approach, which considers
comparable sales activity. Additionally, certain such assets and liabilities are required to be fair valued periodically or valued
pursuant to ongoing fair value requirements and impairment analyses and have been valued subsequently utilizing the same
techniques noted above. In general, we consider multiple valuation techniques when measuring fair values. However, in
certain circumstances, a single valuation technique may be appropriate. All of the fair values of the assets and liabilities as of
the acquisition dates were derived using Level 3 inputs.

The Series C Units (categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy) acquired in connection with the Sponsor
Funding Agreement are measured at fair value at the time of acquisition, and are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting as described in Note 10 — Related Party Transactions. The fair value of these units were determined upon
purchase using a valuation model which considered the following key assumptions: the projected distribution rate of SST VI,
implied share price volatility, risk free interest rate, current estimated net asset value, and the estimated effective life of the
Series C Units.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, other assets, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, distributions payable and amounts due to affiliates approximate fair value (categorized within Level 1 of the fair
value hierarchy).

The estimated fair value of financial instruments is subjective in nature and is dependent on a number of important
assumptions, including discount rates and relevant comparable market information associated with each financial instrument.
The fair value of our fixed and variable rate debt was estimated by discounting the future cash flows using the current rates at
which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the same remaining maturities
(categorized within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy). The use of different market assumptions and estimation
methodologies may have a material effect on the reported estimated fair value amounts. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
we believe the fair value of our variable rate debt was reasonably estimated at their notional amounts as there have been
minimal changes to the fixed spread portion of interest rates for similar loans observed in the market, and as the variable
portion of our interest rates fluctuate with the associated market indices. The table below summarizes the carrying amounts
and fair values of our fixed rate debt which are not carried at fair value as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value

Fixed Rate Secured Debt ~ $ 531,400 $ 554,348 $ 505,700 $ 523,019
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During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we held interest rate cash flow hedges and foreign currency net
investment and cash flow hedges to hedge our interest rate and foreign currency exposure (See Notes 5 — Debt and 7 —
Derivative Instruments). The fair value analyses of these instruments reflect the contractual terms of the derivatives,
including the period to maturity, and used observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves, foreign exchange
rates, and implied volatilities, as applicable. The fair value of interest rate swap and cap agreements are determined using
widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow analyses on the expected cash flows of the instruments.
Our fair values of our net investment hedges are based primarily on the change in the spot rate at the end of the period as
compared with the strike price at inception.

To comply with GAAP, we incorporate credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both our own
nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’s nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. In adjusting the
fair value of derivative contracts for the effect of non-performance risk, we consider the impact of netting and any applicable
credit enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts, and guarantees.

Although we had determined that the majority of the inputs used to value our derivatives were within Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with our derivatives utilized Level 3 inputs, such as estimates
of current credit spreads, to evaluate the likelihood of default by us and our counterparties. However, through December 31,
2024, we had assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of our
derivative positions and determined that the credit valuation adjustments were not significant to the overall valuation of our
derivatives. As a result, we determined that our derivative valuations in their entirety were classified in Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy.

The tables below presents the Company's assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of

December 31, 2024, and 2023, aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fall (in
thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2024 Using

Quoted Prices in Active Significant Other Significant unobservable
o Markets for Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs
Description (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Interest Rate Derivatives
Other assets $ — 3 1523 $ —
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ~ $ — $ 6,591 $ —
Foreign Currency Hedges
Other assets $ — $ 4,667 $ —
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ~ $ — 3 39 3 —
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2023 Using
Quoted Prices in Active Significant Other Significant unobservable
Markets for Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs
Description (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Interest Rate Derivatives
Other assets $ — 3,485 $ —
Foreign Currency Hedges
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ~ $ — $ 985 $ —

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We record all derivatives on our balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives
depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether we have elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and
apply hedge accounting and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting.
Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm
commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges. Derivatives
designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted
transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. Derivatives may also be designated as hedges of the foreign currency exposure
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of a net investment in a foreign operation. We may enter into derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge
certain of our risks, even though hedge accounting does not apply or we elect not to apply hedge accounting.

For derivatives designated as net investment hedges, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivatives
are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of the
derivatives is recognized in Other, net, within our consolidated statements of operations. Amounts are reclassified out of
other comprehensive (loss) income ("OCI") into earnings (loss) when the hedged net investment is either sold or substantially
liquidated.

Income Taxes

We made an election to be taxed as a Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”), under Sections 856 through 860 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2014. To
qualify as a REIT, we must continue to meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to
distribute at least 90% of the REIT’s taxable income to stockholders (which is computed without regard to the dividends paid
deduction or net capital gains and which does not equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP).

For income tax purposes, distributions to common stockholders are characterized as ordinary dividends, capital gain
dividends, or as nontaxable distributions. To the extent that we make a distribution in excess of our current or accumulated
earnings and profits, the distribution will be a non-taxable return of capital, reducing the tax basis in each U.S. stockholder’s
shares, and the amount of each distribution in excess of a U.S. stockholder’s tax basis in its shares will be taxable as gain
realized from the sale of its shares.

As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on taxable income that we distribute to our
stockholders. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will then be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on our
taxable income at regular corporate rates and will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT for U.S. federal income
tax purposes for four years following the year during which qualification is lost unless the IRS grants us relief under certain
statutory provisions. Such an event could materially adversely affect our net income and net cash available for distribution to
stockholders. However, we believe that we are organized and operate in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a REIT
and intend to operate in the foreseeable future in such a manner that we will remain qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal
income tax purposes.

Even if we continue to qualify for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain state, local, and foreign taxes on our
income and property, and federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed income.

We filed an election to treat our primary taxable REIT subsidiary ("TRS") as a taxable REIT subsidiary effective
January 1, 2014. In general, our TRS performs additional services for our customers and provides the advisory and property
management services to the Managed REITs and otherwise generally engages in non-real estate related business. The TRS is
subject to corporate federal and state income tax.

We account for deferred income taxes using the asset and liability method and recognize deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in our financial statements or tax
returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse.

Any increase or decrease in the deferred tax liability that results from a change in circumstances, and that causes a
change in our judgment about expected future tax consequences of events, is included in the tax provision when such changes
occur. Deferred income taxes also reflect the impact of operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. A valuation allowance is
provided if we believe it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Any
increase or decrease in the valuation allowance that results from a change in circumstances, and that causes a change in our
judgment about the realizability of the related deferred tax asset, is included in the tax provision when such changes occur.

Uncertain tax positions may arise where tax laws may allow for alternative interpretations or where the timing of
recognition of income is subject to judgment. Under ASC Topic 740, tax positions are evaluated for recognition using a
more-likely—than—not threshold, and those tax positions requiring recognition are measured at the largest amount of tax
benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full
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knowledge of all relevant information. Interest and penalties relating to uncertain tax positions will be recognized in income
tax expense when incurred. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had no uncertain tax positions. Income taxes
payable are classified within accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

Concentration

No single self storage customer represents a significant concentration of our revenues. For 2024, approximately 22%,
20%, and 10% of our rental income was concentrated in Florida, California, and the Greater Toronto Area of Canada,
respectively. Our properties within the aforementioned geographic areas are dispersed therein, operating in multiple different
regions and sub-markets.

Segment Reporting

Our business is composed of two reportable segments: (i) self storage operations and (ii) the Managed REIT Platform
business. Please see Note 9 — Segment Disclosures for additional detail.

Convertible Preferred Stock

We classify our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (as defined in Note 6 — Preferred Equity) on our consolidated
balance sheets using the guidance in ASC 480-10-S99. Per the original terms of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, it
could be redeemed by us on or after the fifth anniversary of its issuance (October 29, 2024), or if certain events were to
occur, such as the listing of our common stock on a national securities exchange, a change in control, or if a redemption
would be required to maintain our REIT status. Additionally, if we do not maintain our REIT status the holder can require
redemption. As the shares are contingently redeemable, and under certain circumstances not solely within our control, we
have classified our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock as temporary equity.

We have analyzed whether the conversion features in our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock should be bifurcated
under the guidance in ASC 815-10 and have determined that bifurcation is not necessary.

Per Share Data

Basic earnings per share attributable to our common stockholders for all periods presented are computed by dividing
net income (loss) attributable to our common stockholders for basic computations of earnings per share by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period, excluding unvested restricted stock.

Diluted earnings per share is computed by including the dilutive effect of the conversion of all potential common stock
equivalents (which includes unvested restricted stock, Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, Class A and Class A-1 OP
Units, and unvested LTIP Units) and accordingly, as applicable, adjusting net income to add back any changes in earnings
that reduce earnings per common share in the period associated with the potential common stock equivalents.

The computation of earnings per common share is as follows for the periods presented (amounts presented in
thousands, except share and per share data):
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Net income (loss) $ (5,887) $ 11,647 $ 21,669
Net (income) loss attributable to

noncontrolling interests 266 (1,893) (2,847)
Net income (loss) attributable to

SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc. (5,621) 9,754 18,822
Less: Distributions to preferred

stockholders (12,758) (12,500) (12,500)
Less: Distributions to participating

securities (451) (369) (286)
Net income (loss) attributable to

common stockholders for basic computations: (18,830) (3,115) 6,036
Net income (loss) attributable to

common stockholders for diluted computations:  $ (18,830) $ (3,115) $ 6,036
Weighted average Class A and Class T shares

outstanding:
Average number of Class A and Class T

shares outstanding- basic 96,557,653 96,807,939 91,939,172
Unvested LTIP Units — — —
Unvested restricted stock awards — — 117,266
Average number of Class A and Class T

shares outstanding - diluted 96,557,653 96,807,939 92,056,438
Earnings per common share:
Basic $ (0.20) $ (0.03) $ 0.07
Diluted $ (0.20) $ (0.03) $ 0.07

The following table presents the weighted average Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, Class A and Class A-1 OP
Units, unvested LTIP Units, and unvested restricted stock awards, that were excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings per share above as their effect would have been antidilutive for the respective periods, and was calculated using the
two-class, treasury stock or if-converted method, as applicable:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Equivalent Shares Equivalent Shares Equivalent Shares
(if converted) (if converted) (if converted)

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock 18,761,726 18,761,726 18,761,726
Class A and Class A-1 OP Units 13,212,814 12,840,007 11,667,696
Unvested LTIP Units 389,365 413,538 392,856
Unvested restricted stock awards 27,117 59,973 —

32,391,022 32,075,244 30,822,278

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280).” The guidance in ASU 2023-07
was issued to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant
segment expenses. ASU 2023-07 was adopted during the year ended December 31, 2024. Other than the required incremental
disclosures, adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements or related disclosures.

Recently Issued Accounting Guidance

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740).” The guidance in ASU 2023-09 was
issued to provide investors with information to better assess how an entity’s operations and related tax risks, tax planning and
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operational opportunities affect its tax rate and prospects for future cash flows. The amendment becomes effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2024. We are currently evaluating the impact upon adoption of the new standard on our
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-01, “Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718).” ASU 2024-01 adds
illustrative guidance in ASC 718 and was issued to reduce complexity in determining whether a profits interest award is
subject to the guidance in Topic 718, and to reduce existing diversity in practice. ASU 2024-01 clarifies how to determine
whether profits interest and similar awards should be accounted for as a share-based payment arrangement under ASC 718,
or as a cash bonus or profit-sharing arrangement under ASC 710 or other guidance, and applies to all reporting entities that
account for profits interest awards as compensation to employees or non-employees. The amendment becomes effective for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, including interim periods within those annual periods, with early
adoption permitted. The amendments should be applied either retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial
statements, or prospectively to profits interest and similar awards granted or modified on or after the adoption date. Upon
adoption, we do not anticipate that this ASU will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, “Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (Topic 220).” The
guidance in ASU 2024-03 was issued to provide investors with more disaggregated information about an entity’s expenses.
In January 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-01 for the sole purpose of clarifying the effective date of ASU 2024-03. The
amendment becomes effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. We are currently evaluating the impact upon adoption of the
new standard on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Note 3. Real Estate Facilities

The following summarizes the activity in real estate facilities during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in
thousands):

Real estate facilities

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 1,887,206
Acquisitions 23,697
Impact of foreign exchange rate

changes and other 4,342
Improvements and additions 9,501
Balance at December 31, 2023 1,924,746
Acquisitions 180,559
Casualty loss ® (6,541)
Impact of foreign exchange rate

changes and other (16,374)
Improvements and additions 8,806
Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 2,091,196

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ (202,683)
Depreciation expense (52,620)
Impact of foreign exchange rate changes (541)
Balance at December 31, 2023 (255,844)
Casualty loss @ 1,913
Depreciation expense (53,975)
Impact of foreign exchange rate

changes and other 2,774
Balance at December 31, 2024 $ (305,132)

@ Hurricane Helene caused record flooding in late September 2024 in Asheville, North Carolina. One of our 14 wholly-
owned properties in this market was severely flooded. As a result of the flooding and related damage, we recorded a net
casualty loss related to the flooded property of approximately $4.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, to
write-off the carrying value. We expect to rebuild and therefore we believe it is probable that we will receive insurance
proceeds to offset the casualty loss and we recorded a receivable related to our pending insurance claim amounts as of
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December 31, 2024. There is no assurance as to when this property will be rebuilt or the performance of this property upon
completion or stabilization. The casualty loss was completely offset in our consolidated statements of operations by such
expected recovery. Any amount of insurance recovery related to the property damage in excess of the casualty loss incurred
is considered a gain contingency, and would be recognized upon final settlement of the claims.

Self Storage Facility Acquisitions

The following table summarizes the purchase price allocation for the real estate related assets acquired during the year
ended December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

2024
Net
Acquisition  Occupancy Upon Real Estate 2024 Operating
Acquisition Date Acquisition® Assets Intangibles Total @ Revenue® Income®®)
Colorado Springs |1 4/10/2024 86% $ 9,841 $ 675 $ 10,516 $ 693 $ 428
Spartanburg 7/16/2024 94% 12,831 401 13,232 519 289
Miami 9/24/2024 96% 30,408 753 31,161 410 228
Nantucket 11/20/2024 91% 9,239 348 9,587 73 56
Aurora V 12/11/2024 85% 14,067 600 14,667 77 85
San Jose 12/19/2024 98% 19,077 539 19,616 53 29
Washington, DC 12/19/2024 88% 17,598 694 18,292 48 26
Ladera Ranch® 12/20/2024 94% 67,498 2,532 70,030 158 116
$ 180,559 $ 6,542 $ 187,101 $ 2,031 $ 1,207

(@ Represent the approximate occupancy percentage of the property at the time of acquisition.

@ The allocation noted above is based on a determination of the relative fair value of the total consideration provided
and represents the amount paid including capitalized acquisition costs.

@) The operating results of the self storage properties acquired have been included in our consolidated statements of
operations since their acquisition dates.

@) Net operating income excludes corporate general and administrative expenses, interest expense, depreciation,
amortization and acquisition related expenses.

©) See Note 5 — Debt, for additional information pertaining to a loan issued in connection with the acquisition of this
self storage property.

SST IV Merger

On March 17, 2021, we closed on our merger with SST IV (the “SST IV Merger”). On such date, (the “SST IV Merger
Date”), we acquired all of the real estate owned by SST 1V, consisting primarily of (i) 24 self storage facilities, and (ii) SST
1V’s 50% equity interest in six unconsolidated real estate ventures located in the Greater Toronto Area of Ontario, Canada.
As a result of the SST IV Merger, we issued approximately 23.1 million Class A Shares to the former SST 1V stockholders.

SSGT Il Merger

On June 1, 2022, we closed on the SSGT I Merger. On such date, (the “SSGT Il Merger Date™), we acquired all of the
real estate owned by SSGT II, consisting primarily of (i) 10 wholly-owned self storage facilities, and (ii) SSGT I1’s 50%
equity interest in three unconsolidated real estate ventures located in the Greater Toronto Area of Ontario, Canada. We issued
approximately 11.5 million Class A Shares to the former SSGT 11 stockholders in connection with the SSGT Il Merger.
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Potential Acquisitions

As of March 12, 2025, we, through our wholly-owned subsidiaries were party to a purchase and sale agreement with
unaffiliated third parties for the acquisition of three self storage facilities and one parcel of land located in Canada, which had
not closed as of December 31, 2024. The total purchase price for these properties was approximately $61.1 million, plus
closing costs. There can be no assurance that we will complete these acquisitions. If we fail to acquire these properties, in
addition to the incurred acquisition costs, we may also forfeit earnest money of approximately $2.3 million as a result.

We may assign some or all of the above purchase and sale agreements to one or more of our Managed REITs.

Note 4. Investments in Unconsolidated Real Estate Ventures

Nantucket Joint Venture

On July 18, 2024, we entered into a joint venture arrangement with an unaffiliated third party to develop a self storage
property in Nantucket, Massachusetts (the "Nantucket Joint Venture™). On such date we agreed to purchase a minority
ownership in the property of approximately 38%, and immediately funded approximately $4.9 million. Upon completion of
development, we expect to serve as property manager of the self storage property. This investment is accounted for pursuant
to the equity method of accounting as we have the ability to exercise influence, but not control. As of December 31, 2024, the
carrying value of this investment was approximately $6.0 million.

SmartCentres Joint Ventures

As aresult of the SST 1V Merger on March 17, 2021, we acquired six self storage real estate joint ventures located in
the Greater Toronto Area of Ontario, Canada, all of which were operating properties as of December 31, 2024.

As aresult of the SSGT Il Merger on June 1, 2022, we acquired three self storage real estate joint ventures located in
the Greater Toronto Area of Ontario, Canada, all of which were operating as of December 31, 2024.

On May 25, 2022, we, as 50% owner and SmartCentres as the other 50% owner of a joint venture subsidiary,
purchased a single tenant industrial building located in the city of Burnaby, British Columbia (the “Regent Property”), that
we and SmartCentres intend to develop into a self storage facility in the future.

On January 12, 2023, we as 50% owner and SmartCentres as the other 50% owner of a joint venture subsidiary,
purchased a parcel of land in Whitby, Ontario, (the “Whitby Property™), that we and SmartCentres developed into a self
storage facility that became operational in January 2024.

These joint venture agreements are with a subsidiary of SmartCentres, an unaffiliated third party, to acquire, develop,
and operate self storage facilities.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we recorded a net aggregate loss of approximately $1.4 million and
$1.6 million respectively, from our equity in earnings related to our unconsolidated real estate ventures in Canada.
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The following table summarizes our 50% ownership interests in investments in unconsolidated real estate ventures in
Canada (the "Canadian JV Properties"):

Carrying Value Carrying Value

Date Real Estate Venture of Investment as of of Investment as of

Canadian JV Property Became Operational December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Dupont M®) October 2019 $ 3,358 $ 3,975
East York ©) June 2020 4,945 5,663
Brampton @©) November 2020 1,533 1,975
Vaughan @) January 2021 2,019 2,297
Oshawa () August 2021 938 1,275
Scarborough ) November 2021 1,969 2,343
Aurora WG December 2022 1,935 2,481
Kingspoint @©) March 2023 3,299 3,947
Whitby *) January 2024 7,661 7,076
Markham @) May 2024 2,470 2,064
Regent @ Under Development 2,655 2,736
$ 32,782 $ 35,832

@ These joint venture properties were acquired through the SSGT Il Merger, which closed on June 1, 2022.
@  These joint venture properties were acquired through the SST IV Merger, which closed on March 17, 2021.

@ This property was occupied pursuant to a single tenant industrial lease until October 2024. The joint venture
plans to develop this property into a self storage facility in the future.

@ This property was acquired on January 12, 2023 in connection with a purchase agreement assumed in the SSGT
Il Merger.

®  As of December 31, 2024, these properties were encumbered by first mortgages pursuant to the RBC JV Term
Loan Il (defined below).

©®  As of December 31, 2024, these properties were encumbered by first mortgages pursuant to the RBC JV Term
Loan (defined below).

(M This property is encumbered by a first mortgage pursuant to the SmartCentres Financings (defined below).

As of December 31, 2024, we had ownership interests in the 11 Canadian JV Properties, and one unconsolidated real
estate development project in Nantucket, Massachusetts, the Nantucket Joint VVenture, collectively (the "JV Properties").

RBC JV Term Loan Il

On July 17, 2024, three of our joint ventures with SmartCentres closed on a $46.0 million CAD term loan (the “RBC
JV Term Loan 11”) with Royal Bank Canada ("RBC") pursuant to which three of our joint venture subsidiaries that each own
50% of a Canadian JV Property serve as borrowers (the “RBC Borrowers 11”). The RBC JV Term Loan Il is secured by first
mortgages on three of the Canadian JV Properties which were previously encumbered by the SmartCentres Financings. The
maturity date of the RBC JV Term Loan Il is November 3, 2025, which may be requested to be extended by one additional
year at the sole discretion of RBC and subject to certain conditions. Interest on the RBC JV Term Loan is a fixed annual rate
of 4.97%, and payments are interest only during the term of the loan.

We and SmartCentres each serve as a full recourse guarantor with respect to 50% of the secured obligations under the
RBC JV Term Loan Il. The RBC JV Term Loan Il contains certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative,
negative and financial covenants, and events of default. Pursuant to the terms of the RBC JV Term Loan I, a failure by
either us or SmartCentres to observe any negative covenant under each of our respective (and separate) credit facilities
(“Separate Credit Facilities”) would be an event of default under the RBC JV Term Loan II. We and SmartCentres entered
into a separate Cross-Indemnity Agreement pursuant to which we and SmartCentres have each agreed to indemnify the other
party with respect to any claims arising from a breach or default of the other party pursuant to the RBC JV Term Loan Il or
the Separate Credit Facilities.
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The net proceeds from the RBC JV Term Loan I, in combination with cash on hand were used to fully repay the
allocated loan amounts of approximately $46.4 million CAD or approximately $34.1 million USD under the SmartCentres
Financings for each of the three Canadian JV Properties.

As of December 31, 2024, there was approximately $46.0 million CAD or approximately $32.0 million USD
outstanding on the RBC JV Term Loan II.

RBC JV Term Loan

On November 3, 2023, five of our joint ventures with SmartCentres closed on a $70 million CAD term loan (the “RBC
JV Term Loan”) with RBC pursuant to which five of our joint venture subsidiaries that each own 50% of a Joint Venture
property serve as borrowers (the “RBC Borrowers”). The RBC JV Term Loan is secured by first mortgages on five of the
Canadian JV Properties which were previously encumbered by the SmartCentres Financings (as defined below). The maturity
date of the RBC JV Term Loan is November 2, 2025, which may be requested to be extended by one additional year by the
RBC Borrowers, subject to the approval of RBC in its sole and absolute discretion. Interest on the RBC JV Term Loan is a
fixed annual rate of 6.21%, and payments are interest only during the term of the loan.

We and SmartCentres each serve as a full recourse guarantor with respect to 50% of the secured obligations under the
RBC JV Term Loan. The RBC JV Term Loan contains certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative,
negative and financial covenants, and events of default. Pursuant to the terms of the RBC JV Term Loan, a failure by either
us or SmartCentres to observe any negative covenant under each of our Separate Credit Facilities would be an event of
default under the RBC JV Term Loan; in addition, certain actions by either us or SmartCentres may trigger an event of
default under the RBC JV Term Loan. We and SmartCentres entered into a separate Cross-Indemnity Agreement pursuant to
which we and SmartCentres have each agreed to indemnify the other party with respect to any claims arising from a breach or
default of the other party pursuant to the RBC JV Term Loan or the Separate Credit Facilities.

The majority of net proceeds from the RBC JV Term Loan were used to fully repay the allocated loan amounts of
approximately $68.9 million CAD under the SmartCentres Financings (as defined below) for each of the five Canadian JV
Properties.

As of December 31, 2024, $70.0 million CAD or approximately $48.7 million in USD, was outstanding on the RBC JV
Term Loan.

SmartCentres Financings

In connection with the SST IV Merger, we, through our acquisition of the Oshawa, East York, Brampton, Vaughan,
and Scarborough joint venture partnerships, also became party to a master mortgage commitment agreement (the “MMCA
I”) with SmartCentres Storage Finance LP (the “SmartCentres Lender”) (the “SmartCentres Loan 1”). The SmartCentres
Lender is an affiliate of SmartCentres. On August 18, 2021, the Kingspoint Property was added to the MMCA 1|, increasing
the available capacity.

On June 1, 2022, in connection with the SSGT Il Merger, we assumed another loan with the SmartCentres Lender.
SSGT 11 had previously entered into a master mortgage commitment agreement on April 30, 2021, which was subsequently
modified on October 22, 2021 (the “MMCA I1”), with the SmartCentres Lender in the amount of up to approximately $34.3
million CAD (the “SmartCentres Loan I1”) (collectively with SmartCentres Loan I, the “SmartCentres Financings™). The
borrowers under the SmartCentres Loan Il are the joint venture entities in which we (SSGT Il prior to June 1, 2022), and
SmartCentres each hold a 50% limited partnership interest with respect to the Dupont and Aurora joint venture properties. In
connection with the SmartCentres Loan 11 assumption, we became a recourse guarantor for 50% of the SmartCentres
Financings. On September 13, 2022, the Markham Property was added to the MMCA 11, increasing the available capacity.

The SmartCentres Loan | and SmartCentres Loan Il have an accordion feature such that borrowings pursuant thereto
may be increased up to approximately $120 million CAD each, subject to certain conditions set forth in the MMCA | and
MMCA I1 agreements. Additionally, pursuant to the MMCA | and MMCA Il agreements, the collective borrowings between
all SmartCentres Financings, and loans made by the SmartCentres Lender to our affiliates, are limited to an overall combined
capacity of $120 million CAD.
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The SmartCentres Financings were amended on May 13, 2024, extending the maturity date to May 11, 2026, among
other changes. Monthly interest payments initially increase the outstanding principal balance. Upon a Canadian JV Property
generating sufficient net cash flow, the SmartCentres Financings provide for the commencement of quarterly payments of
interest. The borrowings advanced pursuant to the SmartCentres Financings may be prepaid without penalty, subject to
certain conditions set forth in the MMCA | and MMCA 1.

The SmartCentres Financings contain customary affirmative and negative covenants, agreements, representations,
warranties and borrowing conditions (including a loan to value ratio of no greater than 70% with respect to each Canadian JV
Property) and events of default, all as set forth in the MMCA | and MMCA 1. We serve as a full recourse guarantor with
respect to 50% of the SmartCentres Financings. As of December 31, 2024, the joint ventures were in compliance with all
such covenants.

On July 17, 2024, three of our joint ventures with SmartCentres closed on a $46.0 million CAD term loan with RBC
pursuant to which three of our joint venture subsidiaries that each own 50% of a Canadian JV Property serve as borrowers.
The RBC JV Term Loan Il is secured by first mortgages on three of the Canadian JV Properties which were previously
encumbered by the SmartCentres Financings. The net proceeds from such loan were used to fully repay the allocated loan
amounts of approximately $46.4 million CAD or approximately $34.1 million USD under the SmartCentres Financings for
each of the three Canadian JV Properties.

Interest on the SmartCentres Financings is a variable annual rate equal to the aggregate of: (i) the BA Equivalent Rate,
plus: (ii) a margin based on the External Credit Rating, plus (iii) a margin under the Senior Credit Facility, each as defined
and described further in the MMCA | and MMCA 1. As of December 31, 2024, the total interest rate was approximately
6.32%.

As of December 31, 2024, approximately $18.7 million CAD or approximately $13.0 million in USD, was outstanding
on the SmartCentres Financings. As of December 31, 2023, approximately $57.3 million CAD or approximately $43.3
million USD was outstanding on the SmartCentres Financings. The proceeds of the SmartCentres Financings have been and
will generally be used to finance the acquisition, development, and construction of the Canadian JV Properties.

Note 5. Debt

Our debt is summarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31, December 31, Interest Maturity
Loan 2024 2023 Rate Date
2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility $ 100,200 $ — 7.34%  11/19/2025
KeyBank CMBS Loan® 89,240 91,042 3.89% 8/1/2026
Ladera Office Loan 3,736 3,833 4.29% 11/1/2026
Credit Facility 614,831 — 6.44% 2/22/2027
2027 NBC Loan ©® 0 51,425 — 5.82% 3/7/2027
KeyBank Florida CMBS Loan® 49,915 50,751 4.65% 5/1/2027
2027 Ladera Ranch Loan 42,000 — 5.00% 12/5/2027
2028 Canadian Term Loan ©)® 76,527 82,973 6.41% 12/1/2028
CMBS Loan® 104,000 104,000 5.00% 2/1/2029
SST IV CMBS Loan @ 40,500 40,500 3.56% 2/1/2030
2032 Private Placement Notes ©) 150,000 150,000 5.28% 4/19/2032
Former Credit Facility Term Loan — 250,000
Former Credit Facility Revolver — 318,688
Discount on secured debt, net (1,570) (80)
Debt issuance costs, net (3,369) (4,306)
Total debt $ 1,317,435 $ 1,087,401
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@ This fixed rate loan encumbers 29 properties (Whittier, La Verne, Santa Ana, Upland, La Habra, Monterey
Park, Huntington Beach, Chico, Lancaster I, Riverside, Fairfield, Lompoc, Santa Rosa, Federal Heights,
Aurora, Littleton, Bloomingdale, Crestwood, Forestville, Warren I, Sterling Heights, Troy, Warren 11, Beverly,
Everett, Foley, Tampa, Boynton Beach, and Lancaster I1) with monthly interest only payments until September
2021, at which time both interest and principal payments became due monthly. The separate assets of these
encumbered properties are not available to pay our other debts, and we serve as a non-recourse guarantor under
this loan.

@  This fixed rate loan encumbers five properties (Pompano Beach, Lake Worth, Jupiter, Royal Palm Beach, and
Delray) with monthly interest only payments until June 2022, at which time both interest and principal
payments became due monthly. The separate assets of these encumbered properties are not available to pay our
other debts.

Subsequent to December 31, 2024, on February 4, 2025, we completed a series of transactions whereby we (i)
defeased this loan (the “Defeasance”), (ii) exercised the accordion rights under the Credit Facility to increase
commitments by $50 million to a total of $700 million and simultaneously drew approximately $51 million, and
(i) in connection with the completion of the Defeasance, executed joinders to add the five properties
previously encumbered by the KeyBank Florida CMBS Loan onto the Credit Facility.

@ This fixed rate, interest only loan encumbers 10 properties (Myrtle Beach |, Myrtle Beach 11, Port St. Lucie,
Plantation, Sonoma, Las Vegas I, Las Vegas I, Las Vegas Ill, Ft Pierce, and Nantucket Island). The separate
assets of these encumbered properties are not available to pay our other debts, and we serve as a hon-recourse
guarantor under this loan.

@ On March 17, 2021, in connection with the SST IV Merger, we assumed a $40.5 million fixed rate CMBS
financing with KeyBank as the initial lender pursuant to a mortgage loan (the “SST IV CMBS Loan”). This
fixed rate loan encumbers seven properties owned by us (Jensen Beach, Texas City, Riverside, Las Vegas IV,
Puyallup, Las Vegas V, and Plant City). The separate assets of these encumbered properties are not available to
pay our other debts, and we serve as a non-recourse guarantor under this loan. The loan has a maturity date of
February 1, 2030. Monthly payments due under the loan agreement (the “SST IV CMBS Loan Agreement”) are
interest only, with the full principal amount becoming due and payable on the maturity date.

®)  As of March 31, 2023, a Total Leverage Ratio Event (as defined below) had occurred, and the interest rate on
such Note increased to 5.28% prospectively. For additional information regarding this loan, see 2032 Private
Placement Notes below.

®  The amounts shown above are in USD based on the foreign exchange rate in effect as of the date presented.

(™ This loan incurs interest at an all in rate of CORRA (as defined further below under the section entitled "2027
NBC Loan"), plus a CORRA adjustment of approximately 0.30%, plus a spread of 2.20%. The effective interest
rate on this loan is 6.42% when factoring the effects of a CORRA Swap which we entered into with the
National Bank of Canada for the initial term of the loan. The Dufferin, Oakville 11, Burlington I, Iroquois Shore
Rd, and Stoney Creek | properties are encumbered by this loan. See Note 7 — Derivative Instruments for
additional information.

®  On November 16, 2023, we, through eight of our wholly-owned Canadian subsidiaries entered into a term loan
(the "2028 Canadian Term Loan") with affiliates of QuadReal Finance LP, receiving net proceeds of $110.0
million CAD on such date. The 2028 Canadian Term Loan is secured by eight Canadian properties, has a
maturity date of December 1, 2028, and carries a fixed interest rate for the term of the loan of 6.41%. The first
two years of the Canadian Term Loan are interest only, after which it requires monthly amortizing payments
based on a 25-year amortization schedule.

The weighted average interest rate on our consolidated debt, excluding the impact of our interest rate hedging
activities, as of December 31, 2024, was approximately 5.9%. We are subject to certain restrictive covenants relating to the
outstanding debt, and as of December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with all such covenants.
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2027 Ladera Ranch Loan

On December 20, 2024, in connection with our acquisition of the Ladera Ranch Property from Extra Space Storage,
we, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a loan with Extra Space Storage LP, as lender, with a loan amount of
$42.0 million (the "2027 Ladera Ranch Loan"). The loan is interest only with a fixed rate of 5.0% per annum, has a maturity
date of December 5, 2027, and is secured by the Ladera Ranch Property. An origination fee of 3% or approximately $1.3
million was paid at closing. We also provided a non-recourse guaranty to Extra Space Storage LP in connection with this
loan.

See Note 6 — Preferred Equity, for additional information regarding our other pre-existing relationship with this
seller/lender.

2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility

On November 19, 2024, we entered into a credit agreement with KeyBank with a maximum total commitment of $175
million (the "2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility"). Upon the closing of the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility, we
immediately borrowed approximately $15 million, which was used to fund the acquisition of a self storage facility. In
December 2024, we borrowed an additional approximately $85.2 million, which was used to fund the acquisition of three self
storage facilities.

Subsequent to December 31, 2024, in January of 2025, we borrowed an additional approximately $74.8 million, which
was used to fund the acquisition of two self storage facilities. As such, the maximum commitment of $175 million was
borrowed, and no further draws could be made in connection with the credit agreement.

The maturity date of the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility is November 19, 2025, and includes a six-month extension
option, subject to the payment of an extension fee of 0.20% on the aggregate amount of the then-outstanding commitments
for such extension, and it may be prepaid or terminated at any time without penalty; provided, however, that the lenders shall
be indemnified for certain breakage costs.

Amounts borrowed under the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility bear interest based on the type of borrowing (either
Base Rate Loans, Daily Simple SOFR Loans, or Term SOFR Loans, each as defined in the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition
Facility). Base Rate Loans bear interest at the lesser of (x) the Base Rate (as defined in the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition
Facility) plus the applicable rate, or (y) the maximum rate. Daily Simple SOFR Loans bear interest at the lesser of (a)
Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR (as defined in the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility) plus the applicable rate, or (b) the
maximum rate. Term SOFR Loans bear interest at the lesser of (a) Term SOFR (as defined in the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition
Facility) for the interest period in effect plus the applicable rate, or (b) the maximum rate. The corresponding applicable rate
is (i) prior to the extension period, if any (A) 275 basis points for Daily Simple SOFR Loans and Term SOFR Loans and (B)
175 basis points for Base Rate Loans, and (ii) after the extension period, if any (A) 325 basis points for Daily Simple SOFR
Loans and Term SOFR Loans and (B) 225 basis points for Base Rate Loans. The initial advance under the 2025 KeyBank
Acquisition Facility was a Daily Simple SOFR Loan that bears interest at 275 basis points over Adjusted Daily Simple
SOFR.

The 2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility is fully recourse, jointly and severally, to us, the borrower, and certain of our
subsidiaries (each, a “Subsidiary Guarantor”). In connection with the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility, each of the
Company and any Subsidiary Guarantor executed a guaranty in favor of the Lenders. It is an event of default under the 2025
KeyBank Acquisition Facility if (a) there is a payment default by us, the borrower or any Subsidiary Guarantor under any
recourse debt for borrowed money, or (b) there is a payment default by us or any of our subsidiaries under any non-recourse
debt of at least $75 million.

The 2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility is initially secured by: (i) a pledge of equity interests in each Subsidiary
Guarantor and (ii) a pledge of all net proceeds from any capital event of us or our subsidiaries, which includes equity
issuances, sales of properties and refinancing of indebtedness.

The 2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility contains certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative,
negative and financial covenants, borrowing conditions, and events of default. The financial covenants imposed on us are the
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same as the financial covenants imposed by our amended and restated revolving credit facility with KeyBank and certain
other lenders party thereto, dated February 22, 2024. The negative covenants include, among other things, a restriction on our
ability to obtain additional recourse financing in the future with limited exceptions. If an event of default occurs and
continues, we are subject to certain actions by the administrative agent, including, without limitation, the acceleration of
repayment of all amounts outstanding under the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition Facility.

2025 KeyBank Bridge Loan

On July 31, 2024, we entered into a bridge loan with KeyBank for up to $45.0 million (the “2025 KeyBank Bridge
Loan) which was originally otherwise due on July 31, 2025. At closing, we drew $20.0 million.

The 2025 KeyBank Bridge Loan was completed in connection with SSGT IlI's acquisition of two self storage facilities
on July 31, 2024, whereby our Operating Partnership provided a similar bridge loan to an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of SSGT Il for $20.0 million (the “SSGT 111 Bridge Loan”) to facilitate SSGT I11’s closing on such properties. An indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of SSGT |11 is sponsoring a private offering of beneficial interests in a Delaware statutory trust
("DST") relating to the two properties. We, through a newly formed subsidiary of SmartStop REIT Advisors, LLC ("SRA™),
serve as property manager of both of these properties.

The 2025 KeyBank Bridge Loan incurred interest based on adjusted daily simple SOFR plus 275 basis points. The
SSGT 11 Bridge Loan incurred interest based on adjusted daily simple SOFR plus 300 basis points. The SSGT |1l Bridge
Loan was secured by an indirect pledge of equity in the entity sponsoring the private DST offering relating to the two
properties mentioned above, as well as a full guaranty by SSGT I11 OP. As such sponsor entity sold such DST interests, it
was required to utilize such net proceeds to pay down the SSGT 111 Bridge Loan and we were similarly required to use such
net proceeds to pay down the 2025 KeyBank Bridge Loan.

As of December 31, 2024, we had fully repaid the 2025 KeyBank Bridge Loan, and no longer had the ability to draw
additional funds pursuant to this loan.

As of December 31, 2024, the SSGT |1 Bridge Loan had a remaining amount due of approximately $2.9 million, such
loan was repaid in full in January 2025.

Credit Facility

On February 22, 2024, we through our Operating Partnership (the “Borrower™), entered into an amended and restated
revolving credit facility with KeyBank, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent, certain others
listed as joint book runners, joint lead arrangers, syndication agents and documentation agents, and certain other lenders party
thereto, (the "Credit Facility"). The Credit Facility replaced the Former Credit Facility (defined below) the Company entered
into on March 17, 2021, and has a maturity date of February 22, 2027.

As of December 31, 2024, the aggregate commitment of the Credit Facility is $650 million. The Borrower may
increase the commitment amount available under the Credit Facility by an additional $850 million, for a total potential
maximum aggregate amount of $1.5 billion, subject to certain conditions. The Credit Facility also includes sublimits of (a) up
to $25 million for letters of credit and (b) up to $25 million for swingline loans; each of these sublimits are part of, and not in
addition to, the amounts available under the Credit Facility. Borrowings under the Credit Facility may be in either USD or
CAD. Upon the closing of the Credit Facility, we immediately drew down an aggregate amount of $576 million, which was
used primarily to pay off the amounts outstanding under the Former Credit Facility.

The maturity date of the Credit Facility is February 22, 2027, subject to a one-year extension option, subject to the
payment of an extension fee of 0.20% on the aggregate amount of the then-outstanding revolving commitments for such
extension, and it may be prepaid or terminated at any time without penalty; provided, however, that the lenders shall be
indemnified for certain breakage costs.

Amounts borrowed under the Credit Facility bear interest based on the type of borrowing (either Base Rate Loans,
Daily Simple SOFR Loans, Term SOFR Loans or CORRA Loans, each as defined in the Credit Facility). Base Rate Loans
bear interest at the lesser of (x) the Base Rate (as defined in the Credit Facility) plus the applicable rate, or (y) the maximum
rate. Daily Simple SOFR Loans bear interest at the lesser of (a) Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR (as defined in the Credit
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Facility) plus the applicable rate, or (b) the maximum rate. Term SOFR Loans bear interest at the lesser of (a) Term SOFR
(as defined in the Credit Facility) for the interest period in effect plus the applicable rate, or (b) the maximum rate. CORRA
Loans bear interest at the lesser of (a) Adjusted Daily Simple CORRA (as defined in the Credit Facility) plus the applicable
rate, or (b) the maximum rate. The corresponding applicable rate varies between (i) prior to a Security Interest Termination
Event (defined below), 165 basis points to 230 basis points for Daily Simple SOFR Loans, Term SOFR Loans and CORRA
Loans and between 65 basis points and 130 basis points for Base Rate Loans, in each case of this clause (i), depending on the
consolidated leverage ratio of the Company and (ii) following a Security Interest Termination Event, 140 basis points to 225
basis points for Daily Simple SOFR Loans, Term SOFR Loans and CORRA Loans and between 40 basis points and 125
basis points for Base Rate Loans, in each case of this clause (ii), depending on the consolidated capitalization rate leverage
ratio of the Company. Initial advances under the Credit Facility are Daily Simple SOFR Loans that bear interest at 175 basis
points over Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR. The Credit Facility is also subject to an annual unused fee based upon the average
amount of the unused portion of the Credit Facility, which varies from 15 bps to 25 bps, depending on the size of the unused
amount, as well as whether a Security Interest Termination Event has occurred.

As of December 31, 2024, borrowings under the Credit Facility only bore interest based on Daily Simple SOFR. The
rate spread above Daily Simple SOFR at which the Credit Facility incurs interest is subject to increase based on the
consolidated leverage ratio. There are five leverage tiers under the Credit Facility, with the highest tier limited to a maximum
leverage of 60% and a maximum spread of 230 basis points on the Credit Facility. During the three months ended December
31, 2024, our consolidated leverage ratio was within the second leverage tier, and this loan incurred interest at daily simple
SOFR plus a spread of 1.85% and the SOFR Index Adjustment of 0.10%.

The Credit Facility is fully recourse, jointly and severally, to us, the Borrower, and certain of our subsidiaries (the
“Subsidiary Guarantors™). In connection with the Credit Facility, we, the Borrower and the Subsidiary Guarantors executed
guarantees in favor of the lenders. It is an event of default under the Credit Facility if (a) there is a payment default by us, the
Borrower or any Subsidiary Guarantor under any recourse debt for borrowed money, (b) there is a payment default by us or
any of its subsidiaries under any non-recourse debt of at least $75 million or (c) prior to a Security Interest Termination
Event, an event of default occurs under the 2032 Private Placement Notes.

The Credit Facility is currently secured by a pledge of equity interests in the Subsidiary Guarantors. However, upon
the achievement of certain security interest termination conditions, the pledges shall be released and the Credit Facility shall
become unsecured (the “Security Interest Termination Event”). The Security Interest Termination Event occurs at the
Borrower’s election, once the Borrower satisfies all of the following security interest termination conditions: (i) a fixed
charge coverage ratio of no less than 1.50:1.00; (ii) an unsecured interest coverage ratio of not less than 2.00:1.00; (iii) a
consolidated capitalization rate leverage ratio of not greater than 60%; and (iv) a secured debt ratio of no greater than 40%.
Following the occurrence of the Security Interest Termination Event, certain terms and conditions of the Credit Facility are
modified, including, but not limited to: (i) in certain circumstances, a reduction in the applicable rate under the Credit
Facility, (ii) the modification or addition of certain financial covenants, (iii) the addition of a floor of at least $25 million for
any cross-defaulted recourse debt of us, Borrower or any Subsidiary Guarantor, and (iv) in certain circumstances, a reduction
in the annual unused fee for the Credit Facility. The outstanding 2032 Private Placement Notes previously issued by us
remain pari passu with the Credit Facility.

The Credit Facility contains certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative, negative and financial
covenants, borrowing conditions, and events of default. In particular, the financial covenants imposed on us include: a
maximum leverage ratio, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, a minimum tangible net worth, certain limits on both
secured debt and secured recourse debt, certain payout ratios of dividends paid to adjusted funds from operations, limits on
unhedged variable rate debt, and minimum liquidity. If an event of default occurs and continues, the Borrower is subject to
certain actions by the administrative agent, including, without limitation, the acceleration of repayment of all amounts
outstanding under the Credit Facility.

Subsequent to the initial draw on the Credit Facility, during the year ended December 31, 2024, we borrowed an
additional approximately $94.0 million in order to fund our acquisitions of the Colorado Springs |1, Spartanburg and Miami
Properties, to lend to the Managed REITs, and to fund other general corporate activities.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Colorado Springs Il Property, Spartanburg Property, Miami Property,
and San Gabriel Property were added to the borrowing base of the Credit Facility.
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As of December 31, 2024, 93 of our wholly-owned properties were encumbered by the Credit Facility, and we had
borrowed approximately $615 million of the $650 million maximum potential current commitment of the Credit Facility. The
availability of the Credit Facility is subject to certain calculations, including a debt service coverage ratio (“DSCR”)
calculation which utilizes prevailing treasury rates within the calculation. As of December 31, 2024, based on the
aforementioned and other borrowing base calculations, we had the ability to draw up to an additional approximately $7.3
million on the current capacity of the revolver.

Subsequent to December 31, 2024, on February 4, 2025, in connection with the completion of the Defeasance of the
KeyBank Florida CMBS Loan, we exercised the accordion rights under the Credit Facility and were able to successfully
increase commitments by $50 million to a total of $700 million and simultaneously drew approximately $51 million.
Furthermore, in connection with the completion of the Defeasance, we executed joinders to add the five properties previously
encumbered by the KeyBank Florida CMBS Loan onto the Credit Facility, and to remove one property in Asheville, North
Carolina that was severely damaged by Hurricane Helene.

2027 NBC Loan

On March 7, 2024, we, through five of our wholly-owned Canadian subsidiaries (the “2027 NBC Loan Borrowers”),
entered into a loan with National Bank of Canada (“NBC”) as administrative agent, National Bank Financial as lead arranger
and sole bookrunner, and certain other lenders party thereto (the “2027 NBC Loan”). On such date, we drew the maximum
aggregate borrowing of $75 million CAD pursuant to the 2027 NBC Loan. This loan is secured by the five properties owned
by the 2027 NBC Loan Borrowers (the “Secured NBC Properties”).

Previously, four of the Secured NBC Properties were included in the borrowing base of the Credit Facility, and the
other property was unencumbered. The net proceeds from the 2027 NBC Loan were used to pay down the Credit Facility by
approximately $55.1 million USD, and accordingly, the respective four properties were released as collateral from the Credit
Facility.

The 2027 NBC Loan has a maturity date of March 7, 2027, which may be extended for additional one-year periods in
the discretion of the lenders. The 2027 NBC Loan carries a variable interest rate based on either the Canadian Overnight
Repo Rate Average (“CORRA”) or the Canadian Prime Rate. As of December 31, 2024, borrowings under the 2027 NBC
Loan were subject to interest at the CORRA rate, plus a CORRA adjustment of approximately 0.30%, plus a spread of
2.20%.

On March 12, 2024, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement based on CORRA with NBC whereby, inclusive
of the swap we fixed the interest rate on the NBC loan at 6.42% for the initial three year term of the loan. The 2027 NBC
Loan requires monthly amortizing principal and interest payments, which are based on a 25-year amortization schedule. The
2027 NBC Loan may be prepaid, in whole or in part, at any time upon prior written notice to the lenders, subject to interest
rate swap breakage costs. SmartStop and the 2027 NBC Loan Borrowers provided an ordinary course environmental
indemnity in favor of NBC and the lenders. SmartStop serves as a non-recourse guarantor, and each borrower provided a
limited recourse guaranty up to the amount of the collateral pledged by it, under the 2027 NBC Loan.

2032 Private Placement Notes

On April 19, 2022, we as guarantor, and our Operating Partnership as issuer, entered into a note purchase agreement
(the “Note Purchase Agreement”) which provides for the private placement of $150 million of 4.53% Senior Notes due April
19, 2032 (the “2032 Private Placement Notes™). The sale and purchase of the 2032 Private Placement Notes occurred in two
closings, with the first of such closings having occurred on April 19, 2022 with $75 million aggregate principal amount of the
2032 Private Placement Notes having been issued on such date (the “First Closing”) and the second of such closings having
occurred on May 25, 2022 with $75 million aggregate principal amount of the 2032 Private Placement Notes having been
issued on such date (the “Second Closing”). Interest on each series of the 2032 Private Placement Notes is payable
semiannually on the nineteenth day of April and October in each year.

Interest payable on the Notes was originally subject to a prospective 75 basis points increase, if, as of March 31, 2023,

the ratio of total indebtedness to EBITDA (the “Total Leverage Ratio”) of the Company and its subsidiaries, on a
consolidated basis, was greater than 7.00 to 1.00 (a “Total Leverage Ratio Event™).
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As of March 31, 2023, such Total Leverage Ratio Event occurred, and our 2032 Private Placement Notes began
accruing interest at a rate of 5.28%. The interest accruing on the 2032 Private Placement Notes will continue to accrue at
5.28% until such time as the Total Leverage Ratio is less than or equal to 7.00 to 1.00 for two consecutive fiscal quarters,
upon such achievement, the applicable fixed interest rate will revert to 4.53% and remain at that interest rate through
maturity, regardless of our future Total Leverage Ratio.

We are permitted to prepay at any time all, or from time to time, any part of the Notes in amounts not less than 5% of
the 2032 Private Placement Notes then outstanding at (i) 100% of the principal amount so prepaid and (ii) the make-whole
amount (as defined in the Note Purchase Agreement). The “Make-Whole Amount” is equal to the excess, if any, of the
discounted value of the remaining scheduled payments with respect to the 2032 Private Placement Notes being prepaid over
the amount of such 2032 Private Placement Notes. In addition, in connection with a change of control (as defined in the Note
Purchase Agreement), the Operating Partnership is required to offer to prepay the 2032 Private Placement Notes at 100% of
the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, but without the Make Whole Amount or any other prepayment
premium or penalty of any kind. The Company must also maintain a debt rating of the 2032 Private Placement Notes by a
rating agency.

The Note Purchase Agreement contains certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative, negative and
financial covenants, and events of default that were substantially similar to the previously existing Former Credit Facility
(defined below). The 2032 Private Placement Notes were issued on a pari passu basis with the Former Credit Facility, and are
pari passu with the Credit Facility. As such, the Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors fully and unconditionally guarantee
the Operating Partnership’s obligations under the 2032 Private Placement Notes. The 2032 Private Placement Notes were
initially secured by a pledge of equity interests in the Subsidiary Guarantors on similar terms as the Former Credit Facility.

On April 26, 2024, we amended the Note Purchase Agreement dated April 19, 2022 (the “NPA Amendment”). The
primary purpose of the NPA Amendment was to make certain conforming changes between the Note Purchase Agreement
and our recently amended and restated revolving credit facility, the Credit Facility. In particular, the NPA Amendment
conformed certain of the definitions related to the financial tests that we are required to maintain, as well as certain of the
property pool covenants we are required to satisfy, in the Note Purchase Agreement during the term thereof to those in the
Credit Facility.

Former Credit Facility

On March 17, 2021, we, through our Operating Partnership (the “Borrower”), entered into a credit facility with
KeyBank, National Association, as administrative agent, KeyBanc Capital Markets, Inc., Wells Fargo Securities, Citibank,
N.A., and BMO Capital Markets, Corp., as joint book runners and joint lead arrangers, and certain other lenders party thereto
(the “Former Credit Facility™).

The initial aggregate amount of the Former Credit Facility was $500 million, which consisted of a $250 million
revolving credit facility (the “Former Credit Facility Revolver”) and a $250 million term loan (the “Former Credit Facility
Term Loan”).

On October 7, 2021, the Borrower and lenders who were party to the Former Credit Facility amended the Former
Credit Facility to increase the commitment on the Former Credit Facility by $200 million. In connection with the increased
commitment, additional lenders were added to the Former Credit Facility. As a result of this amendment, the aggregate
commitment on the Former Credit Facility was $700 million.

The Former Credit Facility was repaid in full on February 22, 2024 in connection with the establishment of the Credit
Facility.
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The following table presents the future principal payments required on outstanding debt as of December 31, 2024 (in
thousands):

2025 $ 104,084
2026 94,189
2027 755,845
2028 73,756
2029 104,000
2030 and thereafter 190,500
Total payments 1,322,374
Discount on secured debt (1,570)
Debt issuance costs, net (3,369)
Total $ 1,317,435

Note 6. Preferred Equity
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

On October 29, 2019 (the “Commitment Date”), we entered into a preferred stock purchase agreement (the “Purchase
Agreement”) with Extra Space Storage LP (the “Investor”), a subsidiary of Extra Space Storage Inc. (NYSE: EXR), pursuant
to which the Investor committed to purchase up to $200 million in preferred shares (the aggregate shares to be purchased, the
“Preferred Shares”) of our new Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Convertible Preferred Stock™), in one or
more closings (each, a “Closing,” and collectively, the “Closings™). The initial closing (the “Initial Closing”) in the amount of
$150 million occurred on the Commitment Date, and the second and final closing in the amount of $50 million occurred on
October 26, 2020. We incurred approximately $3.6 million in issuance costs related to the Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock, which were recorded as a reduction to Series A Convertible Preferred stock on our consolidated balance sheets.

The shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock rank senior to all other shares of our capital stock, including our
common stock, with respect to rights to receive dividends and to participate in distributions or payments upon any voluntary
or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company. Dividends payable on each share of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock were initially equal to a rate of 6.25% per annum. The dividend rate increased by an additional
0.75% per annum to an aggregate of 7.0% per annum on October 29, 2024. The dividend rate will increase an additional
0.75% per annum each year thereafter to a maximum of 9.0% per annum until the tenth anniversary of the Initial Closing,
unless the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is redeemed or repurchased in full. The dividends are payable in arrears for
the prior calendar quarter on or before the 15th day of March, June, September and December of each year. The Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock has not been redeemed and therefore the dividend rate was increased to 7.0% per annum.

Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive a payment equal to the greater of (i) aggregate purchase price of all
outstanding Preferred Shares, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends (the “Liquidation Amount™) and (ii) the amount that
would have been payable had the Preferred Shares been converted into common stock pursuant to the terms of the Purchase
Agreement immediately prior to such liquidation.

Subject to certain additional redemption rights, as described herein, we have the right to redeem the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock for cash. The amount of such redemption will be equal to the Liquidation Amount. Upon the
listing of our common stock on a national securities exchange (the “Listing”), we have the right to redeem any or all
outstanding Series A Convertible Preferred Stock at an amount equal to the greater of (i) the amount that would have been
payable had such Preferred Shares been converted into common stock pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement
immediately prior to the Listing, and then all of such Preferred Shares were sold in the Listing, or (ii) the Liquidation
Amount. Upon a change of control event, we have the right to redeem any or all outstanding Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock at an amount equal to the greater of (i) the amount that would have been payable had the Preferred Shares been
converted into common stock pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement immediately prior to such change of control
or (ii) the Liquidation Amount. In addition, subject to certain cure provisions, if we fail to maintain our status as a real estate
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investment trust, the holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock have the right to require us to repurchase the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock at an amount equal to the Liquidation Amount with no Premium Amount.

Subject to our redemption rights in the event of a listing or change of control described above, the holders of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock have the right to convert any or all of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock held by such
holders into common stock at a rate per share equal to the quotient obtained by dividing the Liquidation Amount by the
conversion price. The conversion price is $10.66, as may be adjusted in connection with stock splits, stock dividends and
other similar transactions.

The holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are not entitled to vote on any matter submitted to a vote of our
stockholders, except that in the event that the dividend for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock has not been paid for at
least four quarters (whether or not consecutive), the holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock have the right to vote
together with our stockholders on any matter submitted to a vote of our stockholders, upon which the holders of the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock and holders of common stock shall vote together as a single class. The number of votes
applicable to a share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will be equal to the number of shares of common stock a share
of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock could have been converted into as of the record date set for purposes of such
stockholder vote. This foregoing limited voting right shall cease when all past dividend periods have been paid in full. In
addition, the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is
required in certain customary circumstances, as well as other circumstances, such as (i) our real estate portfolio exceeding a
leverage ratio of 60% loan-to-value, (ii) entering into certain transactions with our Chief Executive Officer as of the
Commitment Date, or his affiliates, (iii) effecting a merger (or similar) transaction with an entity whose assets are not at least
80% self storage related and (iv) entering into any line of business other than self storage and ancillary businesses, unless
such ancillary business represents revenues of less than 10% of our revenues for our last fiscal year.

In connection with the issuance of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, we and the Investor also entered into an
investors’ rights agreement (the “Investors’ Rights Agreement”) which provides the Investor with certain customary
protections, including demand registration rights and “piggyback” registration rights with respect to our common stock issued
to the Investor upon conversion of the Preferred Shares.

As of December 31, 2024, there were 200,000 Preferred Shares outstanding with an aggregate liquidation preference of
approximately $203.4 million, which consists of $150 million from the Initial Closing, $50 million from a closing on October
26, 2020 and approximately $3.4 million of accumulated and unpaid distributions.

As of December 31, 2023, there were 200,000 Preferred Shares outstanding with an aggregate liquidation preference of
approximately $203.2 million, which consists of $150 million from the Initial Closing, $50 million from a closing on October
26, 2020 and approximately $3.2 million of accumulated and unpaid distributions.

Note 7. Derivative Instruments
Interest Rate Derivatives

Our objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to our earnings (losses) and to manage our exposure
to interest rate movements. To accomplish this objective, we have used interest rate swaps and caps as part of our interest rate
risk management strategy.

For interest rate derivatives designated and qualified as a hedge for GAAP purposes, the change in the fair value of the
effective portion of the derivative is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) and is
subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. Amounts
reported in AOCI related to such derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on our
variable rate debt. In addition, we classify cash flows from qualifying cash flow hedging relationships in the same category as
the cash flows from the hedged items in our consolidated statements of cash flows. We do not use interest rate derivatives for
trading or speculative purposes.

Interest rate derivatives not designated as hedges for GAAP are not speculative and are used to manage our exposure to
interest rate movements and other identified risks but we have elected not to apply hedge accounting. Changes in the fair
value of interest rate derivatives not designated in hedging relationships are recorded in other income (expense) within our
consolidated statements of operations.

In connection with the 2027 NBC Loan borrowing, on March 12, 2024, we entered into a CORRA Swap with NBC
with an initial notional amount of CAD $75,000,000 at a rate of 3.926% for the initial duration of the 2027 NBC Loan,
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maturing on March 7, 2027. The amortization of this swap corresponds with the amortizing principal payments on the related
loan.

On May 1, 2024, to hedge our exposure to potentially rising interest rates, we entered into three SOFR interest rate
caps for a total of approximately $8.2 million, which hedge approximately $400 million of notional exposure. We initially
deferred payment for these SOFR interest rate caps, and are recording these interest rate caps net of the remaining amount of
such deferred payment liability on our balance sheet.

On December 30, 2024, we entered into a SOFR interest rate cap, which caps SOFR at 1.25% until maturity on July 1,
2025 for a notional amount of $100.2 million. The total cost for this interest rate cap was approximately $1.5 million, which
was due and paid on January 2, 2025.

Foreign Currency Hedges

Our objectives in using foreign currency derivatives are to add stability to potential fluctuations in exchange rates
between foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar and to manage our exposure to exchange rate movements. To accomplish this
objective, we have used foreign currency forwards and foreign currency options as part of our exchange rate risk
management strategy. A foreign currency forward contract is a commitment to deliver a certain amount of currency at a
certain price on a specific date in the future. By entering into the forward contract and holding it to maturity, we are locked
into a future currency exchange rate in an amount equal to and for the term of the forward contract. A foreign currency option
contract is a commitment by the seller of the option to deliver, solely at the option of the buyer, a certain amount of currency
at a certain price on a specific date.

For derivatives designated as net investment hedges for GAAP purposes, the changes in the fair value of the derivatives
are reported in AOCI. Amounts are reclassified out of AOCI into earnings when the hedged net investment is either sold or
substantially liquidated. The change in the value of the designated portion of our settled and unsettled foreign currency
hedges is recorded net in foreign currency hedge contract gain (loss) in our consolidated statements of comprehensive income
(loss) in the related period.

The change in the value of the portion of our settled and unsettled foreign currency forwards that are not designated for
hedge accounting for GAAP is recorded in other income (expense) within our consolidated statements of operations and
represented a gain of approximately $5.0 million and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

On November 16, 2023, we entered into a $30.0 million CAD currency forward with a maturity date of January 16,
2024, and a strike rate of 1.3782. On January 16, 2024 we rolled this hedge without any cash settlement, effectively
extending the maturity date to February 16, 2024 at a strike rate of 1.3781. Additionally, on February 14, 2024 we further
rolled this hedge without any cash settlement at a strike rate of 1.3781. This hedge ultimately matured on March 7, 2024
whereby we owed and paid approximately $0.5 million at settlement.

On April 12, 2024 we entered into a foreign currency hedge with a notional amount of $136.5 million CAD at a strike
rate of 1.3648, which matures on April 11, 2025.

On December 30, 2024, in an effort to hedge the cash generated at our Canadian properties, we entered into four new
foreign currency forwards; (i) one such hedge has a notional amount of $2.8 million CAD at a strike rate of 1.4412, and
matured on February 27, 2025, (ii) the second hedge has a notional amount of $3.3 million CAD at a strike rate of 1.4363,
maturing on May 27, 2025, (iii) the third hedge has a notional amount of $3.5 million CAD at a strike rate of 1.4312,
maturing on August 27, 2025, (iv) the fourth hedge has a notional amount of $3.3 million CAD at a strike rate of 1.4261,
maturing on November 28, 2025.
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The following table summarizes the terms of our derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2024 (in

thousands):

Interest Rate Derivatives:
SOFR Cap @
SOFR Cap @
SOFR Cap
SOFR Cap
SOFR Cap @
CORRA Swap ®

Foreign Currency Forwards:

CAD Forward ®
CAD Forward ®
CAD Forward ©
CAD Forward @
CAD Forward ©

Notional Effective Date or

Amount Strike Date Assumed Maturity Date
$ 100,000 1.50% May 1, 2024 May 1, 2025
$ 100,000 2.00% July 1, 2024 July 1, 2025
$ 100,200 1.25% December 30, 2024 July 1, 2025
$ 100,000 4.75%  December 1, 2022 December 1, 2025
$ 200,000 5.50%  December 2, 2024 December 1, 2026
$ 73,918 3.93% March 7, 2024 March 7, 2027
$ 2,800 1.4412 December 30, 2024 February 27, 2025
$ 136,746 1.3648 April 12, 2024 April 11, 2025
$ 3,300  1.4363 December 30, 2024 May 27, 2025
$ 3,500 1.4312 December 30, 2024 August 27, 2025
$ 3,300 1.4261 December 30, 2024  November 28, 2025

@ We deferred payment on this SOFR cap until its maturity.

@ We deferred payment on this SOFR cap until January 2, 2025, at which point, monthly payments became due on

the first of each month until the date of its maturity.

®  Notional amounts shown are denominated in CAD.

The following table summarizes the terms of our derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2023 (in

thousands):

Interest Rate Derivatives:
SOFR Cap
SOFR Cap
SOFR Cap
SOFR Cap

Foreign Currency Forwards:
CAD Forward®
CAD Forward®

Notional Effective Date or

Amount Strike Date Assumed Maturity Date
$ 125,000 2.00% June 1, 2022 June 28, 2024
$ 100,000 4.75% December 1, 2022 December 2, 2024
$ 100,000 4.75% December 1, 2022 December 2, 2024
$ 100,000 4.75%  December 1, 2022 December 1, 2025
$ 30,000 1.3782 November 16, 2023 January 16, 2024
$ 132,350 1.3273 July 5, 2023 April 12, 2024
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@ Notional amounts shown are denominated in CAD.

The following table presents a gross presentation of the fair value of our derivative financial instruments as well as their
classification on our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

Asset/Liability Derivatives

Fair Value
December 31, December 31,

Balance Sheet Location 2024 2023
Interest Rate Derivatives

Other assets $ 1523 % 3,485

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities® $ 6,591 O$ —
Foreign Currency Hedges

Other assets $ 4667 $ —

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 39 % 985

@ Included herein is approximately $8.2 million in deferred payments on certain of our SOFR interest rate
caps, as well as the fair value of the related SOFR interest rate cap, along with the fair value of our CORRA swap.

The following tables present the effect of our derivative financial instruments on our consolidated statements of
operations for the periods presented (in thousands):

Location of amounts

Gain (loss) recognized in OCI reclassified from Gain (loss) reclassified from OCI
for the year ended December 31, OCI into income for the year ended December 31,
Type 2024 2023 2024 2023 2022
Interest Rate Swaps $ (1,011) $ — Interestexpense $ 247 $ 51 $ (305)
Interest Rate Caps 294 410  Interest expense 1,642 3,953 (140)
CAD Foreign Currency
Forwards 3,617 (1,066) N/A — — —
$ 2,900 $ (656) $ 1889 $ 4004 $ (445)

Based on the forward rates in effect as of December 31, 2024, we estimate that approximately $0.9 million related to
our qualifying cash flow hedges will be reclassified to increase interest expense during the next 12 months.

Note 8. Income Taxes

As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on taxable income that we distribute to our
stockholders. However, certain of our consolidated subsidiaries are taxable REIT subsidiaries, which are subject to federal,
state and foreign income taxes. We have filed an election to treat our primary TRS as a taxable REIT subsidiary effective
January 1, 2014. In general, our TRS performs additional services for our customers and provides the advisory and property
management services to the Managed REITs and otherwise generally engages in non-real estate related business. The TRS is
subject to corporate U.S. federal and state income tax. Additionally, we own and operate a number of self storage properties
located throughout Canada, the income of which is generally subject to income taxes under the laws of Canada.

The domestic and international components of income (loss) before income taxes are presented for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (in thousands):
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For the year ended

2024 2023 2022
Domestic $ (3,917) $ 6,993 $ 20,546
Foreign (486) 2,058 568
Income (loss) before income taxes $ (4,403) $ 9,051 $ 21,114

The following is a summary of our income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and
2022 (in thousands):

For the year ended December 31, 2024

Federal State Canadian Total
Current $ 18 $ 41 3 580 $ 639
Deferred 258 4 583 845
Total $ 276 $ 45 $ 1,163 $ 1,484

For the year ended December 31, 2023

Federal State Canadian Total
Current $ 191 $ 33 % 480 $ 704
Deferred (10) (2) (3,288) (3,300)
Total $ 181 $ 31 $ (2,808) $ (2,596)

For the year ended December 31, 2022

Federal State Canadian Total
Current $ 171 $ 27 $ 321 $ 519
Deferred (499) (76) (499) (1,074)
Total $ (328) $ (49) $ (178) $ (555)
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Income tax expense (benefit) is reconciled to the hypothetical amounts computed at the U.S. federal statutory income
tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2024 Rate
Expected tax (benefit) at statutory rate $ (925) 21.0%
Non-taxable REIT (income) loss 1,134 -25.7%
State and local income tax expense - net of federal benefit 36 -0.8%
Foreign income taxed at different rates (12) 0.3%
Change in valuation allowance 1,223 -27.8%
Other 28 -0.7%
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ 1,484 -33.7%
Year Ended
December 31, 2023 Rate
Expected tax at statutory rate $ 1,901 21.0%
Non-taxable REIT (income) loss (1,243) -13.7%
State and local income tax expense - net of federal benefit 25 0.3%
Foreign income taxed at different rates 131 1.5%
Change in valuation allowance (3,410) -37.7%
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ (2,596) -28.7%
Year Ended
December 31, 2022 Rate
Expected tax at statutory rate $ 4,434 21.0%
Non-taxable REIT (income) loss (4,611) -21.8%
State and local income tax expense - net of federal benefit (39) -0.2%
Foreign income taxed at different rates 48 0.2%
Change in valuation allowance (417) -2.0%
Other 30 0.1%
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ (555) -2.6%

The major sources of temporary differences that give rise to the deferred tax effects are shown below (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible contract assets $ 6) $ (18)

Canadian real estate (9,163) (9,887)

Total deferred tax liability (9,169) (9,905)
Deferred tax assets:

Other 1,687 1,267

Canadian real estate and non-capital losses 7,729 7,561

Total deferred tax assets 9,416 8,828
Valuation allowance (1,891) (667)
Net deferred tax liabilities (1,644) $ (1,744)

The Canadian non-capital losses expire between 2032 and 2044. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the
Company had Canadian non-capital loss carry forwards of approximately $20.8 million and $24.9 million, respectively. As of

December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had a valuation allowance of approximately $1.9 million and $0.7 million, respectively,
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related to non-capital loss carry-forwards, non deductible interest expense carry-forwards, and basis differences at certain of
our Canadian properties.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had no interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. The tax years
2020-2023 remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which we are subject.

Note 9. Segment Disclosures

We operate in two reportable business segments: (i) self storage operations and (ii) our Managed REIT Platform
business. Our self storage operations consist of our wholly-owned self storage facilities, primarily consisting of month-to-
month rental revenue and related ancillary revenue that these self storage facilities produce. Our Managed REIT Platform
business consists of the various management services we perform for the Managed REITs, including the services performed
related to our property management, asset management, and construction and development management contracts. The
reportable segments offer different products and services to different customers and are therefore managed separately.

The chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”) is our chief executive officer. Our CODM and other management
regularly evaluate performance based upon segment operating income (“SOI”). For our self storage operations, SOI is
defined as leasing and related revenues, less property level operating expenses. SOI for the Company’s Managed REIT
Platform business represents Managed REIT Platform revenues less Managed REIT Platform expenses. Our CODM uses SOI
when making decisions about allocating capital and personnel to the various segments. Property operating expenses
represents a significant segment expense for purposes of evaluating performance of our self storage operations. Managed
REIT Platform expense represents a significant segment expense for purposes of evaluating performance of the Company's
Managed REIT Platform. Such income statement amounts are reflected below in the calculation of SOI. On a quarterly basis,
our CODM considers budget-to-actual and period-to-period variances when evaluating company and segment performance in
addition to other interim reviews.
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The following tables summarize information for the reportable segments for the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Managed REIT Corporate
Self Storage Platform and Other Total
Revenues:
Self storage rental revenue $ 209579 $ — 3 — 209,579
Ancillary operating revenue 9,397 — — 9,397
Managed REIT Platform revenue — 11,383 — 11,383
Reimbursable costs from Managed REITS — 6,647 — 6,647
Total revenues 218,976 18,030 — 237,006
Operating expenses:
Property operating expenses
Property taxes 21,070 — — 21,070
Payroll 16,731 — — 16,731
Advertising 5,664 — — 5,664
Repairs & Maintenance 5,483 — — 5,483
Utilities 5,090 — — 5,090
Property Insurance 5,407 — — 5,407
Administrative and professional 11,239 — — 11,239
Total property operating expenses 70,684 — — 70,684
Managed REIT Platform expense — 3,982 — 3,982
Reimbursable costs from Managed REITs — 6,647 — 6,647
Segment operating income 148,292 7,401 — 155,693
Other operating expenses:
General and administrative — — 29,948 29,948
Depreciation 54,218 — 957 55,175
Intangible amortization expense 810 125 — 935
Acquisition expenses 413 — — 413
Total other operating expenses 55,441 125 30,905 86,471
Income (loss) from operations 92,851 7,276 (30,905) 69,222
Other income (expense):
Equity in earnings (losses) from
investments in JV Properties — — (1,380) (1,380)
Equity in earnings (losses) from
investments in Managed REITs — (1,414) — (1,414)
Other, net (1,204) — (78) (1,282)
Interest income 942 2,305 — 3,247
Interest expense (71,868) (292) (165) (72,325)
Loss on debt extinguishment (471) — — (471)
Income tax (expense) benefit (1,175) (265) (44) (1,484)
Net income (loss) $ 19,075 $ 7610 $ (32572) $ (5,887)
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Revenues:
Self storage rental revenue
Ancillary operating revenue
Managed REIT Platform revenue
Reimbursable costs from Managed REITs
Total revenues
Operating expenses:
Property operating expenses
Property taxes
Payroll
Advertising
Repairs & Maintenance
Utilities
Property Insurance
Administrative and professional
Total property operating expenses
Managed REIT Platform expense
Reimbursable costs from Managed REITs
Segment operating income
Other operating expenses:
General and administrative
Depreciation
Intangible amortization expense
Acquisition expenses
Total other operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense):
Equity in earnings (losses) from
investments in JV Properties
Equity in earnings (losses) from
investments in Managed REITs
Other, net
Interest income
Interest expense
Income tax (expense) benefit
Net income (loss)

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Managed REIT Corporate
Self Storage Platform and Other Total
$ 206,494 $ — $ — 3 206,494
8,827 — — 8,827
— 11,906 — 11,906
— 5,765 — 5,765
215,321 17,671 — 232,992
19,940 — — 19,940
15,775 — — 15,775
5,145 — — 5,145
4,749 — — 4,749
5,070 — — 5,070
4,297 — — 4,297
10,387 = = 10,387
65,363 — S 65,363
— 3,365 — 3,365
— 5,764 G 5,764
149,958 8,542 = 158,500
— — 27,452 27,452
52,754 — 882 53,636
6,398 196 — 6,594
193 — — 193
59,345 196 28,334 87,875
90,613 8,346 (28,334) 70,625
— — (1,625) (1,625)
— (1,273) — (1,273)
(149) 367 (449) (231)
367 2,993 — 3,360
(61,636) — (169) (61,805)
2,401 (197) 392 2,596
$ 31,596 $ 10,236 $ (30,185) $ 11,647
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Year Ended December 31, 2022

Managed REIT Corporate
Self Storage Platform and Other Total
Revenues:
Self storage rental revenue $ 191,750 $ — 3 — 3 191,750
Ancillary operating revenue 8,446 — — 8,446
Managed REIT Platform revenue — 7,819 — 7,819
Reimbursable costs from Managed REITs — 4,628 — 4,628
Total revenues 200,196 12,447 — 212,643
Operating expenses:
Property operating expenses
Property taxes 17,627 — — 17,627
Payroll 13,997 — — 13,997
Advertising 4,755 — — 4,755
Repairs & Maintenance 4,658 — — 4,658
Utilities 4,922 — — 4,922
Property Insurance 3,020 — — 3,020
Administrative and professional 9,458 — — 9,458
Total property operating expenses 58,437 — — 58,437
Managed REIT Platform expense — 2,485 — 2,485
Reimbursable costs from Managed REITs — 4,628 — 4,628
Segment operating income 141,759 5,334 — 147,093
Other operating expenses:
General and administrative — — 28,254 28,254
Depreciation 48,504 — 914 49,418
Intangible amortization expense 14,728 473 — 15,201
Acquisition expenses 888 — — 888
Contingent earnout adjustment — 1,514 — 1,514
Write-off of equity interest and preexisting
relationships in SST IV upon
acquisition of control — 2,050 — 2,050
Total other operating expenses 64,120 4,037 29,168 97,325
Gain on equity interests upon acquisition — 16,101 — 16,101
Income (loss) from operations 77,639 17,398 (29,168) 65,869
Other income (expense):
Equity in earnings (losses) from
investments in JV Properties — — (760) (760)
Equity in earnings (losses) from
investments in Managed REITs — (930) — (930)
Other, net (220) (681) 97) (998)
Interest income 10 1,767 61 1,838
Interest expense (41,339) — (173) (41,512)
Loss on debt extinguishment (2,393) — — (2,393)
Income tax (expense) benefit 36 563 (44) 529
Net income (loss) $ 33,733  $ 18,117 $ (30,181) $ 21,669

The following table summarizes our total assets by segment (in thousands):

Segments December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Self Storage® 1,915,303 $ 1,798,510
Managed REIT Platform®@ 63,700 41,761
Corporate and Other 63,064 55,370
Total assets® 2,042,067 $ 1,895,641
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@ Included in the assets of the Self Storage segment as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were
approximately $52.2 million of goodwill. Additionally, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 there were no
accumulated impairment charges to goodwill within the Self Storage segment.

@ Included in the assets of the Managed REIT Platform segment as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, was
approximately $1.4 million of goodwill. Such goodwill is net of accumulated impairment charges in the Managed
REIT Platform segment of approximately $24.7 million, which relates to the impairment charge recorded during
the year ended December 31, 2020.

@) Other than our investments in and advances to Managed REITs and investments in JV properties,
substantially all of our investments in real estate facilities and intangible assets as well as our capital expenditures
for the years ended and as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, were associated with our self storage
platform. Please see Note 3 — Real Estate of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
detail.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, approximately $155 million and $174 million, respectively, of our assets in the
self storage segment related to our operations in Canada. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022,
approximately $22.6 million, $22.1 million, and $21.5 million, respectively, of our revenues in the self storage segment
related to our operations in Canada. Substantially all of our operations related to the management fees we generate through
our management contracts with the Managed REITSs are performed in the U.S.; accordingly substantially all of our assets and
revenues related to our Managed REIT segment are based in the U.S. as well.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, approximately $32.8 million and $35.8 million, respectively, of our assets in the
Corporate and Other segment table above relate to our Canadian JV Properties which operate in Canada. For the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, approximately $1.4 million, $1.6 million, and $0.8 million of losses, respectively, relate
to these Canadian JV Properties' operations in Canada.

Note 10. Related Party Transactions
Self Administration Transaction

On June 28, 2019, we, our Operating Partnership and our TRS entered into a series of transactions, agreements, and
amendments to our existing agreements and arrangements with our then-sponsor, SAM, and SmartStop OP Holdings, LLC
(“SS OP Holdings™), a subsidiary of SAM, pursuant to which, effective June 28, 2019, we acquired the self storage advisory,
asset management and property management businesses and certain joint venture interests of SAM, along with certain other
assets of SAM (collectively, the "Self Administration Transaction™).

As a result of the Self Administration Transaction, we became self-managed and succeeded to the advisory, asset
management and property management businesses and certain joint ventures previously in place for us, SST IV (until the
SST IV Merger Date), and SSGT Il (until the SSGT Il Merger Date), and we acquired the internal capability to originate,
structure and manage additional future self storage investment products which would be sponsored by SmartStop REIT
Advisors, LLC (“SRA”), our indirect subsidiary. The transfer agent agreement described below was not impacted by the Self
Administration Transaction.

Our Chief Executive Officer, who is also the Chairman of our board of directors, holds ownership interests in and is an
officer of SAM, and other affiliated entities. Our Chief Executive Officer also previously indirectly held an ownership
interest in our former dealer manager. Previously, certain of our executive officers and another member of our board of
directors held ownership interests in and/or were officers of SAM, and other affiliated entities. Accordingly, any agreements
or transactions we have entered into with such entities may present a conflict of interest. None of SAM and its affiliates or
our directors or executive officers receive any compensation, fees or reimbursements from our Managed REITSs, other than
with respect to fees and reimbursements in accordance with the Administrative Services Agreement and the transfer agent
agreement, or as otherwise described in this section.

Former Transfer Agent Agreement

SAM owns 100% of the membership interests of Strategic Transfer Agent Services, LLC, our former transfer agent
(“Former Transfer Agent”), which is a registered transfer agent with the SEC. Pursuant to our transfer agent agreement, our
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Former Transfer Agent provided transfer agent and registrar services to us. These services were substantially similar to what
a third party transfer agent would provide in the ordinary course of performing its functions as a transfer agent, including, but
not limited to: providing customer service to our stockholders, processing the distributions and any servicing fees with
respect to our shares and issuing regular reports to our stockholder.

Fees paid to our Former Transfer Agent included a fixed quarterly fee, one-time account setup fees, monthly open
account fees and fees for investor inquiries. In addition, we reimbursed our Former Transfer Agent for all reasonable
expenses or other charges incurred by it in connection with the provision of its services to us, and we paid our Former
Transfer Agent fees for any additional services that we requested from time to time, in accordance with its rates then in
effect.

Effective as of April 29, 2024, we transitioned to a new transfer agent, SS&C GIDS, Inc. In connection with such
transfer, we simultaneously terminated the transfer agent agreement with Strategic Transfer Agent Services, LLC. In lieu of a
termination fee and in recognition of the additional cost and expenses incurred by our Former Transfer Agent in connection
with the transition, we paid a transition fee of $150,000 to Strategic Transfer Agent Services, LLC in May 2024.

Pursuant to the terms of the agreements described above, the following table summarizes related party costs incurred
and paid by us for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, as well as any related amounts payable as of December 31,
2024 and 2023 (in thousands).

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Year Ended December 31, 2024
Incurred Paid Payable Incurred Paid Payable
Expensed
Transfer Agent fees $ 1479  $ 1,473 3% 7% % 661 $ 715 % 21
Other
Other — — 341 — — 341
Total $ 1,479 3 1473 3 416 $ 661 $ 715 $ 362

Advisory Agreement Fees

Our indirect subsidiaries, the SSGT Il Advisor, SST VI Advisor, and the SSGT 111 Advisor are or were entitled to
receive various fees and expense reimbursements under the terms of the SSGT Il, SST VI, and SSGT Il advisory
agreements.

SSGT 11 Advisory Agreement

The SSGT Il Advisor provided acquisition and advisory services to SSGT Il pursuant to an advisory agreement (the
“SSGT Il Advisory Agreement”) with SSGT 11 up until the SSGT Il Merger on June 1, 2022.

Effective June 1, 2022, in connection with the SSGT Il Merger, the SSGT Il Advisory Agreement was terminated and
pursuant to the SSGT Il operating partnership agreement, subordinated distribution of approximately $16.1 million was
otherwise due. As a result, we recorded a gain of approximately $16.1 million related to our special limited partnership
interest and recorded this within gain on preexisting equity interests upon acquisition of control in our consolidated
statements of operations. As a result of our acquisition of SSGT Il and terminating the SSGT Il Advisory Agreement, we
recorded a write-off of approximately $1.4 million related to the carrying value of the SSGT Il Advisory Agreement contract.

As a result of the Self Administration Transaction, we recorded a deferred tax liability, which was the result of the
difference between the GAAP carrying value of the SSGT Il Advisory Agreement and its carrying value for tax purposes. As
we reduced the GAAP carrying value of such intangible asset, as noted above, we adjusted the corresponding value of our
related deferred tax liability by approximately $0.3 million on June 1, 2022, and recorded such benefit to the income tax
(expense) benefit line-item in our consolidated statements of operations.
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SST VI Advisory Agreement

The SST VI Advisor provides acquisition and advisory services to SST VI pursuant to an advisory agreement (the
“SST VI Advisory Agreement™). In connection with the SST VI private placement offering, SST VI was required to
reimburse the SST VI Advisor for organization and offering costs from the SST VI private offering pursuant to the SST VI
private offering advisory agreement.

Pursuant to the SST VI Advisory Agreement, the SST VI Advisor receives acquisition fees equal to 1.00% of the
contract purchase price of each property SST V1 acquires plus reimbursement of any acquisition expenses that SST VI
Advisor incurs. The SST VI Advisor also receives a monthly asset management fee equal to 0.0625%, which is one-twelfth
of 0.75%, of SST VI’s aggregate asset value, as defined. The SST VI Advisor is also potentially entitled to receive a
disposition fee if a substantial amount of services are performed by the SST VI Advisor, as determined by a majority of SST
VI’s independent directors, equal to the lesser of 1% of the contract sales price for any properties sold or 50% of the
competitive real estate commission; however in no event shall the total real estate commissions paid exceed 6% of the
contract sales price.

A subsidiary of our Operating Partnership may also be potentially entitled to a subordinated distribution through its
ownership of a special limited partnership in SST VI OP if SST VI (1) lists its shares of common stock on a national
exchange, (2) terminates the SST VI Advisory Agreement, (3) liquidates its portfolio, or (4) merges with another entity or
enters into an Extraordinary Transaction, as defined in SST VI OP's limited partnership agreement.

The SST VI Advisory Agreement provides for reimbursement of the SST VI Advisor’s direct and indirect costs of
providing administrative and management services to SST VI. Beginning four fiscal quarters after commencement of SST
VI's public offering, which was declared effective March 17, 2022, the SST VI Advisor was required to pay or reimburse
SST VI the amount by which SST VI’s aggregate annual operating expenses, as defined, exceed the greater of 2% of SST
VI’s average invested assets or 25% of SST VI’s net income, as defined, unless a majority of SST VI’s independent directors
determine that such excess expenses were justified based on unusual and non-recurring factors.

Pacific Oak Holding Group, LLC, is a 17.5% non-voting member of the SST VI Advisor. Pacific Oak Capital Markets,
LLC (a subsidiary of Pacific Oak Holding Group, LLC) is SST VI's dealer manager, and as such, is responsible for the
marketing of SST VI shares being offered pursuant to SST VI's private offering, and subsequent to March 17, 2022, SST VI's
public offering.

Separately, we through one of our subsidiaries agreed to pay SST VI’s dealer manager an amount equal to 1.5% of the
gross offering proceeds from the sale of Class Z shares sold in its public offering. For the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023, we had incurred approximately $44,000 and $5,000, respectively, to SST VI's dealer manager associated with the
Class Z shares sold in its public offering.

SSGT I Advisory Agreement

The SSGT Il Advisor provides acquisition and advisory services to SSGT Il pursuant to an advisory agreement (the
“SSGT Il Advisory Agreement™). In connection with the SSGT Il private placement offering, which became effective on
May 18, 2022, SSGT IlI is required to reimburse the SSGT Il Advisor for organization and offering costs from the SSGT IlI
private offering pursuant to the SSGT Il Advisory Agreement.

Pursuant to the SSGT Il Advisory Agreement, the SSGT 111 Advisor will receive acquisition fees equal to 1.00% of
the contract purchase price of each property SSGT Il acquires plus reimbursement of acquisition expenses that SSGT Il
Advisor incurs, provided, however, that no reimbursement shall be made for costs of personnel to the extent that such
personnel perform services in transactions for which the Advisor receives the Acquisition Fee. The SSGT 11 Advisor also
receives a monthly asset management fee equal to 0.0625%, which is one-twelfth of 0.75%, of SSGT I11’s aggregate asset
value, as defined. The SSGT Il Advisor is also entitled to receive a disposition fee equal to 1.5% of the contract sale price
for any properties sold inclusive of any real estate commissions paid to third party real estate brokers.

Through a separate agreement, Pacific Oak Holding Group, LLC, the parent company of Pacific Oak Capital Markets,
LLC, the dealer manager for the SSGT Il private offering, is entitled to receive 17.5% of the acquisition fees, asset
management fees and disposition fees SSGT Il1 Advisor earns pursuant to the SSGT II1 Advisory Agreement.

A subsidiary of our Operating Partnership may also be potentially entitled to various subordinated distributions
through its ownership of a special limited partnership in SSGT I11’s operating partnership agreement if SSGT 11 (1) lists its
shares of common stock on a national exchange, (2) terminates the SSGT 111 Advisory Agreement, (3) liquidates its portfolio,
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or (4) merges with another entity or enters into an Extraordinary Transaction, as defined in the SSGT |11 operating
partnership agreement.

Managed REIT Property Management Agreements

Our indirect subsidiaries, SS Growth Property Management 1, LLC, Strategic Storage Property Management VI, LLC,
and SS Growth Property Management I11, LLC, (collectively the “Managed REITs Property Managers™), are or were entitled
to receive fees for their services in managing the properties wholly or partially owned by the Managed REITs pursuant to
property management agreements entered into between the owner of the property and the applicable Managed REIT’s
Property Manager.

The Managed REITs’ Property Managers receive a property management fee equal to 6% of the gross revenues from
the properties, generally subject to a monthly minimum of $3,000 per property, plus reimbursement of the costs of managing
the properties, and a one-time fee of $3,750 for each property acquired that would be managed by the Managed REITS’
Property Managers. Reimbursable costs and expenses include wages and salaries and other expenses of employees engaged
in operating, managing and maintaining such properties. Pursuant to the property management agreements, we through our
Operating Partnership employ the on-site staff for the Managed REITs’ properties.

The SST VI, and SSGT 11 property managers are or were entitled to a construction management fee equal to 5% of the
cost of a related construction or capital improvement work project in excess of $10,000.

Effective June 1, 2022, in connection with the SSGT 11 Merger, the SSGT Il property management contracts were
terminated. As a result of us acquiring SSGT Il and terminating such contracts, we recorded a write-off of approximately
$0.6 million related to the carrying value of the SSGT Il property management contracts.

In connection with the Self Administration Transaction, we previously recorded a deferred tax liability, which was the
result of the difference between the GAAP carrying value of the SSGT Il property management contract and the carrying
value for tax purposes. As we reduced the GAAP carrying value of such intangible asset, we adjusted the value of our
deferred tax liability on a pro-rata basis, reducing the deferred tax liability by approximately $0.2 million during the year
December 31, 2022 related to the SSGT Il Merger and the related aforementioned write-offs, and recorded such benefits
within the income tax (expense) benefit line-item in our consolidated statements of operations.
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Summary of Fees and Revenue Related to the Managed REITS

Pursuant to the terms of the various agreements described above for the Managed REITSs, the following summarizes the
related party fees for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (in thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
Managed REIT Platform Revenues 2024 2023 2022
Asset Management Fees:
SST VI $ 4254 % 3420 $ 1,348
SSGT Il 1,406 1,017 146
SSGT 110 — — 798
Total Asset Management Fees 5,660 4,437 2,292
Property Management Fees:
SST VI 1,698 1,243 551
SSGT 1l 617 358 62
JV Properties 959 738 433
SSGT W — — 408
Total Property Management Fees 3,274 2,339 1,454
Tenant Protection Program Fees:
SST VI 1,205 842 397
SSGT 1l 427 186 8
JV Properties 371 271 187
SSGT W — — 250
Total Tenant Protection Program Fees 2,003 1,299 842
Acquisition Fees:
SST VI 34 2,470 1,846
SSGT 1l 293 837 846
Total Acquisition Fees 327 3,307 2,692
Other Managed REIT Fees® 963 558 539
Managed REIT Platform Fees 12,227 11,940 7,819
Sponsor funding reduction © (844) (34) —
Total Managed REIT Platform Revenues $ 11,383 $ 11,906 $ 7,819

© On June 1, 2022, we acquired SSGT Il and no longer earn such fees. Additionally, the Tenant Protection
Program revenue for SSGT Il is now included in ancillary operating revenue in our consolidated statements of
operations.

@ Such revenue primarily includes other property management related fees, construction management fees,
development fees, and other miscellaneous revenues.

® Pursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement, SmartStop funds certain costs of SST VI's share sales, and in
return receives Series C Units in SST VI's OP. The excess of the funding over the value of the Series C Units received
is accounted for as a reduction of Managed REIT Platform revenues from SST VI over the remaining estimated term of
the management contracts with SST VI.

We offer tenant insurance or tenant protection programs to customers at our Managed REITS' properties pursuant to
which we, as the property manager and majority owner of the Tenant Protection Program joint ventures, are entitled to
substantially all of the net revenue attributable to the sale of such tenant programs.

In order to protect our interest in receiving these revenues in light of the fact that the Managed REITs control the

properties, we and the Managed REITs transferred our respective rights in such arrangements to a joint venture entity owned
99.9% by us through a TRS subsidiary and 0.1% by the Managed REIT. Under the terms of the operating agreements of the
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joint venture entities, we receive 99.9% of the net revenues generated from such Tenant Protection Programs and the
Managed REIT receives the other 0.1% of such net revenues. Subsequent to the SSGT Il Merger, the SST IV and SSGT Il
Tenant Protection Programs joint ventures are wholly-owned by us and such revenue is generated at our now wholly-owned
self storage properties and is recorded within ancillary operating revenue in our consolidated statements of operations.

Reimbursable costs from Managed REITs includes reimbursement of SST 1V (until the SST IV Merger Date), SSGT I,
(until the SSGT Il Merger Date), SST VI and SSGT IlI's Advisors’ certain direct and indirect costs of providing
administrative and management services to the Managed REITs. Additionally, reimbursable costs includes reimbursement
pursuant to the property management agreements for reimbursement of certain costs of managing the Managed REITS’
properties, including wages and salaries and other expenses of employees engaged in operating, managing and maintaining
such properties.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had receivables due from the Managed REITSs totaling approximately
$16.7 million, and $6.5 million, respectively. Such amounts are included in investments in and advances to the Managed
REITs line-item in our consolidated balance sheets. Such amounts included unpaid amounts relative to the above table, in
addition to other direct routine reimbursable expenditures of the Managed REITSs that we directly funded.

Investments in and advances to SST VI OP

Equity Investments

On March 10, 2021, SmartStop OP made an investment of $5.0 million in SST VI OP, in exchange for common units
of limited partnership interest in SST VI OP. Additionally, a subsidiary of SmartStop OP owns a special limited partnership
interest (the “SST VI SLP”) in SST VI OP.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we recorded a loss related to our equity interest, excluding our
preferred investment discussed below, in SST VI OP of approximately $0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively, and
received distributions in the amount of approximately $0.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

On January 30, 2023, a subsidiary of SmartStop made a preferred investment of 600,000 Series A Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred units of limited partnership interest in SST VI OP for an aggregate of $15 million. Upon closing of the
preferred investment, an investment fee equal to 1% of the investment amount was owed and paid by SST VI OP. SmartStop,
through its subsidiary, received distributions, payable monthly in arrears, at a rate of 7.0% per annum from the date of
issuance until the second anniversary of the date of issuance, 8.0% per annum commencing thereafter until the third
anniversary of the date of issuance, 9.0% per annum commencing thereafter until the fourth anniversary of the date of
issuance, and 10% per annum thereafter, payable monthly. On May 2, 2023, SST VI fully redeemed SmartStop's preferred
investment of 600,000 Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred units of limited partnership interest in SST VI OP and
repaid accrued distributions due as of the date of redemption for a total amount of approximately $15.1 million.

Sponsor Funding Agreement

On November 1, 2023, SRA, a subsidiary of our Operating Partnership, entered into a Sponsor Funding Agreement
with SST VI and SST VI OP, in connection with certain changes to the public offering of SST VI.

Pursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement, SRA, as sponsor of the SST VI offering, has agreed to fund the payment
of (i) the upfront 3% sales commission for the sale of Class Y shares sold in the SST VI offering, (ii) the upfront 3% dealer
manager fee for the Class Y shares sold in the SST V1 offering, and (iii) the estimated 1% organization and offering expenses
for the sale of Class Y shares and Class Z shares sold in the SST VI offering. SRA also agreed to reimburse SST VI in cash
to cover the dilution from certain one-time stock dividends which were issued by SST VI to existing stockholders in
connection with the sponsor funding changes to the SST VI offering. On December 15, 2023, we paid SST VI approximately
$6.6 million for the reimbursement of the aforementioned stock dividend.

In consideration for SRA providing the funding for the front-end sales load and the cash to cover the dilution from the
stock dividends described above, SST VI OP will issue a number of Series C Units to SRA equal to the dollar amount of such
funding divided by the then-current offering price for the Class Y shares and Class Z shares sold in the SST VI offering,
which was initially $9.30 per share. Pursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement, SRA will reimburse SST VI monthly for
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the applicable front-end sales load it has agreed to fund, and SST VI OP will issue the Series C Units on a monthly basis
upon such reimbursement.

On August 7, 2024, SST VI declared an estimated net asset value per share of $10.00. Since the Series C Units that
could be converted would result in the net asset value falling below $10.00 per share, none of the Series C Units we own
were converted into Class A units of SST VI OP, and our future purchases will be determined based on the current estimated
net asset value at such time. Subsequent to SST VI declaring an estimated net asset value of $10.00 per share, the number of
Series C Units SmartStop receives in exchange for funding the front-end sales load of the sale of SST VI's Class Y and Class
Z shares is calculated as the dollar amount of such sponsor funding divided by the current offering price of $10.00 per share
for such Class Y and Z shares. The Sponsor Funding Agreement will terminate immediately upon the date that SST VI ceases
to offer the Class Y shares and Class Z shares in the SST VI offering. The SST VI offering was recently extended by SST
VI's board of directors. Inclusive of all extension options exercised by SST VI, its current offering cannot extend beyond
September 13, 2025.

On November 1, 2023, SRA entered into Amendment No. 3 to the Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership
Agreement of SST VI OP with SST VI and SST VI OP containing, among other things, the terms of the Series C Units. The
Series C Units shall initially have no distribution, liquidation, voting, or other rights to participate in SST VI OP unless and
until such Series C Units are converted into Class A units of SST VI OP. The Series C Units shall automatically convert into
Class A units on a one-to-one basis upon SST VI’s disclosure of an estimated net asset value per share equal to at least
$10.00 per share for each Class of SST VI shares of common stock, including the Class Y shares and Class Z shares,
calculated net of the Series C Units to be converted.

Through December 31, 2024, we have incurred approximately $9.3 million in connection with the Sponsor Funding
Agreement, representing approximately 1.0 million Series C Units issued by SST VI OP. During the year ended December
31, 2024 we incurred approximately $2.4 million, of which approximately $0.2 million was accrued as a payable pursuant to
the Sponsor Funding Agreement.

As of December 31, 2024, the maximum remaining commitment of SRA pursuant to the Sponsor Funding Agreement
was approximately $61.2 million, assuming SST VI were to sell the maximum remaining shares available under its current
offering of approximately 87.4 million.

Debt Investments

On December 30, 2021, in connection with SST VI's acquisition of two self storage facilities, our Operating
Partnership entered into a mezzanine loan agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of SST VI OP for up to $45 million
(the “SST VI Mezzanine Loan”). The SST VI Mezzanine Loan required a commitment fee equal to 1.0% of the amount
drawn at closing of the SST VI Mezzanine Loan, and each subsequent draw. Interest on this loan accrued at LIBOR plus
3.0%.

The SST VI Mezzanine Loan was amended on December 20, 2022, such amendment increased the principal borrowing
amount from a maximum of $45 million to $55 million. Pursuant to this amendment, the interest rate on the SST VI
Mezzanine Loan was converted to a variable rate equal to SOFR plus 3.0%. Additionally, in such amendment, SST VI
exercised the existing extension option; payments on the SST VI Mezzanine Loan were interest only until the due date of
December 30, 2023. As of December 31, 2022 the balance on the SST VI Mezzanine Loan was $35.0 million. On January
31, 2023, SST VI borrowed an additional $15.0 million on the SST VI Mezzanine Loan. On May 2, 2023, SST VI fully
repaid the outstanding principal, plus all applicable accrued interest due on the SST VI Mezzanine Loan as of such date for a
total amount of approximately $51.7 million. On such date, the SST VI Mezzanine Loan agreement was terminated.

On June 13, 2023 SmartStop OP entered into a promissory note agreement with SST VI OP ( the “SST VI Note”),
where SST VI OP borrowed $15.0 million. Interest on the loan accrued at SOFR plus 3.0%. Payments on the SST VI Note
are interest only. The loan was extended to December 31, 2024 at the borrower's option. As such, the interest rate on the loan
increased to SOFR plus 4.0%, and a fee equal to 0.25% of the outstanding principal balance was due as a result of SST VI
exercising the extension option on December 8, 2023. The SST VI Note required a commitment fee equal to 1.0% of the
aggregate principal amount of the loan. On June 28, 2024, the SST VI Note was amended to expand the borrowing capacity
up to $25.0 million and extend the maturity date from December 31, 2024 to December 31, 2025. The loan is interest only,
and the interest rate on such loan is SOFR plus 4.0%. On July 29, 2024, SST VI borrowed an additional $8.0 million on the
SST VI Note.

As of December 31, 2024, SST VI OP had $23.0 million borrowed and outstanding pursuant to the SST VI Note.
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The following table summarizes the carrying value of our investments in and advances to SST VI as of December 31,
2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

As of December 31,

Receivables: 2024 2023

Receivables and advances due $ 13929 $ 5,861
Debt:

SST VI Note 23,000 15,000
Equity:

SST VI OP Units and

SST VI SLP 728 1,932

SST VI Series C Units 4,554 3,306

Total investments in and advances $ 42211  $ 26,099

Investments in and advances to SSGT 111 OP

Equity Investments

On August 29, 2022, SmartStop OP made an investment of $5.0 million in SS Growth Operating Partnership 111, L.P.,
the operating partnership of SSGT Il ("SSGT IIl OP"), in exchange for common units of limited partnership interest in
SSGT Il OP. Additionally, a subsidiary of SmartStop OP owns a special limited partnership interest (the "SSGT Il SLP") in
SSGT 111 OP.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we recorded a loss related to our equity interest in SSGT Ill OP of
approximately $0.6 million and $0.7 million, respectively, and received distributions in the amount of approximately $0.3
million and $0.3 million, respectively.

Debt Investments

On August 9, 2022, in connection with SSGT I1I's acquisition of two self storage facilities, our Operating Partnership
entered into a mezzanine loan agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of SSGT I, for up to $50.0 million (the “SSGT IlI
Mezzanine Loan”), of which $42.0 million was funded as an initial draw at the time of closing. The SSGT Il Mezzanine
Loan requires a commitment fee equal to 1.0% of the amount drawn at closing of the SSGT Il Mezzanine Loan, and
subsequent draws.

The SSGT Il Mezzanine Loan was amended on December 20, 2022, such amendment increased the principal
borrowing amount from up to $50 million to $77 million. Pursuant to this amendment, the interest rate on the SSGT 111
Mezzanine Loan became a variable rate equal to SOFR plus 3.0%. Payments on the SSGT Il Mezzanine Loan are interest
only, and it had an initial maturity date of August 9, 2023. SSGT |1l extended the ultimate maturity date of the SSGT III
Mezzanine Loan until August 9, 2024, as such, the interest rate of the SSGT 111 Mezzanine Loan increased to SOFR plus
4.0% per annum, pursuant to the December 20, 2022 amendment.

On May 2, 2024, SSGT 111 paid down the remaining $1.0 million outstanding on the SSGT IlI Mezzanine Loan. On
August 9, 2024, the SSGT 11l Mezzanine Loan expired, and no further borrowings were allowed pursuant to such loan
agreement.

On July 31, 2024, our Operating Partnership provided a bridge loan to an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of SSGT
111 for $20.0 million (the “SSGT I11 Bridge Loan”) to facilitate SSGT I11’s acquisition of two self storage facilities. An
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of SSGT Il is sponsoring a private offering of beneficial interests in a Delaware statutory
trust ("DST") relating to the two properties. The SSGT Il1 Bridge Loan incurred interest based on adjusted daily simple
SOFR plus 300 basis points. The SSGT |11 Bridge Loan is secured by an indirect pledge of equity in the entity sponsoring the
private DST offering relating to the two properties mentioned above, as well as a full guaranty by SSGT 111 OP. As such
sponsor entity sells such DST interests, it was required to utilize such net proceeds to pay down the SSGT 111 Bridge Loan.
SSGT HI will be required to pay down at least 15% of the balance within four months, 35% within six months, 55% within
nine months, and 75% within twelve months from the final draw.
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As of December 31, 2024, SSGT |1l and its subsidiaries had repaid approximately $17.0 million on the SSGT I
Bridge Loan, such that approximately $2.9 million was outstanding on such loan as of December 31, 2024. Subsequent to
December 31, 2024, in January of 2025, the SSGT I11 Bridge Loan was fully repaid.

On December 16, 2024, our Operating Partnership provided a promissory note to a subsidiary of SSGT Il for $7.0
million (the “SSGT Il Promissory Note™), the entire principal amount of the loan was disbursed to SSGT I1I on such date.
Pursuant to this note, interest on the SSGT 11 Promissory Note accrued at a variable rate equal to SOFR plus 3.0% per
annum. Payments on the SSGT Il Promissory Note were interest only, and it had an initial maturity date of March 17, 2025.
The SSGT Il Promissory Note required a commitment fee equal to 0.50% of the amount drawn at closing of the SSGT 111
Promissory Note. Subsequent to December 31, 2024, in January of 2025, the SSGT |1l Promissory Note was fully repaid.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary of SSGT Ill OP had approximately $10.0 million and
$4.0 million, respectively, borrowed and outstanding pursuant to its borrowings from SmartStop.

The following table summarizes the carrying value of our investments in and advances to SSGT Il OP as of December
31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

As of December 31,

Receivables: 2024 2023

Receivables and advances due $ 2,769 $ 629
Debt:

SSGT IlI Bridge Loan® 2,919 —

SSGT 11 Promissory Note® 7,000 —

SSGT Il Mezzanine Loan — 4,000
Equity:

SSGT Il OP Units and

SSGT Il SLP 2,823 3,662

Total investments in and advances $ 15511 $ 8,291

@ In January of 2025, SSGT Il repaid in full the remaining outstanding principal balance of approximately $2.9
million on the SSGT 111 Bridge Loan, plus accrued interest.

@ In January of 2025, SSGT IlI repaid in full the $7.0 million previously outstanding on the SSGT I11 Promissory
Note, plus accrued interest.

Administrative Services Agreement

On June 28, 2019, we along with our Operating Partnership, our TRS and SmartStop Storage Advisors, LLC
(collectively, the “Company Parties”) entered into an Administrative Services Agreement with SAM (the “Administrative
Services Agreement”), which, as amended, requires that the Company Parties will be reimbursed for providing certain
operational and administrative services to SAM which may include, without limitation, accounting and financial support, IT
support, HR support, advisory services and operations support, and administrative support and other miscellaneous
reimbursements as set forth in the Administrative Services Agreement and SAM will be reimbursed for providing certain
operational and administrative services to the Company Parties which may include, without limitation, due diligence support,
marketing, fulfillment and offering support, events support, insurance support, and administrative and facilities support. SAM
and the Company Parties will reimburse one another based on the actual costs of providing their respective services.
Additionally, SAM paid the Company Parties an allocation of rent and overhead for the portion of the Ladera Office that it
occupied until October 2022, at which time SAM relocated to a separate office. Such agreement had an initial term of three
years, with automatic one-year renewals, and is subject to certain adjustments as defined in the agreement.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we incurred reimbursements payable to SAM under the
Administrative Services Agreement of approximately $0.8 million and approximately $0.5 million, respectively, which were
recorded in the Managed REIT Platform expenses line item in our consolidated statements of operations.

We recorded reimbursements from SAM of approximately $0.2 million and $0.7 million during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to services provided to SAM, which were included in Managed REIT
Platform revenue in our consolidated statements of operations.
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As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, a receivable of approximately $12,000 and a payable of approximately $11,000,
respectively, was due to SAM related to the Administrative Services Agreement.

Note 11. Equity Based Compensation

Prior to June 15, 2022, we issued equity based compensation pursuant to the Company’s Employee and Director Long-
Term Incentive Plan (the “Prior Plan”). On June 15, 2022, our stockholders approved the 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(the “Plan”) and we no longer issue equity under the Prior Plan. Pursuant to the Plan, we are able to issue various forms of
equity based compensation. Through December 31, 2024, we have generally issued equity based awards in two forms: (1)
restricted stock awards consisting of shares of our common stock and (2) long-term incentive plan units of our Operating
Partnership (“LTIP Units™).

The fair value of restricted stock is determined on the grant date based on an estimated value per share. The estimated
fair value of our restricted stock was determined with the assistance of third party valuation specialists primarily based on an
income approach to value our properties as well as the Managed REIT Platform, less the estimated fair value of our debt and
other liabilities. The key assumptions used in estimating the fair value of our restricted stock were projected annual net
operating income, projected growth rates, discount rates, capitalization rates and an illiquidity discount. The fair value of
LTIP Units were further adjusted by applying an additional discount as the LTIP Units are not initially economically
equivalent to our restricted stock. For performance based awards, a fair value was determined for each performance ranking
scenario, with stock compensation expense recorded using the fair value of the scenario determined to be probable of
achievement as of the end of the respective period.

Time Based Awards

We have granted various time based awards, which generally vest ratably over either one, three, or four years
commencing in the year of grant, subject to the recipient’s continued employment or service through the applicable vesting
date. All grants of time based restricted stock have limitations on transferability during the vesting period, and the grantee
does not have the ability to vote any unvested shares. Transferability prior to vesting is restricted only to the unvested portion
of the restricted stock.

With respect to grants of time based LTIP Units, distributions accrue based on the effective date of each grant, and are
payable as distributions are paid on our Class A Shares without regard to whether the underlying awards have vested. With
respect to time based restricted stock issued to our board of directors, distributions accrue as of the effective date of each
grant and are payable as distributions are paid on our Class A Shares without regard to whether the underlying awards have
vested. With respect to all other existing time based restricted stock, distributions accrue on non-vested shares granted and
are paid when the underlying restricted shares vest.

Holders of time based LTIP Units receive allocations of profits and losses with respect to the LTIP Units as of the
effective date, distributions from the effective date in an amount equivalent to the distributions declared and paid on our
Class A Shares, and the same voting rights as holders of common units, voting as a class with each LTIP Unit holder having
one vote per LTIP Unit held. Prior to vesting, time based LTIP Units generally may not be transferred, other than by laws of
descent and distribution.
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The following table summarizes the activity related to our time based awards:

Restricted Stock LTIP Units
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average

Grant-Date Grant-Date
Time Based Award Grants Shares Fair Value Units Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2022 145,850 $ 11.50 290,641 $ 11.16
Granted 43,720 14.30 315,915 13.30
Vested (96,295) 10.86 (226,271) 11.58
Forfeited (7,960) 13.92 — —
Unvested at December 31, 2023 85,315 13.44 380,285 12.69
Granted 45,904 14.30 315,962 13.53
Vested (47,321) 12.79 (262,497) 12.53
Forfeited (5,254) 14.28 (15,815) 12.86
Unvested at December 31, 2024 78,644 3% 14.28 417935 $ 13.42

Performance Based Awards

With respect to performance based awards, the number of shares of restricted stock granted as of the grant date equaled
100% of the targeted award, whereas the number of LTIP Units granted as of the grant date equaled 200% of the targeted
amount of the award. The targeted award for each executive was determined and approved by the Compensation Committee
of our board of directors. The actual number of shares of restricted stock or LTIP Units, as applicable, to be issued upon
vesting may range from 0% to 200% of the targeted award, such determination being based upon the results of the
performance measure. Performance based awards vest based upon our performance as ranked amongst a peer group of self
storage related companies. This comparison is conducted using a performance measure of average annual same-store revenue
growth, analyzed over a three-year period. Earned awards for the 2022, 2023 and 2024 grants will vest, as applicable, no later
than March 31, 2025, 2026, and 2027, respectively.

Recipients of performance based restricted stock accrue distributions during the performance period, and such
distributions will only be payable on the date that any such shares of restricted stock vest, based upon the performance level
attained. Recipients of performance based LTIP Units are issued LTIP Units at 200% of the targeted award and are entitled to
receive distributions and allocations of profits and losses with respect to the performance based LTIP Units as of the effective
date of each award in an amount equal to 10% of the distributions and allocations available to such LTIP Units, until the
Distribution Participation Date (as defined in the Operating Partnership Agreement). The remaining 90% of distributions will
accrue and will be payable on the Distribution Participation Date based upon the performance level attained and number of
performance based LTIP Units that vest. Following the Distribution Participation Date, recipients will be entitled to receive
the full amount of distributions and allocations of profits and losses with respect to the vested performance-based LTIP Units,
such amount being equivalent to distributions declared and paid on our Class A Shares.
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The following table summarizes our activity related to our performance based awards:

Restricted Stock LTIP Units
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average

Grant-Date Grant-Date
Performance Based Award Grants Shares Fair Value Units Fair Value
Unvested at December 31,
2022 5,752 $ 9.78 380,536 $ 10.39
Granted 5,752 @ 9.78 271,199 13.30
Vested (11,504) 9.78 (118,720) 9.09
Forfeited — — — —
Unvested at December 31,
2023 . . 533,015 12.16
Granted — — 270,096 13.55
Vested — — (148,387) 9.30
Forfeited — — (16,160) 13.36
Unvested at December 31,
2024 — $ — 638,564 $ 13.38

@ On March 2, 2023 the Compensation Committee of the board of directors approved the vesting of the 2020
performance grant at 200% of the targeted award. Accordingly, individuals who elected to receive performance based
restricted stock were issued and immediately vested additional shares to equal 200% of their targeted award.

Holders of performance based restricted stock do not have any rights as a stockholder with respect to the unvested
portion of such restricted stock awards. Prior to vesting, shares of performance based restricted stock generally may not be
transferred, other than by laws of descent and distribution.

Holders of performance based LTIP Units have the same voting rights as holders of common units, voting as a class
with each LTIP Unit holder having one vote per LTIP Unit held. Prior to vesting, performance based LTIP Units generally
may not be transferred, other than by laws of descent and distribution.

LTIP Units are designed to qualify as “profits interests” in the Operating Partnership for federal income tax purposes.
The profits interests’ characteristics of the LTIP Units mean that initially they will not be treated as economically equivalent
in value to a common unit and the issuance of LTIP Units will not be a taxable event to the Operating Partnership or the
recipient. If and when certain events occur pursuant to applicable tax regulations and in accordance with the Operating
Partnership Agreement, LTIP Units may become economically equivalent to common units of limited partnership interest of
our Operating Partnership on a one-for-one basis.

As of December 31, 2024, 8,769,928 shares of stock were available for issuance under the Plan.

We recorded approximately $5.0 million, $5.1 million, and $3.8 million of equity based compensation expense in
general and administrative expense during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. We recorded
approximately $225,000, $186,000, and $155,000 of equity based compensation expense in property operating expenses,
within our consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, there was approximately $7.9 million and $6.8 million of total unrecognized
compensation expense related to non-vested equity awards, respectively. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, such cost was
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.1 years and 2.2 years, respectively.

In February 2024, the compensation committee of our board of directors approved the 2024 executive compensation
terms for our executives, which included (1) performance-based equity grants in the form of either, at the election of the
executive, restricted stock awards or LTIP Units, and (2) time-based equity grants in the form of either, at the election of the
executive, restricted stock awards or LTIP Units.
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In March 2024, an aggregate of 270,096 performance-based LTIP Units and approximately 274,183 time-based LTIP
Units were issued to our executive officers. Additionally, approximately 41,779 time-based LTIP Units were issued to other
employees and directors. The performance-based LTIP Units vest after the three year performance period, based upon the
performance level attained. The time-based LTIP Units vest ratably over four years, with the first tranche vesting on
December 31, 2024, subject to the recipient’s continued employment through the applicable vesting date.

Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies

Contingent Earnout

On June 28, 2019, in relation to the Self Administration Transaction, 3,283,302 Class A-2 limited partnership units of
the Operating Partnership ("Class A-2 Units"), were issued to SS OP Holdings as consideration. Class A-2 Units could
convert into Class A-1 Units as earnout consideration, based on the achievement of three pre-determined levels of assets
under management. The Class A-2 Units were not entitled to cash distributions or the allocation of any profits or losses in the
Operating Partnership until the Class A-2 Unit into Class A-1 Units.

On March 29, 2022, and August 9, 2022, pursuant to the pre-determined levels of required assets under management,
we reached the incremental assets under management threshold, and 1,094,434 Class A-2 Units were converted into
1,094,434 Class A-1 Units, on each of the aforementioned dates, pursuant to the achievement of the final two tiers of earnout
consideration. The fair value of the contingent earnout liability was eliminated as the Class A-2 Units were converted into
Class A-1 Units in our Operating Partnership and the fair value of such units was reclassified to the noncontrolling interest in
our Operating Partnership line in the equity section of our consolidated balance sheet.

Distribution Reinvestment Plan

We have adopted an amended and restated distribution reinvestment plan (our "DRP") that allows both our Class A and
Class T stockholders to have distributions otherwise distributable to them invested in additional Class A Shares and Class T
Shares, respectively. Under our DRP, the board of directors may amend, modify, suspend, or terminate our plan for any
reason upon 10 days' written notice to the participants. The purchase price per share pursuant to our DRP is equivalent to the
estimated value per share approved by our board of directors and in effect on the date of purchase of shares under the plan. In
conjunction with the board of directors’ declaration of a new estimated value per share of our common stock on January 15,
2024, any shares sold pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan were sold at our then current estimated value per share of
$15.25 per Class A Share and Class T Share.

As of December 31, 2024, we had sold approximately 10.6 million Class A Shares and approximately 1.4 million Class
T Shares through our distribution reinvestment plan, of which, approximately 0.5 million Class A Shares and approximately
0.1 million Class T Shares were sold under our current DRP Offering. The DRP Offering may be terminated at any time upon
10 days’ prior written notice to stockholders. Please see the section below titled “Suspension of DRP and SRP” for additional
information.

Share Redemption Program

As described in Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies— Redeemable Common Stock, we have a SRP.
Please refer to that section for additional details. Provided that the SRP is not suspended, pursuant to the SRP, we may
redeem the shares of stock presented for redemption for cash to the extent that such requests comply with the below terms of
our SRP and we have sufficient funds available to fund such redemption. All redemption requests received, and not
withdrawn, on or prior to the last day of the applicable quarter are processed on the last business day of the month following
the end of the quarter in which the redemption requests were received.

Our board of directors may amend, suspend or terminate the SRP with 30 days’ notice to our stockholders. We may
provide this notice by including such information in a Current Report on Form 8-K or in our annual or quarterly reports, all
publicly filed with the SEC, or by a separate mailing to our stockholders.

On August 20, 2020, our board of directors amended the terms of the SRP to revise the redemption price per share for
all redemptions under the SRP to be equal to the most recently published estimated net asset value per share of the applicable
share class (the “SRP Amendment”). Prior to the SRP Amendment, the redemption amount was the lesser of the amount the
stockholders paid for their shares or the price per share in the current offering. On January 15, 2024, we declared a new
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estimated net asset value per share and the redemption price under our SRP immediately changed to $15.25 (our then current
estimated net asset value per share).

There are several limitations in addition to those noted above on our ability to redeem shares under the SRP including,
but not limited to:

o During any calendar year, we will not redeem in excess of 5% of the weighted-average number of shares
outstanding during the prior calendar year.

° The amount available for redemption is limited to the proceeds from the sale of shares pursuant to our
distribution reinvestment plan, less any prior redemptions.

° We have no obligation to redeem shares if the redemption would violate the restrictions on distributions under
Maryland law, which prohibits distributions that would cause a corporation to fail to meet statutory tests of
solvency.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, approximately 2.0 million shares or $29.9 million of requests that met the
eligibility criteria were requested to be redeemed; approximately $29.9 million of which were fulfilled during the year ended
December 31, 2024. Due to the suspension of our SRP, we were unable to honor redemption requests not yet fulfilled prior to
the suspension, including requests submitted subsequent to such suspension, which became effective November 25, 2024.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, approximately 1.5 million shares or $22.9 million of requests that met the
eligibility criteria were requested to be redeemed; approximately $19.0 million of which were fulfilled during the year ended
December 31, 2023, and approximately $3.9 million of which were included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
within our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and fulfilled in January 2024.

Please see the section below titled “Suspension of DRP and SRP” for additional information.

Suspension of DRP and SRP

In connection with a review of liquidity alternatives by the board of directors, on March 7, 2022, the board of directors
approved the full suspension of our DRP and SRP. However, on March 16, 2023, the DRP was fully reinstated and the SRP
was partially reinstated to allow for redemptions solely sought in connection with a stockholder’s death, “qualifying
disability” (as that term is defined in the SRP), confinement to a long-term care facility, or other exigent circumstances. All
other redemptions remain suspended at that time.

On May 1, 2024, our board of directors adopted a limitation to our SRP such that any redemption request made under
the SRP in connection with a stockholder’s death must be made within one year of the date of such death in order to be
honored by us. This limitation took effect on June 1, 2024.

On November 25, 2024, our board of directors approved (i) the suspension of the DRP, such that distributions for the
month of November 2024, payable in December 2024, as well as any distributions declared by the board of directors for any
future months, will be paid in cash until such time as the board of directors may approve the resumption of the DRP, if ever;
and (ii) the full suspension of the SRP. This suspension took effect on November 25, 2024, such that all redemption requests
then in the queue, as well as any future redemption requests received while the SRP is fully suspended, will not be processed.

On February 11, 2025, our board of directors reinstated the DRP Offering, such that distributions for the month of
January 2025 as well as any distributions declared by our board of directors for any future months will be invested in shares
of our common stock for those stockholders that previously elected into our distribution reinvestment plan in such states
where our distribution reinvestment plan is able to be offered.
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Operating Partnership Redemption Rights

Generally, the limited partners of our Operating Partnership, have the right to cause our Operating Partnership to
redeem their limited partnership units for cash equal to the value of an equivalent number of our shares, or, at our option, we
may purchase their limited partnership units by issuing one share of our common stock for each limited partnership unit
redeemed. These rights may not be exercised under certain circumstances that could cause us to lose our REIT election.
Furthermore, limited partners may exercise their redemption rights only after their limited partnership units have been
outstanding for one year.

Additionally, the Class A-1 Units issued in connection with the Self Administration Transaction are subject to the
general restrictions on transfer contained in the Operating Partnership Agreement. The Class A-1 Units are otherwise entitled
to all rights and duties of the Class A limited partnership units in the Operating Partnership, including cash distributions and
the allocation of any profits or losses in the Operating Partnership.

Other Contingencies and Commitments

We have severance arrangements which cover certain members of our management team; these provide for severance
payments upon certain events, including after a change of control.

See Note 10 — Related Party Transactions related to our debt investments in the Managed REITs and our Sponsor
Funding Agreement with SST VI for more information about our contingent obligations under these agreements.

As of December 31, 2024, pursuant to various contractual relationships, we are required to make other non-cancellable
payments in the amounts of approximately $13.1 million, $4.2 million, and $3.9 million during the years ended December 31,
2025, 2026, and 2027, respectively.

From time to time, we are party to legal, regulatory and other proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our
business. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, management accrues an estimated liability when those matters
present loss contingencies that are both probable and reasonably estimable. In such cases, there may be an exposure to loss in
excess of any amounts accrued. For such proceedings, we are not aware of any for which the outcome is reasonably likely to
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

Note 13. Declaration of Distributions

On January 31, 2025, our board of directors declared a distribution rate for the month of February 2025 of
approximately $0.0460 per share on the outstanding shares of common stock payable to Class A and Class T stockholders of
record of such shares as shown on our books at the close of business on February 28, 2025. Such distributions payable to
each stockholder of record will be paid the following month.

On February 26, 2025, our board of directors declared a distribution rate for the month of March 2025 of
approximately $0.0510 per share on the outstanding shares of common stock payable to Class A and Class T stockholders of
record of such shares as shown on our books at the close of business on March 31, 2025. Such distributions payable to each
stockholder of record will be paid the following month.

Note 14. Subsequent Events

In addition to the subsequent events discussed elsewhere in the notes to the financial statements, the following events
occurred subsequent to December 31, 2024:

Distribution Reinvestment Plan

On February 11, 2025, our board of directors reinstated the DRP Offering, such that distributions for the month of
January 2025 as well as any distributions declared by our board of directors for any future months will be invested in shares
of our common stock for those stockholders that previously elected into our distribution reinvestment plan in such states
where our distribution reinvestment plan is able to be offered.
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Acquisitions

On January 7, 2025, we purchased a self storage facility located in Hillside, New Jersey (the "Hillside Property"). The
purchase price for the Hillside Property was approximately $35.9 million, plus closing costs. Upon acquisition, the property
was approximately 89% occupied. This acquisition was funded with proceeds drawn from the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition
Facility.

On January 7, 2025, we purchased a self storage facility located in Clifton, New Jersey (the "Clifton Property™). The
purchase price for the Clifton Property was approximately $38.6 million, plus closing costs. Upon acquisition, the property
was approximately 93% occupied. This acquisition was funded with proceeds drawn from the 2025 KeyBank Acquisition
Facility.

On February 20, 2025, we purchased a self storage facility located in Murfreesboro, Tennessee (the "Murfreesboro
Property"). The purchase price for the Murfreesboro Property was approximately $7.9 million, plus closing costs. Upon
acquisition, the property was approximately 89% occupied.

Other Programs

On January 31, 2025, we launched Strategic Storage Trust X ("SST X"), a private non-traded self storage REIT
structured as a net asset value, or NAV REIT. SmartStop REIT Advisors, LLC, a subsidiary of our TRS, is the sponsor of
SST X and the parent company of the advisor and property manager of SST X.

New Net Asset Value and Distribution Reinvestment Plan Price

On March 12, 2025, our board of directors, upon recommendation of our nominating and corporate governance
committee, approved an estimated net asset value per share of our common stock of $14.50 for our Class A Shares and Class
T Shares based on the estimated value of our assets less the estimated value of our liabilities, or net asset value, divided by
the number of shares outstanding on a fully diluted basis, calculated as of June 30, 2024.

In connection with the determination of the estimated net asset value per share described above, the Board approved a
share price for the purchase of shares under our distribution reinvestment plan equal to the estimated net asset value per share
of $14.50 for both Class A Shares and Class T Shares, to be effective for distribution payments being paid beginning in April
2025.
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4.4

4.5

10.1+

10.2+

10.3+

10.4+

10.5+

10.6+

10.7+

10.8

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 10, 2020, by and among SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.,
Strategic Storage Trust 1V, Inc., and SST IV Merger Sub, LLC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K, filed on November 12, 2020, Commission File No. 000-55617

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated February 24, 2022, by and among SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.,
Strategic Storage Growth Trust I, Inc., and SSGT 11 Merger Sub, LLC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1
to the Company’s Form 8-K, filed on February 24, 2022, Commission File No. 000-55617

Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement of SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc., incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 19, 2019, Commission File No.
000-55617

Articles Supplementary for Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 30,
2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

Articles of Amendment to Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement of SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 23, 2021,
Commission File No. 000-55617

Articles of Merger Between SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc. and SSGT Il Merger Sub, LLC, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 18, 2024, Commission
File No. 000-55617

Amended and Restated Bylaws of SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 19, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

Distribution Reinvestment Plan Enrollment Form (included as Appendix A to prospectus), incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed on November 30, 2016, Commission File
No. 333-214848

Second Amended and Restated Distribution Reinvestment Plan (included as Appendix B to prospectus),
incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed on November 30, 2016,
Commission File No. 333-214848

Description of Securities, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-
K, filed on March 18, 2024, Commission File No. 000-55617

Note Purchase Agreement, dated April 19, 2022, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on April 20, 2022, Commission File No. 000-55617

Form of Note, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
April 20, 2022, Commission File No. 000-55617

SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc. 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 15, 2022, Commission File No. 000-55617

Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Agreement (Executives), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 3, 2023, Commission File No. 000-55617

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Agreement (Executives), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 3, 2023, Commission File No. 000-55617

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Directors), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 3, 2023, Commission File No. 000-55617

Form of Time-Based LTIP Unit Agreement (Executives), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 3, 2023, Commission File No. 000-55617

Form of Performance-Based LTIP Unit Agreement (Executives) , incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 3, 2023, Commission File No. 000-55617

Form of LTIP Unit Agreement (Directors), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 3, 2023, Commission File No. 000-55617

Third Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement, dated June 28, 2019, of Strategic Storage Operating
Partnership II, L.P., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on July 2, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617
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10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

Amendment No. 1 to Third Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of SmartStop OP, L.P.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 30,
2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

Amendment No. 2 to Third Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of SmartStop OP, L.P.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on April 24, 2020,
Commission File No. 000-55617

Amendment No. 3 to Third Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of SmartStop OP, L.P.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 25,
2021, Commission File No. 000-55617

Amendment No. 4 to Third Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of SmartStop OP, L.P.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 23,
2022, Commission File No. 000-55617

SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc. Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 26, 2021, Commission File No.
000-55617

Amendment No. 1 to the Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan of SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on April 24, 2020,
Commission File No. 000-55617

Loan Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K, filed on August 3, 2016,
Commission File No. 000-55617

KeyBank Guaranty, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on August 3,
2016, Commission File No. 000-55617

Promissory Note A-1, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on August 3,
2016, Commission File No. 000-55617

Promissory Note A-2, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on August 3,
2016, Commission File No. 000-55617

CMBS Loan Agreement, dated January 24, 2019, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s
Form 8-K, filed on January 30, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

CMBS Promissory Note A-1, dated January 24, 2019, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the
Company’s Form 8-K, filed on January 30, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

CMBS Promissory Note A-2, dated January 24, 2019, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the
Company’s Form 8-K, filed on January 30, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

CMBS Promissory Note A-3, dated January 24, 2019, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the
Company’s Form 8-K, filed on January 30, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

CMBS Promissory Note A-4, dated January 24, 2019, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the
Company’s Form 8-K, filed on January 30, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

CMBS Guaranty Agreement, dated January 24, 2019, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the
Company’s Form 8-K, filed on January 30, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

Contribution Agreement, dated June 28, 2019, by and among Strategic Storage Operating Partnership Il, L.P., the
Company, SmartStop Asset Management, LLC and SmartStop OP Holdings, LLC, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 2, 2019, Commission File No. 000-
55617

Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 28, 2019, by and among the Company, Strategic Storage Operating
Partnership 11, L.P., SmartStop OP Holdings, LLC, SS Growth Advisor, LLC, Strategic 1031, LLC, SS Toronto
REIT Advisors, Inc., San Juan Capital, LLC, and JDW 1998 Trust, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 2, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

Form of Indemnification Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on September 19, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617
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Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2019, by and between SmartStop Self Storage
REIT, Inc. and Extra Space Storage LP, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 30, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2019, by and between SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.
and Extra Space Storage LP, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed on October 30, 2019, Commission File No. 000-55617

Sponsor Funding Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 1, 2023, Commission File No. 000-55617

Amendment No. 3 to the Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Strategic Storage
Operating Partnership VI, L.P., dated as of November 1, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 1, 2023, Commission File No. 000-55617

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated February 22, 2024, among SmartStop OP, L.P., as borrower,
KeyBank, National Association, as administrative agent, certain other financial institutions acting as joint book
runners, joint lead arrangers, syndication agents and documentation agents, and certain lenders party thereto,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 23,
2024, Commission File No. 000-55617

Conformed Copy of Amended Note Purchase Agreement as amended by the First Amendment to Note Purchase
Agreement dated April 19, 2022, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed on April 29, 2024, Commission File No. 000-55617

Credit Agreement, dated November 19, 2024, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 25, 2024, Commission File No. 000-55617

Increase Agreement, by and among SmartStop OP, L.P. and KeyBank National Association, dated February 3,
2025

Insider Trading Policy

Subsidiaries of SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Consent of Robert A. Stanger & Co., Inc.
The following SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc. financial information for the Year Ended December 31, 2024,
formatted in Inline XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Equity and Temporary Equity,
(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

Filed herewith.

Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.



SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Ladera
Ranch, State of California, on March 12, 2025.

SMARTSTOP SELF STORAGE REIT, INC.

By: /s/ H. Michael Schwartz

H. Michael Schwartz
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

. Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief March 12, 2025
/s/ H. Michael Schwartz Executive Officer

H. Michael Schwartz (Principal Executive Officer)

/sl James R. Barry Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer March 12, 2025
James R. Barry (Principal Financial Officer)

/sl Michael Terjung Chief Accounting Officer March 12, 2025
Michael Terjung (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ David J. Mueller Independent Director March 12, 2025
David J. Mueller

/s/ Harold “Skip” Perry Independent Director March 12, 2025
Harold “Skip” Perry

/sl Timothy S. Morris Independent Director March 12, 2025
Timothy S. Morris

/s/ Paula Mathews Independent Director March 12, 2025
Paula Mathews




About SmartStop”

SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc. (“SmartStop”)
(NYSE:SMA) is a self-managed REIT with a fully
integrated operations team of approximately
590 self-storage professionals focused on
growing the SmartStop® Self Storage brand.
SmartStop, through its indirect subsidiary
SmartStop REIT Advisors, LLC, also sponsors
other self-storage programs. As of April 24, 2025,
SmartStop has an owned or managed portfolio
of 220 operating properties in 23 states, the
District of Columbia, and Canada, comprising
approximately 157,100 units and 17.7 million
rentable square feet. SmartStop and its affiliates
own or manage 41 operating self-storage
properties in Canada, which total approximately

34,400 units and 3.5 million rentable square feet.

Additional information regarding SmartStop is
available at investors.smartstopselfstorage.com.

SmartStop Self Storage Corporate Headquarters - 10 Terrace Rd., Ladera Ranch, CA

SmortSop



SmartStop

Self Storage REIT, Inc.

10 Terrace Road
Corporate Office Ladera Ranch, CA 92694
949-429-6600

ir@SmartStop.com

e | lati .
SmartStop® Investor Relations investors.SmartStopSelfStorage.com

430 W 7th Street Suite 219243
Kansas City, MO 64105-1407
833-404-4110

SmartStop Self Storage REIT, Inc.,
C/0 SS&C, GIDS, Inc.






